

46. 1421.



# ROSE AMATEUR'S GUIDE.

London:
Printed by A. Spottiswoode,
New-Street-Square.

## ROSE AMATEUR'S GUIDE:

CONTAINING AMPLE DESCRIPTIONS

OF

ALL THE FINE LEADING VARIETIES OF ROSES.

REGULARLY CLASSED IN THEIR RESPECTIVE FAMILIES;

THEIR HISTORY, AND MODE OF CULTURE.

BY

### THOMAS RIVERS,

OF THE NURSERIES, SAWBRIDGEWORTH, HERTS.

Fourth Guition,

### LONDON:

PRINTED FOR

LONGMAN, BROWN, GREEN, & LONGMANS,

PATERNOSTER-ROW.

1846.

#### PREFACE

TO

#### THE FOURTH EDITION.

WHEN I penned the first edition of this little work, I must confess that I was not very sanguine as to its favourable reception; but, to my agreeable surprise, I find myself a successful author, and have now a fourth edition called for by a generous public. I have therefore, in the following pages, endeavoured to evince my gratitude by making my book not an empty echo to its title, but a true quide; consequently many varieties of roses described in former editions, on account only of their povelty or other characteristics rather than for their beauty, are now omitted, and for the most part those only that are really beautiful and strictly worthy the attention of the rose amateur are dilated upon: I have, in fact, profited by time and experience. A multitude of new roses have been introduced since the publication of the first edition; and various modes of culture have suggested themselves. From the former I have culled the choicest and the sweetest, bidding adieu to many old varieties on account of their being surpassed by some that are new, but retaining those old roses not to be surpassed, *i. e.*, those that are absolutely perfect in their form and colouring, which will all be found in their places; for it would indeed be unjust to neglect a good old friend with sterling qualities.

In the latter much improvement has taken place; and rapid progress has been made in the culture of roses in pots: under this head I have given fully the results of my experience. In the articles on propagation, the fruits of nearly thirty pleasant years' unceasing attention are given with candour. I have nothing withheld, nor, I trust, aught forgotten.

A practical cultivator, in writing on cultivation, labours under a disadvantage; he almost obstinately supposes that every one must know something relative to these, with him, every-day operations: he is apt, therefore, not to go sufficiently into detail. I have strenuously combated this feeling, and humbly trust that what I have written on that subject will be found sufficiently explicit by an indulgent public.

Sawbridgeworth, Herts, June 30, 1846.

#### INTRODUCTION.

So many rose amateurs have complained that it is extremely difficult to select, from the multiplicity of roses now under cultivation, such varieties as are distinct and adapted for particular situations, though accurately enough described in a catalogue, I have presumed some practical observations might be acceptable. I have also long felt the conviction, that a mere enumeration of the form and colour of the flower is not enough, particularly for the amateur with a small garden; for he, of course, wishes to select a few varieties, and those well adapted to the situation they are to occupy. As a guide, then, to the lovers of roses, this little treatise has been written in the few leisure moments allowed me by the unceasing cares of a general nursery business. I give the result of twenty years' experience, gained by the culture of choice roses on a much larger scale than any where in Europe. I say this advisedly. as from ten to twelve acres are here devoted to the cultivation of select named varieties. In noticing and describing the different roses in the following

pages, though a cultivator of them for sale, I have endeavoured to lay aside all business prejudices, and only to view them as an admiring amateur. Varieties inserted in the catalogue, and not noticed here, are, in many cases, equally beautiful with those that are; but in these instances they perhaps much resemble them, or at least have no particular distinguishing traits. It may be asked, Why, then, are so many varieties enumerated in the catalogue, if so few comparatively can be recommended? To this I reply, that some roses resemble each other in the form and colour of their flowers, yet differ much in the character of their leaves, branches, and general habit. Some will also often bloom out of character, and imperfectly, one or two seasons consecutively, while others of the same colour and of the same family are blooming well; and then, perhaps, for a like period, the former will have their bright seasons of perfection, while the latter receive some blighting check; so that it is almost necessary to have plants of different natures bearing flowers alike. I may also mention, that in moist showery weather, the flowers of some of the extremely double roses cannot open, but those of others less double, but like them in colour, will open freely, and bloom in great perfection.

These little facts are well known to the experienced cultivator.

Some new roses inserted in the catalogue have only bloomed here one season, and perhaps not quite in perfection, so that an accurate description could not be given of them: many of these are most undoubtedly fine varieties. In classing the roses in the following pages, and in the catalogue, I have retained those that are but slightly hybridised in that division to which they have the nearest affinity; for instance, if a rose between the French and Provence roses has more of the characters of the former than of the latter, it is retained with the French roses, as it will group well with them, though not a pure French rose: this helps to avoid those numerous subdivisions with which most of the French catalogues are burdened, as they only tend to confuse the young amateur. In the descriptions, the colour of the flower is not always given, as the catalogue, of which this guide is only a companion, generally gives that correctly.

In forming a collection of roses from the French gardeners, great difficulty is often experienced by their incorrectness in the names of their plants: this inattention, to call it by no worse name, has long been the bane of com-

mercial gardening. In this country almost every nurseryman is now aware of the great responsibility he is under as to correct nomenclature; but in France they manage these matters differently, certainly not "better;" for if a Parisian cultivator raises a good rose from seed, and gives it a popular name, a provincial florist will immediately give some one of his seedlings, perhaps a very inferior rose, the same, so that there are often two or three roses bearing the same name; and if the original, or most superior variety, is ordered, ten to one if you get it, as the French florist generally gives you that which is most convenient for him to send, quite regardless of what you wish for. This is carried to an extreme, of which only those well and intimately acquainted with roses can form a just idea.

I have now only to beg the indulgence of my readers. A man of business must be deficient in the many requisites of correct composition. I have endeavoured to be plain and explicit; and cannot help flattering myself, that the instructions conveyed in these insignificant pages may be the means of restoring many unfortunate neglected roses to health and vigour.

Sawbridgeworth, Herts, Nov. 20. 1837.

## CONTENTS.

## PART I. THE SUMMER ROSE GARDEN.

		Page
THE PROVENCE, OR CABBAGE, ROSE -	-	2
The Moss Rose	-	10
The French Rose	-	25
THE HYBRID PROVENCE ROSE -	-	37
THE HYBRID CHINA ROSE	-	43
THE HYBRID BOURBON ROSE	-	<b>5</b> 8
THE WHITE ROSE	-	64
THE DAMASK ROSE	-	67
THE SCOTCH ROSE	_	73
THE SWEET BRIAR	-	76
THE AUSTRIAN BRIAR	-	79
THE DOUBLE YELLOW ROSE	-	83
CLIMBING ROSES. (The Ayrshire Rose)	-	87
(Rosa multiflora) -	-	90
(The Evergreen Rose)	_	93
(The Boursault Rose)	_	99
(The Banksian Rose)	-	100
(Hybrid Climbing Roses)	-	103
TREATMENT OF THE SEED, SOWING, &c.	_	107
PROPAGATION OF SUMMER ROSES -	-	113
Propagation by Cuttings	-	11:5
PROPAGATION BY BUDDING	_	117
Propagation by Grafting	-	119
PLANTING	-	124
CULTIVATION OF SUMMER ROSES IN POTS	_	125

## PART II. THE AUTUMNAL ROSE GARDEN,

•				rage
AUTUMNAL ROSES -	-	•	-	129
THE PERPETUAL DAMASK R	COSE	•		131
THE HYBRID PERPETUAL R	OSE	-	-	144
THE BOURBON ROSE -	-	-	-	156
THE CHINA ROSE -	-	-	-	171
THE TEA-SCENTED CHINA R	Cose	-	-	180
THE MINIATURE ROSE	-	-	_	194
THE NOISETTE ROSE -	-	-	-	196
THE MUSK ROSE -	-	•	_	207
THE MACARTNEY ROSE	-	-	-	210
Rosa microphylla -	-	-	-	213
Propagation of Autumnal	Roses	-	-	215
BUDDING ROSES IN POTS	-	-	-	217
DIRECTIONS FOR FORCING RO	OSES	-	-	218
CULTIVATION OF ROSES IN	Ротв	FOR	THE	
Greenhouse -	-	-	-	223
CULTURE OF HARDY ROSE	S IN	Ротв	FOR	
Exhibition -	-	-	-	226
Planting	-	-	-	232
STOCKS FOR ROSES -	-	-	-	233
ABRIDGED LIST OF ROSES	-	-	-	238
LIST OF SHOW OR PRIZE R		-		242
List of Free-blooming H	YBRID ]	Perpe	TUAL	
Roses for Avenues	-	-	-	247
LIST OF VIGOROUS-GROWING	Bouri	on R	OSES	
FOR AVENUES -	-	-	-	248

#### ERRATA.

Page 2. line 5. for "centafolia" read "centifolia."

4. - 10. for "Provincial" read "Provençal."

20. — 19. for "Maneltii in the Bemsault" read "Manettii on the Boursault."

22. — 1. for "bombose" read "Bourbon."

58. — 18. for "Hybride" read "Hybrida."

162. — 7. for "that" read "the."

233. — 19. for "Reversa Rosa" read "Rosa reversa."

"Our poets sing of the rosy magerial of the Nymphs, the cheeks of Venus tinted with roses.

"The rose is useful to the sick; she braves the duration of years; agreeable even in decay, she preserves the perfume of her youth.

"What shall I say of her origin? When the Sea formed from her froth, and displayed on her waves, the beautiful Venus, brilliant with dew, —when Pallas sprang armed from the brain of Jupiter, the earth brought forth this admirable plant, a new masterpiece

## PART II. THE AUTUMNAL ROSE GARDEN,

AUTUM	NAI.	Ross	20

Page

ON AMONES	-	238
List of Show or Prize Roses -	-	242
LIST OF FREE-BLOOMING HYBRID PER	RPETUAL	
Roses for Avenues	-	247
LIST OF VIGOROUS-GROWING BOURBON	Roses	
for Avenues	-	248

## ROSE AMATEUR'S GUIDE.

#### PART I.

#### THE SUMMER ROSE GARDEN.

#### THE ROSE, Anacreon, Ode 51.

" Friends! form your accents with mine, in singing the season of flowers, and the rose of spring.

"The rose is the sweet perfume which the mouths of the gods exhale; the joy of mortals, the loveliest ornament of the Graces in the flowery season of love, and the dearest delight of Venus.

"The rose is the object of the songs of the poets, the favourite

plant of the Muses.

- "Though she wounds us with her thorns, we gather her with pleasure. What delight to hold this flower consecrated to love, and to breathe its sweet odours!
  - " Ah! what should we be without the rose?

"Our poets sing of the rosy fingers of Aurora, the rosy arms of the Nymphs, the cheeks of Venus tinted with roses.

of the Nymphs, the cheeks of Venus tinted with roses.

"The rose is useful to the sick; she braves the duration of years; agreeable even in decay, she preserves the perfume of her youth.

"What shall I say of her origin? When the Sea formed from her froth, and displayed on her waves, the beautiful Venus, brilliant with dew, — when Pallas sprang armed from the brain of Jupiter, the earth brought forth this admirable plant, a new masterpiece of nature. Eager to hasten her blooming, the gods watered her with nectar, and then this immortal flower elevated herself majestically on her thorny column." The Queen of Flowers.\*

### THE PROVENCE, OR CABBAGE, ROSE.

(Rosa centafolia.)

Rosier à Cent Feuilles.

This rose has long and deservedly been the favourite ornament of English gardens; and if, as seems very probable, it was the hundred-leaved rose of Pliny, and the favourite flower of the Romans, contributing in no small degree to the luxurious enjoyments of that great people, it claims attention as much for its high antiquity, as for its intrinsic beauty. 1596 is given by botanists as the date of its introduction to our gardens. That "prince of gardeners," Miller, says that it is the prettiest of all roses; and this idea still prevails to a great extent in the agricultural districts of England, where, in the farm and cottage gardens, the Cabbage Rose and the Double Wall-Flower are the most esteemed inmates; forming in their turns, with a sprig of rosemary, the Sunday bouquet of the respectable farm-servant and cottager.

This pretty appellative is no new creation: more than 2000 years ago Sappho wrote: "If Jupiter wished to give to the flowers
 Queen, the rose would be their Queen."

The groves of Mount Caucasus are said to be its native places of growth, and also Languedoc and Provence: but the claims of these latter have been disputed. I lately wrote to a very old rose amateur in France for information on this point. He informs me that the species with single flowers is found in a wild state in the southern provinces: it is therefore very probable that it was called the Provence Rose from growing more abundantly in that province: it has now, however, quite a different name in France, for it is called the "Rose à Cent Feuilles," from the botanical name, Rosa centifolia, or Hundred-leaved Rose. I must here confess that, when I was a young rose-fancier, this name often misled me, as I was very apt to think that it referred to the Scotch and other small and thickly-leaved roses, not for a moment supposing that the term was applied to the petals or flower-leaves.

Hybrid roses, between this and Rosa gallica, are called Provence Roses by the French amateurs of the present day. Our Provence, or Cabbage, Rose is exceedingly varied in the form and disposition of its petals. In the following paragraphs I have confined myself to a description of those only that partake largely of the character of the common Cabbage or Provence Rose, and that are now (1846) worthy of cultivation; the latter name, I find, is not used by some recent writers in the Gardener's Chronicle, and elsewhere they write

"Provins," the name applied in France, as I have said in another place, to the Rosa gallica, a semi-double variety of which is cultivated largely in the environs of Provins, a small market-town sixty-six miles to the east of Paris, on the road to Nancy. By early writers on gardening our rose is called Rosa Provincialis, or the Provence Rose: no one seems to know why it was thus named, its origin being entirely lost; let us therefore assume that we owe it to the Provincial poets, the gay troubadours, who with chivalric liberality gave us their songs and their roses; and let us not lose its beautiful poetic name: it is indeed worthy of it.

The Crested Provence, Crested Moss, or Rosa cristata, for it is known by these three names, is said to have been discovered growing from the crevice of a wall at Friburg in Switzerland. No rose can be more singular and beautiful: the buds before expansion are so clasped by its fringed sepals, that they present a most unique and elegant appearance totally unlike any other rose.

When the flower is fully expanded this peculiar beauty vanishes, and it has merely the appearance of a superior variety of the Provence Rose. It should here be mentioned that, if grown in a poor soil, its buds often lose their crest, and come plain like those of the latter. As a standard, this rose is very graceful, its large flowers and buds drooping from their weight.

De Nancy is a very desirable and pretty bril-

liant coloured rose, at least brilliant as compared with others in this group; its colour is bright rose approaching to carmine. Rachel is simply a fine double rose, larger than the common Provence, and of a more vigorous habit. Sylvain is one of the most desirable of this family; its flowers are very double, finely shaped, and of the most brilliant carmine, so that when planted in a group they are always conspicuous; its habit is dwarf, and it does not form a good standard; not so however with our next. Triomphe d'Abbeville, one of the most vigorous-growing roses known, which, with its very large bell-shaped, but not very double flowers, of a light vivid crimson, forms as a standard a noble ornament to the lawn or terrace.

The Celery-leaved Rose, or Rosa apiifolia, is a curious rose, unlike any other: its leaves are, perhaps, as much like imperfectly curled parsley as celery. The curled Provence is as beautiful as curious, having fine globular-shaped flowers, with petals waved in a very peculiar manner. Duchesne is a Provence Rose, a little hybridised, with very large, finely-shaped, and double flowers. The Dutch, or Large Provence, is exactly like the Old Cabbage Rose, and equally fragrant, but very much larger: this is a fine rose for forcing. Grande Agathe, also known as the Läcken Provence, is indeed a grand rose, remarkably double, and finely formed. Its flowers are of the palest flesh-colour: like some others of the true Provence

Roses, its clusters of bloom are too heavy and pendulous to be seen with effect on very dwarf plants. The Monstrous Provence, Cabbage-leaved, or Centifolia bullata, has that large and curious inflated foliage, which we have no expressive name for, but which the French call "bullée:" it is a vigorous-growing plant, with flowers like the Old Provence. La Reine de Provence really deserves to be the queen of this division. Its large and finely-shaped globular flowers have a good effect when suspended from a standard: these are of a pale lilac rose-colour, distinct and beautiful. The Scarlet Provence is an old variety, one of those misnomers that in flowers so often lead to disappointment: it was probably the first Provence Rose that made an approach to scarlet; but the faint carmine of its flowers is very far removed from that rare colour among roses. The Spotted Provence is a rose of great beauty, with large globular flowers of the deepest rose-colour, delicately spotted. This fine rose has large leaves, and makes upright shoots of great luxuriance and vigour.

The Unique Provence is a genuine English rose, which was found by Mr. Grimwood\*, then of

<sup>\*</sup> Mr. Grimwood, when on his annual business journey in 1777, perceived a beautiful white rose growing in the garden of Mr. Richmond, a baker, living near Needham Market, Suffolk: on inquiry, he found that it had been planted there by a carpenter, who had found it growing near, or in a hedge a short

the Kensington Nursery, in some cottage-garden, growing among plants of the common Cabbage Rose. This variety was at first much esteemed, and plants of it were sold at very high prices. Most probably this was not a seedling from the Old Cabbage Rose, as that is too double to bear seed in this country, but what is called by florists a sporting \* branch or sucker. In describing this and the next division I shall have occasion to notice more of these spontaneous deviations. The Striped Unique is one; for this was not raised from seed, but, a flowering branch of the Unique having produced striped flowers, plants were budded from it, and the variety was "fixed," as the French florists term it. However, this is certainly not fixed; for it is a most inconstant rose, in some soils producing flowers beautifully striped, in others entirely red, and in the soil of this nursery most frequently pure white. In Sussex it has

distance from, the house of a Dutch merchant, which he had been repairing. Mr. G. asked for a branch, but obtained the entire plant, which Mr. Richmond willingly gave him. On his next journey, the following year, Mr. Grimwood made him a present of a handsome silver cup, on which was engraved a figure of the rose; this kind remembrance Mr. Richmond most carefully preserved till his death. — Roses, by H. C. Andrews, London, 1805. 4to.

\* A term used to denote any portion of a plant departing from the character the entire plant should sustain. Thus, one stem of a carnation will often produce plain-coloured flowers, while the remainder of the plant has striped flowers: it is then said " to sport."

bloomed finely in its variegated character. The Wellington Provence is one of the largest of this division; its flowers are of a beautiful deep rose, double, but not quite so much so as those of the Dutch Provence. This forms a splendid standard. Wilberforce is a new variety, and very splendid. This is slightly hybridised with some dark variety of Rosa gallica, which has greatly added to its beauty, as it produces flowers approaching to dark crimson, a rare colour among Provence Roses.

Since the publication of the preceding editions but few additions have been made to this family. In Appendix, List No. 2. I have given the names of a few new varieties, among which the Superb Striped Unique may he mentioned, as being very beautiful and constant in its variegation: it is of less vigorous growth than the common Striped Unique; its leaves are nearly round and deeply serrated: this is not the variety mentioned as being grown in Sussex, but a French variety, which was found among others, and propagated on account of its distinct character; the same rose appears to have bloomed at Grimstone Park, Yorkshire, in great perfection.

There are but two ways in which Provence Roses can be employed as ornaments to the flower-garden, — as standards for the lawn, and as dwarfs for beds. Standards of some of the varieties, if grown on a strong clayey soil, form fine objects of ornament, as their large globular

flowers are so gracefully pendent. In this description of soil also, if grown as dwarfs, they will not flourish unless they are worked on the Dog Rose; but in light sandy soils it will be advisable to cultivate them on their own roots. The freedom with which they grow in the light sandy soils of Surrey, points out this method of culture on such soils as the most eligible. In pruning, they require a free use of the knife: every shoot should be shortened to three or four buds. If not pruned in this severe manner, the plants soon become straggling and unsightly. In poor soils, they should have annually, in November, a dressing of rotten manure on the surface of the bed, to be washed in by the rains of winter.

To raise Provence Roses from seed, for which more full directions are given when treating of Moss Roses, in p. 23., the Wellington should be planted with, and fertilised by, the single Crimson Moss, and Triomphe d'Abbeville with the Luxembourg Moss; if seed can be procured from either of these varieties, thus fertilised, some fine crimson, and, what is also very desirable, pure Provence Roses may be raised. As the characters of the true Provence Rose are so desirable, the object ought to be to endeavour to obtain deep crimson varieties, with all the pleasing qualities and perfume of the original. Wilberforce, planted with the single Crimson Moss, might possibly produce seed; but this variety is a hybrid, and, like many

other hybrid roses, it does not bear seed so freely as those that are pure: but I shall have occasion to notice many exceptions to this, in giving instructions for raising new roses from seed: these instructions and hints, with the names of the best seed-bearing roses, will be given at the end of each article, and they will, I hope, form a valuable addition to this work.

#### THE MOSS ROSE.

(Rosa centifolia muscosa.)

#### Rosier Mousseux.

The Moss Rose, or Mossy Provence Rose, is most probably an accidental sport or seminal variety of the common Provence Rose, as the Old Double Moss Rose, which was introduced to this country from Holland in 1596, is the only one mentioned by our early writers on gardening. If it had any claims to be ranked as a botanical species\*, the single-flowering Moss Rose would have been the first known and described; but the Single Moss, as compared with the Double, is a new variety.

• Miller says, with a most remarkable simplicity, that he thinks it must be a distinct species, as it is so much more difficult of propagation than the common Provence Rose.

Some few years since a traveller in Portugal mentioned that the Moss Rose grew wild in the neighbourhood of Cintra; but, most likely, the plants were stragglers from some garden, as I have never seen this assertion properly authenticated. The origin of the Double Moss Rose, like that of the Old Double Yellow Rose (Rosa sulphurea) is therefore left to conjecture; for gardeners in those days did not publish to the world the result of their operations and discoveries. As regards the Moss Rose I regret this; for it would be very interesting to know how and where this general favourite originated. Probably, when first noticed, gardening was of such small consideration, that the discovery of a rose, however remarkable, would not be thought worth registering. That it is merely an accidental sport of the common Provence Rose is strengthened by the fact, that plants produced by the seed of the Moss Rose do not always show moss: perhaps not more than two plants out of three will be mossy, as I have often proved. Those that are not so are most evidently pure Provence Roses, possessing all their characters. To show, also, the singular propensity of the varieties of Rosa centifolia to vary, I may here mention that the common Moss Rose often produces shoots entirely destitute of moss. In the summer of 1836 I also observed a luxuriant branch of the Crimson, or Damask, which is generally more mossy than the Old Moss

Rose, having a remarkable appearance. On examination I found it nearly smooth. The next season it had entirely lost its moss, and had produced semi-double flowers, the exact resemblance of the Scarlet Provence. The White moss is another instance of this singular quality, for that originated from a sporting branch; the Mossey de Meaux is also a curious deviation, the history of which will be given in the descriptive enumeration following: the Crested Moss, or Provence. is another case in point. It seems, therefore, very feasible that the Provence Rose, from being cultivated in Italy through so many ages, produced from seed, or more probably from a sporting branch, the Double Moss Rose, that is, a double Cabbage or Provence Rose, covered with that glandular excrescence which we term moss; this branch or plant was propagated, and the variety handed down to us, perhaps, as much admired in the present day as when first discovered. Roses always have been, and I hope always will be, favourites: for what can be more elegant than the bud of the Moss Rose, with its pure rosecolour, peeping through that beautiful and unique envelope?

The first in the catalogue is the Asepala, or Rosa muscosa asepala; a new variety, something like the Provence Dianthæflora, curious, sometimes very pretty. The Blush Moss is a most beautiful variety of the colour of that well-known

rose, the Celestial, - so exactly intermediate between the White Moss and the common, that it is quite necessary in a collection. The Crimson or Damask Moss, sometimes called the Tinwell Moss, was originated in the garden of a clergyman at Tinwell in Rutlandshire; from thence sent to Mr. Lee of Hammersmith. As it was one of the first deep-coloured Moss Roses, it was much esteemed, and plants of it were sold at a high price. This is a more luxuriant grower than the Old Moss; its branches, leaves, and buds are also more mossy. It is an excellent rose for beds; for, if its shoots are pegged to the ground with small hooks, the surface is soon covered with its luxuriant foliage and flowers. For this purpose it is better on its own roots, as worked plants so treated would throw up too many suckers. The French Crimson Moss is deeper in colour, and much more double than the preceding, not such a luxuriant grower, but one of the best Moss Roses we have. Mousseuse de Veillard has not yet bloomed here in perfection. In colour it does not differ from the common moss; but it seems more dwarf and delicate in its habit, and more abundantly mossed. E'clatante is a Moss Rose quite worthy of notice; for it is so vigorous in its growth, that it soon forms a fine tree; its colour is also remarkably bright.

Moussue Partout is indeed all over moss; for its leaves, branches, and buds are thickly covered.

The flowers of this singular variety are much like the common Moss Rose. The Miniature Moss is one which I originated from seed in my endeavours to raise a superior dark variety from the Single Moss Rose. Its flowers are small, of a bright pink, and pretty, though only semi-double. Prolific Moss is not the Prolifère of the French, but a dwarf variety of the common Moss, and a most abundant bloomer. This is known by the French florists as the Minor Moss: it is a most excellent variety to keep in pots for forcing. Prolifère, or Mousseuse Prolifère, is an old variety from France, producing very large flowers, which do not open well in wet weather; but in dry hot seasons this is a fine rose. The Pompone Moss, or Mossy de Meaux, has for some years been a great favourite. This rose was found by Mr. Sweet of the Bristol Nursery, at a garden at Taunton, Somersetshire, in 1814. He obtained possession of the plant for five pounds; and afterwards distributed the young plants at one guinea each. was most probably an accidental sport from the Old Rose de Meaux, and not from seed, as that rose is too double to bear seed, in this country. This is one of the prettiest of roses, and one of the first to make its appearance in June, gladdening us with its early clusters of small and finely-shaped flowers. It is not well adapted for a standard; for, when grafted or budded, it is but a short-lived plant, at least in the generality of

soils; on its own roots, in light rich soils, it may be grown in great perfection. The Perpetual White Moss is a Damask Rose: it is pretty only in bud; for, when expanded, the flower is illshaped. This made a great noise in the rose world when it first appeared; but its reputation for beauty was much over-rated. However, if grown luxuriantly, it produces immense clusters of buds, which have a very elegant and unique appearance. This rose is a proof, often occurring, that florists are apt to designate a plant by some name descriptive of what they wish it to be, rather than of what it is. The Perpetual Moss is not perpetual; but, like the Old Monthly Damask Rose, in moist autumns and in rich soils it sometimes puts forth flowering branches. The Luxembourg Moss, or "Ferrugineuse," has been raised from seed, within these few years, in the Luxembourg Gardens. It is evidently much tinged with the dark colouring of some variety of Rosa gallica, and approaches to that grand desideratum, a dark crimson Moss Rose. This is most certainly a superb variety, of great luxuriance of growth, forming a fine standard: it will probably be the parent of a dark Moss Rose still more splendid, as it bears seed freely. Mottled Moss is the Mousseuse Prolifère, a large globular rose with petals that are crisp or curdled before its flowers open: this gave rise to its name of Mottled Moss. This rose does not open well in wet seasons, but is often very beautiful, and forms a fine standard.

The Scarlet Mosse the Mousseuse de la Flèche of the French, from being originated at the town of La Flèche, is a pretty brilliant rose with flowers nearly as small as the Pompone Moss, but not so double. River's Single Moss is inclined to be semi-double. This is a remarkably luxuriant grower, as is the Single Crimson Moss, a seedling which bloomed for the first time in the season of 1836; a rose quite worth notice, for its colour is beautiful; and as it is a true Moss rose, and bears seed abundantly, it will, I hope, be the parent of some first-rate varieties. The White Bath or Clifton Moss is a favourite and beautiful Rose: this owes its origin to a sporting branch of the common Moss, which was found in a garden at Clifton, near Bristol, about thirty years since, from whence it was distributed. The old White Moss is, perhaps, a French variety, as the French cultivators, when speaking of the Clifton Moss, call it Mousseuse Blanche Anglaise; and the Old White Moss, M. Blanche Ancienne. This has not so much moss as the Clifton, and is not pure white, but inclining to a pale flesh-colour: it is also much more delicate in habit.

To the Moss Roses described in the preceding pages may now be added Lancel; so named from its originator, which has the merit of producing the most beautiful of flower-buds. The moss with which they are enveloped is long and abundant, and of the most lively green; its flowers, when expanded, are of a deep reddish rose, rather irregular in shape: it is in its buds that this rose is interesting. Mousseuse de Metz proves to be a very pretty bright carmine Moss Rose, with flowers double and finely shaped; in short, a rose quite worthy of cultivation.

The Scarlet Pompone, Pompone écarlate, or Mousseuse Picciola, is a new variety, something like Mousseuse de la Flèche in character, but more dwarf, with flowers much smaller, and nearly or quite double; it is a very pretty bright carmine rose, and will probably prove one of the prettiest of our dwarf Moss Roses.

A new striped Moss Rose, Mousseuse Panachée pleine, was received two years since from France; this has proved a much prettier rose than I at one time thought it to be; its flowers are pale flesh striped with pink, and generally constantly so; sometimes half the flowers will be white, and the remaining petals of a bright rose colour.

Several moss roses have been lately introduced, most of them emanating from the Luxembourg Moss. I will take them in their alphabetical order, and begin with à Feuilles Pourpres, so named from its leaves being of a dark red in spring. This is a pretty, brilliant carmine rose, with flowers rather small, and will probably, when its character is more developed, prove to be

worthy a place in a good collection. Alice Leroy, recently raised at Angers, that most favourable of all climates for raising roses from seed, is of a robust habit, giving full-sized double flowers, rather a deep rose tinged with lilac.

Anemoné is a very distinct variety, with shoots very slender and graceful; flowers bright and pink, petals incurved, much like those of some double anemonies. Celina is, however, one of the very best dark crimson moss roses we yet possess: its foliage has a peculiarly dark glossy-green tint, quite distinct; its flowers are large and double. but not quite full to the centre; colour very brilliant but deep crimson, in some seasons slightly tinged with purple: this will most probably supersede the Luxembourg Moss, which, only a few years since, was our only deep-coloured moss Its habit is not quite so robust as that of the latter, which in some soils is almost too much so, making here shoots six feet in length in growing seasons. The Crimson Pompone, or Oscar Foulard, raised from seed by M. Foulard of Le Mans, is small, with flowers quite double; colour, red, tinged with purple: a pretty and distinct rose. Helène Mauget, and Hortensia, are new roses, from that prolific parent the Luxembourg: they are pretty, but not enough distinct to be recommended: to the collector only they will prove interesting. Louise Colet is a remarkable and distinct variety, not so much in

the colour of its flowers as in its curious leafy sepals, giving the flower a pretty and singular character. Malvina, raised by the same cultivator at Angers, is really a good double rose; the whole plant distinct in character; flowers full sized, and very double, of a bright rose-colour slightly tinged with lilac. Pompone Feu is a dwarf variety, with peculiar brilliant pink flowers, not quite double: this is a pretty dwarf rose, and should be planted with the other Pompone moss Princess Royal was raised here from seed by crossing that old variety Mousseuse ponctuée with the Tuscany Rose. This would indeed be the most splendid of moss roses if its flowers were quite double; they are not so, but still more than semi-double, and the number of its petals seems to increase annually, as in the Single Crimson Moss, which, from being quite single, is now semi-double. Princess Royal is, if possible, still more robust in its habit than the Luxembourg; it makes shoots five to seven feet in one season: its leaves and shoots in spring are of a deep red; it gives a profusion of flowers, which are of a very deep crimson purple, mottled with bright red; when in bud, or half expanded, they are very beautiful. As this rose bears seed freely, it will most probably be the parent of some unique va-We have now also what was at one time thought to be impossible, viz. the Old Rose Unique mossed: this is called Moss Unique de

Provence. I cannot learn its origin; if from seed or otherwise; but am inclined to think it is a sport from our old favourite, the Unique Rose: its habit is exactly similar, and equally robust; its flowers of the same pure white, and blooming in the same magnificent clusters. This beautiful white rose offers a fine contrast to Celina, and equally deserves a place in every garden.

We have now (1846), in addition to the foregoing, a Perpetual Red Moss, decidedly an acquisition; in colour it is deep rose; with cupped and nicely shaped flowers, every shoot terminating in a cluster as in the Crimson Perpetual Rose, and these, when the plant is sufficiently vigorous, are produced in the autumn; it is, however, to be regretted, that its habit is delicate; this I attribute to its having been hitherto budded on the Dog Rose. I am sanguine enough to anticipate, that by using the Rosa Maneltii in the Bemsault stock, this very interesting rose may be made much more hardy and vigorous. We have vet much to learn in adapting roses to the kind of stock most congenial to their habits, in noticing varieties that are called delicate growers and difficult to cultivate. I shall point out such as require different stocks to those of the Dog Rose, now used for all roses indiscriminately.

Catherine de Wurtemburg is a new blush moss rose, giving its large globular flowers in clusters; it requires a dry season to perfect its flowers, which, in wet weather, often refuse to open; its fine rugose foliage and robust habit make it very interesting. In Comtesse de Murinais we have a new and most vigorous growing white moss rose, a most remarkable variety, evidently resulting from a cross with the Damask Rose, of which it largely partakes in its foliage and general habit; this is so robust that last season my young plants made shoots more than six feet in length, of the thickness of a stout riding cane. Its flower buds are well mossed, but its flowers are not very double; they are large, very slightly tinged with blush when they first open, and soon change to pure white. I attach much value to this rose, for I anticipate that, by crossing it with the Perpetual White Moss, seed may be easily obtained, which will, I trust, in the course of time, give us some autumnal blooming white moss roses.

Lansezeur is a new brilliant crimson rose distinctly veined with deep purple, flowers not fully double. This is desirable as a seed-bearing variety, which will probably give us some variegated moss roses. Moussue Presque Partout is a very pretty brilliant rose-coloured rose, its leaves and branches nearly covered with moss, but not having that blighted appearance peculiar to its congener Moussue Partout. In the new variety Princesse Adelaide, raised from seed by M. Laffay, we have a proof of the effect of hybridising roses, for this is most evidently and distinctly a hybrid

bombose rose, with its flower-buds rather abundantly covered with moss; in fact, a hybrid moss rose of a new race; its habit is remarkably vigorous, foliage very large and beautiful, flowers well shaped, and in general they open freely; their colour in dry weather is a very lively pink, in cloudy moist weather a bright rose. This new and interesting variety will form a fine pillar rose, as it will in rich soils make shoots from six to eight feet long in one season, consequently there cannot be a finer object for a column; another step, and we should have had in this a Mossy Bourbon Rose, blooming in autumn. Alas, in hybridising roses it is " le dernier pas qui coute," and not " le premier." Thus one more remove from the moss rose, and a nearer approach to the Bourbon, would have probably given us merely a mediocre Bourbon Rose, with some very faint signs of its mossy parentage. Delphine is a new rose, of the same origin; it is, however, inferior to the preceding; its flowers are small, and of a bright rose colour; a pretty, but not a superior rose.

Renoncule Pourpre is one of those new and brilliant coloured moss roses grouping well with Hortensia, à Feuilles Pourpres, Anemoné, Lansezeur; its flowers are very double, and neatly shaped. Etna is quite a new introduction; flowers double, of a good shape; colour fiery crimson or "pourpre feu;" still the term fiery scarcely expresses this colour, which is very striking in some roses at a

great distance: thus that well known and justly admired hybrid China rose, Chénédolé, is of a fiery crimson; for it glows with warmth of colour even at a distance of thirty or more yards.

Moss Roses, when grown on their own roots, require a light and rich soil: in such soils they form fine masses of beauty in beds on lawns. The varieties best adapted to this purpose are the Common Moss, the Prolific, the Luxembourg, the Crimson, and the Pompone. Plants of these are procurable at a moderate price, and by pegging down their shoots with hooked sticks the surface of the bed will be covered with a mass of foliage and flowers: to have a succession of flowers on the same bed, half of the shoots may be shortened in October, the remainder the beginning of May, pruning closely as recommended for the Provence Roses. By this method, the blooming season may be prolonged from a fortnight to three weeks. They should have an abundant annual dressing and manure on the surface in November, and the bed lightly stirred with the fork in February. In cold and clayey soils they in general succeed much better worked on the Dog Rose, forming beautiful standards. I have ascertained that they establish themselves much better on short stems, from two or three feet in height, than on taller stems. If short, the stem increases in bulk progressively with the head, and the plants will then live and flourish a great many years.

To raise Moss Roses from seed is a most interesting employment for the genuine rose amateur; such a pleasing field is open, and so much may yet be done. The following directions will, I hope, assist those who have leisure, perseverance, and love for this charming flower. A plant of the Luxembourg Moss \* and one of the Single Crimson Moss should be planted against a south wall, close to each other, so that their branches may be mingled. In bright calm sunny mornings in June, about ten o'clock, those flowers that are expanded should be examined by pressing the fingers on the anthers; it will then be found if the pollen is abundant; if so, a flower of the former should be shaken over the latter; or, what perhaps is better, its flower-stalks should be fastened to the wall, so that the flower will be kept in an erect position. Then cut a flower of the Luxembourg Moss, strip off its petals with a sharp pair of scissors, and place the anthers firmly but gently upon a flower of the Single Crimson, so that the anthers of each are entangled: they will keep it in its position: a stiff breeze will then scarcely remove it. The fertilising will take place without further trouble, and a fine hip full of seed will be the result. To obtain seed from the Luxembourg Moss, I need scarcely say that this operation must be reversed. A wall is not always necessary to ripen

<sup>•</sup> The Princess Royal and Celina Moss are also excellent seedbearing varieties, and may be planted as above.

seed; for in dry soils, and airy exposed situations, the above Moss Roses bear seed in tolerable abundance. The treatment of the hips, sowing the seed, and the management of the young plants, as applicable to all, is given at the end of the First Part.

## THE FRENCH ROSE.

(Rosa gallica.)

Rosier de Provins.

The French Rose (Rosa gallica of botanists) is an inhabitant of the continent of Europe, growing abundantly in the hedges of France and Italy. In the "Floræ Romanæ" of Sebastiani. published at Rome in 1818, this rose, Rosa sempervirens, and Rosa canina, are said to be the only roses growing naturally in the Papal States. It was one of the earliest roses introduced to our gardens, and is supposed by some to be the Rosa Millesiana of Pliny, so named from its growing abundantly near Miletus in Asia Minor: it has also historical claims of much interest, for the semi-double bright red rose grown in Surrey for the London druggists, and still cultivated extensively in the environs of Provins, to make their celebrated conserve of roses, is, according to

a French author \*, the red rose, the ancient badge of the House of Lancaster. "Somewhere about the year 1277, a son of the King of England, Count Egmond, who had taken the title of Comte de Champagne, was sent by the King of France to Provins, with troops to avenge the murder of the mayor of the city, who had been assassinated in some tumult. He remained at Provins for a considerable period, and on his return to England he took for his device the red rose of Provins, which Thibaut Comte de Brie had brought from Syria, on his return from a crusade some years before." The white rose of the House of York was probably our very old semidouble variety of Rosa alba.

Our Provins rose is associated with recollections of the unfortunate House of Bourbon; for when Marie Antoinette came to France in 1770 to espouse Louis XVI., she passed through Nancy, a city about 160 miles to the south-east of Provins, the inhabitants of which presented her with a bed strewed with leaves of the Provins Rose. Alas! her bed was twenty years afterwards more abundantly strewed with thorns by the inhabitants of Paris. Charles X. also, on arriving at Provins on his return from the camp at Luneville, Sept. 21st, 1828, was received in state by the authorities, who deputed twelve young

<sup>\*</sup> L'Ancien Provins, par Opoix.

ladies to present him with the flowers and conserves of roses.

The inhabitants boast, that no other roses, even when the same variety is employed, make conserve equal to those grown in the environs of their town; they assert, that towards the end of the seventeenth century, it was sold in India for its weight in gold. 1596 is given by botanists as the date of its introduction; and, owing to its bearing seed freely, it has been the parent of an immense number of varieties, many of the earlier sorts being more remarkable for their expressive French appellations than for any great dissimilarity in their habits or colours. All the roses of this group are remarkable for their compact and upright growth; many for the multiplicity of their petals, and tendency to produce variegated flowers. Some of these spotted and striped roses are very singular and beautiful. The formation of the flower, in many of the superior modern varieties of Rosa gallica, is very regular; so that most probably this family will ultimately be the favourite of those florists who show roses for prizes in the manner that dahlias are now exhibited; that is, as full-blown flowers, one flower on a stem; for they bear carriage better, when fully expanded, than any other roses. In France, this is called the "Provins Rose;" and some varieties of it are classed in a separate division, as "Agathe Roses." These have curled foliage,

and pale-coloured, compact flowers, remarkable for their crowded petals. That very old striped rose, sometimes improperly called the "York and Lancaster" Rose, seems to have been one of the first variations of Rosa gallica, as it is mentioned by most of our early writers on gardening. This is properly "Rosa mundi:" the true York and Lancaster Rose is a Damask Rose.

To describe a selection of these roses is no easy task, as the plants differ so little in their habits; and their flowers, though very dissimilar in appearance, yet offer so few prominent descriptive characteristics. In the following pages I have selected a few for description, both of new and old varieties, all of which are superior flowers, and in this category, Boula de Nanteuil, more properly Comte Boula de Nanteuil, may be taken as a standard of excellence; its very large crimson purple flowers, regularly cupped, and yet fully and perfectly double, are, and always will be, admired by the amateur. D'Aguesseau is also a superb rose; its colour, much more striking than that of the above, is of a brilliant crimson, form very regular, petals abundant, and not too much crowded. Chaste Susanne is a very remarkable variety, of the most vigorous and robust habit, departing in some measure from the usual compact growth of the varieties of this family; its flowers are very large, of a fine blush colour, and very double and perfect. Cyntie is now a old

variety, remarkable for its large erect clusters of flowers, which are pale rose, very double, and regularly shaped. General Bertrand, known also as Marjolin, is a large and finely shaped rose, of that peculiar slaty purple colour, not in general agreeable to the rose amateur, but still very remarkable, and on that account desirable. Grandissima, in some catalogues described under the name of Louis Philippe, is a most superb rose, colour brilliant crimson, shape cupped and first rate; but very few roses surpass this fine variety. Jeanne de Laval is a new rose of much beauty, colour a fine brilliant pink, petals thick and well placed, shape perfectly cupped. La Jeune Reine is also a new rose, in colour more of a bright rose than the pink of the preceding; in shape it is most perfect and beautiful.

Oracle du Siècle, now an old variety, is a most charming rose, perfect in form, and rich and beautiful in its fine crimson colouring. Pharenius, with flowers of a rosy red, cupped, and of the most perfect shape, fully deserves a place among the élite of this family. Sanchette is a new rose with full-sized cupped flowers, of a deep pink, shape perfect, and altogether an admirable rose. Schismaker would almost lead us to suppose that that grand desideratum, a blue rose, will yet be obtained by cultivators: this rose is in colour deep slaty purple, flowers very large, and not quite so double as some of the above.

Telemaque is a new and very superb variety, flowers large and finely shaped, colour brilliant and beautiful; perhaps rosy red, or pink, will convey some idea of its peculiar tints; in habit it is very robust, and altogether a magnificent rose. Teolinde is equal to the foregoing in every respect, but differs a little in colour, which is deep yet bright rose. In beautiful contrast as regards colour, but of the same vigorous habit, is Triomphe de Jaussens; colour brilliant crimson, shape perfection; when its large and very double flowers first expand, the outer row of petals, as in Kean and Boula de Nanteuil, forms a regular and beautiful cup; it is in truth a magnificent variety. Bandeau Nuptial is a new rose of the most elegant cupped form, and of the most delicate blush, tinted with rose in the centre. Nelly is also one of those pale blush roses, well deserving a place in every collection; in habit it is very robust and vigorous, and as a new rose of much excellence, Ohl may be mentioned; colour light yet vivid crimson, and very double, large, and finely shaped; cupped when it first opens, afterwards compact, as as is the case with many varieties in this group. As a very fine dark crimson rose, Washington will not disappoint the amateur; in shape it is finely cupped and quite perfect. Louis Foucquier is a bright red rose of great beauty, in colour and habit, which is dwarf, almost unique. La Circassienne, if the name conveys, as it ought to do, an

idea of beauty, will most assuredly not disappoint; its flowers are of a deep rose, most regularly and beautifully cupped; it is one of the most desirable varieties in this family. Didon colour rose, with the centre of the flower deep red, is a beautiful and distinct variety. A very old favourite must not be forgotten,—Bizarre Marbré or Cecile Boireau: this is really a beautiful and desirable rose, very double, large, finely shaped, and in colour generally bright rose marbled with blush; sometimes, however, its flowers are merely of a bright rose, but always beautiful; it is a first-rate show rose.\*

Antonine d'Ormois is a fine free-growing variety, with flowers large, of the most perfect shape; colour a delicate blush. Columella is also a rose deserving a high eulogium. Generally its flowers are of a bright pink, beautifully shaded on their margins with blush; occasionally it produces self-coloured flowers, but is always a first-rate and remarkably distinct variety. Kean is now become a well-known rose, remarkable for its constancy, for it is always beautiful; in size it is first-rate, in shape quite perfection; colour bright reddish crimson, in some seasons approaching to scarlet. Latour d'Auvergne is another of these most perfect roses, worthy of a place in every rose-garden;

<sup>\*</sup> This term is applied to those varieties that produce very double and perfect flowers, fit to be exhibited singly, as dablias are.

colour deep crimson, habit most robust and vigorous. Letitia, of a beautiful veined deep rosecolour, is equally valuable as a show rose, for in all seasons it is invariably perfect in shape. so exactly resembles the Hybrid Provence, La Volupté, in its flowers, although slightly differing in habit, that I have ceased to insert the latter in my catalogue. Shakspere is a fine shaded rose; in most seasons this beautiful variety shows a brilliant red centre, having a charming effect. Schönbrunn, a brilliant crimson rose, is quite perfect in shape, and most constant and beautiful. There are yet many other self-coloured roses in this family, of equal beauty, but of which it is impossible to give descriptions without a sameness which would be tedious to the reader. In the Catalogue of 1845 accurate descriptions are given, which, though brief, are correct.

I have now to notice a few varieties of this family entirely different to the foregoing, and lacking that fulness of petal, and perfection of shape, generally so much admired; these are desirable only for the extreme brilliancy of their glowing colours, which are really dazzling; they should always be planted in a group, as they do not mix well with the large and very double varieties. Brilliant, a new variety, Cerise Superbe, Feu Brilliante, Rouge Eblouissante, (this is known also as Assemblage des Beautés,) Eblouissante de Laqueue and Vesta, the latter one of

our oldest varieties, are the names of these vivid fiery scarlet roses; of these Cerise Superbe and Rouge Eblouissante are the most double; the others are but little more than semi-double; they are all, however, desirable, and should by all means have a small bed allotted to them in the rose garden.

Variegated roses form an interesting section of this family. To that very old semi-double striped rose, growing almost wild in some gardens, and figured in "Les Roses par Redouté," under the name of Rosa Gallica Versicolor, and known in this country as Rosa Mundi\*, we owe all our striped roses of this family. Our Village Maid or La Villageoise, now an old variety, was one of the earliest proceeds from the above; this is now a well-known and in some seasons very beautiful striped rose. The New Village Maid or Panaché Pleine, with flowers more double but not so large as the preceding, was the second remove, and recently a variety deserving of especial notice has been introduced; this is Œillet Parfait, a rose raised in the West of France, and given out to the world before its qualities were appreciated. It is a hybrid between the Damask and the French rose, so exactly like a carnation in its beautifullystriped flowers as scarcely to be distinguished from one: its ground colour is pale blush, striped

<sup>•</sup> How this name came to be attached, I am at a loss to conjecture. Redouté says, "Les Anglais l'ont appelée Rosemonde du nom de la belle et spirituelle maîtresse de Henri II."

distinctly with dark red and crimson, no other variegated rose approaching it in beauty. One or two pretty varieties of Rosa tricolor have lately been originated. Tricolor d'Orléans is the most distinct of these: its flowers are of a peculiar vivid, shaded red, striped with white. A very pretty marbled rose, called Modeste Guérin, is also worthy of notice, as some of its petals are of a bright rose-colour, others nearly white. Lavoisier, a new rose, is remarkable for having its leaves variegated, and flowers spotted: this is a very double rose. Eulalie le Brun is a new introduction, with a ground-colour of pale pink, striped with white: a delicate pretty rose. Mécène, also new, with its ground-colour of pale flesh, striped with pink, is a pretty variety.

Perle des Panachées, a very recent introduction, with full-sized flowers, of a pure white striped with lilac and red, is an acquisition. Œillet Flamand, white, striped with red, will be found worthy a place in a group of these carnation-like roses. Lee's Carnation, raised by Mr. Lee, of Hammersmith, has a crimson purple ground striped with pale red; it is unfortunately a most delicate grower. Cuvier is a deep red rose spotted with pale flesh; and Donna Sol, a remarkably brilliant red rose, spotted with the same colour as Cuvier, is a very pretty and distinct variety.

Most of the varieties of Rosa gallica are robust and hardy, and flourish equally as bushes on their own roots, grafted or budded on short stems, or as standards; but they cannot be recommended for tall standards, as their growth is too compact to be graceful. To grow them fine for exhibition as single blooms or "show-roses," the clusters of buds should be thinned early in June, taking at least two-thirds from each; manure should also he laid round their stems on the surface, and manured water given to them plentifully in dry weather. With this description of culture, these roses will much surpass any thing we have yet seen in this country. To prolong their season of blooming, two plants of each variety should be planted; one plant to be pruned in October, and the other in May. These will be found to give a regular succession of flowers. In winter pruning. shorten the strong shoots to within six or eight buds of the bottom; those that are weak cut down to two or three buds.

To raise self-coloured French roses from seed, they should be planted in a warm, dry border, sloping to the south, in an open, airy situation. The shade of trees is very pernicious to seed-bearing roses; and, in planting roses for the purpose of bearing seed, it must be borne in mind that it will give great facility to their management if the plants are planted in pairs, close to each other; accident will then often do as much as art in fertilising them; thus the Woodpigeon Rose\* may be

<sup>•</sup> Some of the roses recommended for seed-bearing are old varieties, which may be procured from any rose nursery.

planted with and fertilised by the Tuscany, with Assemblage des Beautés, Vesta with Feu Brillante, Jean Bart with Princess Victoria, Superb Tuscany with Leopold, La Majestueuse also with the latter. All these roses bear seed, often without being fertilised, but the crop is almost certain if that operation is performed; and the above unions are likely to produce roses of decided colours and first-rate qualities.

To raise variegated roses the following, which also bear seed freely, should be selected and planted as before directed:—Aglae Adanson with Donna Sol, the Village Maid with Duc d'Orléans, Tricolor and Tricolor Pompon also with the Village Maid. This last union would probably produce some pretty striped roses.

Berlèse may also be planted with Seguier, Duc d'Orléans with André Thouin, and the Leopard Rose with Anacreon: these would most likely give pretty spotted roses. Picotée might be fertilised with the Village Maid, and, if seed could be procured, some fine varieties must be the result; but the central small petals should be removed with a pair of tweezers from the former rose, when its flowers are half expanded, as they are too much crowded to allow it to bear seed. Clear white and crimson striped roses are yet desiderata, as those we possess are inconstant. The Tricolor Rose fertilised with Globe Hip, which abounds in pollen, will be an experiment worth trying.

The Tuscany Rose, which is a most convenient variety for imparting dark colours, as it abounds with pollen more than any cultivated rose, should be planted in every rose seminary.

## THE HYBRID PROVENCE ROSE.

(Rosa centifolia hybrida.)

These beautiful roses are exactly intermediate between the French and the Provence Rose, partaking, almost in an equal degree, of both parents. They have upon the long and graceful shoots of the Provence the close and more dense foliage of the French rose; and, in some of the varieties, the pale and delicate colouring of the first so enlivened by the rich and deep crimson hues of the latter. The origin of these roses may be soon attested; for, if the Single Moss, or Provence Rose, is fertilised with the farina of Rosa gallica, hybrid Provence roses will be produced, agreeing in every respect with the above description. Among the most superior varieties is Blanchefleur, of the most delicate flesh-colour, or nearly white; very distinct, and even now (1845) one of the finest roses known.

Duchesse d'Angoulême, or the Wax Rose, is an old but deservedly a favourite variety: its colour is so delicate and its form so perfect that it must always be admired; the habit of the plant is most luxuriant, and rather more erect than most other members of this family. Enchantress grande Henriette, or Rose Parmentier, for these, and I believe some others, are its synonymes, is an old and most beautiful variety, so double and finely-shaped that it may be considered a prize-rose of the first character.

The Globe Hip, the "Boule de Neige" of the French, was raised from seed many years since at the Hammersmith nursery. This is now much surpassed by some of our new white roses, but still it is a favourite variety. Its habit is most luxuriant; and if it is grafted on the same stem with George the Fourth, or some other vigorousgrowing dark variety, the union will have a fine effect. The Glory of France is an immense rose, of the most luxuriant habit, having a fine effect grown as a standard, but, like some other very large roses, its flowers are irregularly shaped. L'Ingénue is most undoubtedly a descendant of the Globe Hip, with flowers of the purest white, the centre of the flower inclining to yellow; this is one of our finest white roses, and, like the Globe Hip, it is of the most luxuriant habit.

To the latter we have now to add some interesting White Roses, of which Melanie, or Melanie de Waldor, and the New Double Globe, or Boule de Neige à Fleurs pleines, are very perfect

and beautiful varieties: the latter is also called Clarisse Jolivain; this is an improved variety of the Globe Hip.

Very many beautiful roses have within the last three years been added to this class; one of the most distinct is Christine de Pisan, deep reddish pink, occasionally mottled; this is a very beautiful rose, and differs much in habit and flowers from all in this family. Emerance is also perfectly unique, and one is inclined to wonder how this peculiar colour could be gained: its flowers are most perfect in shape, and of a delicate straw colour, differing altogether from any other summer rose.

We have now another variety of very recent introduction, in colour of the same yellowish white: this is Pauline Garcia, a very interesting and beautiful variety; in habit it much resembles Blanchefleur, a well-known rose in this family, which, for perfect symmetry of shape, almost surpasses every other pale flesh-coloured rose known.

Laura, with flowers very large, of a fine rosy blush, is a first-rate and most beautiful variety, deserving of all that can be said in its praise. Madame Huet and Rose Devigne are delicate blush roses, much alike, and both beautiful; the latter has, perhaps, the larger flowers of the two, and is certainly one of the finest blush roses known; it is most luxuriant in habit, and forms a fine pillar rose. The colour of both is very similar. Nero is a fine deep purplish red rose, grouping

admirably with the, perhaps too many, pale roses in this family. Semilasso is also a deep-coloured and finely-shaped rose, equally worth a place in the rose-garden. Hypacia is a new variety of much beauty; flowers perfectly cupped, and of the most regular shape; colour deep pink, occasionally mottled: this is a distinct and charming rose.

Princesse Clementine proves to be one of our finest white roses, with flowers very large, perfectly double and well shaped, and not liable, like our old favourite damask rose, Madame Hardy, to come with a bud in the centre of the flower: in habit it is most robust, and well adapted to train up a column or pillar, which when covered with its snowy and large flowers may perhaps, without affectation, be called a pillar of purity.

Comte Plater is a new and unique rose, with large and very double flowers, finely shaped, of a delicate cream tinted with fawn-colour, which is placed in this family, but perhaps it has quite as many claims, like Rose Devigne and some others, to be grouped with the hybrid China roses. Like botanists, rose cultivators are often posed by the freaks of nature, who seems to delight in breaking into every artificial system, and to pay no more respect to the classification of the botanist than to that of the more humble florist.

Within the last ten years how many plants have been named and unnamed, classed and reclassed; Professor A. placing it here, and Dr. B.

placing it there. I can almost imagine Dame Nature laughing in her sleeve when our philosophers are thus puzzled Well, so it is in a measure with roses; a variety has often equal claims to two classes. First impressions have perhaps placed it in one, and there rival amateurs should let it remain: for classification of roses, as in every department of science, although in almost every case imperfect, owing to the unbounded fertility of nature, is necessary; floriculture, as well as science, is rendered by it more interesting and attractive. "Revenons à nos roses." Among our new varieties Eugenie Dessauzais, or Duboys Dessauzais, is a charming pink rose margined with blush, a superb and beautiful variety; and Madame L'Abbey, one of the most brilliant in its bright rose colour, and beautiful and perfect in its cupped shape, deserves a place by the side of the delicate Eugenie.

La Calaissienne is a large rose of the most perfect cupped shape, colour rose, slightly tinted with lilac, in habit very robust. Panaché is a new striped rose, ground colour flesh striped with deep red, with large semi-double flowers, and a vigorous habit of growth; adapted for a pillar rose: this will probably be the parent of a race of striped pillar roses. Pompone de Laqueue is one of the most delicately beautiful roses in this group, flowers rather below the middle size, of the most perfect shape, and each delicate blush flower tinted in its centre with pale salmon.

Theodora is a constant and pleasing rose, colour blush, form faultless; there are possibly some other varieties nearly or quite equal to the above, which I have not named, but I feel assured that all those described are worthy of their descriptions.

Hybrid Provence roses are very robust and hardy, useful to the rose amateur, as serving to form a most delicate group of soft colours: they also make admirable standards, as the branches of most of the varieties are inclined to be spreading, diffuse, and of course graceful; the pruning recommended for the French Rose may be applied to all of this family.

The seed-bearing roses of this family are the Globe Hip, the flowers of which should not be fertilised if pure white roses are desired. Some few years since I raised a plentiful crop of seedlings from this rose, fertilised with the Tuscany: nearly all my plants produced semi-double blush and rose-coloured flowers; the Blush Globe was the only exception.

Blanchefleur, with L'ingenue, would possibly produce seed from which fine-shaped and delicate coloured roses might be expected. The same with the Tuscany rose would most likely originate deep rose-coloured varieties, with finely-shaped cupped flowers.

It will, I feel assured, repay the amateur if he will plant Comte Plater, Emerance, or Pauline Garcia against a south wall, and fertilise their

flowers with the pollen off Rosa Harrisonii, or the Persian Yellow: if seed can be procured, some novel yellow roses must be originated.

## THE HYBRID CHINA ROSE.

(ROSA INDICA HYBRIDA.)

Rosier Hybride de Bengale.

The superior varieties of this fine division give a combination of all that is or can be beautiful in roses; for, not only are their flowers of the most elegant forms and colours, their foliage of extreme luxuriance, but their branches are so vigorous and graceful, that perhaps no plant presents such a mass of beauty as a finely grown hybrid China rose in full bloom. They owe their origin to the China. Tea-scented Noisette and Bourbon roses. fertilised with the French, Provence, and other summer roses, and also to the latter crossed with the former; the seeds of such impregnated flowers producing hybrid China roses. These have in many cases resulted from accident, but latterly from the regular fertilising process, as mules or hybrids have been raised from well-known parents.

In England, but few varieties have been originated; as the common China rose does not in general ripen its seeds sufficiently for germination. The parents of Brown's Superb Blush, which is

an English hybrid, raised by the late Mr. Charles Brown, of Slough, one of our most scientific and persevering cultivators, cut off in the prime of life, was the old Tea-scented rose, Rosa indica odorata, impregnated with some hardy summer rose. Rivers's George the Fourth is also an English rose; but as this came by accident, its origin is not so well ascertained. Rosa Blairii is also English, and raised from the yellow China, impregnated with some variety of hardy rose. All these roses have the true characters of the family: leaves smooth, glossy, and sub-evergreen: branches long, luxuriant, and flexible. They give a long continuance of bloom, but they never put forth secondary or autumnal flowers. This is a most peculiarly distinguishing trait, and an interesting fact. Impregnate a Bourbon, China or Noisette rose, all abundant autumnal bloomers, with the farina of a French or Provence rose, and you entirely take away the tendency to autumnal blooming in their offspring. They will grow vigorously all the autumn, and give a long, but not a secondary series of flowers. Some of these hybrid China roses produce seed abundantly, which is rather a remarkable feature, as so few hybrid plants are fertile.

Hybrids produced from the French rose impregnated with the China rose, are not of such robust and vigorous habits as when the China rose is the female parent; but, perhaps, this is an assertion scarcely borne out by facts, for the exceptions are numerous, and, like many other variations in roses and plants in general, seem to bid defiance to systematic rules. By some cultivators the roses of this division have been much more divided than in my catalogue, forming "Hybrid Noisettes," "Hybrid Bourbons," &c. &c.; but as these all owe their origin to the common China rose, their offspring may with justice be called Hybrid China roses. I have, however, found the Hybrid Bourbon roses distinct in their characters, and they now form a group, or division, in the catalogue.

Those that have been raised from Noisette roses have a tendency to produce their flowers in clusters; those from Bourbon roses have their leaves thick, leathery, and round, forming a most distant group; those from the Tea-scented have a delicate and grateful scent; but all have those distinguishing family traits as before given, and accordingly they group beautifully. It is a difficult task to point out the best in this division, as they are nearly all well deserving of cultivation. However, by making a few remarks, such as cannot be given in a descriptive catalogue, I may perhaps be able, in some measure, to direct the choice of amateurs to those most worthy their notice.

Brennus, the Brutus of some collections: this very superb rose will form a finer object as a pillar

rose \* or standard than as a bush; its luxuriant shoots must not be shortened too much in winter pruning, as it is then apt to produce an abundance of wood, and but very few flowers. This rose often puts forth branches in one season from eight to ten feet in length: if these are from a dwarf, and are fastened to a wooden or iron stake, and not shortened, the following season they will form a pillar of beauty but rarely equalled. Blairii, a rose not so much known as it deserves to be, is a very distinct and unique variety, so impatient of the knife, that if pruned at all severely, it will scarcely put forth a flower: it is perhaps better as a pillar rose, than grown in any other mode, as it shoots ten or twelve feet in one season, and its pendulous clusters of flowers which are produced from these long shoots unshortened, have a beautiful effect on a pillar. Beauty of Billiard is, of all roses, the most glowing and beautiful: its colour is described in the catalogue as scarlet; but it is rather a fiery crimson, so vivid, that it may be distinguished at an immense distance. This rose also requires care in using the knife; the extreme tips of the branches may be cut off, and some of them thinned out; it will then bloom in great perfection, but care must always be taken in winter pruning to leave its shoots nearly their

<sup>\*</sup> All the roses to which this term is applied make very long and flexible shoots, well adapted for training up a column, thus forming a pillar of roses.

full length. Blairii, No. 2, has large flowers, rather globular in shape, of a delicate tinted blush; this is really a beautiful rose either for a standard or a pillar. Becquet is a pretty distinct dark crimson flower, very double and well shaped. Belle Marie is a first-rate rose, finely shaped, and a good showrose. Belle Parabere is a very remarkable variety, of inconceivable luxuriance; its flowers are very large: it will in good soils, as a standard, soon form a large umbrageous tree. Coccinea superba. or "Vingt neuf Juillet," is a rose alike beautiful in its flowers and foliage; in early spring its leaves and shoots are of a most vivid red, and this appearance they retain the greater part of the summer; its flowers are brilliant in the extreme, crimson purple shaded with scarlet: the shoots of this rose must also be left at nearly their full length.

Coupe d'Amour richly deserves its name, for it is a beautiful neat rose, quite perfect in its form, and pleasing in its bright rose-colour.

The Duke of Devonshire is an imbricated rose, one of the great favourites of the day, and most deservedly so, for its rosy lilac petals are so delicately striped with white, and its shape is so perfect, that it will always be admired. Fulgens, or the Malton rose, is certainly one of the most brilliant and beautiful of roses; the entire plant is also worthy of admiration independent of its magnificent globular scarlet flowers, as its foliage

is so abundant, and so finely tinted with red; its branches so vigorous, and yet spreading so gracefully, that it forms one of the very finest of standard roses.

Rivers's George the Fourth is still, perhaps, one of the best of this family: it was raised from seed by myself, about twenty years ago, and contributed probably more than any thing to make me an enthusiastic rose cultivator.\* It is now much esteemed in France, where it is comparatively a new variety. Hypocrate is a most superb variety, colour brilliant pink, shape elegantly cupped, is one of the finest of its class, and well adapted for a show-rose: this is not the Hypocrate of many catalogues, or of the French cultivators, which is a hybrid Bourbon, an inferior variety. The King of Roses, or Saudeur panachée, is a rarity among hybrids, for it is finely striped, and

• I hope to be pardoned the digression, but even now I have not forgotten the pleasure the discovery of this rose gave me. One morning in June I was looking over the first bed of roses I had ever raised from seed, and searching for something new among them with all the ardour of youth, when my attention was attracted to a rose in the centre of the bed, not in bloom but growing with great vigour, its shoots offering a remarkable contrast to the plants by which it was surrounded, in their crimson purple tinge; upon this plant I set my mark, and the following autumn removed it to a pet situation. It did not bloom in perfection the season after removal, but, when established, it completely eclipsed all the dark roses known, and the plant was so vigorous that it made shoots more than ten feet in length in one season. This plant is still living, and nearly as vigorous as ever.

as yet so few variegated roses are in this class: till these few last seasons never has it bloomed in perfection, or in fact scarcely at all, owing to its having been pruned too much: like some few others mentioned, its branches may be thinned, but scarcely at all shortened: this rose will form a fine pillar, and a standard of the largest size, as it grows with extraordinary luxuriance and vigour. Lady Stuart, like the Duke of Devonshire, is a gem of the first water, for no rose can surpass it in beauty; the form of the flowers before expansion is perfectly spherical, and exceedingly beautiful. This rose, for some years to come, must and will be a favourite. La Grandeur is. perhaps, nearly as much to be admired, but for qualities quite opposite, as this is when quite open an imbricated rose, exceedingly regular and pleasing in its form. Ne Plus Ultra, the Pallagi of two or three rose cultivators, and called also Gloire des Hybrides, is now an established favourite. Like many others of this division, it is not at all adapted for a show-rose; its flowers resemble in colour the red stock, and are singularly brilliant.

Petit Pierre is one of those rapid and diffuse growing roses, like Belle Parabere and the King of Roses in luxuriance and vigour of growth: this is one of the largest and the most double of hybrids, and when grown as a standard, forms a magnificent tree. Pompone bicolor is rather a small, but well-shaped rose, its centre inclining to scarlet, with outer petals of fine crimson purple, a most distinct and desirable rose. Riego is between the China rose and the sweetbriar, a remarkable, but most pleasing union, as it has the most delicious perfume. Souvenir d'une Mère is a large rose, of that delicate but bright rose-colour, always so much admired. Its flowers are not so double as some other varieties, but very large and magnificent. Triomphe de Guérin, a very large pale rose, much resembles Lady Stuart, differing only in having the centre of its flowers of a warm rose-coloured tint: this is a most beautiful and distinct variety. Triomphe d'Angers is perfectly unique, and no rose can be more deserving of admiration. Its perfume is much like ripe fruit, and its singularly brilliant crimson flowers are often striped with white: these two last-mentioned varieties are finer grown as standards than in any other mode, as their flowers are large and pendulous. Victor Hugo, one of the finest of the lilac-coloured roses, deserves a place in every col-It produces flowers of the very largest size, globular, and finely shaped. This is a very erect growing rose, and may be cultivated either as a standard or a dwarf. Velours Episcopal is a new and beautiful variety, perfectly globular, of a fine crimson purple, inclining to the latter colour. Wellington is now an old rose: for some time thought to be the same as Bizarre de la Chine, but now found to be quite different in its

habit and growth, though its flowers have an exact resemblance.

As with French roses, the new varieties of this family are too numerous for detailed descriptions; but Comtesse de Lacepede, and Adalila ought not to be passed over; they are of the most perfect shape and delicate pale blush; and, to one variety, too much attention cannot be directed, and this is Chenédolé, so called from a member of the Chamber of deputies for Calvados, a district in Normandy, where this fine rose was raised. It has often been asserted that no rose could compete with Brennus in size and beauty; but I feel no hesitation in saying, that in superior brilliancy of colour, and size of flower, this variety is superior; the foliage and habit of the plant are also much more elegant and striking: in colour its flowers are of a peculiar glowing vivid crimson, discernible at a great distance: it is indeed an admirable rose, and cannot be too much cultivated. Le Météore is from the same origin: in colour bright rosy red, very striking, but not very double, and when blooming in large clusters on the plant, always much admired.

Prince Albert, raised by Mr. Hooker, of Brenchley, Kent, is remarkable for its perfect and most elegantly shaped flowers, most regularly cupped; colour delicate yet vivid pink. Triomphe de Laqueue is another of these most elegantly-shaped cupped roses, blooming in large clusters; colour deep yet vivid rose, slightly tinged with lilac.

Beauté vive, an old but rare and beautiful variety; colour bright rosy red, with very full and finely shaped flowers, is well worthy of extra care. this rose and Hypocrate do not flourish as dwarfs if budded on the Dog Rose; on the Boursault, Rosa Manettii, or Celine, they grow with exceeding vigour. Decandolle in colour, is like Triomphe d'Angers, but its flowers are often larger and more double; it is a superb rose.

General Allard, although now rather an old variety, is seldom seen in perfection; it requires the same stocks as Beauté vive, and, when luxuriant, very often gives an abundant crop of flowers in autumn; these are globular, of a bright rosy red, and very beautiful.

Gloire de Couline, a new variety, is a rose of exceeding beauty and very fragrant; its flowers are very large, finely shaped, very double, and of a rich carmine, tinted with crimson

Jenny is also a new rose of great excellence; flowers of middle size, and of the most perfect cupped shape; colour bright rose, tinted with lilac; the habit of the plant is most robust, and its foliage glossy and beautiful.

Leopold de Bauffremont is of exactly the colour and shape of Hooker's Prince Albert; but instead of being like that, delicate in its habits, it is one of the most vigorous growing of roses, making shoots in one season six feet or more in length; so that like nearly all the roses of this family, it forms an excellent pillar rose. Parigot, although not a perfectly double rose, is so vivid in its crimson tints that as a standard or pillar rose it forms a most conspicuous object of ornament to the lawn, like Chenédolé striking from a great distance.

With but few exceptions, hybrid China roses may be cultivated as standards to advantage, as their growth is luxuriant and umbrageous; some of the most robust-growing varieties forming immense heads. To keep them in a healthy state, lay round their stems, on the surface of the soil, in winter, a good proportion of manure; and mind that before the blooming season commences this is added to, as they require the surface of the soil moist when in flower: they will also continue much longer in bloom if this is attended to.\* The great objection to this summer surface-manuring,

<sup>\*</sup> The following note from the Catalogue of 1843 will be found of value : —

<sup>&</sup>quot;I may, perhaps, venture to give the results of some experiments made this last season with roses.

<sup>&</sup>quot;I have found night-soil, mixed with the drainings of the dunghill, or even with common ditch or pond water, so as to make a thick liquid, the best possible manure for roses, poured on the surface of the soil twice in winter, from one to two gallons to each tree. December and January are the best months; the soil need not be stirred till spring, and then merely loosened two or three inches deep with the prongs of a fork; for poor soils, and on lawns, previously removing the turf, this will be found most efficacious."

with English gardeners, is its unsightly appearance, particularly round trees on well-dressed lawns: this may be soon obviated, by covering the manure with some green moss; and to keep the birds from disturbing it, which they will do after worms, place on the moss some pieces of rock, or flints; thus forming an ornamental mound. In France, roses are cultivated with much and wellrewarded care; for even standards of thirty years' growth have, every spring, a large quantity of manure laid on the surface round their stems. This keeps the extreme heat of the sun from penetrating to their roots; and as they are abundantly watered in hot weather, it also prevents that rapid evaporation which would otherwise take place, so often rendering watering useless. practice is, after all, only imitating nature; for the Dog Rose, upon which all the fine varieties are grafted, grows naturally in woods and shady places; consequently, it is impatient of exposure in hot dry soils and situations.

For rose beds on lawns the roses of this division are finely adapted, as they form such a mass of foliage and flowers. They may also be formed into a regular bank, rising gradually from the edge, by having dwarfs of different heights, and "petites tiges," or dwarf standards, in the background. They bloom remarkably fine on these little stems; and as the stem is protected from the sun by the branches of the plant, it increases in

thickness much faster than when taller. Tall stems. owing to exposure, are apt to become bark-bound and unhealthy, increasing but slowly in girth, and often requiring support. To have hybrid China roses in perfection as pillar roses, they require attention, and a superabundance of manure; but they will amply repay it, for a column twelve to twenty feet high, covered with such roses as Brennus, Blairii, Belle Parabère, Coccinea superba, Fulgens, Fimbriata, General Lamarque, George the Fourth, King of Roses, Petit Pierre, or Triomphe d'Angers, &c. &c., would be one of the finest garden ornaments it is possible to conceive. To make these varieties grow with the necessary luxuriance, each plant should have a circle, three or four feet in diameter, to itself: in the centre of this circle, a stout stake of yellow deal, tarred at the bottom, should be inserted two feet deep, so as to stand eight feet out of the ground: this part may be painted green, and if the soil is poor it should be dug out two feet in depth, and filled up with rotten manure and loam. This compost must be laid considerably (say one foot) above the surface of the surrounding soil, so as to allow for settling: in shallow or wet soils they will grow the better for being on a permanent mound. Plant a single plant in the centre of this mound; or, if you wish for a variegated pillar, plant three plants in the same hole, two pale-coloured and white, the other a dark

variety: cover the surface with manure, and replenish this as soon as it is drawn in by the worms or washed in by the rains. Water with liquid manure in dry weather, and probably you will have shoots eight to ten feet in length the first season. Three of the most vigorous should be fastened to the stake, and the spurs from these shoots will for many years give abundance of flowers. I scarcely know whether to recommend grafted roses on short stems for this purpose, or plants on their own roots: this will in a great measure depend upon the soil, and perhaps it will be as well to try both. Most roses acquire additional vigour by being worked on the Dog Rose; but some of the robust varieties of this family grow with equal luxuriance when on their own roots: finally, for dry and sandy soils I am inclined to recommend the latter. In pruning all the roses of this family, the shoots must not be shortened too much; eight or ten buds must be left at the base of each.

I shall now proceed to give a list of those roses from which, in combination with others, choice seedlings may be raised.

Aurora, a most beautiful purple rose, often striped with white, may be made a seed-bearing rose of much interest: if self-coloured roses are desired, it should be planted with Athelin, which has abundance of pollen: if striped and variegated roses, the Village Maid rose may be planted with

it. The Duke of Devonshire, in a very warm and dry soil, will produce heps in tolerable abundance; and as it is inclined to be striped, it would possibly form a beautiful combination with the French rose Tricolor, which should be planted with it.

Souvenir d'une Mère, a very large and most beautiful rose, will bear seed if fertilised: the best union for this rose would perhaps be Celine, which is one of the most abundant seed-bearing roses we possess: very large and brilliant rose-coloured varieties would probably be originated from these roses in combination.

Riego, which partakes of the sweet briar, might be made the parent of some beautiful briar-like roses by planting it with the Splendid Sweet Briar.

General Allard, a hybrid Bourbon rose, from which Monsieur Laffay has raised his new perpetual rose, "Madame Laffay," is much inclined to give a second series of flowers: this rose should be planted in a very warm border, or trained against a south wall with Bourbon Gloire de Rosomène, and if carefully fertilised with it, some beautiful crimson autumnal roses would probably be originated.

Henry Barbet is also a hybrid Bourbon rose of great beauty. This should be planted with Triomphe d'Angers, with which it may be fertilised; but as the latter has but a small portion of pollen,

and the former great abundance, the process may be reversed. If seed can be procured from Triomphe d'Angers, it must produce fine flowers, as it is one of the most beautiful and fragrant of roses.

Petit Pierre, although very double, bears abundance of seed: as this is a fine and large rose, deepness of colour might be given by planting it with the French rose: La Majestueuse. Legouvé with the Tuscany would probably originate a fine class of rich dark crimson roses, of which at present we possess but few that are really perfect in form and colour. Time will most probably put us in possession of many other seed-bearing hybrid China roses: at present, those recommended are all that can be depended upon.

#### THE HYBRID BOURBON ROSE.

Rosa Bourboniana Hybride.

(Rosier Hybride de l'Ile Bourbon.)

These truly magnificent roses, and, indeed, the word is not misplaced, for they are so both in flowers and in foliage, owe their origin to the Bourbon Rose, itself a hybrid\*, thus showing

<sup>\*</sup> See Bourbon Roses.

the illimitable powers of nature when assisted by art. Of the thirty-five varieties enumerated in my catalogue, more than thirty may with safety be recommended as more or less beautiful and desirable; but a few, more particularly, require something beyond a passing tribute of admiration. A very distinct feature in these roses is their thick, round, and glossy leaves, remaining on the plant till late in autumn; and particularly distinguished by this peculiarity is Charles Duval, a large, finely-shaped, and very double rose, of a bright rose-colour, of the most robust habit: this when budded on a very stout stem, either as a half or full standard, soon forms a large tree, than which nothing among roses can be more ornamental. Comtesse Molé is a new variety, recently raised from seed by Monsieur Laffay. This is also a grand rose, even larger than the preceding; in its rose-colour, not quite so bright. Our next, Coupe d'Hébé, is, however, the gem of this family; in colour of a beautiful wax-like pink, and in the disposition and regularity of its petals quite unique: this, like most of the group, soon forms a large bush or tree, and is also well adapted for a pillar rose. Dombrowski is not so perfect in its shape; but almost compensates for this defect by its splendid and brilliant colour, which is bright red. Elise Mercœur gives flowers of the very largest size rose, with the centre red: this makes shoots remarkable for being short jointed and very stout,

and forms a standard of the first class. Elizabeth Plantier, in some catalogues Reine Elizabeth, is a most remarkable and beautiful variety; but in common with many roses that are brilliant in colour, it is not very double; yet no rose can be more gorgeously splendid: its flowers are large, and of a brilliant scarlet, clouded—I know of no other term to express the peculiarity of its tints - with the deepest crimson purple. When viewed, on first expanding under the rays of the morning sun, they at once arrest the attention by their extreme beauty. The Great Western is now a well known rose, and differs much from the preceding, being more remarkable for its richness rather than for its brilliancy and colour. Those who know the old Hybrid Bourbon rose, Celine, now used for stocks, will at once form an idea of the habit of this rose, which is equally robust, and has made shoots in one season more than six feet in length, as thick as a moderate-sized riding-cane: its leaves are enormous, and measure from the base to the tip nine inches; and leaflets three and a half by two inches: its large clusters of flowers often contain from ten to fifteen in each; and as these are generally too much crowded to expand properly, it is better to thin each cluster, removing about half the buds. The flowers of this truly gigantic rose are of a rich red, tinted with purple: they are variable, according to the season, being much more brilliant n dry weather than in moist. Budded on very

stout stocks of the Dog Rose, it will soon form a large umbrageous tree: it will also form a fine pillar rose. Henri Barbet, although not fully double, is a finely shaped and very brilliant deep pink rose. Hortense Leroy, on the contrary, is perfectly double, and of fine shape; in colour a pale rose. Hortensia, a rose little more than semidouble, deserves notice, as it forms one of the very finest of Standard roses, blooming, and every bloom expanding, in immense clusters: its flowers are pink, tinted with fawn: when viewed on the plant, the tout ensemble is admirable. La Dauphine, a variety with flowers nearly white, is remarkable, and worthy of attention for its large foliage of the deepest glossy green. L'Admiration, is one of M. Laffay's new roses: this at present seems delicate; but worked on Celine or Rosa Manetti, it will doubtless form a first-rate variety: its flowers are cupped, finely shaped, and of a delicate, vet bright pink.

Le Vesuve, in some French catalogues also named "Miéris," and described as follows: "rose tendre, forme parfaite." This is quite correct: its flowers are large, very double, and finely shaped: its colour is bright, delicate rose, and it is more fragrant than the generality of these fine roses: it is, in short, one of our very finest varieties. Paul Perras is a fine very large rose, of the most luxuriant growth: like a few of the preceding, it is calculated to form a standard of the largest size,

and well deserves a conspicuous place on the lawn, either as a standard or pillar rose: in colour it is of a fine and brilliant rose. Richelieu, (Duval,) differing entirely from a Hybrid China rose of the same name, is much superior to it in the colour and regularity of its flowers, which are inclined to the globular form, of a bright rose-colour, and very beautiful: this rose requires the Celine stock or Rose Manettii, as it does not grow luxuriantly as a dwarf on the Dog Rose, although it does pretty well as a standard, but requires a rich and moist soil. Sylvain, or Sylvain Caubert, is a brilliant light crimson rose always beautiful: in habit it is of moderate luxuriance, and will form either a dwarf bush or a standard.

Tippoo Saib is a new variety of great beauty: its flowers are finely cupped, resembling in this respect those of a new rose in this group, called Claude Lorraine, a rose-coloured variety of much excellence. In colour those of Tippoo Saib are deep pink, slightly mottled and tinted with salmon; it is an elegant and beautiful rose.

## Pruning.

All these roses will bear pruning more closely than those of the preceding family. If an early crop of flowers is required, the trees may be pruned the first week in November, removing all the small branches and their spurs which have produced bloom, and then shortening the shoots to within five or six buds of the base of each: these shoots should be left at regular distances, so that a well furnished and regular shaped tree is formed. To have a succession of flowers, it is only necessary to leave some trees unpruned till the end of April, and then prune as above: these will give their flowers from ten days to a fortnight later than those pruned early in autumn. The medium season for pruning them, and all the summer roses, is towards the end of February: they will then bloom at their usual period. In pruning, care must be taken to cut just above the bud in those shoots left for blooming: the wound will then soon heal over. To be precise, do not leave more than one eight of an inch above the bud.

## Raising from Seed.

Of all the roses which bear seed in this country, some of the varieties in this family are the most prolific, and I may add, the most generous in rewarding the amateur for the culture bestowed; for to this group we owe the greater part of those splendid autumnal roses known now as Hybrid Perpetuals. To obtain these, it is necessary to fertilise the flowers of such varieties of this family intended for seed-bearers with the pollen of any favorite variety of the China, Bourbon, or Tea Scented Roses. Your seedlings, at least the majority of them, will, if all is favourable, prove

autumnal blooming roses. One of the most prolific varieties is Athelin, of which almost every flower gives it hip full of seed: this may be crossed with the China Rose, Fabvier, or the Bourbons, Gloire de Rosamène. Elizabeth Plantier, which requires firmness of petal and more plenitude, should be crossed with Madame Laffay, Melanie Cornu, or the China Rose, Eugene Beauharnais.

The Great Western, which bears seed freely, may be crossed with Fabrier, Gloire de Rosamène or the Bourbon Rose, Charles Souchet, Hortensia with the China Rose Aimée Plantier, or the Tea Scented Rose, Abricoté, the fawn colour is interesting.

Paul Perras will probably give some roses of the largest class if crossed with the China Rose, Archduke Charles, or Napoleon, or the Tea Scented Roses, Adam or Goubault. The amateur will, I trust, see from these few hints how extensive is the field of enterprise.

#### THE WHITE ROSE.

(Rosa alba.)

Rosier Blanc.

Rosa Alba, or the White Rose, so called because the original species is white, is a native of middle Europe, and was introduced to our gardens in 1597. In some of the old farm and cottage gardens of Hertfordshire and Essex a semi-double variety is frequent: this is but a slight remove from the single flowering original species, and grows luxuriantly without culture in any neglected corner. The roses of this division may be easily distinguished by their green shoots, leaves of a glaucous green, looking as if they were covered with a greyish impalpable powder, and flowers generally of the most delicate colours, graduating from pure white to a bright but delicate pink,

Attila is one of the deepest coloured varieties of this division, with large and partially cupped flowers of a perfect shape. Camille Boularde is a very pretty and distinct variety with flowers almost globular, and of a bright pink.

Candide is a new and very pretty rose, with rather small and very double white flowers, tinged with fawn: this has the glaucous appearance in a great degree. Josephine Beauharnais, or Belle de Segur, is a pretty and delicate coloured rose of a faint blush. La Remarquable is really a remarkable rose, a hybrid, with robust and very spiny shoots, its flowers are large, cupped, pure white, and very striking.

Celeste Blanche or Nova Celestis, is a charming pure white rose, blooming most abundantly. Royale Rouge is like our old favourite the Celestial rose, but more double. Venus is an interest-

ing white rose, of rather dwarf growth. Madame Audot is a new variety of a delicate flesh-colour, with finely shaped flowers.

Vicomte Schrymaker, a hybrid, is one of the most brilliant and striking roses of the group; its flowers are large, and of a brilliant rosy red, slightly margined with blush.

Duc de Luxembourg, a hybrid, is a most beautiful and unique rose, producing globular flowers of the largest size: the exterior of the petals is almost white, the interior of a bright rosy purple, at once singular and beautiful. Félicité is a beautiful rose; its flowers are exactly like a fine double ranunculus, of a most delicate flesh-colour: this is a distinct and fine variety.

La Séduisante is most appropriately named; it is not a new variety, but a rose most perfect in shape, and in its colour it is surpassingly so; its flowers are of the most delicate blush in their outer petals; inner petals bright rose. Madame Campan is a hybrid departing a little from the characters of the species, but producing flowers of a bright rose finely mottled with white, of first-rate excellence. Princesse de Lamballe is one of the finest in this division, possessing all the characters of the species in its foliage, branches, and flowers: these are of the purest white, and of the most perfect and beautiful shape. Queen of Denmark, an old but estimable variety, produces flowers of first-rate excellence as prize-flowers: so

much was this esteemed when first raised from seed, that plants were sent from Germany to this country at five guineas each. Sophie de Marsilly, is a most delicate and beautiful mottled rose, with flowers very double and perfect in shape: when just expanding, so as to show the interior of the flower, this rose is of the most exquisite beauty.

The varieties of this family form a beautiful mass, not by any means gay and dazzling, but chaste and delicate, and contrast well with groups of the dark varieties of Rosa Gallica and hybrid China roses; they also make good standards, often growing to a large size and uniting well with the stock: they always bloom abundantly and bear close pruning; in this respect they may be treated as recommended for the French roses. The varieties of this family, for the most part, are too double to bear seed in this country: it is not therefore necessary to give any directions for hybridising.

#### THE DAMASK ROSE.

(Rosa Damascena.)

Rosier de Damas.

The "Damask Rose" is a name familiar to every reader of English poetry, as it has been eulogised more than any other rose, and its colour described with a poet's licence. The author of Eothen, in that lively book of eastern travel, remarks while at Damascus, that the rose trees "grow to an immense height and size; those I saw were all of the kind we call damask: "he is, however, so enraptured with the roses that he leaves the sober path of prose in the following passage:—"High, high, above your head, and on every side all down to the ground, the thicket is hemmed in and choked up by the interlacing boughs that droop with the weight of roses, and load the slow air with their damask breath."

In these glowing descriptions the truth, as is frequently the case in poetry, has been in a measure lost sight of: for in plain unvarnished prose it. must be stated that the original Damask Rose, and the earlier varieties, such as must have been the roses of our poets, though peculiarly fragrant, are most uninteresting plants; however we must not ungratefully depreciate them, for they are the types of our present new, beautiful, and fragrant varieties. The original species with single flowers is said to be a native of Syria, from whence it was introduced to Europe in 1573: when Saladin took Jerusalem from the crusaders in 1187, to purify the walls of the Mosque of Omar, which had been used as a Christian Church, he caused them to be washed with rose-water brought from Damascus: according to Sanuto, a Venetian author, 500 camel-loads were used in the process.

Varieties of it are still grown in the gardens of Damascus. The branches of the Damask rose are green, long, and diffuse in their growth; leaves pubescent, and in general placed far asunder; prickles on most of the varieties abundant. those old members of this family, the red and the white monthly, which by some peculiar excitability often put forth flowers in warm, moist autumns, nearly all our perpetual roses owe their origin, so that we can now depend upon having roses as fragrant in October as in June. York and Lancaster rose, with pale striped flowers, is one of the oldest varieties of this division in our gardens. There is perhaps a little too much sameness of character in some of the varieties of the Damask rose; their gradations of colour are sometimes too delicate to be distinct, but the following may be depended upon as fine leading sorts.

Bachelier, so named from a Belgian amateur, is one of the finest show-roses in this division, producing large double compact flowers, of a fine rose-colour and very perfect shape. Coralie is a beautifully formed rose, of a pale flesh-colour, with rosy centre, to which several of this family are inclined. Déesse Flore is a first-rate variety, with flowers rather larger than Coralie, and much like it in colour: when about half expanded they are most beautiful.

La Ville de Bruxelles is a fine variety, with rose-coloured flowers, very large and double: this

is a distinct and fine rose. Lady Fitzgerald is a beautiful rose, most valuable in this division. as its brilliant rose-coloured flowers are so conspicuous in a clump of Damask roses; this is not a pure Damask rose, but very nearly so: its foliage when young is a little stained with the colouring matter of some variety of Rosa Gallica, which much adds to its beauty. Madame Hardy was raised from seed in the Luxembourg gardens, by Monsieur Hardy in 1832; this is not a pure Damask rose, as its leaves have scarcely any pubescence; but a more magnificent rose does not exist, for its luxuriant habit and large and finely shaped flowers place it quite first among the white roses: its flowers are, however, too often disfigured by a green bud in the centre.

The Painted Damask is a rose which for some time to come will be a favourite, as it is distinct and beautiful; its large and thick foliage and painted flowers are quite unique, but, like most of the variegated roses, it is a little inconstant, as its flowers are sometimes pure white; in general, however, the outer edge of each petal is tinged with a fine purple.

Some pretty and interesting varieties have lately been added to these favourites of the poets. The Duke of Cambridge—which I at first thought a Hybrid China, will perhaps be better grouped with the Damask roses, of which it largely partakes—is a very fine rose, of a vivid rose colour,

and robust luxuriant growth. Belle d'Auteuil is a large and perfect show-rose of great beauty when flowering in perfection. Bella Donna is a true Damask rose, bearing a profusion of delicate pink or bright rose-coloured flowers.

Some new Damask roses, of deeper colours than we have hitherto possessed, now give an increased interest to this elegant family: among these, Châteaubriand is remarkable for its brilliant red flowers, very perfect and beautiful in shape. Louis the Sixteenth has flowers rather deeper in colour than the preceding: this is a distinct and good rose: but La Négresse is by far the darkest Damask rose known; its flowers are of a deep crimson purple. Blanche Davilliers and Pulcherie are two pure white roses; the latter, in particular, most elegant and beautiful. Semiramis is quite novel in colour, and a most perfect and beautiful rose: the centre of the flower is of a bright fawncolour, its marginal petals are of a delicate rose. This fine variety ought to be in every collection. Penelope is remarkable for its fine foliage; the edges of its leaves tinged with red; flowers of a very deep rose, globular, large, and distinct. Calypso is remarkable for its size; it is one of the very largest roses known, its colour is pale rose. Elise D'Henning is a new pure white rose of this family, perfect in shape and of much beauty. La Cherie is of a delicate blush, with the centre of the flower pink, cupped, very double,

and first-rate in quality. Madame Zoutman, or according to some, Madame Söetmans, is a new and most beautiful rose of a delicate cream-colour slightly tinted with fawn, although widely different in habit, its flowers much resemble those of that fine Hybrid Provence, Comte Plater. Pope, a new variety, recently raised by M. Laffay, in dry seasons, is a fine, large, and very double crimson purple rose; this is inclined to bloom in autumn, and if those autumnal blooming shoots are used for budding, it is very probable that this late blooming tendency may be perpetuated. Selina is a very large and fine variety, robust in habit, and of a pale rose-colour. All the Damask roses are highly fragrant.

The roses of this neat and elegant family have a pretty effect arranged in a mass; like the varieties of Rosa Alba, they are so beautiful in contrast with the dark roses: they also form fine standards, more particularly Madame Hardy, the Painted Damask, La Ville de Bruxelles, and Lady Fitzgerald, which will grow into magnificent trees, if their culture is attended to. The pruning recommended for Rosa Gallica will also do for these roses.

The only roses of this family that bear seed freely are the Purple Damask or Jersey Rose, which should be planted with Châteaubriand. From this union large and brilliant coloured roses might be expected; and the Painted Damask, if some of its central petals were removed, would

probably bear seed: if fertilised with the Purple Damask, some fine variegated roses might possibly be originated. Bella Donna with Lady Fitzgerald would produce some brilliant coloured roses, which are much wanted in this family.

#### THE SCOTCH ROSE.

(Rosa spinosissima.)

Rosier Pimprenelle.

The varieties of this distinct and pretty family owe their origin to the Dwarf Wild Rose of the North of England and Scotland, nearly all of them having been raised from seed by the Scotch nurserymen: in some of their catalogues two or three hundred names are given, but in many cases these names are attached to flowers without distinctive qualities. In my catalogue the names of a few of the best varieties are given, but even these vary much with the seasons; for I remarked that in the summer of 1836, after the peculiar cold and ungenial spring, and again in 1837, they departed much from their usual characters, and bloomed very imperfectly; in warm and early seasons they flower in May, and are then highly ornamental.

The following varieties have generally proved

good and distinct. Aimable Etrangère, a French hybrid with very double pure white flowers. Adelaide, a large red rose, double, and a good variety. Blanda is one of the best of the numerous marbled Scotch roses, as these are generally much alike. Countess of Glasgow, Daphne, Erebus, and Flora, are all good vivid-coloured dark roses, varying in their shades, and very pretty. Guy Mannering is a large and very double blush rose, distinct and good. La Cenomane is a French hybrid, pure white, with large and very double flowers; a beautiful rose, but not so robust as the pure Scotch varieties. La Neige is deserving of its name, for it is of the purest white, and very double and good. Lady Baillie, Marchioness of Lansdowne, and Mrs. Hay, are all pretty, pale sulphur-coloured roses: from the seed of these it is very probable that some good yellow varieties may, at some future time, be raised.

Painted Lady is a French hybrid; white, striped with red, but rather inconstant, as its flowers are often pure white: when it blooms in character, it is a charming little rose. Princess Elizabeth and the Queen of May are both bright pink varieties, very distinct and pretty. The True Yellow is a hybrid raised in France, and in most seasons is a pretty sulphur-coloured rose, much admired; but in very hot weather it fades very soon to white: this was the case more particularly in 1837; it seemed much influenced,

in common with the other Scotch roses, by the cold spring and the rapid transition to hot weather. William the Fourth is the largest white pure Scotch rose known; a luxuriant grower, and a good variety. Venus is an excellent dark rose, with very double flowers and distinct character.

Scotch roses may be grown as standards, and the vellow, and one or two of the more robust, varieties, made good heads; but in general they form a round and lumpish tree, in ill accordance with good taste: when grown in beds and clumps. as dwarfs, they are beautiful, and in early seasons they will bloom nearly a fortnight before the other summer roses make their appearance; this, of course, makes them desirable appendages to the flower-garden. They bear seed profusely; and raising new varieties from seed will be found a most interesting employment. To do this, all that is required is to sow the seed as soon as ripe, in October, in pots or beds of fine earth, covering it with nearly one inch of mould: the succeeding spring they will come up, and bloom in perfection the season following.

With the exception of La Cenomane, Painted Lady, and the True Yellow, all the Scotch roses bear seed most abundantly: if this seed is sown indiscriminately numerous varieties may be raised, and many of them very interesting; but the aim should be to obtain varieties with large and very double crimson flowers: this can only be done by

slightly hybridising, and to effect this it will be necessary to have a plant or two of the Tuscany, and one of Superb Tuscany, or La Majestueuse, trained to a south wall, so that their flowers are expanded at the same time as the Scotch roses in the open borders: unless thus forced they will be too late. Any dark red varieties of the Scotch roses, such as Venus, Erebus, or Flora, should be planted separately from others, and their flowers fertilised with the above French roses: some very original deep-coloured varieties will probably be obtained by this method. Sulphurea and one or two other straw-coloured varieties may be planted with the Double Yellow Austrian Briar, and most likely some pretty sulphur-coloured roses will be the result of this combination.

## THE SWEET BRIAR.

(Rosa rubiginosa.)

Rosier Rouillé.

Who knows not the Sweet Briar? the Eglantine, that plant of song, the rhyme of which jingles so prettily, that nearly all our poets, even love-stricken rustics, have taken advantage of its sweet sound.

" I will give to my love the Eglantine,"

has been often the beginning of a country lover's song; but in sober truth, every one must love this simplest and sweetest of flowers, for what odour can surpass that emanating from a bush of Sweet Briar in the dewy evenings of June? It pleases not the eye, for the single Sweet Briar bears flowers, in comparison with other roses, quite inconspicuous; but it gratifies in a high degree by its delicious perfume, and gives to the mind most agreeable associations, for it is so often (at least in Hertfordshire) the inhabitant of the pretty English cottage-garden - such a garden as one sees nowhere but in England. The Single Sweet Briar is a native plant, growing in dry and chalky soils in some of the southern counties: from it the following varieties, with some others, have been originated, more or less hybridised. The Carmine Sweet Briar, with semi-double bright red flowers. The Celestial, a beautiful little rose. with flowers very double and fragrant, of the palest flesh-colour, approaching to white. Hessoise, or Petite Hessoise, is a pretty French hybrid, with bright rose-coloured flowers, and leaves not so fragrant as some others. The Monstrous Sweet Briar is a very old variety, with large and very double flowers, distinct and good. Maiden's Blush and Manning's Blush are both double and pretty, with fragrant leaves like the original. Rose Angle Sweet Briar is a new variety, raised from seed by Mr. Martin, of Rose Angle, near Dundee: this produces large and very double flowers, of a bright rose-colour; its foliage is also very fragrant. The Splendid Sweet Briar is really a splendid rose, with large light crimson flowers, but its foliage is not very fragrant. The Scarlet, or La Belle Distinguée, or Lee's Duchess, or La Petite Duchesse, for they are one and the same, is a pretty bright red, small, and compact rose, very distinct and good, but its leaves are entirely scentless. As allied with this family, I ought to mention a very beautiful hybrid, the Double Margined Hip, also Madeline or Emmeline, with a ground-colour of creamy white, beautifully margined with pink; this forms a fine standard, and is also well adapted for a pillar rose.

Sweet Briars form a pretty group, interesting from their origin and associations, and pleasing from their fragrance and peculiar neatness; they make also pretty trees, particularly on "petites tiges," as the French term them: they require the same culture as the other hardy roses.

Humble as are the claims of the Sweet Briar, when contrasted with the gorgeous beauty of some of our new roses, yet it is so decidedly English, that raising new varieties from seed will, I am sure, be found interesting.

The Scarlet may be planted with the Splendid Briar, which so abounds in pollen that fertilising will be found very easy. The Carmine with the semi-doubled Scarlet will also give promising

seed; the beauty of their flowers might be increated by hybridising with some of the French roses, but then their Sweet Briar-like character would be lost, and with that a great portion of their interest.

The Hybrid Briar Rose, Riego, if planted with the Splendid Briar, would produce seed from which large and very fragrant double roses might be expected, and these would partake largely of the character of the Sweet Briar.

#### THE AUSTRIAN BRIAR.

(Rosa Lutea.)

Rosier Capucine.

The Austrian Briar, a native of the South of Europe, is found on the hills of the North of Italy, producing copper or red, as well as yellow flowers; but, strange to say, though the flowers are invariably single, yet they never produce seed. In this country also it is with extreme difficulty and only by fertilising its flowers, that seed can be perfected: if the flowers are examined they will all be found deficient in pollen, which accounts for this universal barrenness. A Double Copper Austrian Briar is yet a desideratum.

The Copper or Red Austrian, the Capucine of

the French, is a most singular rose; the inside of each petal is of a bright copper red, the outside inclining to sulphur: this rose is most impatient of a smoky atmosphere, and will not put forth a single bloom within ten or twelve miles of Lon-The Double Yellow, or Williams's Double Yellow Sweet Briar, is a pretty double rose, raised from the Single Yellow Austrian by Mr. Williams, of Pitmaston, a few years since: this blooms more freely than the original species, and is a most desirable variety. Rosa Harrisonii is also a double yellow rose, said to have been raised from seed in America, and sent from thence to this country about four years since: this has proved one of the most beautiful of yellow roses; its flowers before expansion are globular, but a hot sun makes them expand and lose much of their beauty. It is a more robust grower than the Double Yellow Sweet Briar: its flowers are also a little larger, and do not fade so soon. Single Yellow is the most brilliant yellow rose we yet possess; and it will probably be the parent of some double varieties, its equal in colour.

To this peculiar family of roses a few new varieties have been added. Cuivre Rouge, a curious hybrid, partaking of the Boursault Rose, with smooth thornless branches and dull reddish single flowers, and the Superb Double Yellow Briar, a seedling raised by Mr. Williams, of Pitmaston, from the same rose, and, I believe, at the same

time, as the Double Yellow Briar. This has larger and more double flowers, but they are not so bright in colour. A third variety is also in my possession, the Globe Yellow, a very pretty pale yellow rose, of humble growth: this variety was raised in Italy.

A new yellow rose has been given to us from that land of flowers. Persia.\* This was introduced to the gardens of the Horticultural Society of London in 1838, and is now called the Persian Yellow Rose. In habit it is so exactly like the Single Yellow Austrian Briar as not to be distinguished from it: it grows readily budded on the Dog Rose, as my plants this season have made shoots three feet or more in length: in colour it is of a deep golden yellow; its flowers are quite double, cupped, and not liable to become reflexed: it is indeed a most superb yellow rose. Like the Yellow Austrian Briar, it loves a pure air and rich soil, and will bloom as freely; but in pruning merely the tips of its shoots must be cut off. † Numerous seedlings have been raised from Rosa

<sup>\*</sup> Introduced by Sir H. Willock.

<sup>†</sup> By shortening the strong shoots in summer so as to make them put forth laterals, there will not be any occasion for winter pruning; thus, by judiciously pinching off with the finger and thumb in June all shoots that are larger than a straw, to about half their length, small lateral twigs will break out, and the plant will be filled with blooming shoots, some of which must be removed in winter, if full-sized flowers are required.

Harrisonii, but all that have come under my notice have proved inferior to their parent.

To bloom them in perfection Austrian Briars require a moist soil and dry pure air; but little manure is necessary, as they grow freely in any tolerably good and moist soil; neither do they require severe pruning, but merely the strong shoots shortened, and most of the twigs left on the plant, as they, generally, produce flowers in great abundance.

No family of roses offers such an interesting field for experiments in raising new varieties from seed as this. First, we have the Copper Austrian, from which, although it is one of the oldest roses in our gardens, a double flowering variety has never yet been obtained. This rose is always defective in pollen, and consequently it will not bear seed unless its flowers are fertilised; as it will be interesting to retain the traits of the species, it should be planted with and fertilised by the Double Yellow; it will then in warm dry seasons produce seed not abundantly, but the amateur must rest satisfied if he can procure even one hep full of perfect seed. A French variety of this rose called "Capucine de Semis" seems to bear seed more freely, but as the colour of its flowers is not so bright as the original, its seed, even from fertilised flowers, would not be so valuable.

The beautiful and brilliant Rosa Harrisonii,

however, gives the brightest hopes. This should be planted with the Double Yellow Briar: it will then bear seed abundantly: no rose will perhaps show the effects of fertilising its flowers more plainly than this, and consequently to the amateur it is the pleasing triumph of art over nature. Every flower on my experimental plants, not fertilised, proved abortive, while, on the contrary, all those that were so, produced large black spherical heps full of perfect seed. The Persian Yellow does not seem inclined to bear seed, but it may be crossed with Rosa Harrisonii, and I trust with some good effect.

#### THE DOUBLE YELLOW ROSE.

(Rosa sulphurea.)

Rosier Jaune de Soufre.

The origin of this very old and beautiful rose, like that of the Moss Rose, seems lost in obscurity: it was first introduced to this country by Nicholas Lete, a merchant of London, who brought it from Constantinople towards the end of the sixteenth century; it was reported to have been sent from Syria to that city. The first plants brought to England soon died, and another London merchant, Jean de Franqueville, again introduced

it, and took much pains to propagate and distribute it among the principal gardens in England: in this he fully succeeded. In the botanical catalogues it is made a species, said to be a native of the Levant\*, and never to have been seen in a wild state bearing single flowers. It is passing strange, that this double rose should have been always considered a species. Nature has never yet given us a double flowering species to raise single flowering varieties from; but exactly the reverse. We are compelled, therefore, to consider the parent of this rose to be a species bearing single flowers. this single flowering species was a native of the Levant, our botanists, ere now, would have discovered its habitats: I cannot help, therefore, suggesting, that to the gardens of the east of Europe we must look for the origin of this rose; and to the Single Yellow Austrian Briar (Rosa lutea) as its parent; though that, in a state of nature, seldom, if ever, bears seed, yet, as I have proved, it will if its flowers are fertilised. I do not suppose that the gardeners of the East knew of this, now common, operation; but it probably was done by some accidental juxtaposition, and thus, by mere chance, one of the most remarkable and beautiful of roses was originated. From its foliage having acquired a glaucous pubescence, and its shoots a greenish-yellow tinge, in those respects much unlike the Austrian Briar, I have

<sup>\*</sup> Introduced to our gardens in 1629.

sometimes been inclined to impute its origin to that rose, fertilised with a double or semi-double variety of the Damask Rose, for that is also an eastern plant.

As yet, we have but two roses in this division; the Double Yellow, or "Yellow Provence," with large globular and very double bright yellow flowers, and the Pompone Jaune, or dwarf Double Yellow, both excessively shy of producing fullblown flowers; though they grow in any moderately good soil with great luxuriance, and show an abundance of flower-buds; but some "worm i' the bud" generally causes them to fall off prematurely. To remedy this, various situations have been recommended: some have said, plant it against a south wall; others, give it a northern aspect, under the drip of some water-trough, as it requires a wet situation. All this is quackery and nonsense. The Yellow Provence Rose is a native of a warm climate, and therefore requires a warm situation, a free and airy exposure, and A wall with a south-east or north-west rich soil. aspect will be found eligible: give the plants surface manure every autumn, and water with manure water in May; prune with the finger and thumb in summer, as recommended for the Persian Yellow.\*

M. Godefroy, a French nurseryman, has cultivated it as a pillar rose in a free and open situation with much success; manuring as above, and summer pruning are indispensable.

At Burleigh, the seat of the Marquis of Exeter, the effect of situation on this rose is forcibly shown. A very old plant is growing against the southern wall of the mansion, in a confined situation, its roots cramped by a stone pavement; it is weakly, and never shows a flower-bud. In the entrance court is another plant, growing in front of a low parapet wall, in a good loamy soil and free airy exposure; this is in a state of the greatest luxuriance, and blooms in fine perfection nearly every season.

Mr. Mackintosh, the gardener, who kindly pointed out these plants to me, thought the latter a distinct and superior variety, as it was brought from France by a French cook, a few years since; but it is certainly nothing but the genuine old Double Yellow Rose.

In unfavourable soils it will often flourish and bloom freely, if budded on the Musk Rose, the Common China Rose, or the Blush Boursault; but the following pretty method of culture, I beg to suggest, though I must confess I have not yet tried it:—Bud or graft it on some short stems of the Rosa Manettii; in the autumn, pot some of the strongest plants, and, late in spring, force them with a gentle heat, giving plenty of air. By this method the dry and warm climate of Florence and Genoa may, perhaps, be partially imitated; for there it blooms in such profusion, that large quantities of its magnificent flowers are daily sold in the markets during the rose season.

#### CLIMBING ROSES.

# Division First. The Ayrshire Rose (Rosa Arvensis hybrida).

It is the opinion of some cultivators, that the varieties of the Ayrshire Rose have been originated from the Rosa arvensis, or creeping single White Rose of our woods and hedges. But this is contradicted by botanists, who assert, that the original Ayrshire Rose was raised in Scotland from foreign rose seed: it may have been; but to judge from its habit, I feel no hesitation in asserting, that it is merely a seedling hybrid from our Rosa arvensis, having acquired much additional vigour, as all hybrid roses nearly invariably do, from some accidental impregnation: perhaps no rose can be more luxuriant than this; for the Single Ayrshire, and that semi-double variety, known as the Double White, will often make shoots in one season twenty to thirty feet in length. Several of our prettiest varieties have been raised from seed by Mr. Martin, of Rose Angle, Dundee; but the first in the Catalogue, the Ayrshire Queen, the only dark Ayrshire Rose known, was originated by myself, in 1835, from the Blush Ayrshire, impregnated with the Tuscany Rose. But one seed germinated, and the plant produced has proved a complete hybrid. Its flowers are of the same shape, and not more

double than those of the Blush Ayrshire, its female parent; but they have all the dark purplish crimson of the Tuscany Rose. It has lost a portion of the vigorous climbing habit of the Ayrshire, but yet makes an excellent pillar rose. Till we can get a dark Ayrshire Rose, double as a Ranunculus, it will be acceptable. The Double Blush, or Double Red of some catalogues, is a pretty early rose, a vigorous climber, and as a standard forms a beautiful umbrella-shaped tree. Bennet's Seedling \* is a new variety found growing among some briars, by a gardener, of the name of Bennet, in Nottinghamshire. It is a very pretty double and fragrant white rose. Dundee Rambler is the most double, and one of the best in this division; it blooms in very large clusters, much in the Noisette fashion, and is truly a desirable rose. Elegans, or the Double White, is one of our oldest varieties: its flowers are semi-double, and, individually, not pretty, as their petals in hot weather are very flaccid; but then it blooms in such large clusters, and grows so vigorously, that it forms an admirable Wilderness Rose. Jessica is a pretty, delicate pink variety, distinct and good. Rose Angle Blush is like Jessica in its colour, but is much more luxuriant in its habit. I am sure that this rose in strong soils will make shoots in one season more than twenty feet in length.

<sup>\*</sup> Rosa Thoresbyana of the Floricultural Cabinet.

Lovely Rambler, or the Crimson Ayrshire, is too semi-double, and its petals too flaccid, to be much esteemed; it is mentioned here to prevent its two imposing names from misleading the ama-Myrrh-scented: this name has been applied to two or three roses having the same peculiar scent; this variety has semi-double flowers of a creamy blush. Queen of the Belgians is a fine rose, with very double flowers, of a pure white; this is a most vigorous climber, soon forming a pillar fifteen or twenty feet high. Ruga is now a well-known variety, said to be a hybrid between the Tea-scented China Rose and the Common Ayrshire; it is a most beautiful and fragrant rose. Splendens is a new variety, with very largecupped flowers, of a creamy blush; this rose has also that peculiar "myrrh-scented" fragrance.

Ayrshire Roses are some of them, perhaps, surpassed in beauty by the varieties of Rosa sempervirens; still they have distinct and desirable qualities: they bloom nearly a fortnight earlier than the roses of that division; they will grow where no other rose will exist; and to climb up the stems of timber trees in plantations near frequented walks, and to form undergrowth, they are admirably well adapted; they also make graceful and beautiful standards, for the ends of the branches descend and shade the stems, which, in consequence, increase rapidly in bulk. It seems probable that Ayrshire Roses will grow to an enor-

mous size as standards, and surpass in the beauty of their singular dome-shaped heads many other roses more prized for their rarity.

The following extract from the Dundee Courier of July 11th, 1837, will give some idea how capable these roses are of making even a wilderness a scene of beauty:—

"Some years ago, a sand pit at Ellangowan was filled up with rubbish found in digging a well. Over this a piece of rock was formed for the growth of plants which prefer such situations, and amongst them were planted some half dozen plants of the Double Ayrshire Rose, raised in this neighbourhood about ten years ago. These roses now most completely cover the whole ground, a space of thirty feet by twenty. At present they are in full bloom, showing probably not less than ten thousand roses in this small space."

#### CLIMBING ROSES.

### Division Second. Rosa multiflora.

The Rosa multiflora, or many-flowered rose, is a native of Japan, from whence it was brought by Thunberg, and introduced into this country in 1804. Several of the varieties in the catalogue have been raised in Italy, where these pretty roses flourish and bear seed abundantly. In the neigh-

bourhood of Florence the Double Red may be seen climbing to an enormous extent, and large plants, completely covered with thousands of its very double and perfect flowers, having a fine appearance. The Single White is also grown in Italy; from this I have this season (1837) raised several hundreds of seedlings; the seed I received from Signor Crivelli, of Como, an Italian Rose amateur, very much devoted to gardening; all the varieties of this family are interesting, as they differ so much from other roses. Alba, or the Double White, is rather a misnomer, for it is not pure white, but rather a pale flesh-colour, pretty and distinct. Crivellii is a new variety, and one of the prettiest; its flowers are of a brilliant and changeable red, very unique; it is a free grower, and well deserves attention. Elegans is a most beautiful little rose, changing from blush to nearly pure white: it is a little hybridised, and consequently more hardy than the true Rosa multiflora. Fragrans is a most robust growing variety, but it has not yet bloomed in this country. Scarlet Grevillia or Russelliana is a hybrid, differing much in character from the other varieties of this family; it is more hardy, but does not climb so freely; still it is a beautiful and distinct rose: its large clusters of shaded crimson flowers have a fine effect on a pillar. Grevillia, or the Seven Sisters' Rose is a vigorous climber, blooming in large clusters, which show a curious diversity of colours;

for, soon after expansion, the flowers change from crimson to purplish rose, and then to pale rose; so that in the clusters may be seen three or four shades, from rose to deep purplish crimson. wet soils, it is often killed to the ground by the winter's frost; even in warm situations, and if covered with mats, it shoots so early that when uncovered it cannot endure the cold of spring. would probably form a fine pillar rose, if thatched in November with green furze or whin, which admits air and yet keeps off the severity of the frost. This covering may continue till March, and then must not be removed at once, but at twice or thrice: as want of caution in not removing their winter covering gradually is the death of thousands of half-hardy plants. If a plant is protected with spray or furze, remove half in mild weather in March, and let the remainder continue a week or fortnight longer, being regulated by the weather. The treatment of the Grevillia Rose as a pillar may be applied to all the varieties of Rosa multiflora, except Russelliana, as they are impatient of cold. Hybrida, or Laure Davoust, is a hybrid, and a most elegant and beautiful rose, having all the peculiar neatness of the double red and white varieties, with larger flowers and more beautiful foliage. This is one of the prettiest climbing roses known. A Genevese friend informs me that some pillars of this rose at Geneva are thirty feet high, and covered with flowers the greater part of summer. Rubra is our oldest variety, but still interesting and pretty. Large plants of this rose may sometimes be seen, seldom putting forth flowers; this is owing to severe pruning, or to the winter killing the small spray-like shoots, from which they are generally produced. Superba is a variety approaching the Grevillia Rose in appearance, but much more dwarf and hardy.

These roses have but few adaptations. I have given under Grevillia Rose their culture as pillar roses: for these and for warm situations against walls, they are very ornamental: they also bloom in the greatest perfection as standards, but they will require removing to a warm shed in winter. Grafted on short stems and grown in large pots, they bloom freely, and form pretty objects, as they produce their myriads of elegant flowers the greater part of summer.

## THE EVERGREEN ROSE.

(Rosa sempervirens.)

The original of this beautiful family is the Rosa sempervirens, the climbing Wild Rose of Italy with small single white flowers, and foliage nearly evergreen. Monsieur Jacques, the chief gardener at the Château de Neuilly, has had the pleasure

of originating most of the varieties now in cultivation: two or three he has named after the daughters of his royal master, King Louis Philippe: Adelaide d'Orleans is one of these, and a very pretty and excellent rose it is, with dark shining green foliage, and beautiful shaded pale rose-coloured flowers: in the Floricultural Cabinet for September, 1837, a figure of it is given, which is as like a sunflower as this pretty and distinct Banksiæflora is more fragrant than the generality of these roses; it seems hybridised in a triffing degree with the old Musk Rose, which has probably imparted a little of its delightful perfume; this has small and very double white flowers. Brunonii is not a true Sempervirens, but approaching so near in its habit, that it cannot be placed in any other division with propriety. has more colour than usual in roses of this family, as they are all inclined to pale flesh-colour, or white. This is of a vivid rose-colour, and very pretty and distinct. Carnea grandiflora: this name conveys an accurate description, as its flowers are large and flesh-coloured. Donna Maria is of the purest white, with fine dark green foliage, and very double flowers; a good and distinct rose. Felicité perpetué has been sold as "Noisette florabunda," "Noisette compacta," "Mademoiselle Euphrasie," "Abélard sempervirens:" and probably under some other high-sounding appellations, for it is a general favourite, and justly so, as it is

one of the most beautiful of roses. No plant can be more lovely than a large specimen of this rose, covered with its double ranunculus-like creamcoloured flowers. It will not bloom if pruned much; therefore its shoots must be tied in their full length, and thinned out if too numerous, but not shortened.

Jaunâtre is a new variety, with yellowish-white flowers. This is evidently hybridised with the Musk or Noisette Rose, as it is fragrant.

Mélanie de Montjoie has large flowers of the purest white, and foliage very abundant and beautiful, of a shining dark green, contrasting finely with its flowers.

Myrianthes, sometimes called Ranunculacea, is a charming plant: its flowers are so perfectly and elegantly shaped, and their colour so delicate, that, if not the most beautiful of all, it is one among them. Plena is also known as Sempervirens major, and as the Double White Noisette. This is our oldest double variety, and a very good rose. Princesse Louise is a fine and vigorousgrowing variety, with flowers of a pale rose, very double and prettily cupped. Princess Marie is one of the deepest in colour in this group; her flowers are of a bright rosy pink, beautifully cupped, and blooming in large clusters. Rampant, as its name implies, is a most vigorous and rampant grower, and a very pretty pure white rose. This will cover a wall or building with nearly as much

rapidity as the common Ayrshire. Scandens is a hybrid Sempervirens, having much of the Ayrshire habit, and making shoots of an immense length in one season. Its flowers are of a delicate buff when they first open, but they soon change to a pale flesh-colour. Alice Grey is the poetical name given to this rose by some nurserymen. Spectabile, or Rose Ayez of some catalogues, is a fine and distinct climbing rose, with bright rosy lilac flowers, and curiously incised petals; a most vigorous-growing and desirable variety. Triomphe de Bolwyller, or Sempervirens Odorata, is a hybrid between the Rosa Sempervirens and the Tea-scented China Rose, and decidedly one of the finest climbing roses known; its large globular flowers are very fragrant, and much like Neisette Lamarque, differing slightly in colour. This rose often blooms in the autumn, and that pleasing quality makes it still more desirable.

The varieties of Rosa Sempervirens are of the easiest culture, as they seem to flourish in all soils and situations. In sheltered places and under trees they are nearly evergreen, retaining their leaves till spring. This makes them valuable for covering banks, trees, or walls. I know of no rose idea prettier than that of a wilderness of evergreen roses, the varieties planted promiscuously, and suffered to cover the surface of the ground with their entangled shoots. To effect this, the ground should be dug, manured, and thoroughly cleaned

from perennial weeds, such as couch grass, &c., and the plants planted from three to five feet asunder. If the soil is rich, the latter distance will do; they must be hoed amongst, and kept clean from weeds after planting, till the branches meet; they will then soon form a beautiful mass of foliage and flowers, covering the soil too densely for weeds of minor growth to flourish. Those weeds that are more robust should be pulled out occasionally, and this is all the culture they will require; for temples, columns, and verandahs, their use is now becoming well known. the most complete temples of roses is that at the seat of — Warner, Esq., Hoddesdon, Hertfordshire; and the prettiest specimens of festooning these roses from one column to another, by means of small iron chains (strong iron wire will do), may be seen at Broxbourn Bury, near Hoddesdon, the seat of — Bosanquet, Esq. They also form elegant and graceful standards; like the Ayrshire roses their shoots are pendulous, and soon hide the stem, in a few years forming a pretty dome of foliage and flowers; for covering the naked stems of forest or ornamental trees they are also very useful, as their roots will not injure the tree which supports them; and if strong copper wire is brought loosely round the trunk of the tree to support their branches, they will give scarcely any trouble in such situations. To make them grow vigorously, give them a supply of manure on the

surface, annually in the autumn, to be carried to their roots by the rains of winter. In autumn or winter pruning, their branches must be left their full length, for, if shortened, they will make prodigious long shoots the following season, but produce no flowers; as they are very flexible, they can be laid in and twisted in any direction, but the use of the knife must be avoided as much as possible. It is, I fear, almost hopeless to advise raising roses of this family from seed; they are for the most part too double, and the species being a native of Italy, I fear that our cloudy skies are by far too unfavourable; but how charming would be a rose of this family with crimson flowers, and a tendency to bloom in autumn-in short, a Perpetual Crimson Evergreen rose: to obtain this all lovers of roses ought at least to give the following experiment a fair trial: - plant against a south wall in a warm soil Princesse Marie and the China rose Fabvier, also the Bourbon rose Gloire de Rosomène: fertilize different flowers of the former with the pollen from both these varieties; the flowers of Princesse Marie are not quite double, and in a very warm and dry season, it is quite possible that seed may be produced.

## THE BOURSAULT ROSE

(Rosa Alpina.)

This is a most distinct group of roses, with long, reddish, flexible shoots; they are not such decided climbers as the preceding three divisions, but they are excellently well adapted for pillar roses: they owe their origin to the Rosa Alpina, a single red rose, a native of the Alps, and also of the hills in the south of France. M. Boursault, formerly a great Parisian Rose amateur, gave his name to the group, by the first double variety, the Red, being named after him. Blush, or Boursault Florida, Calypso, White Boursault, Bengale Florida, Rose de Lisle, &c., for it is known by all these names, is a beautiful rose, and when trained up a pillar its large and delicately-coloured flowers have a fine effect; the Tea-scented Roses budded on this rose bloom in great perfection. Crimson, or Amadis. is also a very fine pillar rose; its clusters of large. deep purple and crimson flowers are inclined to be pendulous, consequently they have a fine effect when on a tall pillar, and as a pendulous standard it is quite unrivalled. Drummond's Thornless is now an old variety, but it produces such a profusion of bright red flowers, that it ought to be in every collection of climbing roses. Elegans is a most beautiful vivid-coloured rose; its purple and crimson flowers are often striped with white: this

has a long succession of bloom, as it is one of the earliest and latest of summer roses. Gracilis is a hybrid, of the most vigorous growth in good soils, often making shoots ten to twelve feet long in one season; unlike the other varieties of this division, its shoots are covered with thorns. Nothing can be more graceful than the luxuriant foliage of this plant; it has also finely-cupped flowers, of the most vivid rose-colour, and must be reckoned a beautiful and desirable rose. Inermis, or Boursault Pleine, is a pretty variety, with flowers of a bright red, and a fine and luxuriant grower. The Red Boursault is our oldest variety, and, though only semi-double, it is distinct, pretty, and still a rose worth cultivating.

## THE BANKSIAN ROSE.

(Rosa Banksiæ.)

Among the Banksian Roses, botanists class Rosa lævigata, or sinica, a rose with peculiarly glossy foliage, and large single white flowers. This is a native of Georgia, also of Tartary and China, and, very probably, is the plant from which the Chinese derived our Double Banksian Roses. Rosa sinica is also known as Rosa lævigata and Rosa ternata.

Our popular Double White Banksian Rose is

almost universally known and admired. It was introduced in 1807; and very large plants are now to be seen in some situations: one in the garden of Miss Chauncey, at Cheshunt, covers a wall of immense extent. The flowers of the White Banksian Rose have a slight violet-like perfume, very agreeable. The Yellow Banksian Rose was brought to this country in 1827. This is an unique and beautiful variety, with scentless strawcoloured flowers, a little inclining to buff: they are like the flowers of the white, very small and double. Both these roses bloom early in May; and large plants, covered with their clusters of flowers, have a pretty, but most un-rose-like appearance. The new Yellow Banksian Rose, Jaune Serin, has larger flowers than the preceding, and is really a fine and vigorous growing variety. The Rose-coloured Banksian Rose is a hybrid. with very bright rose-coloured flowers, the whole plant partaking as much of the character of the Boursault Rose as of the Banksian: in fact, it is a most complete mule; and though it has lost a little too much caste in the shape and size of its flowers—for they are a degree larger, and not quite so double as those of the Banksian Rose -- it will prove a very pretty, bright-coloured climber, and quite hardy. The Rosa Banksia Odoratissima, lately introduced from France, and in some catalogues said to have rose-coloured flowers, in others rose-coloured margined with

white, I am fearful is a rose with a "nom d'affaire."

The true Banksian Roses are not adapted for pillar roses, as they are too tender: they require a wall, or very sheltered situation. Their very early flowering, also, renders this quite necessary, as the spring frosts, in cold exposures, destroy the bloom in the bud. They bloom more freely in dry than in wet, retentive soils, and they require pruning with care, for none of the small and twiggy branches should be shortened: but, if the plant has a superabundance, some of them may be removed. If their branches are shortened they will not bloom, but put forth a profusion of strong shoots. The flowers will be generally found in the greatest abundance on these small and twiggy branches, which at once points out the necessity of their being left on the plant. Often, towards the end of summer, large old plants will produce immensely thick and strong shoots. These should be removed early in autumn, unless they are wanted to fill up a vacancy on the wall: the upper part of the plant, and its flowering twigs, will then not be exhausted in spring by them.

Banksian Roses seldom bear seed in this country; but in the south of France, and in Italy, they produce it in tolerable abundance; so that we may yet expect crimson and other coloured roses of this charming family.

#### HYBRID CLIMBING ROSES.

These are hardy and strong-growing roses, the origin of some of them not well ascertained, Among them, Astrolabe is a pretty, brightcoloured, and very double rose; not so vigorous in its growth as some others, but a distinct and good variety. Clair is a single hybrid rose, with small crimson flowers, said to be between Rosa sempervirens, and the Crimson China Rose, or Rosa semperflorens. This is a singular and rather pretty rose, blooming all the autumn: it will probably be the parent of some beautiful climbers. as it hears seed freely. Indica major has perhaps a dozen names; for as "Rosa Bengalensis," "Bengalensis scandens," and the "Walton Rose" of Essex, it is well known; and last, but not least, as "Rosa craculatum,"—a name given to it by Mr. Wood of Maresfield. It is a fine robust variety, nearly evergreen, and makes shoots from ten to fifteen feet in length in one season. Its flowers are large, nearly double, and of a delicate pale rose-colour. This beautiful rose may be soon made to cover the most unsightly buildings or walls. Miller's Climber from the nursery of Mr. Miller of Bristol, is a pretty bright pink rose, with small flowers, not quite double. Madame d'Arblay, or Wells' White, has been till now placed among Rosa sempervirens; but its habit is so different, and its origin so well ascertained, that I have removed it to this division.

This robust variety was raised from seed some years since by Mr. Wells of Redleaf, near Tonbridge Wells; and, I believe, given by him to the Messrs. Young of Epsom, from whom I received it, under the name of Madame d'Arblay. In strong soils it makes the most gigantic growth, soon forming a tree or a pillar of the largest size: its flowers are very double and pretty. The Garland, or Wood's Garland, is also a seedling, raised by Mr. Wells of Redleaf, I believe, from the seed of the Noisette Rose. Like Madame d'Arblay, this is a vigorous grower, producing its flowers in immense clusters. These are fragrant, and change from white to pink after expansion.

Rosa elegans is a variety which has hitherto been omitted in the catalogue. This is also known as Bengale elégante: it is a rose of most distinct character, with cupped flowers, of the brightest pink, and nearly double. It makes long flexible shoots, and blooms in great profusion for a much longer period than any other summer rose.

To Hybrid Climbing Roses a very singular and pretty variety has been added. This I have raised from Italian seed. It produces abundance of flowers in large clusters, of a bright crimson scarlet, nearly double, and, what is very rare among climbing roses, they are very fragrant. I have named this rose "Sir John Sebright," as

I have the honour of knowing that Sir John is a great admirer of brilliant coloured climbing roses.

A new family of climbing roses has been lately introduced from North America: we owe this group to Rosa rubifolia, the Bramble-leaved or Prairie Rose. A Mr. Feast, nurseryman at Baltimore, has been the originator of a few varieties, one of which is described as being an autumnal bloomer. The Queen of the Prairies is one of the best of these roses, producing its flowers, which are rather flat, and regularly imbricated in large clusters; these are of a bright rose-colour, streaked with white; its foliage is large, and habit very robust; it seems, however, to require a dry season; in America it is highly esteemed, their summers are dry and hot, and under these unfavourable circumstances to most roses, it retains its flowers fresh and unfading. Superba, or Pallida, is a most abundant bloomer; its flowers are produced in large clusters, colour pale blush; Baltimore Belle is described in the American catalogues as a pretty bright pink rose. I have received a rose twice from America under this name: in both instances Superba was sent. Perpetual Pink is a pretty rose with flowers of rosy pink tinted with purple; it only occasionally blooms in autumn.

The species with single flowers grows abundantly in the prairies of North America. Seed-

lings from this, according to American writers, give semi-double and double flowers in the second generation; we shall therefore probably receive shortly some new varieties, as some American nurserymen are propagating it by seed extensively.

Among climbing roses but few can be found that will bear seed in this country, the Ayrshire Roses excepted, from some of which it is probable that some fine and original climbers may be raised. A most desirable object to obtain is a dark crimson Rosa ruga; this may possibly be accomplished by planting that favourite rose with the Ayrshire Queen, and fertilising its flowers very carefully with those of that dark rose. It is remarkable that although these roses are both hybrids, from species apparently very remote in their affinities, yet both of them bear seed, even without being fertilised. The Blush Ayrshire, a most abundant seed-bearer, may be planted with the Ayrshire Queen, the Common Bourbon, Gloire de Rosomène, the Double Yellow Briar, Single Crimson Moss, Celine, Henri Barbet, the China Rose, Fabrier, and its flowers fertilised with the pollen of these roses; if any combination can be effected, pleasing results may reasonably be hoped To "make assurance doubly sure," the anthers of the Ayrshire Rose should be removed from some of the flowers with which the experiment is tried.

The Red Boursault Rose, planted with Athelin, may perhaps be made the parent of some brilliant red climbing roses.

Rose Clair, if planted against a south wall, with Gloire de Rosomène, or fertilised with the flowers of Athelin, Sir John Sebright, or the Ayrshire Queen, would give some distinct and curious varieties.

Sempervirens scandens, of which the flowers are buff when they first open, would be worth experimenting upon with the Double Yellow Briar; as this is a most vigorous climber, its progeny, however much of hybrids, would be sure to retain enough of that desirable quality.

## TREATMENT OF THE SEED, SOWING, &c.

The heps of all the varieties of roses will in general be fully ripe by the beginning of November; they should then be gathered and kept entire, in a flower-pot filled with dry sand, carefully guarded from mice; in February, or by the first week in March, they must be broken to pieces with the fingers, and sown in flower-pots, such as are generally used for sowing seeds in, called "seed-pans," but for rose seeds they should not be too shallow; nine inches in depth will be enough; these should be nearly, but not quite,

filled with a rich compost of rotten manure and sandy loam or peat; the seeds may be covered, to the depth of about half an inch, with the same compost; a piece of kiln wire must then be placed over the pot, fitting closely at the rim, so as to prevent the ingress of mice, which are passionately fond of rose seeds; there must be space enough between the wire and the mould for the young plants to come up; half an inch will probably be found enough; the pots of seed must never be placed under glass, but kept constantly in the open air, in a full sunny exposure, as the wire will shade the mould, and prevent its drying. Water should be given occasionally in dry weather; the young plants will perhaps make their appearance in April or May, but very often the seed does not vegetate till the second spring. When they have made their "rough leaves," that is, when they have three or four leaves, exclusive of their seed leaves, they must be carefully raised with the point of a narrow pruning knife, potted into small pots, and placed in the shade: if the weather is very hot and dry, they may be covered with a hand-glass for a few days. They may remain in those pots a month, and then be planted cut into a rich border; by the end of August those that are robust growers will have made shoots long enough for budding. Those that have done so may be cut down, and one or two strong stocks budded with each; these will the following summer make vigorous shoots, and the summer following, if left unpruned, to a certainty they will produce flowers. This is the only method to ensure seedling roses flowering the third year; many will do so that are not worked, but very often the superior varieties are shy bloomers on their own roots, till age and careful culture give them strength.

It may be mentioned here, as treatment applicable to all seed-bearing roses, that when it is desirable the qualities of a favourite rose should preponderate, the petals of the flower to be fertilised must be opened gently with the fingers \*;

\* It requires some watchfulness to do this at the proper time; if too soon, the petals will be injured in forcing them open; and in hot weather in July, if delayed only an hour or two, the anthers will be found to have shed their pollen. To ascertain precisely when the pollen is in a fit state for transmission, a few of the anthers should be gently pressed with the finger and thumb; if the yellow dust adheres to them the operation may be performed; it requires close examination and some practice to know when the flower to be operated upon is in a fit state to receive the pollen; as a general rule, the flowers ought to be in the same state of expansion, or, in other words, about the same age. It is only in cases where it is wished for the qualities of a particular rose to predominate, that the removal of the anthers of the rose to be fertilised is necessary; thus, if a yellow climbing rose is desired by the union of the Yellow Briar with the Ayrshire, every anther should be removed from the latter, so that it is fertilised solely with the pollen of the former. In some cases, where it is desirable to have the qualities of both parents in an equal degree, the removal of the anthers must not take place; thus, I have found by removing them from the Luxembourg Moss, and ferRose accidentally fertilised, we may expect that art will do much more for us.

The following extract from the Botanical Register for January, 1840, will, I think, go to prove that these expectations are not without foundation:—

"My principal reason for publishing a figure of this very remarkable plant, Fuchsia Standishii, is because it is a mule between Fuchsia fulgens and Fuchsia globosa, two plants as dissimilar as possible in the same genus. The former, indeed, figured in this work for the year 1838, tab. 1., differs in so many respects from the common species of the genus, especially in having an herbaceous stem and tuberous roots, that it has been supposed impossible that it should be a Fuchsia at all. It now, however, appears, from the fact of its crossing freely with the common Fuchsias, that it produces hybrids, and really does belong to the genus. These hybrids are completely intermediate between the two parents; in this case having the leaves, flowers, and habit of their mother, Fuchsia globosa, with the hairiness and tenderness of foliage of their father, some of his colouring, and much of his herbaceous character. It is by no means necessary to take Fuchsia globosa for the female parent, as Fuchsia fulgens is found to intermix readily with many other species. That which is now figured is the handsomest I have seen. It was raised by Mr.

John Standish, nurseryman, Bagshot, who sent me specimens last July, together with flowers of several others of inferior appearance. He tells me that it is an exceedingly free bloomer, with a stiff erect habit; and I can state, from my personal knowledge, that the plant is very handsome."

Now this is from Dr. Lindley, who may be quoted as a weighty authority; and this plant is a hybrid between two, one of which, I believe, it was seriously contemplated to place out of the genus Fuchsia, so dissimilar did it appear to any known species of that genus. After this, we may hope for a Mossy Bourbon Rose, and a Yellow Ayrshire.

## PROPAGATION OF SUMMER ROSES.

There are four modes of propagation applicable to Summer Roses, viz. by layers, by cuttings, by budding, and by grafting. Layering may be performed in spring, summer, and autumn; the two latter seasons only can be recommended, but if any are forgotten or omitted by accident, the operation in spring will often give success; still as summer layering is the most legitimate, I shall give directions for that my first notice.

About the middle of July in most seasons the shoots will be found about eighteen inches or two feet in length; from these, two thirds of their length the leaves should be cut off, close to the shoot, be-

ginning at the base, with a very sharp knife; the shoot must then be brought to the ground, so as to be able to judge in what place the hole must be made to receive it; this may be made large enough to hold a quarter of a peck of compost: in heavy and retentive soils this should be rotten dung and pit sand in equal quantities, well mixed; the shoot must then be "tongued," i. e. the knife introduced just below a bud, and brought upwards, so as to cut about half way through; this must be done at the side or back of the shoot (not by any means at the front or in the bend), so that the tongue does not close; to make this certain a small piece of glass or thin earthenware may be introduced to keep it open. Much nicety is required to have the tongue at the upper part of the shoot, so as not to be in the part which forms the bow, as it is of consequence that it should be within two inches of the surface, so as to feel the effects of the atmospheric heat; unless this is attended to the roots will not be emitted quickly; the tongued part must be placed in the centre of the compost, and a moderate-sized stone put on the surface of the ground to keep the layer in its place. The first week in November the layers may be taken from the parent plant, and either potted as required, or planted out where they are to remain. Those shoots not long enough in July and August may be layered in October, when the layers are taken from the shoots, and, if any are

forgotten, February and March will be the most favourable months for the operation; as a general rule, July is the most proper season.

#### PROPAGATION BY CUTTINGS.

To procure early cuttings, so as to have plants ready for planting out in June, strong plants must be placed in the forcing-house in December; these will make vigorous shoots, which, when thoroughly ripe in March, should be made into cuttings about six inches in length; the leaves must be left on that part of the cutting above the surface. Supposing the cutting to contain six buds, from three of these the leaves may be removed, or, if they are very large, even four, leaving two buds with the leaves attached. The cuttings may be planted singly in small pots filled one third with small pieces of broken pots (on these must the end of the cutting rest), and the remainder with light mould, or peat and sand equal quantites; the cuttings must then be placed in a gentle hot-bed and kept perfectly close, no air should be admitted, by raising the lights in the slightest degree, except for the operation of watering; they must be sprinkled with tepid water every morning and again in the afternoon, but the latter only in bright sunny weather: these operations should be performed as quickly as possible, to prevent their being exposed to the exhausting

effects of the open air. They will have made roots in a fortnight or three weeks. When this is ascertained, which can be done by gently turning out the plant, they should be placed in a cold frame and still kept close. After being a week in this situation they may be potted into larger pots. This is a very interesting method of propagation, and the plants made in this manner form very pretty bushes of compact growth; it is applicable to all roses: even Moss Roses will strike root if treated as above: they require more patience, as they are longer in forming their roots than many, as are also the Provence. Care must be taken that the shoots before being formed into cuttings, are perfectly ripe: an invariable sign of their maturity is when the terminal bud is formed at the end of the shoot; this shows that they have made their first growth; to hasten this, the plants should be placed in the most sunny situation, so as to mature their shoots as early as possible.

Cuttings of Hybrid China Roses, Hybrid Bourbons, and of all the climbing roses, may be raised with facility by planting them in a shady border in September. They may be made about ten inches in length, two thirds of which should be planted in the soil: in fact, they can scarcely be planted too deep: one, or at most two, buds above the surface will be enough; on these buds the leaves must be left untouched. These will be fit for planting out the following autumn.

#### PROPAGATION BY BUDDING.

This seems at present, owing to the strong wish manifested by the present generation to do every thing quickly, to be the favourite mode of propa-A summer rose from a cutting requires at least two seasons to form a blooming plant. A layer is occasionally very capricious, and very loth to make roots; indeed, of some varieties, particularly of Rosa alba, they will not by any means be induced to form roots when layered, and are very difficult even to be propagated by cuttings from the forcing-house; but these become perfectly docile and manageable when budded, in one season only forming large and handsome plants. operation of budding is difficult to describe. longitudinal cut, not so deep as to cut into the wood but merely through the bark should be made in the clear part of the shoot; thus I making the diagonal cut at the top of the incision. I differ from most of those who have given directions for budding, as they make the incision thus, T: my practice has arisen from the frequent inconvenience sustained by shoots from standard stocks being broken off by the wind, when the cut is made at right angles: with the diagonal incision an accident rarely happens: the bark on both sides this incision must be opened with the flat handle peculiar to the budding-knife, and the bud in-

serted: the slice of bark taken off the shoot with the bud in the centre should not be more than an inch in length; but half an inch is enough, the incision being made of the same length: this is the length used by experienced budders, who pride themselves upon performing the operation in the neatest manner possible. When the bud is inserted, cut off with your knife (which should be very sharp) a piece from the upper part of the plate, i. e. the piece of bark with the bud attached, so that it fits closely to the diagonal cut at top; then bind it up firmly with cotton twist, such as the tallow-chandlers use for the wicks of candles; the finest quality is best: this is the most eligible binding known and far preferable to matting or worsted. Many writers recommend the wood to be left in the plate: in cases where the bud is unripe this may be very well; but, as a general rule, always remove it. Take buds that are mature, and, by placing the thumb-nail at the top of the plate, peel cleanly the wood from the bark: if a remnant of wood is left on or near the eye of the bud, let it remain; it will do no harm; but if attempted to be removed, the eye is liable to be bruised and injured. Budding may be commenced in June, and performed as late as the second week in September; if done in June, the only shoots fit to take buds from are those that have shed their bloom: on these alone the buds are mature. I have occasionally known them to succeed in October. After August it is at the best uncertain, as the success of the operation entirely depends upon the state of the weather. In taking the wood from the bark, it will seem occasionally as if the eye or root of the bud is dragged out; it will then appear hollow: this only appears so, and is not of the least consequence, at least with roses, as those apparently hollow buds take as readily as those with the eye prominent.

#### PROPAGATION BY GRAFTING.

This may performed in the forcing-house in January, and in the open air in February and March. There are many modes of grafting: those most eligible for roses are the common "whip-grafting," using clay as a covering, and "cleft-grafting," using wax or pitch: the former is generally the most successful; and if the stocks are potted a year before being used, strong blooming plants of the perpetual roses may be made in three months.

A neighbouring amateur has been very fortunate in grafting roses, merely gathering his stocks from the hedges in January and February, and immediately grafting and potting them after the operation; in doing so covering the union of the graft firmly with mould, using no clay, so as to leave only three or four buds above the surface,

and placing them in a gentle hotbed, in a common garden-frame, keeping them very close. In this simple method of operating I have seen eighteen out of twenty grafts grow, but, owing to the stocks not being established in pots a year, as they ought to have been, these plants have not made strong and luxuriant shoots the first season. Stocks may be potted in October, if none can be had established in pots: these may be used in January or February with much success.

In whip-grafting of roses in pots it will be as well to omit the usual tongue by which in open air the graft is, as it were, hung on the stock; this tongueing weakens rose-grafts too much; as their shoots are generally pithy, a slice of bark with a very small portion of wood about 11 inch in length, taken from one side of the stock where the bark is clear and free from knots, is all that is required; then take part of a shoot about seven inches in length, and pare its lower end down quite thin till it fits accurately on the place in length and breadth, from whence the slice of bark and wood from the stock was taken; bind it firmly with strong bass, which has been soaked in water, and then place clay over it, so as to leave no crack for the admission of air: presuming this graft to be in a pot, it may be plunged in sawdust or old tan, leaving two buds of the graft above the surface in a gentle hotbed, and kept close till it has put forth its shoots: when these are three inches in

length, air may be admitted gradually by propping up the light: if perpetual roses, they may shortly be moved to the greenhouse, where they will bloom in great perfection in early spring. After this first bloom their shoots should be shortened, and if required they may be planted in the open borders, where they will flower again and again during the summer: if summer roses they will flower but once, but they will make strong shoots and establish themselves for another season; if a forcinghouse is used instead of a hotbed frame they must be plunged in the same materials, as this keeps the clay moist, and generally ensures success; if convenient, grafting wax, made as follows, may be used in lieu of clay: 1 lb. Burgundy pitch, 1 lb. common pitch, 2 oz. bees'-wax, and \frac{1}{2} oz. mutton fat, melted, and put on with a brush while warm: in cleft-grafting, the first operation is to cut off your stock to the height required, with a clean horizontal cut, taking care to make this just above a bud: opposite to this bud, cleave your stock, making the cleft about an inch long; and avoid, if possible, cleaving through the stock. Your graft may be from three to four inches long, having from three to four buds on it: cut one inch of the lower end of your graft to the exact form of a wedge, then pare off one side of the wedge very thin, leaving a bud, if possible, on the thick side; open the cleft with the point of your knife, or the flattened haft of a budding-knife, and insert the

thin side of your one-sided wedge, till the barks of both stock and graft are perfectly even; bind with a piece of cotton twist or worsted, or twine partially untwisted; cover the side of the stock in which is the cleft, and also the top of the stock, with grafting-wax, and plunge in gentle heat, as recommended for whip-grafted roses. Grafting-pitch must alone be used. If the grafts are small, this is a very nice mode, but difficult to describe; and the same result may be obtained by rind-grafting\*, a very neat method. Before this operation the stocks must be placed in the forcing-house for a few days, till the bark will run, i. e. part readily from the wood; the top of the stock must then be cut off cleanly, and without the least slope; an incision, as in budding, must then be made through the bark from the crown of the stock downwards, about one inch in length, which can be opened with the haft of a budding-knife; directly opposite to this incision a bud should be left, if one can be found. on the stem of the stock; the graft must then be cut flat on one side, as for whip-grafting, and inserted between the bark and wood, bound with bass, and covered with grafting wax. In March this may be done with young shoots of the current season from the forcing-house; they must be

<sup>\*</sup> The best stocks for this kind of grafting are the Blush Boursault and Rosa Manettii: the latter I received a few years since from Italy.

mature: as a rule, take only bloom shoots that have just shed their flowers—these are always ripe. To those who love roses, I know no gardening operation of more interest than that of grafting roses in pots in winter; blooming plants of the perpetual roses are made so quickly, and they are so constantly under observation; but for this a small forcing-house is of course necessary: a house twelve feet by eight feet, with an eighteeninch Arnott's stove, will do all that is necessary; and the expense of a structure of these dimensions is very moderate. What can be done in the way of propagation in so small a house with method is quite astonishing; a hotbed frame will give the same results, but the plants cannot be viewed in bad weather with equal facility; that interest attached to watching closely every shoot as it pushes forth to bud and bloom in all its gay attire is lost. To the mind happily constituted this is a calm and untiring pleasure; the bud breaking through its brown wintry covering into verdant leaves, replete with the delicate tints so peculiar to early spring, and unchecked by cold and withering blasts, makes us feel vernal pleasures, even in January; and then the peeping flowerbuds perhaps of some rare and as yet unseen variety, add to these still calm pleasures, felt only by those who really love plants and flowers, and all the lovely creations of nature.

#### PLANTING.

November and December are so well known to be favourable months for planting the summer roses, that it is thought by many amateurs no others are or can be so eligible; applied to dry sandy soils this is quite correct, but on wet retentive soils if the holes are opened in winter, so that the mould is pulverised by frost, February is much better. In light soils a mixture of well rotted manure and rich stiff loam from an old pasture, giving to each plant, if a standard, a wheelbarrowful, if a dwarf, about half that quantity, will be found the best compost; if the soil is stiff, the same quantity of manure and pit or road-sand, equal parts, will be most eligible; the roots of the plants will require but little pruning, merely shorten any that are long and straggling, and if the plants are very luxuriant, those planted in autumn may have their branches shortened to about half their length, to prevent the wind rocking them; in February they may be pruned as directed for each family; in springplanting, they may be pruned before they are planted; in every case, some manure to the extent of three or four inches in depth, should be placed on the surface round the stem of each plant; this keeps the roots in a moist state, and enriches the soil.

# CULTIVATION OF SUMMER ROSES IN POTS.

For this purpose, a selection of the finest double varieties are alone eligible. Plants worked on neat stems not more than four inches high, and with fibrous compact roots, so that they will admit of being placed in the centre of the pots, should be potted late in October, or early in November, in twenty-four sized or eight-inch pots, in a compost of loam and rotten manure, or loam and leaf mould and manure, in equal quantities; if to a bushel of this compost half a peck of pounded charcoal is added, it will be improved. After potting, they should be placed on slates, and then plunged in sawdust or old tan, so that the surface of the mould in the pots is covered about two inches in depth with the material used for plunging. A sunny exposed situation is better than under a wall, for when placed near a wall the branches always incline from it, so that the plant, in lieu of being round and compact, as it ought to be, becomes one-sided; in February following they may be pruned in closely, i.e. to within two or three buds of the base of each shoot, and remain plunged during the summer; additional vigour may be given by removing the sawdust or tan from the surface of the pots in March, and substituting rotten manure; during the summer all suckers must be carefully removed, and in June, July, and August all luxuriant shoots shortened, by pinching off their ends, and superfluous shoots nipped in the bud; so that each plant is made to form a neat compact bush, not too much crowded with shoots. If this is properly attended to, they will scarcely require pruning the following spring, but only a few of the shoots thinned out, i. e. entirely removed. These plants will require abundance of water in dry hot weather in summer, and once a week in June and July they should be watered with guano water, 1 lb. to twelve gallons of water will be of sufficient strength; if not placed on slates, the pots must be removed once a fortnight to prevent the roots entering the soil underneath the pots, which will give them much additional vigour: but the check they receive when removed is very injurious; this must, therefore, be carefully guarded against. The above treatment is also applicable to Moss and Provence Roses on their own roots, which, when required for forcing, may at once be removed from the plunging-bed, after having remained there one summer, to the forcing-house\*; those required for exhibition only, may also remain there till near the blooming season, when, if it is wished to retard them, they may be placed under a north wall, if to accelerate, they may be removed to the greenhouse, or to any pit or frame under glass.

With the exception of the Moss and Provence roses, which are, and always will be, favourites for forcing, summer roses are not so eligible for

<sup>•</sup> Directions for forcing roses will be found p. 217.

pot-culture, as the autumnal roses; they bloom but once, and, if intended for exhibition, it is so extremely difficult to have them in perfection in any given day: if the season is cold and cloudy it is most difficult to bring them forward, as fireheat in summer is injurious to roses brought from the open air, and, if dry and hot, it is equally difficult to retard them; at least this can be done only for a very short period.

Moss and Provence roses that have been forced have generally been thought to require a season's rest; but with the following treatment this will not be required. Presuming that they have bloomed in February or March, they should have their shoots shortened to within two or three buds, re-potted, and placed in a cold frame, plunged in the before-mentioned materials, and, towards the end of April, placed in the open air, as before directed; if carefully attended to during the summer, the plants will be sufficiently vigorous to bear forcing again the ensuing season; those plants intended only for exhibition, or to bloom at the usual season without forcing, may be shifted annually towards the end of September, the earth shaken entirely from the roots of the plants. From eight-inch pots they may be shifted into nine-inch or sixteen-sized pots; and it will not be advisable to place them in any of the larger-sized pots, unless plants are required of extra size, as they become heavy, and difficult to move with safety.

There appears to me much room for improve-

ment in the pot-culture of summer roses. Why should they not have shade and shelter? are they less worthy than the gaudy but odourless tulip? the carnation? the auricula? All these have shade and shelter in their blooming season. Why then have we neglected to give it to the rose? simply because fashion has not led the way. We well know how frequently rain and wind destroy nearly all the flowers of our summer roses; how easy, then, would it be to erect a light shed covered with canvass, something like those used to cover tulips, when in bloom. An erection of this kind, thirty to forty or fifty feet long, and from eight to ten feet wide, would admit of a path in the centre, and a border of roses in pots on each side. If the weather should be unfavourable, their flowers would expand in perfection, unscathed by those summer storms of wind and rain, peculiar to our climate, so fatal to flowers, and, above all, to roses: and if, on the contrary, we have "real merry days of June," with a glowing and unclouded sun, how agreeable would be the shade of the "rosarium," how beautiful the tints of the flowers thus shaded, and how delightful their perfume! If the weather is warm and dry, roses placed in a temporary erection of this kind should be carefully, but not too abundantly, watered every evening, and, what is better than saturating the pots with water, the central path should be sprinkled two or three times a-day, and water poured on the ground between the pots.

#### PART II.

#### THE AUTUMNAL ROSE GARDEN.

To Autumnal Roses we are much indebted for that prolonged season of interest which this "Queen of Flowers" now gives. The roses of June, however splendid, soon fade; but some Perpetual, or Noisette, or Bourbon roses enrich our gardens with their perfume and gay colours, till the chills of approaching winter prevent the expansion of their flowers. To have roses in autumn has, from the earliest ages, been esteemed a luxury; the Egyptians cultivated a variety supposed to be our monthly rose; and by retarding the flowering season, it is presumed, by late pruning, they were able to export immense quantities of roses to Rome during the early winter months, i. e. in November and December. Whether the plants were sent full of bloom-buds, in pots or cases, or simply the flowers preserved in some way, is uncertain. It appears, however, that the Romans soon became adepts in the art of cultivating autumnal roses; for when the Egyrtians sent to Domitian, on his birth-day, which

was towards the middle of November, a magnificent present of roses, it excited only laughter and disdain among the Romans. So abundant were they then in Rome, that, to quote Martial, "In all the streets we inhale the perfumes of spring, and see sparkling the fresh garlands of flowers: send us wheat, Egyptians, and we will send you roses."\*

It seems, also, that the Romans forced flowers by means of hot water, in their forcing houses, so as to produce roses and lilies in December, for Seneca t declaims against these inventions. Martial also says, book 12. epigram 127. "That roses, formerly only seen in spring, had in his time become common during the winter." If we may thus judge from the ancients, our autumnal and our winter roses, and even our forcing by hot water, which has been thought to be so recent an invention, are all of high antiquity; but, if we may credit Pliny and others, the Romans could not approach us in variety. The rose of Pæstum, the rosa bifera alluded to by Virgil‡, appears to have been the only autumnal rose known. according to Pliny, bloomed in the spring, and again in the autumn. Many botanists have searched for this rose near the ruins of Pæstum, and other

<sup>\*</sup> Martial, book 6. epigram 80.

<sup>† &</sup>quot;Non vivunt contra naturam, qui hieme concupiscunt Rosam; Fomentoque aquarum calentium, et calorum apta imitatione, bruma lilium florem vernum exprimunt?"—Epist. 122, 8.

<sup>‡</sup> Georgics, book 4. verse 18.

parts of Italy, but no species or variety has been found at all approaching to it in character. Our very old Damask Rose, the red monthly, not the comparatively new rose, "rose à quatres saisons" of the French, but the red monthly rose of our oldest writers on gardening, is probably the rose which was cultivated so extensively in Egypt and in Rome for its quality of flowering in autumn. I have frequently observed the stools\* of this variety, when pruned late in spring, not only to flower in June and September, but also in the latter month to put forth branches, which in October were covered with flower buds. Now these, owing to our cold rains in November, never came to perfection; but in the warm climates of Egypt and Italy, they would doubtless bloom abundantly even as late as November. Modern gardening has made rapid strides in rose culture: our varieties of autumnal roses are already almost innumerable; but among them none are more fragrant than

## THE PERPETUAL DAMASK ROSE. (Rosier de damas, a fleurs perpetuelles.)

(ROSIER DE DAMAS, A FLEURS PERPETUELLES.)

This division has as much variety in its origin as in its appearance; it would, indeed, be a diffi-

These are old plants used for layering, and are cut down closely every season. cult task to trace the parentage of some of the justly esteemed varieties of this family. Our old red and white monthly roses have, no doubt, contributed their share of sweet assistance; for, in many of them, the powerful fragrance of these two very old damask roses is apparent, and no perfume can be more pleasing.

In preference to giving a slight history of the family at the commencement, I shall, as I describe them, at the risk of being tedious, give the supposed origin of most of the varieties; premising, that all those termed *true perpetuals* have, generally, a terminal cluster of buds at the end of each shoot, whether produced in spring, summer, or autumn.

Antinous is a new rose, evidently between the French Rose and Crimson Perpetual, equalling that fine rose in form and fragrance, and surpassing it in beauty of colouring. This when first introduced did not bloom constantly in the autumn: it now, however, puts forth its fine crimson-purple flowers in September. It will therefore be much esteemed, as we have hitherto been accustomed to roses of more sober hues in that pleasant month. Billiard, so named from a French rose amateur, is a pretty bright rose, very fragrant and double, and a true perpetual. Belle Italienne approaches very near to the Crimson Perpetual, except that its flowers are larger, and not quite so double: this is also a true perpetual. Bernard, or Pompon

Perpetual, is a most beautiful rose, with rather small flowers; but these are very double and finely-shaped, of a delicate carmine tinted with salmon, and very fragrant. This rose will flourish better on the Boursault stock than on the Dog Rose: this is a true perpetual, and a most desir able rose.

The Crimson Perpetual, Rose du Roi, or Lee's Crimson Perpetual, deserves a few extra words of comment. This fine rose was raised from seed, in 1812, in the gardens of the palace of Saint Cloud, then under the direction of Le Comte Lelieur. and named by him Rose du Roi; owing, I suppose, to Louis the Eighteenth soon after that time being restored, and presenting an opportunity for the Comte to show his loyalty: it is not recorded that he changed its name during the hundred days to Rose de l'Empereur! It is asserted that it was raised from the Rosa Portlandica, a semi-double bright-coloured rose, much like the rose known in this country as the Scarlet Four-Seasons, or Rosa Pæstana; which, Eustace tells us, in his Classical Tour, grows among the ruins of Pæstum, enlivening them with its brilliant autumnal flowers. This proves to be a traveller's tale.

Every gentleman's garden ought to have a large bed of Crimson Perpetual Roses, to furnish bouquets during August, September, and October: their fragrance is so delightful, their colour so rich, and their form so perfect. De Rennes is a true perpetual, of first-rate excellence, with large and very double flowers. Délice d'Hiver is a splendid rose, with large and finely-shaped flowers, of that vivid rose-colour so much admired; also a true perpetual. Désespoir des Amateurs, or Perpetuatissima, had its origin in Italy, from whence it was ushered into France, with its high-sounding names, equally ridiculous; for, in reality, the rose, though pretty and fragrant, is much below many in this division. It is a hybrid of uncertain origin, and totally unlike any other rose in habit, which is dwarf and rather delicate.

Flon, Gloire des Perpetuelles, or La Mienne, is a true perpetual, and abundant bloomer, with a peculiar and pretty habit; for its foliage has a soft appearance, and, when the plant is covered with its brilliant red flowers, no Perpetual Rose is more beautiful. Ferox is quite unique, and very magnificent, having larger flowers than any other in this division; but it is not a certain autumnal bloomer. The White Four-Seasons has an attractive name; but it does not deserve it, as it has not the habit of the True Four-Seasons Rose, producing constantly terminal flower-buds, but more like the Common White Damask, from which it is but little removed. The Grand Perpetual, or Fabert's, is a true perpetual Rose of great excellence, requiring a rich soil and good culture to bloom in per-

fection. It has one great fault, -the flowers produced in July are so large that they almost invariably burst: but its autumnal flowers are much more symmetrical. Grande et Belle, or Monstreuse, is a rose of immense size and beauty, and generally a good and true perpetual. Henriette Boulogne is a good rose, but rather an inconstant autumnal bloomer. This, with some others, the French distinguish as roses that "remontante rarement," in contradistinction to the true perpetuals, which, they say, "remontante franchement." Josephine Antoinette is now an old variety, but a true perpetual of great excellence. Louis Philippe, being introduced before Antinous, has had a large share of admiration: its immense size, under proper cultivation, and its dark purple colour, make it even yet desirable: it is also a true perpetual. Lodoiska and Madame Feburier are superb roses, and very large and double; but they are rather inconstant perpetuals. Marie Denise is a fine robust variety: its flowers resemble those of Lodoiska, but more double, and the plant approaches nearer to a true perpetual than that fine rose. Pompon Four Seasons is a very old rose, as its name may be found in many old catalogues: still it is rare. It blooms well in autumn, and forms a pretty little bush.

Pulchérie is a pretty dark purple rose, very distinct, and a true perpetual. Perpétuelle d'Angers is an old variety, a very free autumnal bloomer,

and remarkably fragrant; but its flowers are not so finely shaped as those of some other varieties. Palmire, or the Blush Perpetual, is of about the same standing as the Crimson: it is a true perpetual, and a good rose. Panaché de Girardon, or the Striped Perpetual, is a pretty variegated rose. In some seasons its flowers are much more striped than in others; but it is not a true perpetual. Portlandica carnea is an exceedingly pretty bright rose, something like Rosa Pæstana in habit, with flowers of a paler colour, and a true perpetual. Portlandica alba, or Portland Blanc, is a white rose of great beauty; it however rarely opens in our moist climate; a true perpetual rose like it would be invaluable. In rich soils it will, perhaps, give a second series of flowers; but it cannot be depended upon as a constant autumnal bloomer. Prud'homme is a beautiful rose, bright-coloured, fragrant, and a true perpetual. The Royal Perpetual is a seedling from the Four-Seasons Rose; its flowers are very double and perfect, of a fine vivid rose-colour, and the plant a true perpetual. The Stanwell Perpetual, I believe, was raised from seed in Mr. Lee's nursery at Stanwell. It is in habit something like the Scotch Perpetual, but it blooms with more constancy, and with greater freedom. In the autumn its flowers are also larger; in short, it is a much better rose of the same family, and one of the prettiest and sweetest of autumnal roses. The Sixth of June.

so named by the French in commemoration of one of their numerous political changes and "glorious days," is a miniature variety of La Mienne, and a pretty vivid-coloured rose.

Volumineuse is a magnificent rose, very large and finely shaped: but, though it often blooms finely in autumn, it must not be depended upon as a true perpetual: this, with Madame Feburier, is now classed with the Damask roses.

To Perpetual Roses some valuable additions have been made, chiefly of Hybrid Bourbons, which, partaking of the fragrance and hardiness of the Damask Rose, are very desirable, as well as from their blooming so abundantly in the autumn. These roses are termed "Hybrid Perpetuals," and are now described under an article devoted to them. I ought, perhaps, to mention, among Perpetual Roses, a "Striped Crimson Perpetual," or Rose du Roi panachée, which has been introduced from the South of France. The attractive descriptions of this new rose are qualified with the word "inconstant." This rose was produced by a sporting branch of the Rose du Roi; and it is most remarkable that that fine rose has never yet given any seedlings worthy of cultivation. In France it bears seed abundantly, but its produce are, for the most part, varieties partaking largely of rosa gallica; it is, however, like an old and excellent Provence Rose, liable to sport: in this way it produced the Rose Bernard; and recently a very

splendid variety has been originated in the same manner; but, like most good roses, it has more than one name. Rose du Roi à fleurs pourpres is its legitimate appellation. A cultivator in France. un peu de charlatan, named it Mogador, soon after the French victory over the Moors; and, to give it a name pronounceable by English florists, the principal rose growers have agreed to call it, the "Superb Crimson Perpetual." It was last summer, 1845, indeed a most superb rose: colour, brilliant crimson, slightly shaded with purple; shape, cupped and elegant: its flowers were, perhaps, a little more double than those of its parent; and its habit is more robust. Duc d'Enghien, a rose of the palest flesh-colour, nearly white, is a very distinct variety; like all of this family, it is very fragrant: habit, dwarf. Ebène, or the Ebony Rose, is, although not so black as ebony, yet very dark. I have seen it, in fine sunny dry weather, of that beautiful dark velvety colour peculiar to the Tuscany Rose; and this is its character in France. In moist weather, however, it becomes stained with a dingy brown, and it is then really any thing but pretty: it blooms freely in autumn, and gives very double and well-shaped flowers. Indigo, like the above, a new rose, is equally extravagantly named: this was raised from seed by M. Laffay. I have been quite at a loss to conceive how he could by any fair means imagine the colour of this rose to be

indigo; he might certainly, with equal justice, have named it ultramarine, for it is as much like one as the other: in colour it is of a deep slaty purple; flowers, rather flat and not fully double. Laurence de Montmorency is a new and really superb variety; flowers, very large, cupped, finelyshaped, and very double; colour, deep rosy pink, tinted with lilac. I observe that its foliage has lost the downy appearance of the Damask rose; thus showing its departure from the habits of this family; another remove, and it would have been placed with justice among the Hybrid Perpetuals. Madame Thelier is a delicate and pretty rose; colour, pink; flowers, middle-sized; habit, slender; this will, I have no doubt, succeed better on the Boursault stock. Requien, the name of a person, not Requiem, as spelt in some catalogues, is a very desirable rose of this class: flowers, very large, and of the palest rosy blush. Minerva is a new and very robust growing variety, and, like all of this class, it is worthy of notice for its fragrance only; flowers, large; rose tinged with lilac; cupped and well-shaped. Van Mons is also a new rose, and, like the preceding, a true perpetual damask, giving large and very fragrant flowers, deep pink, veined with red; its petals, I observe, are rather flaccid, so that in hot sunny weather they soon fade.

As the culture of this class of roses is at present but imperfectly understood, I shall give the

result of my experience as to their cultivation, with suggestions to be acted upon according to circumstances. One peculiar feature they nearly all possess—a reluctance to root when layered; consequently, Perpetual Roses, on their own roots, will always be scarce: when it is possible to procure them, they will be found to flourish much better on dry poor soils than when budded, as at present. Perpetual Roses require a superabundant quantity of food: it is therefore perfeetly ridiculous to plant them on dry lawns, to suffer the grass to grow close up to their stems, and not to give them a particle of manure for years. Under these circumstances, the best varieties, even the Rose du Roi, will scarcely ever give a second series of flowers. To remedy the inimical nature of dry soils to this class of roses, an annual application of manure on the surface of the soil is quite necessary. The ground must not be dug, but lightly pricked over with a fork in November: after which, some manure must be laid on, about two or three inches in depth, which ought not to be disturbed, except to clean with the hoe and rake, till the following autumn. This, in some situations, in the spring months, will be unsightly: in such cases, cover with some nice green moss, as directed in the culture of Hybrid China Roses. I have said that this treatment is applicable to dry poor soils; but even in good rose soils it is almost necessary; for it will

give such increased vigour, and such a prolongation of the flowering season, as amply to repay the labour bestowed. If the soil is prepared, as directed, they will twice in the year require pruning: in November, when the beds are dressed, and again in the beginning of June. In the November pruning, cut off from every shoot of the preceding summer's growth about two thirds; if they are crowded, remove some of them entirely. If this autumnal pruning is attended to, there will be, early in June, the following summer, a vast number of luxuriant shoots, each crowned with a cluster of buds. Now, as June roses are always abundant, a little sacrifice must be made to ensure a fine autumnal bloom; therefore, leave only half the number of shoots to bring forth their summer flowers, the remainder shorten to about half their length. Each shortened branch will soon put forth buds; and in August and September the plants will again be covered with flowers. In cultivating Perpetual Roses, the faded flowers ought immediately to be removed; for in autumn the petals do not fall off readily, but lose their colour and remain on the plant, to the injury of the forthcoming buds. Though I have recommended Perpetual Roses to be grown on their own roots, in dry soils, yet, on account of the autumnal rains dashing the dirt upon their flowers when close to the ground, wherever it is possible to make budded roses grow, they ought to be preferred; for, on stems from one and a half to two feet in height, the flowers will not be soiled; they are also brought near to the eye, and the plant forms a neat and pretty object.

The Crimson, and, indeed, nearly all the Perpetuals, force admirably; for this purpose, it is better to graft or bud them on the Dog-Rose, as it is so easily excited. It requires, also, but small pot-room; as, previous to potting, its roots may be pruned to within two inches of the stem, and apparently, with advantage; for, if placed in gentle heat, an abundance of fibres are immediately put forth, and the whole plant will soon have an appearance of great vigour. Those who wish for the luxury of forced roses, at a trifling cost, may have them by pursuing the following simple method: - Take a common garden frame, large or small, according to the number of roses wanted; raise it on some posts, so that the bottom edge will be about three feet from the ground at the back of the frame, and two feet in front, sloping to the south. If it is two feet deep, this will give a depth of five feet under the lights, at the back of the frame, which will admit roses on little stems as well as dwarfs. Grafted or budded plants of any of the Perpetual Roses should be potted in October, in a rich compost of equal portions of rotten dung and loam, in pots about eight inches deep, and seven inches over, and plunged in the soil at bottom. The air in the frame may be heated by

linings of hot dung; but care must be taken that the dung is turned over two or three times before it is used, otherwise the rank and noxious steam will kill the young and tender shoots; but the hazard of this may be avoided, by building a wall of turf, three inches thick, from the ground to the bottom edge of the frame. This will admit the heat through it, and exclude the steam. The Perpetual Roses, thus made to bloom early, are really beautiful. They may also be forced in any description of forcing-houses with success, by plunging the pots in old tan, or any substance that will keep their roots cool. It will at once give an idea how desirable these roses are, when it is stated that, by retarding and forcing, they may be made to bloom for eight months in the year.

Perpetual Roses do not bear seed in this country freely, but Louis Philippe may be planted with the Common Bourbon, as may the Rosa Pæstana; they both bear seed abundantly, which would probably give some fine high-coloured varieties. Grande et Belle trained to a south wall, with Gloire de Rosomène, and Lodoiska with the Common Bourbon Rose, would possibly be the parents of some large-flowering and splendid varieties.

An attempt to obtain a Mossy Crimson Perpetual might be made by planting Louis Philippe with the Single Crimson Moss. To roses, and many other gardening operations, the hackneyed motto may justly be applied, "Nil desperandum."

## THE HYBRID PERPETUAL ROSE. (Rosier Hybride Remontante.)

This class has now become so rich in beautiful roses, that a separate notice must be devoted to them. In p. 43. is given the origin of Hybrid China Roses, which, it is well known, bloom but once in the season. Some of these hybrids or mules, unlike many plants of the same description, bear seed freely. These fertile varieties have been crossed with different varieties of China and Bourbons. From seed thus produced we have gained a new race of autumnal roses, bearing abundance of flowers during the whole of the summer and autumn, and now called Hybrid Perpetuals. Certainly a more beautiful and interesting class of roses does not exist; their flowers are large, very double, most fragrant, and produced till the end of October. Their habit is robust and vigorous in a remarkable degree; and, above all, they are perfectly hardy, and will grow well in any climate in Great Britain, however far north; but caution will be required in selecting varieties for cold and damp localities, as those only that open freely should be planted. Some few are fine roses in a dry southern climate, and also when forced; but in a

moist climate they will seldom or never open their I will mention a few that may be chosen without the least fear of disappointment. And first I must name the queen of this family, Madame Laffay; this, like the Crimson Perpetual, in its class, is at present unrivalled; words cannot give the effect of this rose; with its fine large foliage and rosy crimson flowers, it is perfectly beautiful, highly fragrant, and ought to be in every garden. We have a fine contrast in colour in the Duchess of Sutherland, which is a rose of equally luxuriant habits and fine foliage, with flowers of the most perfect shape; colour, delicate rose. One defect this rose has which ought not to be concealed it will not give autumnal flowers constantly, but often makes shoots without a terminal flower-hud. Aubernon is a beautiful brilliant crimson rose, opening freely, and blooming abundantly during the summer and autumn. Of the same prolific habit is Rivers, so named by M. Laffay, who frequently "dedicates" (to use his own expression) roses to his friends. This is a rose of first-rate quality; flowers red, something like Brennus, very large, and produced in clusters of great beauty, flowering profusely all the autumn. Mrs. Elliott is a beautiful free-flowering and freeopening rose, with flowers of light crimson, tinged with lilac. Like some others in this class, barren shoots are often produced in the autumn. William Jesse is a large and superb rose, crimson, with

lilac tinge. This is certainly one of the most beautiful very large roses that exists; its flower's always open freely: like the preceding, every shoot does not give flowers, but with good culture it will bloom well in the autumn. Prudence Ræser is a hybrid noisette, blooming in large clusters, of exceeding beauty, and highly fragrant. As a standard, or as a pillar rose, this variety is peculiarly adapted; its flowers, not full-sized, are of a pale rose, with fawn-coloured centre, and elegantly shaped; every shoot, whether in summer or autumn, seems to give its terminal cluster of Among those roses that open freely, none are more beautiful than Comte d'Eu; it is, strictly speaking, a double dwarf Gloire de Rosomène, from which it was raised: this is a brilliantcoloured and fine variety. Duc d'Aumale is a new and very erect-growing variety, with brilliant crimson flowers of much beauty and remarkable fragrance. To the above free-flowering and freeopening roses may be added Louis Bonaparte, Comte de Paris, and Dr. Marjolin. Among the very finest new roses of this class recently introduced is Baronne Prevost, giving flowers of the largest size of a bright rose-colour, and very fragrant: these are produced abundantly in autumn. Its foliage is also large and rich, and it is, without doubt, one of our finest autumnal roses: if it had been raised at Rome by a Roman, and during the time of one of her luxurious emperors, a crown of laurel would have been accorded to him.

Augustine Mouchelet, a variety entirely opposite to the preceding in colour, is a variety in every respect worthy of notice: in colour it is of a rich shaded crimson; its petals are thick; it therefore forces remarkably well. In the summer of 1845 its flowers were remarkably beautiful. I mention this to warn the amateur that every rose has its season. The finest varieties have occasionally a partial eclipse, so that their flowers, during an entire season, will, to a certain extent, be inferior to their general character.

A charming novelty in this group is Comtesse Duchatel; colour brilliant rose, shape cupped and perfect; her flowers are also large, very double and fragrant. Dr. Marx, a brilliant rosy-carmine rose, of robust and vigorous habit, is well worthy a place in a collection of these fine roses: it blooms freely both in summer and autumn, is very fragrant, and opens well. La Bedoyère, so named from a character in a poem of Lord Byron's, like Comte d'Eu, strikingly resembles in habit Bourbon rose Gloire de Rosomène; is a distinct and beautiful variety, with flowers more double than those of Comte d'Eu, but not quite so brilliant in colour: like that variety, it does not seem to form a good standard, and does not succeed well as a worked dwarf on the Dog Rose. The Manettii stock, or Boursault, should be employed: on either, both these beautiful varieties succeed perfectly.

- Duchesse de Montmorency, with flowers rather

small, of a pale blush; La Bouquetière, giving its bright rose-coloured flowers in large clusters; Coquette de Montmorency, a beautiful cherrycoloured rose; General Merlin, a lovely rosecoloured variety, with flowers finely shaped; Coquette de Bellevue, with flowers of a brilliant rose, slightly mottled; and Clementine Duval, a pretty rose now well known, which blooms in clusters: its flowers are neat and of a bright rose-colour; are of the Bourbon family, partaking largely of the characters of that group: they are all also dwarf, and rather delicate in their growth (unless under the most favourable circumstances of soil and situation), and not well adapted for standards; as worked dwarfs, they require either the Boursault Stock or Rosa Manettii, on either of which they succeed well, and form dwarf bushes of great beauty: De Neuilly is also of this race, and, as a rose for forcing, is really beautiful, as it gives large thick petalled and very fragrant flowers of a clear rose-colour. Owing to their substance, these bear strong heat, and retain their colour a long time: for the open air this variety cannot be recommended. Lady Alice Peel, like all those described in the first paragraphs of this family, is a rose well adapted either for a standard or dwarf. No rose can be imagined more perfect and beautiful. In colour it is of a deep pink, generally veined with red; in shape, finely cupped, full sized, and very double. Marquise Borrella is a rose totally distinct from the preceding: in habit it is dwarf, and yet very robust; its flower-stems are very stiff and erect; colour pale blush; flowers large, very double, and fragrant: this, and Baronne Prevost, were raised from seed by Monsieur Desprez, a rose amateur of high standing in France. This gentleman originated our old favourite, Noisette Jaune Desprez. Marquis of Ailsa is a new variety, raised by M. Laffay. This is a brilliant crimson rose of great beauty; its habit is robust and vigorous, and its flowers very fragrant. Prince of Wales, a most remarkable and vigorous growing variety, gives its flowers in immense clusters: these are of a bright rose, tinted with lilac: this forms a fine standard. Robin Hood is almost equal to Lady Alice Peel in the perfect symmetry of its flowers. This variety appears to have much improved by culture; it is now a rose of some standing, but only within these last two or three years has it shown itself to be really a first-rate variety: it gives its flowers in large clusters, and these are of a deep rosy pink, most beautifully cupped, and very fragrant. Duc d'Isly, a new variety from Lyons, is a remarkable rose for its brilliant colouring, resembling in that respect, and in its being only semidouble, the Hybrid Bourbon, Elizabeth Plantier: it is, however, a free autumnal bloomer, and, I must confess, I value it highly, for I anticipate that it will bear seed freely with us, and I feel almost assured that it will ultimately be the

parent of some English Hybrid Perpetuals, more brilliant in colour than any we yet possess. Centfeuilles Cornet, or Perpetual Provence, is a new variety, with the fragrance and something of the habit of the Provence rose: it is desirable for this quality only; its flowers are of a light rose, very double, and very fragrant. Duc d'Alençon is a very pretty bright pink rose of dwarf habit, not so well adapted for a standard as those described as of vigorous habits. The Manettii, or Boursault Stock, will be found the most eligible for this variety. Mrs. Crips, a new rose of M. Laffay, is a pretty variety, blooming in large clusters: colour, bright rose.

I have now to notice a most levely morçeau of beauty sent from Lyons last season, and now known as the Pompone, or Ernestine de Barante: it is, in truth, a perfect gem, and so entirely distinct from any other in this family that, at first sight, one can scarcely credit that it is a Hybrid Perpetual rose: one must picture to oneself a pretty dwarf bush, like the old Burgundy rose, but with foliage more elegant and not so crowded, covered with the most beautiful pink flowers, quite double, and elegantly cupped; in short, a perfect show rose in miniature; and this elegant plant giving its flowers from June till October. Like other dwarf roses, it will not succeed well as a standard, and seems to flourish on the Manettii stock better than on its own roots.

We have now a new group belonging to this family recently established by M. Vibert: its type is the very old rose known as Belle de Trianon. a semi-double rose with the exact scent of the wild briar or Dog Rose. I have reason to hope that White Hybrid Perpetual Roses will soon be originated from the variety known as Eliza Balcomb, which gives its flowers in clusters: these are under the middle size, nearly white, and have the above peculiar scent. Amanda Pattenotte is a new rose of this race, with bright rose-coloured flowers, globular, and very double: this has the above mentioned fragrance remarkably powerful. The Double Belle de Trianon differs from its parent only in having flowers larger and very double. To some amateurs these roses will be very interesting, for in passing them when in bloom, one is immediately reminded of shady lanes and hedge-rows where, in the "sunny month" of June, the wild briar grows and blooms, and gives its perfume to the gentle breeze.

The following are varieties of first-rate excellence, but cannot be recommended for moist climates; in warm and dry exposures, their flowers will open freely. Clementine Seringe, with flowers large as those of Brown's Superb Blush, and with the same peculiar fragrance as the cabbage rose, is a most superb variety; its flowers are placed on stiff erect foot-stalks; these are of a fine rosy blush: as a forcing rose, this is

invaluable. Reine de la Guillotière is a superb brilliant crimson rose, which, not having opened so freely as usual this wet season (1843), I should not recommend for moist climates: this is a constant autumnal bloomer, and a very fine rose. Prince Albert, in 1842, was splendid everywhere; but, owing to the too abundant moisture of the past seasons, scarcely any of its flowers have opened. So much is this rose influenced by climate, that when I, in the autumn of 1843, visited France, the cultivators of roses would scarcely credit my assertion that it did not in general open well in England: they said it was impossible. When flowering in perfection, it is really beautiful; its flowers quite double, finely shaped, of a deep crimson purple, and remarkably fragrant: as a forcing rose, it is quite unrivalled. Among those roses adapted only for a dry climate or for forcing is Melanie Cornu, a very double and very rich coloured rose of a deep crimson purple, a most admirable forcing rose. Earl Talbot must be ranked also among those roses requiring a very dry climate, and as being excellent for forcing: this is in colour of a deep rose, and its flowers are of the largest size, and very double.

In a visit to Paris (Sept. 30. 1843), I had the pleasure of seeing a new rose of this family, "gained" by M. Laffay from seed, and named La Reine; one of the largest, most perfectly shaped, and, in short, the most beautiful in its range of colour, of any Hybrid Perpetual rose known. I am inclined to judge, from its foliage and habit, that it has a near affinity to William Jesse. Its flowers are quite as large as — I think I may safely say larger than — those of that fine rose. They are most beautifully cupped, and quite double; sometimes, however, too much crowded with petals, so as not to open freely in our climate. Their fragrance is remarkable, having much resemblance to our old favourite the common Cabbage Provence Rose; and in their brilliant rose-colour, slightly, very slightly, tinged with lilac, give a pleasing change, as some varieties in this class have dull and rather sombre-coloured flowers.

All the robust-growing varieties of this family form admirable standards, and are particularly well adapted for planting in rows by the sides of walks, giving them plenty of manure, and the necessary culture required by these roses—removing a portion of their bloom buds in June; thus, if there are ten clusters of bloom making their appearrance, cut off five to within about three buds of the base of each shoot: these will soon push forth, and give fine flowers in August. Constant care should be taken to remove in the same manner all the clusters of blooms as soon as they fade. Louis Bonaparte and a few others are very apt to make barren shoots without terminal flowers. As soon as this can be ascertained, cut all such shoots to within six or eight buds of their base; they will

then, in most cases, give fertile branches: in short, these roses require much summer pruning and attention to make them flower in great perfection in autumn. Madame Laffay, Prudence Ræser, Mrs. Elliott, William Jesse, Dr. Marx, Prince of Wales, and Robin Hood, will, in rich soils, form very fine pillar roses, and be made to flower, with summer pruning, all the autumn.

Raising new varieties of this family from seed presents an extensive field of interest to the amateur; for we have yet to add white, and yellow, and fawn-coloured Hybrid Perpetuals, and these, I anticipate, will be the reward of those who persevere. Monsieur Laffay, by persevering through two or three generations, has obtained a Mossy Hybrid Bourbon rose, and most of the finest varieties described in the foregoing pages. This information will, I trust, be an incentive to amateurs in this country: to illustrate this I may here remark that a vellow Ayrshire rose, now a desideratum, must not be expected from the first trial; but probably a climbing rose, tinged with yellow or buff, may be the fruit of the first crossing. This variety must again be crossed with a yellow rose: the second generation will, perhaps, be nearer the end wished for. Again, the amateur must bring perseverance and skill into action; and then if, in the third generation, a bright yellow climbing rose is obtained, its possession will amply repay the labour bestowed: but these light gardening operations are not labour; they are a delightful amusement to a refined mind, and lead it to reflect on the wonderful infinities of nature.

Madame Laffay is an excellent seed-bearing rose: this may be crossed with the Bourbon Gloire de Rosamène, and with Comte d'Eu. Dr. Marx may be crossed with the Bourbon Paul Joseph, and Marquis of Ailsa with the Bourbon le Grenadier. These should all be planted against a south wall, so that their flowers expand at the same time: all these would probably give some fine autumnal roses, brilliant in colour and very double. I must not, however, forget Duc d'Isly, which may be crossed with Madame Laffay or William Jesse. For fawn-coloured or vellowish and white roses. Duchess of Sutherland with the Tea-scented roses, Victoria and Safrano, and the same with the China rose, Clara Sylvain; for a bright-coloured large rose, William Jesse with the China rose Fabrier. These must all have a south wall. These hints may possibly be considered meagre and incomplete; but I trust it will be seen how much depends upon the enterprise and taste of the cultivator.

# THE BOURBON ROSE. (Rosa Bourboniana.) Rosier de L'Ile Bourbon.

It is now, perhaps, about twelve years since a beautiful semi-double rose, with brilliant rosecoloured flowers, prominent buds, and nearly evergreen foliage, made its appearance in this country, under the name of the "L'Ile de Bourbon Rose," said to have been imported from the Mauritius to France, in 1822, by M. Noisette. It attracted attention by its peculiar habit, but more particularly by its abundant autumnal flowering; still such was the lukewarmness of English rose amateurs, that no attempts were made to improve this pretty, imperfect rose, by raising seedlings from it, though it bore seed in large quantities. This pleasing task has been left to our rose-loving neighbours the French, who have been very industrious, and, as a matter of course, have originated some very beautiful and striking varieties, and also, as usual in such cases, have given us rather too many distinct and fine-sounding names attached to flowers without distinctive In a little time we shall be able characters. to rectify this very common floricultural error. Many fables have been told by the French respecting the origin of this rose. The most generally received version of one of these is, that a French

naval officer was requested by the widow of a Monsieur Edouard, residing in the island, to find, on his voyage to India, some rare rose, and that. on his return to L'Ile de Bourbon, he brought with him this rose, which she planted on her husband's grave: it was then called Rose Edouard, and sent to France as "Rose de L'Ile de Bourbon." This is pretty enough, but entirely devoid of truth. Monsieur Bréon, a French botanist, and now a seedsman in Paris, gives the following account, for the truth of which he vouches: --"At the Isle of Bourbon, the inhabitants generally enclose their land with hedges made of two rows of roses, one row of the Common China Rose, the other of the Red Four-Seasons. sieur Perichon, a proprietor at Saint Benoist, in the Isle, in planting one of these hedges, found amongst his young plants one very different from the other in its shoots and foliage. This induced him to plant it in his garden. It flowered the · following year; and, as he anticipated, proved to be of quite a new race, and differing much from the above two roses, which, at the time, were the only sorts known in the island. Monsieur Bréon arrived at Bourbon in 1817, as botanical traveller for the government of France, and curator of the Botanical and Naturalization Garden there. propagated this rose very largely; and sent plants and seeds of it, in 1822, to Monsieur Jacques\*,

<sup>•</sup> Whence the name often given to the Common Bourbon Rose of "Bourbon Jacques."

gardener at the Château de Neuilly, near Paris, who distributed them among the rose cultivators of France." M. Bréon named it "Rose de L'Ile de Bourbon;" and is convinced that it is a hybrid from one of the above roses, and a native of the island. Owing to the original being a hybrid, the roses of this family vary much in their characters; those that retain the leading features I have termed true Bourbons. I shall now notice and describe a few of the most striking and distinct varieties of this very charming group; and begin with Armosa, very double and perfect in the shape of its flowers, which are of a delicate rosecolour: the plant is of medium growth. Augustine Lelieur is a charming rose, a true Bourbon, so vivid and so beautiful that it cannot be too much recommended: its flowers are very erect and bell-shaped, and as fine in October as in June. Dubourg is a hybrid Bourbon, of a different character to the last, as it is very robust and makes long shoots, generally terminated by fine clusters of flowers; in rich soils this will make a fine pillar-rose. Faustine is now an old variety, but a very pretty little rose, very dwarf in its habit, with flowers of that silvery pale blush, so peculiar to some varieties in this group.

Gloire de Rosamène is a hybrid of most remarkable habits. Its large foliage, luxuriant growth, and beautiful semi-double crimson flowers, make it one of the most desirable of this division; but

not for grouping, as it outgrows all its congeners. As a pillar rose it will form a splendid object; indeed, I cannot imagine any thing more imposing in floriculture than a pillar, from twelve to fifteen feet high, covered with the splendid flowers of this rose from June till October: it will also form a fine standard. Gloire de Guerin, like the last, departs from the characters of the group; but, like all that I have retained, it has the pleasing feature of autumnal flowering. This is a dwarf rose, adapted for the front of the rose border: its habit is, however, too delicate for general culture. Ida is also a beautiful rose, with small flowers, of a deep carmine. The plant is dwarf, yet possesses all the characters of the true Bourbon Roses in the prominency of its buds, and in its foliage. Latifolia is a fine bold rose, much like Augustine Lelieur in its colour and habit: a good rose, but not required in a collection where that rose is grown. Madame Desprez: this fine and robust rose has never yet bloomed so beautifully in this country as during the autumn of 1837: its large clusters of very double flowers were indeed superb. Monsieur Desprez raised it from seed about twelve years since. It is, most probably, a little hybridised with the Noisette Rose. as it blooms in larger clusters than any other Bourbon Rose. Psyché is a very remarkable rose, a hybrid of humble growth, with double pale pink flowers, of the most perfect shape.

Queen of the Bourbons is a fine variety, and very beautiful. Its flowers are of a vivid light rose-colour, a little tinged with buff, very large and double. Phænix is nearly a true Bourbon Rose, of a fine rosy red.

Rivers, so named by a French rose cultivator, who raised it from seed, is a pretty delicate rose, a true Bourbon; and called by the originator an "extra fine rose:" it has not yet bloomed here well enough to support that character. Thimocles is a large and fine rose, very double, and a genuine Bourbon, of luxuriant growth, and distinct character. The White Bourbon, or Julie de Lovnes. was raised from seed by Monsieur Desprez, who annually raises immense numbers of Bourbon and other roses from seed, to procure new varieties. This rose is a little hybridised with the Noisette, which has given it a clustered character, and, unfortunately, taken from its flowers that bold and peculiar shape, so beautiful in the Bourbon The French cultivators were at strife respecting this rose when it was first raised; some swearing, by all their saints, that it was a veritable Bourbon, while others as stoutly maintaining that it was a Noisette Rose. An Englishman, after listening to such warm disputants (Frenchmen generally are), and to so "much ado about nothing," cannot help smiling at such violent altercation, and their making a trifle " light as air" a matter of such grave importance.

A few very remarkable additions have been made to this family since the publication of the first edition of this little work; which, were it not for the endless variations in flowers in which we find pleasure, would seem to leave us nothing more to wish for in Bourbon Roses. Dark crimson varieties, with double and finely-shaped flowers, were desiderata, but are so no longer; for in "Le Grand Capitaine," perhaps so named, in compliment to our "Great Captain," we have one of the most brilliant Crimson Scarlet Roses known: this seems a seedling from Gloire de Rosomène, as it has the same serrated foliage and habit. Splendens, or Crimson Madame Desprez and the Crimson Globe, seem to be all that can be wished for: they are both of the most robust habits, they bloom constantly, and their flowers open freely. These are of a rich purplish crimson: the latter is the deepest in colour. The first will form a fine pillar rose, and as a standard it equals in luxuriance of growth the most robust of our Bourbon Roses. Madame Nérard, as a pale rose-coloured variety, is most perfect in the shape of its flowers; and Desgaches, a fine rose-coloured variety, blooming in large clusters, is equally beautiful and quite first-rate. Bouquet de Flore, and Emile Courtier, are true Bourbons, and most perfect and beautiful varieties, with large and double flowers of a deep rose-colour.

Among the novelties in Bourbon Roses, one of

the most remarkable is Madame Lacharme, a rose raised at Lyons, and named after the wife of a rose cultivator there; this may with justice be called White Madame Desprez; it produces its beautiful white flowers, the outer petals of which are slightly tinged with blush, in large clusters, and has the same robust habit as that above fine and well-known rose; this will undoubtedly be a most popular variety; in fine contrast to the above are two new dark crimson Bourbons, Proserpine and Paul Joseph; these are both of robust and luxuriant growth, producing their flowers on erect foot-stalks; foliage large, thick, and of a deep glossy green, flowers of the most brilliant crimson, slightly shaded with purple; the latter is possibly the darker of the two; but it is really difficult to say which one would prefer. Proserpine is, however, the dwarfer rose, as it forms a dense and compact bush. Comice de Seine et Marne is also a new variety, with flowers of the most brilliant crimson, not quite so deep in colour as the beforementioned, and not tinted with purple; this is a most splendid rose. Enfant d'Ajaccio, or Souvenir d'Anselme, is a rose of precisely the habit of Gloire de Rosomène, with flowers of the same colour, but quite double; this is a beautiful and very fragrant rose.

So much has this family become the fashion, that, owing to the attention bestowed upon it by the French cultivators, we have now a crowd of new varieties, so that my prediction, (in p. 143. of the third edition,) "that we shall ultimately have the richest hues combined with perfection of form," is amply fulfilled. M. Souchet, an amateur living near Paris, has been very fortunate in raising some very fine varieties: like Proserpine, these are all slightly hybridised with the China rose, so that they are all inclined to be dwarf and bushy. The following are the finest of these new roses. Charles Souchet, a most brilliant crimson, and first-rate variety. Dumont de Courset, dark crimson, much like Paul Joseph, and not required where that rose is cultivated. George Cuvier, a charming light cherry-coloured variety, with elegant cupped flowers, a most distinct and beautiful rose. Gloire de Paris, a magnificent rose with large and very double flowers, in colour dark crimson tinted with Madame Souchet, a beautiful lightpurple. blush rose, often margined with red flowers, large and very double, Souchet, equal to Gloire de Paris in size and shape, and differing but slightly in colour, is also an admirable rose.

Souvenir de Dumont d'Urville, the last of these creations of M. Souchet, is a brilliant and beautiful variety: its flowers are not so large as those of the preceding; in colour they are of a peculiar bright red, changing to purplish crimson; all these varieties form dwarf bushes of great beauty; they are not adapted for tall standards, for, after

the first year, they grow rather slowly; as dwarfs; they succeed well on their own roots; but, in common with all the Bourbon roses, better when budded on the Boursault Stock, or the Celine, itself a Hybrid Bourbon: on these stocks they grow and bloom with admirable luxuriance.

A few new Bourbon roses, adapted for pillars, or for forming large standards, have lately been introduced. Amenaide is a rose of this character, with large and robust foliage, and large and very double flowers, of a light rose-colour. Cardinal Fesch, with flowers nearly purple, is remarkable for its colour: this is also a robust and vigorous growing variety. Impératrice Josephine is a most beautiful rose, of the same habit as Madame Lacharme, giving her flowers in immense clusters: these are of a delicate pink. Le Grenadier is a most brilliant variety; vigorous in habit as the preceding, and well adapted for forming a pillar in contrast with it: in colour it is of a brilliant crimson, almost scarlet. Triomphe de la Guillotine, if possible, surpasses all the above in vigour, as it will make shoots in one season six feet in length; these are terminated by large clusters of flowers, which are large and of a deep rosy red.

Alfred is also one of the vigorous growing roses, which will form a fine pillar; in colour it is of a rosy red, and a distinct and good rose. Lavinic D'Ost and Virgil differ but slightly in the colour

of their flowers, which are large, of a pale rosecolour, and very double: these are both most vigorous growers. Madame Aubis, or "Hobitz," has equally large flowers, of a deeper rose-colour, with a similar vigorous habit of growth; in common with Madame Desprez, Julie de Loynes, Splendens, and Madame Lacharme, all these vigorous growing Bourbon roses will form fine objects to train up a column; they will, also, if worked on very stout and vigorous stocks, and cultivated in a superior manner, make fine heads as standards, but they must have annually in autumn nearly a wheelbarrowful of manure placed on the surface round each standard, to be washed into the soil by the rains of winter, and then in March the ground should be lightly stirred with a fork, and a fresh supply added to keep the roots moist during summer: this may be hidden with moss or flints; in no case should the turf ever be allowed to grow within at least one foot of the stem of a standard rose on a lawn: in other words, the circle by which the tree must be fed should be not less than two feet in diameter; and this circle, whether on the lawn or terrace, must have a supply of surface manure in autumn and in spring. In dry summers, manured water, either made with guano, 2 lbs. \* to 12 gallons, or from the drains from the stable

<sup>\*</sup> This is too powerful for plants in pots; 1 lb. to 12 gallons will be enough for that purpose.

diluted may be given once or twice a week; if the surface is well covered, as above directed, this will be highly efficacious: standards of these vigorous growing Bourbon roses will well repay the amateur for the extra culture given.

Among the Bourbon roses of moderate growth, such as the Queen and the new varieties of M. Souchet, we have a few pale roses of much beauty; they differ but little, and yet they are different: the eye can distinguish, but the pen cannot describe. Of these Anne Beluze, Le Camée, Reine du Congrés, and Comtesse de Resseguier, have all been raised by M. Beluze of Lyons, and I presume from the same stock, — viz. Madame Nérard: like that very fine and well-known rose, they are all of the most delicate pinky blush, and all bear their flowers on erect flower-stems. Premices de Charpennes, a new variety, is also of this race, and much like them in colour.

We owe also to M. Beluze that most beautiful variety, Souvenir de la Malmaison, which gives flowers of enormous size, often measuring five inches in diameter; these are of the palest blush, slightly tinted with rose and pale fawn, or rather cream-colour. This variety is the result of a cross with the Tea-scented rose, of which it largely partakes, and is not quite so hardy as the generality of those roses. Reine des Vierges is also a new rose from Lyons, evidently of the same family as the preceding; her flowers are not, how-

ever, of virgin-white, but they are still more pale than those of the Souvenir, not quite so large, but more regular and elegant in their shape. A new variety of the same family as the Queen of the Bourbons, and of the same habit, deserves our especial notice: this has been introduced under the name of Madame Angelina; her flowers are full-sized, quite double, finely shaped, and of a lovely fawn-colour, tinted with rose and cream. Madame is, indeed, perfectly unique. Deuil de Duc d'Orleans is one of the darkest roses of this family: in colour, it is of the deepest velvet-crimson, but its flowers are thin and irregular in shape.

Marquis de Moyria and Menoux are two new brilliant red varieties; the latter, in colour, to quote the language of its raiser, "tirant sur l'écarlate," is most beautiful, and Vicomte de Cussy, a bright cherry-coloured new rose, will be found a charming and brilliant variety: these are all of moderate growth, adapted for bushes or low standards: indeed, all the roses of this family that are at all vivid in colour are so in a remarkable degree: they have a glossy brilliancy that is quite delightful.

In the preceding notices of sorts I have purposely mentioned the habits of those that deviate a little from the characters of the generality; in forming a clump, it will therefore be seen which to place in the front, and which in the centre:

several varieties in the catalogue not noticed here are equal in beauty to those that are; but as their habits have nothing particularly distinctive, I have, to avoid being tedious, not described them.

All the varieties noticed in the foregoing pages as of moderate growth form beautiful bushes on their own roots, or budded on the Boursault or Celine stocks; they are also very beautiful as dwarf standards, i.e. on stems from eighteen inches to two feet in height, on the Dog Rose, and also, as low standards, on stems from three to three and a half feet in height; they cannot be cultivated with success on very tall stems; even as low standards, they require the high culture recommended in p. 164. For the window gardens, mentioned in Gardener's Chronicle, No. XIX. 1846, all the varieties of moderate growth and bushy habits will be admirably adapted; such as Augustine Lelieur, the Queen, Proserpine, Anne Beluze, Souchet, Charles Souchet, George Cuvier, &c. &c.; these with their rich foliage, beautiful and perfect flowers, and ever-blooming habits, need but a passing word of recommendation: indeed, all the varieties described in the foregoing paragraphs are most desirable for pot culture, the vigorous growers for the back-ground of a mass, and those of moderate and dwarf habits for the front; they all force well, but, it must be confessed, that the Hybrid and Damask Perpetuals are most desirable for that purpose on account of the almost unrivalled

fragrance of their flowers. Acidalie, a rose which I have omitted to describe, is, however, a charming forcing rose: its finely shaped large white flowers, *gently* tinted with a faint blush, have a delightful fruity perfume.

To have beds of these beautiful roses on their own roots, take out the soil nine inches or a foot in depth, stir the subsoil about the same depth with a strong three-pronged fork, and then fill up with good stable manure, about half rotted; tread this down firmly, and place on it two inches of light sandy loam, or very light garden mould, then plant in the usual way: absolute perfection of growth will be attained. The same mode should be adopted in making beds for China, Tea-scented, and Hybrid Perpetual roses on their own roots. Excess of vigour will in all these give abundance of flowers. Bourbon roses seem to grow well in all soils; but I should recommend those who have only a dry and poor sandy soil, to have plants on their own roots, or worked on the Boursault or Celine stocks, as the Dog-Rose will not flourish in such soils; though cultivated roses in soils of the same description will grow most luxuriantly. Nature often seems to delight to puzzle us gardeners with anomalies that cannot be fathomed, clever as we are in our generation. Why should a tame or cultivated rose flourish in soils unfavourable to the free denizen of the woods?

These roses require but little pruning; towards

the end of March or beginning of April their shoots may be thinned, those that are killed by the winter removed, and long shoots shortened to within four or five buds.

I hope, in a few years, to see Bourbon Roses in every garden, for the "queen of flowers" boasts no members of her court more beautiful: their fragrance also is delicate and pleasing, more particularly in the autumn; they ought to occupy a distinguished place in the autumnal rose garden. in clumps or beds, as standards, and as pillars, in any, and in all situations, they must and will please. To ensure a very late autumnal bloom, a collection of dwarf standards. i. e. stems one to two feet in height, should be potted in large pots, and during summer watered with manured water, and some manure kept on the surface; towards the end of September or the middle of October, if the weather is wet, they may be placed under glass: they will bloom in fine perfection even as late as November.

It is difficult to point out roses of this family that bear seed freely, except the Common Bourbon; but Acidalie, planted against a south wall, would probably give some seed. If any pollen can be found, it might be fertilised with the flowers of Julie Loynes. A pure white and true Bourbon rose ought to be the object; therefore it should not be hybridised with any other species. Gloire de Rosomène may be planted against a south wall,

with the Common Bourbon, with which it should be carefully fertilised: some interesting varieties may be expected from seed thus produced. Queen of the Bourbons, planted with the yellow China Rose, might possibly give some seeds; but those would not produce true Bourbon roses, as the former is a hybrid, partaking of the qualities of the Tea-scented roses. Dubourg, planted with Madame Nérard, would give seed from which some very delicate Blush roses might be raised; and Phænix, fertilised with the Common Bourbon, would also probably produce seed worthy attention.

# THE CHINA ROSE.

(Rosa Indica.)

Rosier Bengale.

This rose is said by botanists to be a native of China, from whence it was introduced to our gardens in 1789. Its ever-blooming qualities have made it a favourite, from the cottage to the palace; and perhaps no plants have contributed so much to enliven our cottage walls as the common China Rose (Rosa Indica), and the crimson China Rose, (Rosa semperflorens). These roses have been, and are, considered distinct species by botanists. Like all other cultivated roses, they sport much from seed; but the descendants of each may

generally be recognised by a close observer. The common and its varieties make strong green luxuriant shoots, with flowers varying in colour from pure white to crimson. The crimson also takes a wide range; for though its original colour is crimson, yet I have reason to believe that the pure white, which was raised in Essex, came from its seed. In describing the varieties, those that are decidedly of the Semperflorens family I shall mark with S. after the name. I should most certainly have placed them in a separate division, were it not for the numerous intermediate varieties, in which it is impossible to decide to which species they lean.

Alba elegans, though not white, as its name implies, is a fine double rose of the palest flesh-colour, and a good distinct variety. Archduke Charles is a new rose, and very beautiful. Soon after expansion. the tips of most of its petals change to crimson, giving it a pretty variegated appearance. Archinto and Bardon are both pale-coloured fine roses, very double and good, but resembling each other too much to be planted in the same bed. Beau Carmin, S., is a rich dark crimson-shaded rose, raised in the Luxembourg Gardens, and a fine and distinct variety. Belle de Florence is a very double and finely-shaped pale carmine rose, very distinct and pretty. Belle Isidore, like a few others in this division, is a changeable rose; its flowers will open in the morning, and show only

the colour of the common China Rose, but by the afternoon they will have changed to a dark crimson. Camellia blanche is an old variety, with large globular flowers of the purest white: this rose has a fine effect on a standard, as its flowers are generally pendulous. Camellia rouge is also an old variety, not differing in colour from the common, but with stiff petals and very erect flowers, giving it a Camellia-like appearance. Cameléon, like Belle Isidore, is a changeable rose, and very properly named: this has larger flowers than Isidore, though not quite so double, and a more robust habit, so that it forms a good standard. The two finest varieties of these mutable roses are Archduke Charles and Virginie; during their change they are often variegated like a carnation, and are truly beautiful. Cramoisie éblouissante, S., and Cramoisie supérieure, S., the last, the finest, and most double, are both brilliant and excellent varieties of Rosa semperflorens. Duchess of Kent, S., is quite a gem: so perfect is the shape of its very double and delicately coloured flowers, that it must and will become a favourite. Fabvier, S., approaches nearer to scarlet than any other China Rose; its flowers are not quite double, but very brilliant and beautiful. Grandiflora is one of the most robust and finest of its class; it a little resembles that well-known rose, Triomphante, or Pæony Noisette, but has larger and more globularshaped flowers: this is a fine and distinct variety,

and forms a good standard. Henry the Fifth, S., is one of those vivid scarlet roses that in calm cloudy weather are so beautiful; a hot sun very soon diminishes that excessive brilliancy of colour: this is a fine rose, with flowers very double and perfect. Joseph Deschiens has rather small but very double and perfect flowers of a reddish crimson; this is a variety quite distinct, and worth cultivation. Louis Philippe d'Angers, S., is a good rose, which having often been sent from France as "Louis Philippe," has given rise to several mistakes, as there is a Tea-scented rose of this name, quite different in character, for which this has been substituted. Madame Desprez and Madame Bureau are both fine white roses, yet distinct in their habit. Madame Desprez is one of the finest white China Roses we possess; it is, however, delicate and difficult to cultivate. Marjolin is a fine dark crimson variety, likely to prove one of our most popular roses; but it is proper to mention that there are two Marjolins: this trick of giving the same name to two roses raised by opposition cultivators is very prevalent in France, and opens a door to deception; the Marjolin described here is a fine and distinct rose, robust and hardy, and likely to form a good standard. Napoléon is a sterling good variety, with large bell-shaped flowers of a fine bright pink. Roi des Cramoisies, S., is a beautiful and brilliant rose, with flowers very double and nearly

scarlet. Rubens or Ruban pourpre is a new and splendid rose from the Luxembourg Gardens: this is one of the finest shaded dark roses known. Romaine Desprez is a beautiful and very double and large rose, finely shaped, of robust habit, distinct, and calculated to make a popular variety. Reine de Pæstum approaches the Tea Rose in habit and scent; its petals are too thin and flaccid to bear exposure to our summer and autumnal Sulphurea superba is a fine and very double variety of the yellow Chinese or Tea Rose: its flowers are large, rather flat, and quite unique; it is, however, delicate and tender. Triomphe de Gand is a shaded rose of very robust growth, forming a fine standard. omphante, Pæony, Noisette, Indica superba, La Superbe, or Grande et Belle - for, like all very good and old roses, it has several names - is a fine and distinct variety, erect and robust in its growth, and forming a fine standard; an entire clump of this rose, with its large, shaded, crimson flowers, would have a fine effect.

New China Roses are raised with such facility in France that it is difficult to cultivate and describe all that are introduced. In list No. II., I have given the new and most desirable varieties, but to a few I ought to give a word or two of praise.

As a white China Rose, Clara Sylvain is quite unequalled; it grows so freely, its flowers are so globular, and it gives them in such abundance,

that it must be a favourite. Miellez is pretty from its erect clusters of flowers, something like Aimée Vibert Noisette; but they are not double enough to compete with Clara Sylvain. Eugène Hardi, and Mrs. Bosanquet are both beautiful roses of their class: their colours are of the most delicate blush or flesh colour. Augustine Hersent, although not a new rose, is not enough known; it is one of the very finest bright rose-coloured China Roses we possess, and of most hardy and luxuriant habits. Fénélon (Desprez) is a deep rose-coloured variety, with erect clusters of flowers, which are large and very double. Prince Charles and Eugène Beauharnais are two Luxembourg\* roses of great excellence: their flowers are large and globular, the latter is the deeper in colour; it indeed rivals Cramoisie supérieure in the perfect shape and doubleness of its flowers, which are of a fine crimson, tinted with amaranth, the colour of the Globe Amaranthus: bright rosy red will perhaps convey the colour of the first-named, which is a brilliant and beautiful rose. In Aimée Plantier we have quite a new shade of colour; in this group her flowers are large, very double, and of a bright fawn colour tinted with blush. Assuérus is a curious rose not very double, and changing from crimson to nearly black in dry weather. Carmine superbe, or Carmine de Yébles, raised by M. Desprez, is

<sup>\*</sup> Raised in the gardens of the Luxembourg, by M. Hardy.

a most brilliant carmine rose, like Fabvier, not very double, but admirably adapted for a group. Madame Bréon is one of the very finest China Roses we possess; with flowers very large and double, perfectly shaped, and of a brilliant rose-colour: in truth, it cannot be too highly recommended. Sully is also a new rose of great beauty; in colour of a pale rose, slightly tinted with fawn; flowers large, finely cupped, very double. Tancréde is a new variety, quite unique in habit: it is a hybrid of the Bourbon Rose, and of vigorous and robust growth; it gives its flowers in great profusion all the season; these are of a deep red, very double, and beautiful.

In cultivating China Roses but little care is required, as most of them are quite hardy; all those marked S., as varieties of Rosa semperflorens, are adapted for the front edges of beds or clumps, as they are of more humble growth than the varieties of the Common. It must also be recollected that the latter are those alone adapted for standards. The varieties of Rosa semperflorens, though they will exist for several years on the Dog Rose stock, yet do not form ornamental heads, but become stinted and diseased; on the contrary. the varieties of the China Rose, as standards. particularly on short stems two to three feet in height, form magnificent heads swelling and uniting with the stock, and giving a mass of bloom from June to November; on tall stems I

have not found them flourish equally. About the end of March, not earlier, the branches of standards will require thinning out, and shortening to about half their length; in summer, a constant removal of their faded flowers is necessary, and this is all the pruning they require.

China Roses are better adapted than almost any other class for forming groups of separate colours. Thus, for beds of white roses, which, let it be remembered, will bloom constantly from June till October, Clara Sylvain and Madame Bureau are beautiful; the former is the taller grower, and should be planted in the centre of the bed; for crimson, take Cramoisie Superieure; no other variety approaches this in its peculiar richness of colour; for scarlet, Fabvier; for red, Prince Charles and Carmin Superbe; for deep crimson, Eugene Beauharnais; for blush, Cels Multiflora, Napoléon, and Mrs. Bosanquet; the latter should be planted in the centre of the bed; for a variegated group, changeable as the camelion, take Archduke Charles, Etna, and Virginie; for rose, Augustine Hersent and Madame Bréon. I picture to myself the above on a well-kept lawn, their branches pegged to the ground, so as to cover the entire surface, and can scarcely imagine any thing more chaste and beautiful. All the select varieties described in this article will be found desirable for pot-culture: they are more hardy, and bloom more abundantly, in a lower temperature, than the Tea-scented Roses, and are thus admirably adapted for the "window garden."

Every well-appointed flower garden ought to have a collection of China Roses worked on short stems in large pots: these, by surface manuring, and manured water, may be grown to a degree of perfection of which they have not yet been thought capable; and, by forcing in spring, retarding in autumn, and removing their bloombuds in August, they will flower early and late, so that we may be reminded of that pleasant season "rose-tide" the greater portion of the year.

To succeed in making these roses bear and ripen their seed in this country, a warm dry soil and south wall are necessary; or, if the plants are trained to a flued wall, success would be more certain. If variegated China Roses could be orginated they would repay the care bestowed. This is not too much to hope for, and, perhaps, by planting Camellia Panaché with Miellez. Cameléon with Camellia Blanc, and Etna with Napoléon, seeds will be procured from which shaded and striped flowers may reasonably be expected. Eugène Beauharnais with Fabrier would probably produce first-rate brilliant coloured Triomphante, by removing a few of the small central petals just before their flowers are expanded, and fertilising them with pollen from Fabvier or Henry the Fifth, would give seed; and, as the object ought to be in this family to have large flowers with brilliant colours and plants of hardy robust habits, no better union can be formed. China Roses, if blooming in an airy greenhouse, will often produce fine seed; by fertilising their flowers it may probably be ensured. In addition, therefore, to those planted against a wall, some strong plants of the above varieties should be grown in pots in the greenhouse.

#### THE TEA-SCENTED CHINA ROSE.

(Rosa Indica odorata.)

### Rosier Thé.

The original Rosa odorata, or Blush Teascented Rose, has long been a favourite. This pretty variation of the China Rose was imported from China in 1810; from hence it was sent to France, where, in combination with the yellow China or Tea Rose, it has been the fruitful parent of all the splendid varieties we now possess. Mr. Parkes introduced the yellow variety from China in 1824; and even now, though so many fine varieties have been raised, but few surpass it in the size and beauty of its flowers, semi-double as they are: it has but a very slight tea-like scent,

but its offspring have generally a delicious fragrance, which I impute to their hybridisation with Rosa odorata. In France the yellow Tea Rose is exceedingly popular, and in the summer and autumn months hundreds of plants are sold in the flower markets of Paris, principally worked on little stems or "mi-tiges." They are brought to market in pots, with their heads partially enveloped in coloured paper in such an elegant and effective mode, that it is scarcely possible to avoid being tempted to give two or three francs for such a pretty object. In the fine climate of Italy Tea-scented Roses bloom in great perfection during the autumn: our late autumnal months are often too moist and stormy for them; but in August they generally flower in England very beautifully. I was much impressed in the autumn of 1835 with the effects of climate on these roses: for in a small enclosed garden at Versailles I saw, in September, hundreds of plants of yellow Tea Roses covered with ripe seeds and flowers. The French cultivators say, that it very rarely produces a variety worth notice. The culture of Tea-scented Roses is quite in its infancy in this country, but surely no class more deserves care and attention; in calm weather, in early autumn, their large and fragrant flowers are quite unique, and add much to the variety and beauty of the autumnal rose garden.

Among the most distinct varieties known to

be worth culture, for many new Tea-roses from France will not flourish in our climate, are the following:—

Aurore, an old but fine rose, a hybrid of the yellow China and Rosa odorata, and partaking of both, for its flowers are, when first open, of a delicate straw colour, soon changing to blush. Caroline, a pretty rose, with flowers very double, of a bright rose colour, and very perfect in their shape. Goubault is a most excellent rose, as it is remarkably robust and hardy, and will probably form a fine standard. Hardy, or Gloire de Hardy, is a most superb vivid rose of the largest size, of most luxuriant growth, and well calculated for a standard: this will be one of our popular Tea Roses. Hamon is also a very fine rose, but rather too delicate for the open borders: this is a changeable variety; sometimes its flowers are blush tinged with buff, and sometimes, when forced, they are of a deep crimson. Lyonnais is a very large pale flesh-coloured rose, hardy, and worthy the attention of the amateur. Mansais is a rose in colour something like Noisette Jaune Desprez, but not constantly so: this is a fine rose. Palavicini has been much admired and also much depreciated, owing to the different appearances it has taken under cultivation. On its own roots, and in a weak state, it is poor and insignificant, looking like a bad variety of the yellow China Rose; but when budded on a strong

branch of the Common China or the Blush Boursault, it will bloom in a splendid manner, so as to appear quite a different rose: a branch budded a few years ago, and blooming very finely on the wall of the council room at the Horticultural Society, attracted much attention. I believe it is of Italian origin, as many fine Tea-scented and China Roses are raised from seed annually in Italy. Princesse Marie is one of the finest roses in this group. I saw this variety blooming in Paris in June (1837), in greater perfection than any other Tea Rose: its flowers were from four to five inches in diameter. Pactolus is a yellow rose, of a pale sulphur, approaching to a bright yellow in the centre of the flower: this proves robust and hardy, and one of the best vellow Tea Roses known. Silène is a robust and hardy variety, with large shaded red and blush flowers, very double: this will make a fine standard, and grow in any situation. Strombio is now an old rose, but no variety can be more deserving of cultivation; when growing on a standard, its large and pendulous cream-coloured flowers are quite beautiful. Taglioni is a full sized, fine creamy rose, shaded with blush towards its centre. and a hardy and good variety. Triomphe du Luxembourg has made some noise in Paris; in the autumn of 1835 it was sold at thirty or forty francs per plant; it does not bloom quite so fine in this country as in France; but under any circumstances it is a fine and distinct variety: its colour is rose very peculiarly tinged with yellowish buff. The yellow Tea or yellow China Rose, for they are one and the same, is placed here, as it has decidedly more of the habit and appearance of the Tea-scented Rose than of the China: its smooth glossy leaves and faint odour of tea sufficiently show its affinity.

To these some varieties of extraordinary beauty have been added, among which Elisa Sauvage, a fine straw-coloured rose, of rather a deeper tinge than the Yellow Tea, with flowers very large and double, richly deserves cultivation. Princesse Hélène of the Luxembourg is also a fine rose, of the same range of colour, but paler, with very large globular flowers. Duchesse de Mecklenbourg is of a more creamy yellow, and really a most beautiful rose.

Belle Allemande may be described as a creamy fawn-coloured rose. The blending of the colours in these roses is difficult to describe: this is also a fine rose, and apparently very hardy and robust. It may generally be calculated that Tea Roses are less vivid in our moist climate than in France. Comte Osmond is a beautiful cream-coloured rose, very double and perfect in its flowers.

In rose-coloured varieties we have two or three very superb. Gigantesque, a Luxembourg Rose, is one of the largest Tea Roses we possess, and richly deserves its name. Bougère is a most sin-

gular and beautiful rose; its flowers are of a fine rose-colour, often slightly shaded with bronze, and of first-rate form and quality.

Some very beautiful roses of this class have been introduced since the publication of the second edition, among which Devoniensis takes a high rank. This is not yellow, as was at first supposed, but of a fine creamy white; and, when cultivated highly, produces flowers of an immense size: for forcing, this is a most valuable rose, and highly fragrant. Comte de Paris is also a magnificent variety, with finely-cupped flowers of pale rose colour. This variety opens freely in any situation, and is very hardy and robust. Josephine Malton, equally hardy and robust, is a rose of the first class, having large and elegantly-formed cupped flowers; colour creamy white. Adam is one of the very largest roses in this family: its flowers are not so regularly shaped as the above; colour rose, very fragrant, and showy. Moiré, a fawn-coloured variety, shaded with cream and rose, has petals of remarkable substance, so that it withstands heat much better than most in this class: this is a first-rate and beautiful rose. Safrano, like the old yellow Tea Rose, is most beautiful in bud, and, when half expanded, its flowers are then of the brightest saffron; but, when fully open and exposed to the sun, they soon fade to nearly white.

Among our new varieties of this class Adam is

one of the finest; its flowers are very large, cupped, of the most perfect shape, very double, in colour fine glossy rose, and very fragrant.

Julie Mansais, a white rose with the centre of the flower yellow, is, like the preceding, a most superb rose; her flowers are very large, globular, and very fragrant. Marie de Médicis, a Luxembourg rose, apparently of the same race as Triomphe du Luxembourg, is a variety quite firstrate: in colour a bright rose, shaded with fawn; flowers globular, and very large and double.

Marshal Bugeaud is a new and splendid variety, with a remarkably robust and vigorous habit; its shoots are covered with large thorns: they are stout and erect, and altogether unlike any other rose of this class; its flowers are of a bright rose colour, large, cupped, finely shaped, and very double; and, like all in this family, they are highly fragrant. Mondor and Nisida are two bright fawn-coloured roses, or rather fawn shaded with rose; the former is the larger rose; the latter is remarkable for the almost perfect globular shape of its flowers. Niphetos is almost gigantic in the size of its flowers, which are pure white, often irregular in shape, but inclining to the globular. Princesse Adelaide is a new rose raised by Monsieur Hardy, at the Luxembourg Garden: this is deeper in colour than our old yellow Tea Rose, and is a decided improvement on that celebrated variety. Our Princesse gives us flowers very

double, large, and nicely cupped. Victoria, as she doubtless ought to be, is more imposing than the preceding; her fine pale yellow flowers are longer, more globular, but perhaps not quite so double.

As these interesting roses require more care in their culture than any yet described, I will endeavour to give the most explicit directions I am able, so as to insure at least a chance of success. One most essential rule must be observed in all moist soils and situations; when grown on their own roots they must have a raised border in some warm and sheltered place. This may be made with flints or pieces of rock in the shape of a detached rock border, or a four-inch cemented brick wall, one foot or eighteen inches high, may be built on the southern front of a wall, thick hedge, or wooden fence, at a distance so as to allow the border to be two feet wide; the earth of this border must be removed to eighteen inches in depth, nine inches filled up with pieces of bricks, tiles, stones, or lime rubbish: on this, place a layer of compost, half loam or garden mould, and half rotten dung well mixed, to which add some river or white pit-sand: this layer of mould ought to be a foot thick or more, so as to allow for its settling: the plants may be planted about two feet apart. In severe frosty weather, in the dead of winter, (you need not begin till December,) protect them with green furze or whin branches, or any kind of light spray that will admit the air

and yet keep off the violence of severe frost. have found the branches of furze the best of all protectors. With this treatment they will seldom receive any injury from our severest winters, and they will bloom in great perfection all summer. This is the culture they require if grown as low dwarfs on their own roots; but perhaps the most eligible mode for the amateur is, to grow them budded or grafted on low stems of the Dog Rose, or Blush Boursault, which seems, if possible, even a more congenial stock; they may be then arranged in the beds of any flower-garden, and graduate in height so as to form a bank of foliage and flowers. Grafted or budded plants, when established, will in general brave our severest winters; but still it will be most prudent, in November, either to remove them to some warm shed, and lay their roots in damp mould, or to reduce their heads and give each plant an oiled paper cap.\* This is a mode practised in the north of Italy with great success, to protect their tender roses and other plants; and though paper caps may not

<sup>\* &</sup>quot;If these beautiful Roses are grown as standards, they must have protection: the most simple method is to remove them in December, and lay their roots in the ground near a north wall or fence, their heads resting against the wall; over these a mat should be nailed during frost. For forcing or blooming early in spring in the greenhouse they form beautiful plants, budded on neat stems about 1 ft. in height these, if potted in November, give abundance of flowers in spring, of a larger size than when grown on their own roots,"—Extract from Catalogue for 1843.

be thought objects of ornament on an English lawn, yet the method will be found very eligible in many cases. In March, those that have been laid on the shed for protection may be removed to the flower borders, pruning off all superfluous and dead shoots; they will bloom the following summer in great perfection, and in general surpass those that have been suffered to remain in the ground without protection. Some of the varieties are much more robust and vigorous than others, and equally beautiful as those of more delicate habits: it will therefore be scarcely worth while to grow any but what are of known hardihood and vigour. I have pointed out some of these in my notices, but time can only make a knowledge of their habits more perfect. Worked plants of Tea-scented Roses force very well; they do not require to be established one year in pots, for if only potted in October or November, and forced with a gentle heat in January and February, they will bloom finely; in March and April the extreme beauty of their foliage and flowers will amply repay the attention given to them, as they have a peculiar softness and delicacy of appearance when forced and growing luxuriantly.

Since the above hints on culture, experience has come to my aid, and has enabled me to point out other modes, I trust, worthy of attention: no roses can be better adapted, when on their own

roots, for beds in the flower garden. I have, however, hitherto forborne to recommend them, as I feared they were too tender to bear our winters in exposed situations; but as we now have the patent asphalte felt, manufactured by M'Neil, of Bunhill Row, London, and Croggon, of Lawrence Pountney Lane, which is so well calculated to keep the beds perfectly dry during the winter, we need not fear planting them out in masses; for this purpose the beds should be excavated and filled with manure, as directed for Bourbon roses; and early in November, or even in October, if heavy rains are falling, they must be hooped over and covered with the asphalte felt. This may be removed in dry and mild weather all through If the beds by this means are kept the winter. dry, and protected from severe frost by the felt, these roses will annually increase in size, and in time form fine bushes, giving enormous quantities of their large and fragrant flowers. It will be necessary to place moss, about six inches in depth, over the surface of the bed before covering with the felt; and I think it will be advisable to give the latter, on the side exposed to the weather, a coat of gas-tar, and lime, which has been slaked at least a fortnight: boil the tar and mix the lime with it till it is of the consistence of thick paste, then apply it with a brush while hot.

Tea Roses on stems, one to two feet in height, are most desirable and beautiful plants, but liable to be

killed in severe winters: these may be safely protected by placing to each plant three stakes triangularly, sticking them firmly in the ground, and over these stretch a piece of calico, (calico of 2d. or 3d. per yard will do,) prepared as follows: 3 pints of old pale linseed oil, 1½ oz. sugar of lead, 5 oz. pale resin: the oil must be heated, and the sugar of lead and resin pounded and added to it, while hot, and laid on the calico, while hot, with a brush. This should be tacked to the stakes with small tacks, and brought down within two inches of the ground, leaving a small aperture at top, at the apex of the triangle: this will admit of a moderate circulation of air from the bottom to the top, and will keep the plant in perfect health during the winter. By the end of March, or beginning of April, these protectors may be removed, and the plant pruned: this method will supersede the paper cap, which is so liable to be destroyed by the wind: calico thus prepared will last for several years. Standards of these roses succeed well against a south or south-east wall: their stems should not be more than three feet high.

To have a fine bloom of these roses, or, in deed, of any of the Hybrid Perpetuals, Bourbons, or China roses, in pots towards the end of summer or autumn, take plants from small pots, (those struck from cuttings in March or April will do,) and put them into six-inch, or even eight-inch, pots, using a compost of light turfy loam and

rotten manure, equal parts: to a bushel of the compost, add half a peck of pounded charcoal, and the same quantity of silver sand; make a hotbed of sufficient strength, - say three to four feet in height, of seasoned dung, so that it is not of a burning heat, in a sunny exposed situation, and on this place the pots; then fill up all interstices with sawdust, placing it so as to cover the rims, and to lie on the surface of the mould in the pots about two inches deep. The pots should have a good sound watering before they are thus plunged, and have water daily in dry weather; the bottom heat and full exposure to the sun and air will give the plants a vigour almost beyond belief; plunged on tank heat, in a pit, the lights taken off so as to give the plants full exposure, will answer equally well: this very simple mode of culture is as yet almost unknown. I have circulated among a few friends the above directions; and have no doubt that, in the hands of skilful gardeners, some extraordinary results may be looked for in the production of specimens of soft-wooded plants. I may add, that, when the heat of the bed declines towards the middle of July, the pots must be removed, some fresh dung added, and the bed re-made, again plunging the plants immediately. Towards the end of August the roots of the plants must be ripened; the pots must, therefore, be gradually lifted out of the saw-dust; i.e. for five or six days expose

them about two inches below their rims; then, after the same lapse of time, a little lower, till the whole of the pot is exposed to the sun and air; they may be then removed to the greenhouse so as as to be sheltered from heavy rain. They will bloom well in the autumn, and be in fine order for early forcing; if plants are required during the summer for exhibition, or any other purpose, care must always be taken to harden or ripen their roots as above before they are removed from the hot-bed.

With attention, some very beautiful roses of this family may be originated from seed, but the plants must be trained against a south wall; if flued the better, in a warm dry soil, or grown in pots under grass: a warm greenhouse, or the forcing-house will be most proper for them, so that they bloom in May, as their heps are a long time ripening.

For yellow roses, the Duchesse de Mecklenbourg may be planted with the Yellow Tea, which abounds in pollen; some fine roses, almost to a certainty, must be raised from seed produced by such fine unions: for the sake of curiosity, a few flowers of the above night be fertilised with the Double Yellow Briar or Rosa Harrisonii. The Yellow Tea bears seed abundantly, but it has been found, from repeated experiments, that a good or even a mediocre rose is seldom or never produced from it; but fertilised with the Yellow Briar, something original may be realised. Gigantesque and Tea Hardy, planted with Prince Esterhazy, would produce seed of fine quality, from which large and bright rose-coloured varieties might be expected. Niphetos would give pure white Tea Roses; and Mansais with Dremont would probably originate first-rate fawn-coloured roses; but the central petals of Mansais should be carefully removed with tweezers or plyers, as its flowers are too double for it to be a certain seed-bearer. Madame Droulin, which is a hybrid, approaching very near to the China Rose, should be planted with William Wallace, as fine and large Crimson Tea roses are still wanting.

# THE MINIATURE ROSE.

(Rosa Lawrenceana.)

In the botanical catalogues this curious little rose is said to have been introduced from China in 1810; and botanists have made it a species; but, like the Rose de Meaux and Pompon Roses, which are dwarf varieties of Rosa centifolia, this is undoubtedly nothing but a dwarf seminal variety of the common China Rose. Many plants that have been long under cultivation have a tendency to produce from seed these pigmy likenesses of

themselves: among these little "faerie queens," Caprice des Dames is a pretty morsel of beauty with vivid rose-coloured flowers. Gloire des Lawrenceanas is one of the prettiest of the tribe; its flowers are of a dark crimson, and larger than those of any other variety. Jenny and Lilliputienne are both of them bright-coloured and pretty roses. Nigra has not black flowers, but they are of the darkest crimson, and very pretty. This was named by some florist, with that exaggeration peculiar to the craft; this is not done by the florist wilfully to deceive, but is merely given as descriptive of what he wishes the flower to be. rather than of what it really is. Brugmansia sanguinea is a case in point; and many other sanguineas and coccineas might be mentioned, in which the colours of the flowers which hear those imposing names approach to any thing rather than blood or scarlet. To return to Roses; Pallida is the only variety in this division approaching to white. Its flowers, when they first open, are nearly of pure white, but they soon change to a pale flesh-colour: this is rather a delicate rose, seeming very impatient of cold and damp. Petite Laponne is a brilliant little rose, quite worthy a place in the group; as is also Retour du Printemps, which is different from all the others; its pretty little flowers being surrounded by a leafy calyx, and the whole plant tinged with a reddish colouring-matter.

These roses are all very impatient of moisture, and in all moist soils require a very dry warm raised border. I have not yet had an opportunity of seeing them grow in dry soils, but I think it probable that the light sandy soils of Surrey would suit them admirably. In cold situations it will be advisable to grow them constantly in pots, protecting them in a cold pit or frame till January, and then, if required to bloom early, remove them to a warm situation in the greenhouse, or force them with the Tea-scented Roses. A collection of these little rose-bushes, covered with their bright flowers in March and April, will be found one of the most eligible and unique ornaments for the drawing-room.

### THE NOISETTE ROSE.

(Rosa Noisettiana.)

# Rosier Noisette.

The original of this remarkable group, the Blush Noisette" Rose, was raised from seed in America by Monsieur Philippe Noisette, and sent by him to his brother, Monsieur Louis Noisette, the well-known nurseryman at Paris, in the year 1817. Perhaps no new rose was ever so much admired as this. When first introduced, its habit

1. 4

was so peculiar, and so unlike any other known variety, that the Parisian amateurs were quite enraptured with it. It was produced from the seed of the old Musk Rose (Rosa moschata), the flowers of which had been fertilised with the common China Rose. The perfume of the Musk Rose is very apparent: its tendency to bloom in large clusters also shows its affinity to that old and very remarkable rose, but since its introduction to France so many seedlings have been raised from it, and so many of these are evidently hybrids of the Tea-scented and other roses, that some of the roses called "Noisettes" have almost lost the characters of the group; for, in proportion as the size of the flowers have been increased by hybridising, their clustering tendency and the number of them in one corymb has been diminished. Among the varieties most deserving of notice is Aimée Vibert, or "Rosa nivea," a seedling from the Rosa sempervivens plena, which it resembles, but much surpasses its parent in the valuable quality of autumnal blooming. Nothing can be prettier than a large plant of Aimée Vibert Noisette, covered with its snow-white flowers, in September and October. Andreselle is a fine lilacrose, in colour like that old variety Noisette Bougainville, but much superior in the size and shape of its flowers. Ariel is a fine and vigorous-growing rose, blooming in immense corymbs; its flowers are of the most delicate blush, tinged with buff:

this is a distinct and pretty variety. Belle Violette is a genuine Noisette, and a very neat and pretty little rose: its flowers are of a rosy lilac, and very distinct and good. Belle Antonine is a pillar Noisette, of very robust habit, with flowers delicately coloured and well shaped. In designating some of these as pillar Noisettes, those varieties that are very vigorous growers, making long and flexible shoots, are intended. Boulogne is one of the few dark-coloured Noisettes, and when first its flowers open they are very beautiful, their colour being a dark crimson-purple. Beurre Frais is singular, but scarcely double enough; its delicate butter-colour soon changes to white in the sun. Bouquet tout fait, a pillar Noisette, is a most vigorous grower, forming immense corymbs; this may be taken for the original Noisette at first sight, but it is more fragrant, and its flowers buff towards their centre. Camellia Rose, but not the Camellia Rose of the French catalogues, is a pillar Noisette of first-rate excellence, with large and finely-shaped bright red flowers, and a most luxuriant grower. Cadot is also a pillar Noisette, with large and very double flowers: a good and distinct variety. Cerise is also a pillar Noisette equal to either of the foregoing: its large and deep-coloured globular flowers, of a deep rosy purple, are beautiful at any time and in any situation. Charles X. is a pretty rose in very dry weather, but in moist weather its buds will

not open, neither will it live long as a standard, never forming a proper union with the stock. Castalie is a variety, of a delicate flesh-colour, very distinct and pretty.

Clarisse Harlowe is a pillar rose of first-rate excellence; its flowers are very large and double, and its growth excessively vigorous, so that it soon forms a large column. Fellenberg is a Noisette well deserving of praise, if only for its brilliant crimson. It is but a short time since a bright crimson Noisette did not exist: this rose, when grown luxuriantly, is a most charming plant. Grandiflora is a very old rose, but mentioned here that its synonymes may be given: as "Noisette Lee," "Blush Perpetual China," and "Triomphe des Noisettes." It has been extensively cultivated. Hardy is a pillar Noisette, quite worth cultivation; its large pale flowers have a deep rose and buff centre: its habit is so vigorous that it will shoot from six to eight feet in one season. Jaune Desprez, or the new French Yellow Noisette, is a well-known and much-esteemed rose: as a pillar or a standard it is equally beautiful; its fragrance is also very remarkable. This was originated by M. Desprez about fifteen years since, and is still, and will be for some time to come, a very popular rose. It is, most probably, a hybrid between the Yellow Tea and a Noisette rose of some kind: it sold for a high price in France, when first sent forth to the rose world, as its name was very tempting, for a yellow fragrant Noisette rose was thought to be worth any price. The name, like many other floral names, was, certainly, quite calculated to make an impression. Its rosy copper-coloured flowers are very singular, and so powerfully fragrant that one plant will perfume a large garden in the cool weather of autumn. pillar of this rose, twelve or twenty feet high, would be a grand object on a well-kept lawn. Lamarque is another hybrid Noisette, approaching to the Tea-scented rose in the size and fragrance of its flowers. This is a most vigorous grower, but not quite so hardy as Jaune Desprez. As a standard it is quite superb, for its large pale sulphur-coloured or nearly white flowers are pendant from their weight, and have a fine effect. It is rather impatient of cold, and will not bloom unless budded on some strong-growing rose: on its own root it is a weak grower, and scarcely like the same rose when grafted and grown vigorously. Lelieur is a pretty little dark purplish-crimson rose, and deservedly a favourite, as its colour is so vivid: the point of each petal is tipped with white. La Biche is a pillar Noisette, with very large pale flowers, inclining to fawn-colour in the centre: a very fragrant, beautiful, and distinct rose.

Luxembourg is a fine variety, with large and very double flowers, of a bright purplish rose: this will probably prove a good climber, and if so, it will form a magnificent pillar. Nankin, or "Noisette à boutons Nankin," or "Noisette mutabilis," is a very distinct and pretty rose. In the morning, before the sun has much power, or in cloudy weather, its clusters of flowers are of a bright nankin-colour, changing to white a few hours after expansion. The Red Noisette, a very old variety, was raised from seed by Mr. Wells, of Redleaf: it is a pretty bright semi-double rose, now eclipsed by new and fine varieties. Smith's Yellow is certainly more nearly allied to the Teascented roses than to the Noisettes, for of this family it has not a feature: if forced, this is a fine rose, but it is scarcely fit for the open air in this country, as the moisture of the atmosphere glues its outer petals together so firmly that its flowers seldom or never open.

To Noisette Roses but few striking additions have been made since 1837; but the following are pretty: indeed this term may be applied to all the Noisettes known. Miss Glegg is a white rose tinged with blush, of medium growth, worth cultivation. Ne plus ultra is a fine cream-coloured rose, which forces admirably, and is highly fragrant. Euphrosine, a miniature likeness of Jaune Desprez, with the same peculiar fragrance, but less of fawn colour, and Vitellina, one of the same character, but inclined to cream colour, are both interesting varieties. Corymbosa is a remarkable rose, with pure white flowers; its foliage is rough,

dark green, and totally unlike that of any other rose. Zobeide is a very pretty variety, with flowers of a vivid rose colour. We have so many pale Noisettes, that this is a welcome addition. Duc de Nemours is a new rose; this has lilac-rose flowers, which are very double and well-shaped. Victorieuse, like Lamarque and several others, is a hybrid Tea Rose of first-rate qualities, but not very hardy.

We have recently had a few additions to this class; and two are worthy of especial notice; these have been raised at Angers, from Noisette Lamarque, and no roses have perhaps so well rewarded with their beauty the care of a cultivator: the first in merit is Noisette Cloth of Gold. called in France Chromatella. One would suppose, to see this rose in bud, that it could not be a vellow rose, as the extreme outer petals are nearly of a cream colour, but when expanded it is one of the most brilliant and beautiful of yellow roses, with petals thick and waxy, bearing exposure to the hottest sun without fading. In habit it is very robust, bearing in this respect much resemblance to Jaune Desprez; its leaves are large, shining, and the whole plant, when in luxuriant growth, most beautiful. While rare, as at present, it would not be prudent to expose it during the winter in the open border; a south wall will probably be the best situation for it, as it seems to delight in heat; but when more abundant it may doubtless

be planted out as a pillar rose, for which it is admirably adapted, as it makes shoots four to six feet in length in one season: cultivated in this manner it will doubtless require protection. Noisette Solfaterre is of the same parentage, with flowers not so globular as the preceding, but rather flat, like those of Jaune Desprez; colour pale lemon, leaves more pointed and narrow, like those of its parent. This is a rose of much beauty, and of the same robust habits as N. Cloth of Gold; with regard to treatment, it will be advisable, at present, to plant it against a south wall, till its capability of bearing our winters is tested. These roses both bloomed in great beauty in the summer of 1845: they both grew with exceeding vigour, budded on the Boursault or Celine stock. A shoot from a bud on the Crimson Boursault last summer, 1845, in the rose nursery of Mr. Curtis of Bristol, made the extraordinary growth of 18 feet, and is this spring, 1846, covered with flower buds.

Since the above was written, a new crimson Noisette has for the first time bloomed. This is called Pourpre de Tyr. Its flowers, however, are not of Tyrian purple, but brilliant crimson, large, and very double. The habit of the plant is exceedingly robust: foliage large, dark green, and abundant. In Eclair de Jupiter we have a very remarkable variety, with large flowers like those of the Bourbon rose Gloire de Rosomène, of the most brilliant crimson, at least, the

inner side of the petals is of that colour, but the reverse is of a most peculiar glaucous hue, as if powdered. Although only semi-double, this is a splendid rose; in habit vigorous, like the above Bourbon rose. Mrs. Siddons is a new and very bright vellow variety, with flowers rather irregular in shape; habit, dwarf and bushy. Narcisse is also a new yellow Noisette, with large and finely cupped flowers, very double; these in colour are pale yellow, deeper towards the centre of the flower; but the most complete novelty in this group is Ophirie, in colour quite unique; a rose without rose-colour, for it is of a bright fawn and salmon colour, with scarcely a tint of rose: its habit is robust and vigorous: like many others of this class, it will form an excellent pillar rose, requiring, however, protection in winter.

The individuals of this group are so varied in character, that they may be employed as objects of ornament in a variety of ways. I will first give their culture as pillar roses, for which some of them are so finely adapted. Perhaps the most picturesque mode of growing pillar roses is to group them in clumps of three, five, seven, or nine, or to any extent in proportion to the size of the ground required to be ornamented. A group of rose pillars, on an artificial mound, has a very imposing effect, and in wet situations this will be found the most advantageous mode of growing them. The posts should be made of yellow deal, or larch, or

oak, and charred as far as inserted in the ground; they should be from ten to fifteen feet in height, and stout, so that they can be firmly fixed in the ground; each post ought to be, at least, from nine to twelve inches in circumference. For roses of more humble growth, iron stakes, from six to seven feet in height, will be found more light and elegant in appearance than those of wood, and of course more durable. It must be borne in mind, that pillar roses cannot have too much manure; therefore, when they are planted, mix plenty with the soil they are planted in, and give them an annual surface dressing.

As standards, Noisette Roses require but little culture; the principal care is to be prompt in cutting off the decayed and decaying clusters of flowers, during the blooming season; and, in March, to thin out their superfluous branches. All the pillar Noisettes form fine drooping standards: as dwarfs for beds, many of the varieties are very eligible, for they will grow and bloom luxuriantly in all soils and situations. To ensure their receiving no injury in very exposed situations, cut them down to within a foot of the surface of the soil in November, and place over each plant, or rather thatch it, with a thick covering of furze branches, to continue on till March. This will effectually protect them from the frost. This covering, as elsewhere recommended, must be removed gradually, so that the young and

tender shoots are not exposed to the cold air too suddenly. For ornamenting wire-fences these roses are also admirably adapted, as they can be trained with great facility, and they will form, in such situations, a blooming boundary for at least four months in the year.

But few of the Noisette Roses will bear seed in this country; the following, however, if planted against a south wall, and carefully fertilised. would probably produce some. The object here should be to obtain dark crimson varieties with large flowers, and for this purpose Fellenberg should be fertilised with Cerise or Boulogne, and again Cerise with Fellenberg. Cerise may also be planted with the China Rose Fabvier, and Boulogne with the same: if seed can be procured. fine deep-coloured and nearly genuine Noisette roses would be produced. It will be interesting also to try Noisette Nankin fertilised with the Yellow China: from this union vellow or buffcoloured Noisettes might possibly be originated, and these of course would be unique and of great Beurre Frais with the Tea Rose, interest. Duchesse de Mecklenbourg, would probably give straw-coloured varieties, and these would be large and fragrant, as in Lamarque and Jaune In these directions for procuring seed from roses by fertilising, I have confined myself to such varieties as are almost sure to produce it; - but much must be left to the amateur, as many

roses may be made fertile by removing their central petals, and, consequently, very many varieties that I have not noticed may be made productive.

### THE MUSK ROSE.

(Rosa Moschata.)

#### Rosier Muscate.

The White Musk Rose is one of the oldest inhabitants of our gardens, and probably more widely spread over the face of the earth than any other rose. It is generally supposed that the attar of roses is prepared in India from this species, and that this is also the rose of the Persian poets\*, in the fragrant groves of which they love to describe their "bulbul," or nightingale, as enchanting them with its tuneful notes. The probability that

The following anecdote is narrated by Sir John Malcolm, in his Sketches of Persia. I have, moreover, heard it from his own lips, told in his peculiar spirited manner while he resided here. "A breakfast was given to us, at a beautiful spot near the Hazâr Bâgh, or thousand gardens, in the vicinity of Shiraz; and we were surprised and delighted to find that we were to enjoy this meal on a stack of roses. On this a carpet was laid, and we sat cross-legged like the natives. The stack, which was as large as a common one of hay in England, had been formed without much trouble from the heaps or cocks of rose leaves, collected before they were sent into the city to be distilled."

this is the famed rose of Persia is strengthened by the fact, that it is much more fragrant in the evening, or in the cool weather of autumn, than at any other time or season, and probably in the hot climate of Persia, only so in the coolness of night, when nightingales delight to sing. A recent traveller also remarks that the roses of Persia are remarkably small and fragrant. There are doubtless many seminal varieties of the species; their flowers differing in colour, but possessing the leading features of the original. Olivier, who travelled in the first six years of the French republic, mentions a rose tree at Ispahan, called the "Chinese Rose Tree," fifteen feet high, formed by the union of several stems, each four or five inches in diameter. Seeds from this tree were sent to Paris, and produced the common Musk Rose. It seems therefore possible and probable, that this has been the parent of nearly all their garden roses; for, like most orientals, their habits are not, and have not been, enterprising enough to stimulate them to import roses from distant countries. Large and very old plants of the Musk Rose may sometimes be seen in the gardens of old English country houses.

The Blush Musk, or Fraser's Musk, or Rosa Fraserii, is not quite a pure Musk Rose: but as it is the only rose of this division of the colour, and also very fragrant, it has been much planted: its flowers are semi-double, and produced in large

clusters. Eponine is a pure white, and very double variety, one of the prettiest of the group. The fringed or toothed Musk Rose has the end of each petal indented: this is a vigorous-growing and very fragrant little rose. Princesse de Nassau is a very distinct and good variety, very fragrant, and blooming in large clusters: the flower-buds, before they open, are nearly yellow, changing to cream-colour as they expand. The Ranunculus, or new White Musk, is merely an improved variety of the old or original Musk Rose, with flowers more double. Tea-scented is a hybrid, with large flowers of a pure white, and very pretty; this is apparently a seedling from the Musk Rose, fertilised with some variety of the Tea-scented Rose, as it has a most peculiar habit and perfume.

Moschata Nivea, or the "Snow Bush," and one or two other roses, from Nepaul, have the scent peculiar to this group; but as they bloom but once in the summer, and differ totally in some other respects from the true Rosa Moschata, I have not included them. For the culture of the roses of this division, that recommended for Noisette roses, in beds and as standards, may be adopted, as their habits are very similar.

# THE MACARTNEY ROSE.

(ROSA BRACTEATA.)

The single Macartney Rose was brought from China, in 1795, by Lord Macartney, on his return from his embassy to that country. It now forms the original of a pretty family; but as it does not bear seed freely, even in France, fine varieties, as yet, are not abundant; its strictly evergreen and shining foliage is a beautiful feature; and I hope ere long to see numerous varieties, with double flowers of the same brilliant hues as our other fine roses possess. Time will prove; but I think it is not too much to anticipate, that, ultimately, we shall not be satisfied unless all our roses, even the moss roses, have evergreen foliage. brilliant and fragrant flowers, and the habit of blooming from June till November. This seems to be an extravagant anticipation; but perseverance in gardening will yet achieve wonders. The Double (the old variety) was the first double Macartney Rose raised from seed: it is mentioned here to cantion any one from planting it, as it is totally worthless, its flowers constantly dropping off without opening. The Double Blush or Tea Victoire Modeste is so much hybridised with the Tea-scented Rose, that it has lost many of the characters of the group: in dry situations this is a most beautiful rose, but in wet weather its flowers do not open well. Maria Leonida is now an established favourite: its fine bell-shaped flowers of the purest white, sometimes slightly tinged with pink towards their centre, and its bright red anthers peeping from among its central petals, give it an elegant and pleasing character. Rosa Hardii, or Rosa Berberifolia Hardii, is a most interesting rose, lately raised from seed by Monsieur Hardy, of the Luxembourg Gardens, from Rosa involucrata, a variety of Rosa bracteata, fertilised with that unique rose, Rosa berberifolia, or the Single Yellow Persian rose. This curious hybrid, like its Persian parent, has single yellow flowers with a dark eye (much like Cistus formosus), and evergreen foliage; it seems quite hardy, and forms the very prettiest little bush possible. It will probably be the parent of an entirely new group; and what can be imagined more interesting in roses than varieties with double yellow flowers and evergreen leaves!

Macartney Roses sometimes suffer when exposed to severe frost in the open borders of the flower-garden: they will therefore require the same protection as recommended for the Noisette roses in cold situations. Maria Leonida is a fine border rose; for, by pegging down its shoots as they are produced in summer, a few plants soon cover a bed or clump with a dense mass of

foliage and flowers, ornamenting the flowergarden from three to four months in summer and autumn: it also forms a very fine standard.

It requires the burning sun of Italy to make these roses produce their seed; yet, by perseverance and careful cultivation, this desirable end may be obtained. To raise a double variety of Rosa Hardii is, at any rate, worth attempting. A flued wall must be used to train the plants to: and in small gardens, where there is not such a convenience, a hollow wall might be built, about four or five feet in height and ten or twelve feet long, of two courses of four-inch brickwork, with a space between, into one end of which an Arnott's stove might be introduced, and a pipe carried in a straight line through to the opposite end (each end must of course be built up to keep in the hot air); this pipe would heat the air between the two courses of brickwork sufficiently for the purpose. A fire should be kept every night from the middle of May to the middle of July; and this treatment would possibly induce some of these roses to give their seed. Ross Hardii would bloom freely if trained to a hot wall; and, if fertilised with the Double Yellow Briar, seed may perhaps be obtained. Lucida, with the Yellow China Rose, will also be an experiment worth trying. Maria Leonida, fertilised with the Tuscany Rose, might also give some curious hybrids. This is all speculative; but such

speculations are, unlike many others, exceedingly innocent and interesting.

#### ROSA MICROPHYLLA.

(THE SMALL-LEAVED ROSE.)

Rosa microphylla rubra, from which we have derived all our varieties of this pretty family, was introduced from the East in 1823. It is nearly allied to the Macartney, and is most probably a Chinese hybrid of that rose. The original imported plant bearing double flowers makes it appear more probable that it is a mere garden variety. I have received seed from Italy of this rose, and find that plants from it, to use a florist's term, sport amazingly, no two appearing alike.

From Italian seed we have Alba odorata, a vigorous-growing variety, partaking as much of the Macartney Rose in its habit as of Rosa microphylla: in fact, it is a complete hybrid. This is a good evergreen rose, producing an abundance of pale sulphur, or rather cream-coloured flowers: they are sweet-scented, but do not in general open freely. Carnea, or Rosea, is a pretty and remarkable rose, forming a neat little bush, nearly evergreen: its flowers are double, and of a beautifully cupped shape. Coccinea, as in one or two in-

stances which I have noticed, is named with a florist's licence; it is not scarlet, but a very pretty double rose, of a deep reddish-rose colour, with the same neatly shaped flowers as the last: to these may be added Purpurea, Rubra variegata, and Violacea, three varieties quite new; but, as they have not yet bloomed in this country, no opinion can be given of their merits.

With the exception of Alba odorata, these roses are not hardy enough to bear exposure in wet and cold soils: they will perhaps grow for a time, but seldom bloom well. A warm and dry elevated border will suit them admirably, protecting them with some spray, &c., as directed for Noisette roses: but to see these very curious roses bloom in perfection, bud them on short stems of the Dog Rose, and treat them exactly as recommended for the Tea-scented Roses; they will then bloom freely, either in pots or in the flower-borders, and form delightful little plants, quite unique in their characters and appearance.

A few of these may be planted against a hot wall, as recommended for the Macartney Roses; and, possibly, Purpurea, fertilised with a bright-coloured China Rose, as Fabvier, would give some curious varieties. The Single Microphylla, with Athelin or Henri Barbet, would perhaps give some original and beautiful hybrids. Coccinea might also be fertilised with the Tuscany. If any of these roses can be made to produce seed,

interesting and curious varieties must be the result.

### PROPAGATION OF AUTUMNAL ROSES.

As with the Summer Roses, these may be propagated by layers, budding, grafting, and by cuttings; the latter mode is the only one requiring especial notice, as the other methods applied to Summer Roses are of equal use in propagating these. All the families in this division are propagated with great facility by cuttings; in fact, with China, Bourbon, and Tea Roses, it is the only eligible way of getting plants on their own roots. There are three seasons in which this operation may be performed with success, in spring, summer, and autumn.

For spring cuttings it will be necessary to resort to the forcing-house in the month of March, when those roses that were commenced to be forced in January will be just shedding their first crop of flowers: these blooming shoots will then be ripe; and, as a general rule, fit for immediate propagation, either for cuttings or buds. It must be borne in mind, that no shoots are mature till their blooming is past. The cuttings may be made with three joints or buds, from the lower end of which the leaf should be cut, leaving the others untouched; the cutting must then be in-

serted about one inch into a very small pot of light mould, or peat and sand, equal parts. With rare sorts two buds will do, or even one: in the latter case, the bud must have the leaf attached. and a small portion of wood below the bud; it must be inserted in the pot so that the bud is slightly covered with the mould. The pots should then be plunged in sawdust or old tan, into a gentle hot-bed, and kept perfectly close, sprinkled with tepid water every morning, and shaded from the sun. In about a fortnight they will have taken root; but they must not be removed from this close frame till they have made a shoot from one to two inches in length. They are then safe, and may be removed into another frame, still with gentle heat, and have air every day to harden In a week they will be fit to pot into larger pots, and they may then be removed into the greenhouse or cold frame as convenient, till required for planting out in the borders in April and May: the pots used for the above purpose are very small, 21 inches deep and 11 inch over at the top; if more convenient, three or five cuttings may be placed round the side of a larger sized pot,  $3\frac{1}{\sigma}$  inches deep by 3 inches over. This method saves some trouble, but the plants are apt to be checked when potted off; pots of the latter size must be filled one third with broken pieces of pots, on which the base of the cuttings should rest; the small pots require no drainage.

For summer cuttings in June and July, ripe shoots may be taken as above directed, planted in pots, and placed in a cold frame, kept close, and sprinkled every morning. These will root slowly, but surely; for autumnal cuttings any convenient and spare shoots may be made into cuttings, and planted under a hand-glass in a warm exposure, about the middle or end of September: these must have air in mild humid weather during the winter, and be gradually exposed to the air in April by tilting the light: by the end of April they will be fit for potting. All the autumnal roses will grow readily if the above methods are followed. The Damask Perpetuals only are slow in rooting, and are propagated with more difficulty.

# BUDDING ROSES IN POTS.

The Blush Boursault makes the best stock for this purpose; it strikes readily from cuttings planted in the autumn. My practice in budding on the Boursault is as follows:—The strongest shoots are selected early in July for layering; flower-pots of the size 48 are taken, and the aperture at the bottom is enlarged, so as to allow the end of the shoot to be passed through. After doing this the shoot is tongued; the pot is drawn up till the tongue is about in the centre; it is then

filled with a mixture of rotten dung and sand in equal parts, and well pressed down. The shoot may be budded at the time of layering or afterwards, accordingly as the buds are ready. The shoots should be headed down at the time of budding to within two eyes of where the bud is inserted.\* The buds of all the Bourbon, Tea-scented, China, and Hybrid Autumnal Roses, will push immediately. These may be removed from the stools in August, potted into larger pots, and forced with great success the following spring.

#### DIRECTIONS FOR FORCING ROSES.

Very few years ago forced roses were one of the luxuries of gardening, and the matter was looked upon as a difficult operation, in which accomplished gardeners only were successful; but with modern varieties the difficulty has vanished, and every one may have roses, at least in February, with the most simple means.

A pit 10 or 12 feet long and 8 feet wide, just high enough to stand upright in, with a door at

• This heading down at the time of budding cannot be recommended for the Dog Rose; when budded early in June, small heads will at once be formed, but the constitution of the plant will be much weakened.

one end, and a sunken path in the centre, a raised bed on each side of the path, and an 18-inch Arnott's stove at the further end, opposite to the door, with a pipe leading into a small brick chimney outside (a chimney is indispensable), will give great abundance of forced roses from February to the end of May. To ensure this, a supply must be kept ready; so that, say twenty, may be placed in the forcing-pit about the middle of December, a like number in the middle of January, and the same about the middle of February; they must not be pruned till taken into the house, when each shoot should be cut back to two or three buds or eyes, the latter for the strong shoots. The fire should be lighted at seven in the morning, and suffered to burn out about the same hour in the evening, unless in frosty weather, when it must be kept burning till late at night, so as to exclude the frost; and for this purpose double mats should be placed on the lights. The thermometer should not, by fire heat, be higher in the day than 70° during December and January: at night it may sink to 35° without injury. The temporary rise in a sunny day is of no consequence; but no air must be admitted at such times, or the plants will exhaust themselves, and immediately shed their leaves. When the sun begins to have power, and in sunny weather towards the end of February, the plants may be syringed every morning about 10 o'clock with tepid water, and have air admitted till 2 or 3 o'clock, and smoked with tobacco at night on the least appearance of the aphis or green-fly.

To ensure a fine and full crop of flowers, the plants should be established one year in pots\*, and plunged in tan or sawdust in an open exposed place, so that their shoots are well ripened: the pots must be often removed, or what is better, place the pots on slates to prevent their roots striking into the ground; but with the Hybrid and Damask Perpetuals, even if only potted in November previous, a very good crop of flowers may often be obtained, and a second crop better than the first; for the great advantage of forcing perpetual roses is, that after blooming in the greenhouse or drawing-room, their young shoots may be cut down to within two or three buds of their base, and the plants placed again in the forcing-house, and a second crop of flowers obtained. The same mode may be followed also with the Bourbon, China, and Tea-scented Roses: with the latter, indeed, a third crop may be often obtained.

Towards the end of March, when the second crop of flowers is coming on, the plants may be gradually inured to the air, by opening the sashes in mild weather. This will make them hardy and

 Worked plants of the Hybrid Perpetuals if potted early in November, and plunged in a gentle hot-bed till the end of December, may be forced in January. robust. Syringing should be practised every morning and evening; but when the flower-buds are ready to open, this must be confined to the stems of the plants and the pots, otherwise the flowers will be injured by the moisture. Care must be taken to remove the plants from the forcinghouse to the greenhouse or drawing-room before their blossoms expand; they may then be kept in beauty many days. I have not found the check which the plants receive by this sudden change of temperature at all detrimental. During their second growth the plants should be watered once a week with manured water\*, and the surface of the pot occasionally stirred. Those that are forced with the greatest facility are worked roses: these seldom or never fail to give an abundant crop of flowers; stems from 6 inches to  $1\frac{1}{6}$  and 2 feet are equally eligible: the latter form elegant plants, and I think generally grow with greater luxuriance than dwarfs. China and Tea-scented Roses. on their own roots are more delicate, and require more care: still one crop of flowers may always be depended upon, even from them, instead of forcing them for a second crop, it will be better to place them in the greenhouse; they will then bloom again finely in May. I find, from experience, that all the autumnal roses may be

<sup>\*</sup> One pound of guano to twelve gallons of water forms the very best species of liquid manure for pot culture: for the borders, double that quantity will be better.

forced every year without any disadvantage: to ensure their well-doing, they must be removed from the forcing-house early in June, the surface of the pots dressed with rotten manure, and plunged in the same, or leaves, or any light substance. Towards the end of September they should be carefully shifted, removing nearly all the earth from their roots, into a compost of light loam and rotten dung, equal quantities (this is, on the whole, the very best compost for potted roses), watered, and again plunged till required for forcing: this shifting would be better performed in June; but, as the weather is then often hot and dry, roses worked on the Dog Rose are apt to suffer. Pots of the sizes called near London 24's and 16's\* are the best sizes for strong plants of roses for forcing: when potted, the large and unyielding roots should be cut off close, so that the plants may stand in the centre of the pots, the fibrous and small roots merely tipped.

The treatment recommended for roses in a pit with Arnott's stove, may be pursued with roses in a house with smoke-flues or hot-water pipes. Arnott's stove is recommended as an economical and eligible mode of heating, practised here to some extent with success for several years: on these stoves an iron pan, fitted to the top, should always

<sup>•</sup> The respective sizes of these pots are, 24's, 7½ inches deep, and 8 inches over, measuring across the top of the pot; 16's, 8½ inches deep, 9 inches in diameter.

be kept full of water. Roses may be forced slowly, but with perhaps greater certainty, by the uninitiated, by giving air freely and constantly during the early part of the day, say till 1 or 2 o'clock, according to the mildness of the weather, keeping the fire constantly burning during the same period, as recommended when keeping them closely shut up. To sum up, give them plenty of heat and plenty of air during the day.

# CULTIVATION OF ROSES IN POTS FOR THE GREENHOUSE.

For this purpose a selection should be made of some of the finer varieties of China and Teascented Roses on their own roots; it may also include such Bourbons as the Queen, Acidalie, Crimson Globe, Grand Capitaine, Madame Nerard, Madame Margat, Proserpine and Phoenix, and Noisette's Miss Glegg, Lelieur, Ne Plus Ultra, and Victorieuse. These are all of dwarfish and compact habit, and free bloomers. Presuming these roses to be procured, in the spring or summer, in the usual small pots they are generally grown in by the cultivators for sale, they should be immediately potted into pots called 32's these are generally 7 inches deep, by 6 over at the surface), in a compost of turfy sandy

loam and well-rotted manure, equal quantities, or leaf-mould: if the latter is used, two thirds to one third of loam will be as well; this compost must not be sifted, but merely chopped into pieces as large as a walnut: the fine mould, which will, as a matter of course, result from this chopping, must not be separated from the pieces of turf, but all must be well mixed with the manure or leaf-mould. The pots should then be filled about one third with broken pieces of crockery or potsherds, the plants taken from the small pots, and the balls of earth gently pressed so as to loosen them; place each plant in the centre of the large pot; press the earth well round them; give a soaking of water, and plunge them in the sawdust or tan in some sunny exposed place where they may have all the sun our fickle climate will give them. They may remain here till early in October, when they should be removed into the greenhouse, but a fortnight before taking them into their winter-quarters, lift every pot, and place it on the surface of the bed in which they have been plunged: their roots then become hardened, and bear the dry warm air of the greenhouse without injury: they should at this time also be pruned into any handsome desirable shape (a compact bush is perhaps the prettiest), or, if tall plants are required, the long shoots may be fastened to a neat painted stick. Roses thus treated will come into bloom in the green-

house in April, and continue one of its brightest ornaments till the beginning of June; they should then be repotted into larger pots if large plants are wished for, and again plunged in the open air till the autumn: care must be taken to place the pots on slates, to prevent their roots getting through the bottoms of the pots. If compact and pretty little plants are required, the same pots may be used, merely reducing the roots, so that the pot will hold a small quantity of compost for the plant to feed upon. A most excellent compost for potted roses may be made as follows: - Pare some turf from a loamy pasture; the parings must not be more than one inch in thickness: bake them in an oven about twelve hours when the temperature is equal to that just after it has been used for baking bread; they must not be burned \*: this, chopped as before directed, with equal parts of rotten manure, forms one of the very finest of com-The plants must be looked to carefully in spring, and whenever infested by the aphis, or green-fly, tobacco-smoke must be applied: extraordinary luxuriance of growth may be given by watering them once a week with guano-water.

A season may be saved in the growth of these

<sup>•</sup> I have used, with much success, turf roasted on a sheet of iron (placed on temporary brickwork) under which a moderate fire has been kept: about one hour's roasting is sufficient. This chars the turfy side, and acts most beneficially.

roses, if plants in larger pots than those they are usually sold in are purchased: if these are procured in the autumn or winter, they may be placed in the greenhouse at once with a certainty of succeeding.

# CULTURE OF HARDY ROSES IN POTS FOR EXHIBITION.

The most elegant pot-roses for exhibition may be selected from those families recommended for greenhouse culture; but as it is now the fashion for Horticultural Societies to offer prizes for "roses in pots," it becomes my duty to offer a few observations on growing hardy varieties of roses in pots, so as to form very large plants. I must here caution the reader, that occasional disappointment must be expected in growing them in pots for exhibition, as roses, like facts, are stubborn things, and will often, in summer, bloom just whenever it pleases them to do so, not being easily retarded or forced: now, as days of exhibition are usually fixed before it is known whether we are to have an early or a late season, it is frequently a complete lottery whether any particular plants of roses will be in bloom or not. I have sometimes known on days fixed for the exhibition at Chiswick, that I have looked over fifty plants of one

sort before I could find three or four perfect flowers. Those roses recommended for greenhouse culture, from their producing a succession of bloom, must be most relied upon by the exhibitor; but if by a lucky chance a collection of moss roses, or some of the finer kinds of French and Hybrid Bourbon roses, could be enticed to show themselves in all their gay attire on the day, they would make the greenhouse roses "hide their diminished heads."

To form a collection of hardy roses in pots, the very best should be selected from the following families: Moss, Provence, Hybrid Provence, French, Damask Roses alba, Perpetual, and Hybrid Perpetual. Some good lists have been given in the Gardener's Chronicle; but these contain too many varieties with flaccid petals, which will not bear removal when in bloom. Now for hardy pot roses, except Moss Roses, in which the choice is limited, only those with very double flowers, and stiff, waxy petals, should be selected. The following will not disappoint the amateur. I ought here to mention, that it is better to pot two, or three, or four of any one good sort, rather than have a greater variety of second-rate roses.

Name. Cristata	Family. Provence.
Curled	Provence.
Reine de Provence	

Name.	Family.
Antonine d'Ormois	French.
Aurelie Lamare	French.
Boula de Nanteuil	French.
Cicero	French.
Grandissima	French.
Guerin's Gift	French.
Kean	French.
Nelly	French.
Œillet parfait	French.
Superb marbled	French.
Blanchefleur	hybrid Provence.
Emerance	hybrid Provence.
La Volupté	hybrid Provence.
Theodora	hybrid Provence.
Blush	moss.
Celina	moss.
De Metz	moss.
French Crimson	moss.
Lancel	moss.
Malvina	moss.
Unique	moss.
White Bath	moss.
Chenédolé	hybrid China.
Hypocrate *	hybrid China.
Lady Stuart	hybrid China.
Pompone carmin	hybrid China.
Belle de St.Cyr	hybrid Bourbon.
Charles Duval	hybrid Bourbon.
Coup d'Hébé	hybrid Bourbon.
Elise Mercœur	hybrid Bourbon.
Great Western	hybrid Bourbon.
Hortense Leroy	hybrid Bourbon.
Sylvain	hybrid Bourbon.
Félicité	alba.

The Hypocrate of many catalogues is a Hybrid Bourbon, a very inferior rose to the above.

#### VARIETIES FOR POTTING.

Name.	Family.
La Séduisante	alba.
Queen of Denmark	alba.
Sophie de Marsilly	alba. :
La Ville de Bruxelles	damask.
Penelope	damask.
Semiramis	damask.
Volumineuse	damask.
Double-margined Hep	hybrid briar.
Persian yellow	Austrian briar.
Antinous	damask perpetual.
Crimson	damask perpetual.
Royal	damask perpetual.
Requien	damask perpetual.
Aubernon	hybrid perpetual.
Clementine Seringe	hybrid perpetual.
Dr. Marjolin	hybrid perpetual.
Duchess of Sutherland	hybrid perpetual.
Lady Alice Peel	hybrid perpetual.
La Řeine	hybrid perpetual.
Madame Laffay	hybrid perpetual.
Rivers	hybrid perpetual.
William Jesse	hybrid perpetual.

The above are all of first-rate quality; their flowers are very double, and their petals thick, and not liable to fade quickly. About the end of October worked plants should be selected on very straight stems, not more than from six to eight inches in height. Care must be taken that their roots are so formed that each plant may be placed in the centre of the pot: unless this is strictly attended to, they will make but a poor appearance, as might be seen in some of those exhibited at the horticultural shows in the season

of 1842. If any of the large roots interfere with the position of the plant in the pot, they may be much shortened, merely tipping the small roots and fibres.

Stems from four to six inches may be taken generally as the most eligible height; but, to form plants for the back row, varieties of the following families may be on stems one foot to eighteen inches: they will increase the effect; viz. Hybrid China, Hybrid Bourbon, and Hybrid Perpetuals. Many of these will form, when in full bloom, fine pendulous heads. When plants of the above description have been selected, they may be potted in a compost of nice turfy loam and rotten dung, equal parts; the loam should, if possible, be more rich and adhesive than that recommended for the plants under greenhouse culture; the pots used should be sixteens, and, if some of the plants are very strong, even a size larger, called twelves, may be used; these should then be plunged, in the open air on the surface of the soil, in sawdust, rotten leaves, or old tan, which should be four inches deep on the surface of the mould in the pots, care being taken to place the bottom of each pot on a slate, for reasons before given. I recommend the pots to be placed on the surface, rather than to be plunged in the ground, as they then receive the full influence of the sun to their roots. Towards the end of February each plant must be

pruned to within six or eight buds of the base of the strong shoots, and to within two or three buds of those that are more weak; it will be as well. however, if the plants have very long shoots, to shorten these one third at the time of potting, as this prevents their being racked by the high winds of November, as before stated in this work. Autumnal pruning will tend to give an earlier bloom; therefore, one half of the plants may be finally pruned when potted, if this is the object sought for; the remainder in March, or even as late as April; indeed, this will give the exhibitor a chance of having some plants ready on the important day. In May, if the weather is hot and dry, the plants, although plunged and apparently moist, will require water daily; and once a week a regular soaking with guano water will ensure a most vigorous growth, and defy all attacks of the aphis or any other little pest, the grub excepted, which must be carefully sought for in all those young leaves on the flower stems which appear glued together.

The plants will require shifting annually; in general, pots of the same size will do, shaking all the mould clean from their roots, and giving them a fresh and rich compost. The middle or end of October is the best period for this annual shifting. I have before said it is most difficult to retard or force into bloom roses grown in pots in the open

air; however, removal into the greenhouse for a week or ten days, to force them if required, may be tried: to retard them, the method employed by the courtier, in the days of Elizabeth, to save his cherries for his queen, may be essayed, viz. stretch a piece of canvas on hoops over the plants, and keep it constantly wet, by sprinkling it with water.

I wish success to all those who intend to exhibit roses in pots, but must again caution them not to be soured by one or two disappointments, as the sun will shine and hasten, and clouds will come and retard, and possibly blight the hope of being able to exhibit twelve or twenty roses on some appointed day.

# PLANTING.

With the exception of the Perpetual Roses, which, in planting, can have the same treatment as recommended for the hard-wooded roses of the Summer Rose Garden, the transplanting of all the Autumnal Roses ought, in cold and wet situations, to be deferred till spring; and the beginning of May will, in ordinary seasons, be found the most eligible time for this operation. A few exceptions may be made; as Madame Desprez,

Dubourg, Splendens, Triomphe de Planteur, Bouquet de Flore, and some others, among the Bourbon Roses, are so hardy that our most severe winters do not injure them; but the varieties of Noisette, Chinese, Tea scented, Microphylla, and Macartney Roses, are very apt to receive injury from the frosts of winter, and the cutting winds of March, if the plants are not well established.

#### STOCKS FOR ROSES.

Hitherto the Dog Rose has been used almost indiscriminately for all kinds of roses for standards; nothing better is required, at least for those sorts that grow vigorously; but, in the culture of dwarfs, a great improvement may be made by using the different kinds of the Boursault Rose, the Celine, and the Rosa Manettii. Of the first named, there are three varieties eligible for stocks: the Blush or Rose de Lisle, the Crimson or Amadis, and the Reversa Rosa, an old rose, with curious curled petals. All these strike readily from cuttings planted in November in the open borders, and all are equally favourable: but the former is subject to mildew. The Crimson and Reversa never take this pest. The Crimson will, however, in the end be found the most eligible,

as it grows with such remarkable vigour, is so full of sap, so smooth, and so agreeable to bud. In describing varieties in the preceding pages, I have pointed out many that do not flourish on the Dog Rose; for these the Boursault and the following varieties should be used.

In making cuttings, take one-year-old shoots, and cut them into lengths of one foot: the bottom of the cutting should be cut close to a bud, and not sloping; the top should be cut just above a bud, with a gentle slope; then carefully cut out all the buds, but two at the top. In planting, the section of a ridge must be formed, the cutting placed firmly against it, and the earth dug up to it, and firmly pressed; when finished, the row of cuttings should stand in the centre of a ridge about eight inches high, and only one bud of the cutting above the surface; from being thus moulded up, no exhaustion takes place during the dry frosts of winter and spring, and every cutting will grow; in July or August of the following season they will be fit to bud. The ridge must then be levelled so as to expose the main stem of the cutting; and in this, at about six or eight inches from the bottom, the bud must be inserted; the stocks should be budded as soon as possible after being uncovered, or the bark will become rigid, and will not open freely.

The Celine Stock, a very old Hybrid Bourbon

Rose, will succeed under exactly the same treatment; this is a most excellent stock for Bourbon, Noisette (particularly the Cloth of Gold), and many other roses, if planted in a rich, moist soil; the second year it will make shoots from four to five feet in height, fit for low standards.

"Last, but not least," is the Rosa Manettii, a rose I received some eight or ten years since. from Como, from Signor Crivelli, who recommended it as the very best of all roses for a stock. It was raised from seed by Signor Manetti, of the Botanic Garden at Milan; cuttings of this may be prepared and planted exactly as recommended for the Boursault. All the roses I have budded on this stock have succeeded admirably; above all the Hybrid Perpetuals, which scarcely seem to know when to leave off growing and blooming in the autumn: indeed this stock is remarkable for its late growth: for it may be budded during the whole of September; another excellent quality is, that it never gives any suckers from its roots; and if planted in a stiff loam highly manured, it will, if cut down close to the ground, make shoots, in one season, six to eight feet in height; and will thus form fine standards. I have a stem of three years' growth, larger than a stout broom handle, and apparently increasing rapidly in girth; it seems to flourish equally in light and dry as well as in stiff soils; and it will, I trust, be of much value to the rose amateur, who, if the soil of his rose garden is light and dry, is so often troubled with the numerous suckers thrown up by the Dog Rose.

Stocks of the Dog Rose should always be planted in November. Those intended for dwarfs, may be cut to within six inches of the root, those for dwarf standards and standards to the requisite lengths. After planting, cover the surface of the soil near their roots with litter or fresh manure, four to six inches deep; in August of the following season, they will be in fine order for budding. Hedge budding, lately recommended in the Gardener's Chronicle, may be practised under particular circumstances: thus, if some fine stocks, that have been overlooked in autumn, are discovered in February, in lieu of removing them to the rose garden, bud them in the hedge in July or August following; attend to them the following summer, and remove them to the garden in the autumn. If removed with the dormant buds. the same autumn they are budded, they will, unless the plants are well rooted, not break well: but, if the stocks can be removed with tolerable roots it will, unless the hedge is very near the . house, be interesting to have them in the garden, so as to be able to watch over them carefully. By the former method, you will have very strong plants to remove into the garden, fifteen months

after budding; by the latter, you may remove your stocks with their buds three months after budding. You will probably lose a few of your plants, from their being deficient in roots, and some of your budded stocks will refuse to push or break, from the same cause. Your roses will ornament your hedge during the summer, prick your fingers, and give you some trouble to prune and superintend. Your buds will bloom in the garden, though not with equal vigour, still, if Hybrid Perpetuals or Bourbons, with much freedom, and they will constantly be under your eye. Take the scales of experience, and weigh carefully the advantages to be derived from the above methods. I can only say, that the culture of roses, whether in the garden or in the wilderness, is always interesting.

# LIST No. 1.

# AN ABRIDGED LIST OF ROSES,

Adapted for Amateurs possessing small Gardens, or for those beginning to form a Collection; selected so as to give the leading Variations of Colour.

# Provence Roses.

Crested.
Duchesne.
Grand Agathe.
Reine de Provence.
Triomphe d'Abbeville.
Unique.
Unique Striped.

### Moss Roses.

Blush.
Celina.
Eclatante.
French Crimson.
Malvina.
Pompone.
Prolific.
White Bath.

# Hybrid Provence Roses.

Blanchefleur.
Emerance.
Enchantresse.
La Ville de Londres.
Rose Devigne.
Princesse Clementine.
Madame l'Abbey.

# Hybrid China Roses.

Blairii. No. 2. Brennus. Chenédolé. Comtesse de Lacepède. Coupe d'Amour. Decandolle. Duke of Devonshire. Fulgens. General Allard. George the Fourth. Jenny. Kleber. Lady Stuart. Leopold de Bauffremont. Parigot. Triomphe d'Angers. Triomphe de Laqueue.

# Hybrid Bourbon Roses.

Charles Duval.
Colonel Combes.
Coupe d'Hébé.
Elizabeth Plantier.
Great Western.
Le Vesuve.
Paul Perras.
Richelieu.
Sylvain.

# French Roses.

Antonine d'Ormois.
Boula de Nanteuil.
Cyntie.
Grandissima.
Kean.
Latour d'Auvergne.
La Jeune Reine.
Letitia.
Madame Dubarry.
Oracle du Siècle.
Pharericus.
Triomphe de Jaussens.
Village Maid.

# Rosa Alba.

Duc de Luxembourg. Félicité. La Séduisante. Madame Campan. Princesse de Lambelle. Queen of Denmark. Sophie de Marsilly.

# Damask Roses.

Lady Fitzgerald.
La Ville de Bruxelles.
La Cherie.
Madame Hardy.
Madame Zoutman.
Penelope.
Pulcherie.
Semiramis.

Scotch Roses.

Erebus. Guy Mannering. La Neige.
Lady Baillie.
Queen of May.
True Yellow.
William the Fourth.
Venus.

### Sweet Briars.

Celestial.
Carmine.
Rose Angle.
Splendid.
Scarlet.

# Austrian Briars.

Copper.
Double Yellow.
Harrisonii.
Persian Yellow.

# Hybrid Perpetual Roses.

Aubernon.
Baronne Prevost.
Comte de Paris.
Dr. Marx.
Duc d'Aumale.
Duchess of Sutherland.
La Reine.
Madame Laffay.
Rivers.
William Jesse.

# Ayrshire Roses.

Ayrshire Queen. Blush. Dundee Rambler. Jessica. Ruga. Splendens.

Rosa Multiflora.

Crivellii. Elegans. Hybrida.

Evergreen Roses.
Adelaide d'Orleans.
Brunonii.
Donna Maria.
Félicité perpétué.
Myrianthes.
Princesse Louise.

Boursault Roses.

Blush. Crimson. Gracilis. Inermis.

Banksian Roses.

White. Yellow.

Hybrid Climbing Roses.
Indica Major.
Madame d'Arblay.
The Garland.
Rosa elegans.

Perpetual Roses.

Bernard. Crimson. Flon. Grand.
Josephine Antoinette.
Royal.

Bourbon Roses.

Armosa.
Augustine Lelieur.
Bouquet de Flore.
Emile Courtier.
Madame Margat.
Madame Nerard.
Paul Joseph.
Queen.
Souchet.
Souvenir de la Malmaison.
Splendens.

China Roses.

Archduke Charles.
Clara Sylvain.
Cramoisie supérieure.
Duchess of Kent.
Eugene Beauharnais.
Eugene Hardy.
Fabvier.
Grandiflora.
Madame Bréon.
Mrs. Bosanquet.
Napoléon.
Prince Charles.

Tea-scented Roses.

Barbot. Bougère. Caroline. Comte de Paris. Devoniensis.
Elisa Sauvage.
Goubault.
Josephine Malton.
Julie Mansais.
Marshal Bugeaud.
Pactolus.
Silène.
Triomphe du Luxembourg.
Yellow.

Miniature Roses.

Caprice des Dames. Gloire des Lawrences. Nigra. Pallida. Retour du Printemps.

Noisette Roses.

Aimée Vibert.
Boulogne.
Cerise.
Cloth of Gold.
Fellenberg.

Jaune Desprez.
Lamarque.
Luxembourg.
Miss Glegg.
Nankin.
Ne plus ultra.
Ophirie.
Pourpre de Tyr.
Solfaterre.
Victorieuse.

Musk Roses.

Eponine. Fringed. Princesse de Nassau.

Macartney Roses.

Maria Leonida.

Hardii.

Rosa microphylla.

Carnea. Coccinea. Purpurea.

# LIST No. 2.

# AN ALPHABETICAL LIST OF SHOW OR PRIZE ROSES.

All of which have large and very double flowers.

Readers are referred to the Catalogues published annually in September, and distributed gratis, in which the colours of the flowers are given, and the prices of the plants.

Name. Aurelie Lamare	French. alba. perpetual. French. Bourbon.
Blush Moss Boula de Nanteuil Bizarre marbrée Blanche fleur Belle Marie Beauté vive Brennus Becquet Bachelier Belle d'Auteuil Bougère Belle de St. Cyr Bouvet	French. French. hybrid Provence hybrid China. hybrid China. hybrid China. hybrid China. damask. damask. tea. hybrid Bourbon.
Curled Provence	

# LIST OF SHOW OR PRIZE ROSES. 243

Name. Cyntie	Family. French. French. French. hybrid Bourbon. hybrid China. alba. perpetual.
Clara Sylvain Cramoisie supérieure Caroline Cambronne Celina Charles Fouquier Chateaubriand	China. China. tea. French. moss. hybrid China. damask.
Chenédolé	hybrid China. French. tea. hybrid Bourbon. Provence.
Duchess of Buccleuch Duchesse d'Angoulême Duke of Devonshire Duc de Luxembourg Devoniensis Double-margined Hip Dr. Marx Duchesse d Abrantes	French. hybrid Provence. hybrid China. alba. tea. hybr. sweet briar. hybrid perpetual. French.
Duchess of Sutherland	hybrid perpetual. damask.  French. French. hybrid Bourbon. hybrid Provence.
Emile Courtier Eugène Beauharnais	Bourbon. China.

# 244 LIST OF SHOW OR PRIZE ROSES.

Name.	Family.
Elisa Sauvage	tea.
Emerance	hybrid Provence.
French Crimson	moss.
Fanny Parissot	French.
Fleur d'Amour	French.
Felicité	alba.
Fulgorie	hybrid perpetual.
Flon	perpetual.
Grandissima	French.
Grande Agathe	
Great Western	hybrid Bourbon.
Guerin's Gift	French.
George the Fourth	hybrid China.
General Allard	hybrid China.
Gil Blas	French.
Heureuse surprise	Franch
Hortense Leroy	hybrid Roughon
Hypocrate	
Trypocrate	nybrid China.
Illustre beauté	Provence
indstre beaute	1 TO VOLICO.
Josephine Beauharnais	alha
Jeanne d'Urfé	hybrid Provence
, came a 0116	nyona i rovence.
Kean	Franch
ALUMII	i ichon.
Laura	hybrid Provence.
La Ville de Gand	French,
Leon the Tenth	French.
La Nationale	French.
L'Ingénue	
Lady Stuart	hybrid China.

Name. Lusseldembourg La Grandeur La Séduisante La Ville de Bruxelles Lady Fitzgerald Lamarque La Cherie Lady Alice Peel Latour d'Auvergne La Ville de Londres Letitia, or La Volupté	Family. hybrid Bourbon. hybrid China. alba. damask. damask. Noisette. damask. hydrid perpetual. French. hybrid Provence. French.
Matthieu Molé Madame Dubarry Melanie Madame Campan Madame Hardy Madame Nerard Madame Aude Madame Huet Madame Laffay Marie de Medicis Modeste Guerin Moiré Mrs. Bosanquet	tea.
Nelly  Nero  New Double Globe	hybrid Provence.
Orpheline de Juillet Oracle du Siècle	French.
Paul Joseph	hybrid Bourbon.

# 246 LIST OF SHOW OR PRIZE ROSES.

Name. Prolifère	hybrid China. alba. tea.
Queen of Denmark	alba.
Reine de Provence Rien ne me surpasse Richelieu Richelieu (Duval) Rivers Requien Rose Devigne Royal	
Schönbrun Semilasso Semiramis Shakspere Spotted Sir Walter Scott Sophie de Marsilly Splendens Sylvain Sylvain	French. hybrid Provence. damask. French. Provence. French. alba. Bourbon. Provence. hybrid Bourbon
Theodora	hybrid Provence. tea. hybrid China. French. hybrid China. China.

Victor Hugo	hybrid China. hybrid China. hybrid China. damask.
Wellington White Bath William Jesse	moss.

# LIST No. 3.

# LIST OF FREE-BLOOMING HYBRID PER-PETUAL ROSES,

Of uniform growth, adapted for rows or avenues of standards. — See page 153.

Aubernon.
Augustine Mouchelet.
Baronne Prevost.
Comte de Paris.
Comtesse Duchatel.
Dr. Marx.
Duc d'Aumale.
Duchess of Sutherland.
Edward Jesse.
Julie Dupont.
Lady Alice Peel.
Lady Elphinstone.
Lady Sefton.
Lane.

La Reine.
Lilacée.
Louis Bonaparte.
Madame Emma pierre.
Madame Laffay.
Marquise Roccella.
Marquis of Ailsa.
Mrs. Elliott.
Prince of Wales.
Rivers.
Robin Hood.
William Jesse.

# LIST No. 4.

# LIST OF VIGOROUS-GROWING BOURBON ROSES,

Adapted for large standards for rows or avenues. See page 164.

Acidalie.
Alfred.
Amenaide.
Bouquet de Flore.
Cardinal Fesch.
Desgaches.
Edouard Desfosses.
Emile Courtier.
Gloire de la Guillotière.
Impératrice Josephine.
Julie de Loynes.
Lavinie d'Ost.

La Gracieuse.
Le Grenadier.
Madame Aubis.
Madame Desprez.
Madame Lacharme.
Pierre de St. Cyr.
Splendens.
Triomphe de la Guillotière.
Triomphe de Plantier.
Virgil.

THE END.

London:
Printed by A. Spottiswoods,
New-Street-Square.

# A CATALOGUE OF

# NEW WORKS AND NEW EDITIONS

PRINTED FOR

MESSRS. LONGMAN, BROWN, GREEN, AND LONGMANS, LONDON.

### CLASSIFIED INDEX.

ACRICULTURE & RURAL AFFAIRS.	Pager
Pages	Southey's Lives of the British Admirals - 28
Bayldon on Valuing Rents, etc. • - 6	" Life of Wesley 28
	Townsend's Lives of Twelve eminent
Crocker's Land Surveying 9 Davy's Agricultural Chemistry - 9	Judges 30
	Waterton's Autobiography and Essays - 31
Johnson's Farmer's Encyclopædia - 15	BOOKS OF GENERAL UTILITY.
Loudon's Encyclopædia of Agriculture - 18	
,, Self-Instruction for Farmers, etc. 17	Acton's (Eliza) Cookery Book - 5
" (Mrs.) Lady's Country Companion 17	Black's Treatise on Brewing 6
Low's Breeds of the Domesticated Animals	,, Supplement on Bavarian Beer - 6
of Great Britain 19	Collegian's Guide 8
,, Elements of Agriculture 19	Donovan's Domestic Economy 10
,, On Landed Property 18	Hand-Book of Taste 12
On the Domesticated Animals - 18	Hints on Etiquette 13
Whitley's Agricultural Geology 32	Hudson's Parent's Hand-Book 14
	, Executor's Guide • • 14
ARTS, MANUFACTURES, AND	On Making Wills 14
ARCHITECTURE.	Loudon's Self Instruction 17
	Maunder's Treasury of Knowledge • • 20
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Litera-	,, Scientific and Literary Treasury 21
ture, and Art 6	T
Budge's Miner's Guide 7	Pierrentical Tracerum 91
De Burtin on the Knowledge of Pictures 9	Universal Class-Book 21
Eastlake's History of Oil Painting 10	Parkes's Domestic Duties 23
Gruner's Decorations of the Queen's	Pycroft's Course of English Reading - 24
Pavilion 12	
Gwilt's Encyclopædia of Architecture - 12	
Haydon's Lectures on Painting & Design 13	
Holland's Manufactures in Metal 13	
Lerebours On Photography 17	Thomson's Management of Sick Room - 30
Loudon's Encyclopædia of Cottage, Farm,	,, Interest Tables 30 Tomlins' Law Dictionary 30
and Villa Architecture and Furniture - 18	Tomlins' Law Dictionary 30
Maitland's Church in the Catacombs - 20	Webster's Encycl. of Domestic Economy 31
Porter's Manufacture of Silk 24	
Porcelain & Glass 24	BOTANY AND CARDENING.
Reid (Dr.) on Warming and Ventilating 25	Abercromble's Practical Gardener - 5
	M-!-!- C!-
Ure's Dictionary of Arts, Manufactures,	Companion 5
and Mines 31	Callcott's Scripture Herbal 7
BIOGRAPHY.	Conversations on Botany 8
	Drummond's First Steps to Botany - 10
	Glendinning On the Pine Apple 11
Bell's Lives of the British Poets - 6	Greenwood's (Col.) Tree-Lifter - 12
Dover's Life of the King of Prussia - 10	Grimblot's William III. and Louis XIV. 12
Dunham's Early Writers of Britain 10, Lives of the British Dramatists 10	Henslow's Botany 13
,, Lives of the British Dramatists 10	Hoare On the Grape Vine on Open Walls 13
Forster's Statesmen of the Commonwealth	,, On the Roots of Vines 13
of England 11	Hooker's British Flora 13
Gleig's Lives of the most Eminent British	, and Taylor's Muscologia Britannica 13
Military Commanders 11	Jackson's Pictorial Flora 15
Grant (Mrs.) Memoir and Correspondence 11	Lindley's Theory of Horticulture 17
James's Life of the Black Prince - 15	,, Orchard and Kitchen Garden - 17
., Eminent Foreign Statesmen - 15	,, Introduction to Botany 17
Lal's (M.) Life of Dost Mahomed 21	,, Flora Medica 17
Leslie's Life of Constable 17	. Synopsis of British Flora 17
Life of a Travelling Physician 17	Loudon's Hortus Britannicus 18
Mackintosh's Life of Sir T. More - 19	,, Hortus Lignosus Londinensis - 18
Maunder's Biographical Treasury - 21	" Encyclopædia of Trees & Shrubs 18
Mignet's Antonio Perez and Philip II 21	,, Gardening - 18
Roberts's Life of the Duke of Monmouth 25	
Roscoe's Lives of Eminent British Lawyers 25	Culumban Candanan
Russell's Bedford Correspondence - 26	" Salf Instanction for C-1
Shelley's Eminent Literary Men of Italy.	etc 17
	Repton's Landscape Gardening and Land-
etc. 27 Eminent French Writers - 27	acape Architecture

THE RESIDENCE The street of the Tenned idowene 1 THE REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON ADDRESS OF THE PERSON AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON ADDRESS OF TARE . - THE TREET THE THE PARTY OF T The state of the state of - 1005 10 100 SHIPESHELL, THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN 1 THE REAL PROPERTY. A CONTROLLED and the same of 17 多量 in the laint 3185 III 400 mis with he The second THE REAL PROPERTY.

The second secon

hormanly religions to la labority ex-

or industry, I

discrete mark
in house it is a reand Turkes gibb
position the ser
immediately redefined in the redefined in the re-

an opposit in special in special

Barby Bu

n i is know have

CELL DE SET A SEC

ST TENTE IN THE

THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN

THE RESIDENCE OF

Billio an

Section in

Applement.

N. Principal

E POPULATION OF THE PERSON OF

BE CANADA

Name of Street, or other Persons and Perso

and the last sense

a in the line I Liberton DE PROPERTY le still de la constitución de l

STATE OF

be instant

The same

Principal of the Control of the Cont

Silver Service Service

No. of London

No. of Concession, Name of Street, or other Persons, Name of Street, or ot

Service of the least of the lea

No. of London

No.

Name of the last

-1000

-

There

1200

1

-

			-	_		_
					Pag	res
- og	ineer	ring				9 11
	ure				-	12
	nd S	hanh	-	-		15
	nor S	-		6		18
	ure					18
10	80.	-				18
	rchite	ectur	е	: .		18
	hical ical I	, Sta	tistic	al, a	nd	19
Jer	ce	-	nary	-		19
pæ	dia o	f Geo	grap	hv		22
	tures	ane	1 Mi	nés		31
itic	Econ	iomy		-	-	31
AN	DT	HE	DR	AM	Δ.	- 11
	Poe		-		n.	26
	aksp		1	0		26
or G	ray				-	8 1
0.01	Rems	ins	-			8
one	Ball	ads	-		-	8
il ho	ose G Wri	rarue wht	n	0	-	8
ms	-	-	-	-		9
	nated		-	-	-	ii II
- ma			-			13
1.33	71		-	-	-	29 16
nolog	Vorks	ronia	neie		-	16
- of	Ancie	nt R	ome			19
th E	akes	-	-	20	0	19
l'oeti	akes cal V	Vork!	5		-	21
M Le	orks	-				21
Knok	h	-	-			22
leloc	lies			7	-	22
nee						22 24
-					-	24
OX.					-	25
outrels	y	-				27
Linw	nod					27
Heal V	Vork	S			-	28 28
ish P	wman	1	7	-	-	26
Woods	octo				11.	28
asons					-	29
uard I	11.		-	-	-	30
	ics o				-	31
CAL				1A	4D	
STA	TIST	TICS				
nking	-	-	-	*	-	11
Geogra	phic	al, St	tatist	ical,	and	
Dictio Literate a Taxa atistics oce as tory of on Qu	nary	e Dal	1 T		-	19
n Taxa	tion :	and b	nnd	no	my	19
atistics	of t	he Br	ritish	Em	pire	19
oce as	a Kir	gdor	n			28
ory of	Price	28	-	-	-	30
						31
CIOUS	IA c	ND	MO	RAL	-	45.0
WOR t, edite tys on Greek	KS,	ET	C.		120	-
t, edite	d by	Rev.	W.	Sew	ell	5 5
lys on	Tout	ursu	to ti	Trut	n -	6
Colles	re an	d Scl	lool	ditto	-	6
Lexic	on to	Gree	ek Te	estan	ent	6
Colleg Lexic	fthe	Futu	re			7
Istian F	nilos	ophy	-	1.5	-	7
istian F eriptur	e Her	bal				6 7 7 7 7 8
			-	-	-	8
estic L	iturg	y		-		9
nday L	ibrar	y -		117		28
s ramu	y Exp	posit	Chal	doe C	on-	10
0.0	redon	co n	f the	Bib	le -	16
000	I O	0	ndon	ce of	the	
	ek C					10

Bibli ament

Pages	Pages
Fitzroy's (Lady) Scripture Conversations 11	Holland's Manufactures in Metal 13
Forster's Historical Geography of Arabia 11	Humboldt's Kosmos 14
	Hunt's Researches on Light - 15 Kane's Elements of Chemistry - 15
Gertrude, edited by the Rev. W. Sewell . 11	
Hook's (Dr.) Lectures on Passion Week 13	
Horne's Introduction to the Study of the Scriptures 14	Lardner's Cabinet Cyclopædia 16
,, Compendium of ditto 14	Hydrostatics and Pneumatics - 16
Horsley's (Bp.) Biblical Criticism 14	and Walker's Electricity - 10
Paslma 14	Lardner's Arithmetic 16
Jebb's Protestant Kempls 15	Geometry 10
Pastoral Instructions - 15	Treatise on Heat 10
	Lerebours On Photography 17 Lloyd On Light and Vision - 19
Knox's (Alexander) Remains 16 Laing's Notes on the German Catholic	
Laing's Notes on the German Catholic	Mackenzie s Physiology of vision
Schism 16	Moseley's Practical Mechanics - 22
Laneton Parsonage 16 Maitland's Church in the Catacombs - 20	
Marriage Gift 20	Navrien's Flements of Geometry 26
Michelet's Priests, Women, and Families 21	Astronomy and Geodesy 20
, and Quinet's Jesuits 21	Nesbit's Mensuration 22
Milner's Church History 22	Owen's Lectures On Comparative Anatomy 23
Mosheim's Ecclesiastical History 21	Paruell On Roads 23
Parables (The) 23	Pearson's Practical Astronomy - 23 Peschel's Physics 24
Parkes's Domestic Duties 23	Peschel's Physics 24 Phillips's Palmozoic Fossils of Cornwall, etc. 24
Peter Plymley's Letters 24	
ritman's Sermons on the Pasims 24	manufacture Confirmation 94
Riddle's Letters from a Godfather 25 Robinson's Greek and English Lexicon	Introduction to Mineralogy - 24
to the New Testament 25	Poisson's Mechanics 24
Sandford On Female Improvement - 26	Portlock's Report on the Geology of
, On Woman 26	Londonderry 24
, 's Parochialia 26	Powell's Natural Philosophy 24
Sermon on the Mount (The) oa	Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society 24
Shepherd's Horse Apostolicse 27	Ritchie (Robert) on Railways - 25 Roberts's Dictionary of Geology - 25
Smith's Female Disciple 27	Roberts's Dictionary of Geology 25
,, (U.) remous times 27	Sandhurst Mathematical Course - 26 Scott's Arithmetic and Algebra - 26
,, Kengion of Ancient Britain 27	Scott's Arithmetic and Algebra - 26 Trigonometry 26
	Trigonometry 26 Thomson's Algebra 29
Stebbing's Church History 28	Wilkinson's Engines of War 32
Tate's History of St. Paul 20	
Tayler's (Rev.C.B.) Margaret; or, the Pearl 20	TRAVELO
,, ,, Sermons 20	TRAVELS.
,, Dora Melder 20	Allan's Mediterranean 5
Lady Mary 90	Beale's Vale of the Towey 6
Taylor's (Jeremy) Works 29	Cooley's World Surveyed 8
Tomline's Christian Theology 30 ,, Introduction to the Bible - 30	Costello's (Miss) North Wales 9
Trollone's Analecta Theologica - 20	De Custine's Russia 9
Trollope's Analecta Theologica - 30 Turner's Sacred History - 30	De Strzelecki's New South Wales 9
Wardlaw On Socialian Controversy 21	Erman's Travels through Siberia 8
Weil's Bible, Koran, and Talmud - 31 Whitley's Life Everlasting - 32	Harris's Highlands of Acthionia 12
Whitley's Life Everlasting 32	Howitt's (R.) Australia Felix - 14 Laing's Notes of a Traveller 16
Wilberforce's View of Christianity _ 29	
Willoughby's (Lady) Diary 32	Tourin Sweden 16
RURAL SPORTS.	Life of a Travelling Physician - 17
Biaine's Dictionary of Sports - 6	Mackay's English Lakes 19
Hansard's Fishing in Wales 19	Montauban's Wanderings 21
Hawker's Instructions to Sportemen 12	Parrot's Ascent of Mount Ararat - 8
Loudon's (Mrs.) Lady's Country Companion 17 Stable Talk and Table Talk 28	Paton's (A.A.) Servia 23
Stable Talk and Table Talk 28	,, Modern Syrians 23
THE SCIENCES IN CENERAL.	Pedestrian Reminiscences 23
	Paton's (A.A.) Servia 23   Modern Syrians - 23   Pedestrian Reminiscences 23   Seaward's Narrative of his Shipwreck - 26   Strong's Greece as a Kingdom - 28
AND MATHEMATICS.	i onongeoreccessaminguom – – 21 i
Bakewell's Introduction to Geology - 5	Von Orlich's Travels in India - 21
Balmain's Lessons on Chemistry 6	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31
Balmain's Lessons on Chemistry 6	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Litera-	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Litera-	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 9
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Litera- ture, and Art 6 Brewster's Optics 7	Veterinary Medicine  Veterinary Medicine  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse Field's Veterinary Records - 11
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art - 6 Brewster's Optics - 7 Conversations on Mineralogy - 8	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 8  Field's Veterinary Records - 11  Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art Brewster's Optics Conversations on Mineralogy Dela Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Donovan's Chemistry	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 11  Field's Veterinary Records 11  Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22  W. Medicine - 22
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art - 6 Brewster's Optics - 7 Conversations on Mineralogy - 8 De la Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Donovan's Chemistry - 10 Elliot's Geometry - 10	Von Orlich's Travels in India - 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 9  Field's Veterinary Records Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22  Miles On the Horse's Foot - 21  Miles On the Horse's Foot - 21
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art 6 Brewster's Optics 7 Conversations on Mineralogy 8 De la Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Donovan's Chemistry 10 Ellilot's Geometry 10 Farer on the Steam Knoine 10	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 8 Field's Veterinary Records 11 Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22 Miles On the Horse's Foot 21 Percivall's Hipponshhology - 23
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art - 6 Brewster's Optics - 7 Conversations on Mineralogy - 8 De la Becche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Elliot's Geommistry - 10 Farey on the Steam Kngine - 10 Fosbroke on the Arts of the Ancients - 11	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 8 Field's Veterinary Records 11 Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22 Miles On the Horse's Foot - 22 Miles On the Horse's Foot - 21 Percivall's Hippopathology - 23 Spooner on the Foot and Learfeth Horse - 22 Spooner on the Foot and Learfeth Horse
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art - 6 Brewster's Optics - 7 Conversations on Mineralogy - 8 De la Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Donovan's Chemistry - 10 Elliot's Geometry - 10 Farey on the Steam Engine - 10 Fosbroke on the Arts of the Ancients - 11 Greener on the Gun - 12	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 8 Field's Veterinary Records 11 Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22 Miles On the Horse's Foot 21 Percivall's Hippopathology - 23 Spooner on the Foot and Leg of the Horse 28 Spooner on the Foot and Leg of the Horse 28
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art - 6 Brewster's Optics - 7 Conversations on Mineralogy - 8 De la Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 De la Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Elliot's Geommistry - 10 Farey on the Steam Kngine - 10 Fosbroke on the Arts of the Ancients - 11 Greener on the Gun - 12 Herschel's Natural Philosophy - 13	Von Orlich's Travels in India 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 8 Field's Veterinary Records 11 Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22 Miles On the Horse's Foot - 21 Percivall's Hippopathology - 23 ,,, Anatomy of the Horse - 23 Spooner on the Foot and Leg of the Horse 28 Siable Talk and Table Talk 22  Turner On the Foot of the Horse - 28  Turner On the Foot of the Horse - 28
Brande's Dictionary of Science, Literature, and Art - 6 Brewster's Optics - 7 Conversations on Mineralogy - 8 De la Beche on the Geology of Cornwall, etc. 9 Donovan's Chemistry - 10 Elliot's Geometry - 10 Farey on the Steam Engine - 10 Fosbroke on the Arts of the Ancients - 11 Greener on the Gun - 12	Von Orlich's Travels in India - 31  VETERINARY MEDICINE  Centaur's Two Books on the Horse - 8  Field's Veterinary Records - 11  Morton's Veterinary Toxicological Chart 22  Miles On the Horses - 23  Percivall's Hippopathology - 23  Anatomy of the Horse - 23  Spooner on the Foot and Leg of the Horse 28  Stable Talk and Table Talk - 28

### NEW WORKS AND NEW EDITIONS.

- ABERCROMBIE. ABERCROMBIE'S PRACTICAL GARDENER. AND IMPROVED SYSTEM OF MODERN HORTCULTURE, alphabetically arranged. 4th Edition, with an Introductory Treatise on Vegetable Physiology, and Plates by W. Salisbury. 12mo. 6e. boards.
- ABERCROMBIE AND MAIN.—THE PRACTICAL GARDENER'S COM-PANION; Or, Horticultural Calendar: to which is added, the Garden-Seed and Plant Estimate. Edited from a MS, of J. Abercromble, by J. Main. 8th Edition. 32mo. 3s. 6d. sewed.
- ACTON (MISS).—MODERN COOKERY,
  In all its Branches, reduced to a System of Easy Practice. For the use of Private Families.
  In a Series of Practical Receipts, all of which have been strictly tested, and are given with
  the most minute exactness. Dedicated to the Young Housekeepers of England. By Eliza
  Acton. New Edition, improved. Foolscap Svo. with Woodcuts, 7s. 6d. cloth.
- ADAIR (SIR ROBERT).—AN HISTORICAL MEMOIR OF A MISSION TO THE COURT OF VIEINA IN 1806. By the Right Honorable SIr Robert Adair, G. C. B. With a Selection from his Despatches, published by permission of the proper Authorities. 8vo. 18s. cloth.
- ADAIR (SIR ROBERT) —THE NEGOTIATIONS FOR THE PEACE OF THE DARDANELLES, in 1808-9; with Despatches and Official Documents. By the Right Honorable Sir Robert Adair, G.C.B. Being a Sequel to the Memoir of his Mission to Vienna in 1806. 2 vols. 8vo. 28s. cloth.
- ADDISON.—THE KNIGHTS TEMPLARS.
  - By C.G. Addison, of the Inner Temple. 2d Edition, enlarged. Square crown 8vo. with Illustrations, 18s. cloth.
- ADDISON.-THE TEMPLE CHURCH IN LONDON:
  - History and Antiquities. By C. G. Addison, Esq., of the Inner Temple, author of "The History of the Knights Templars." Square crown 8vo. with 6 Plates, 5s. cloth.
- FULL AND COMPLETE GUIDE, HISTORICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE, TO THE TEMPLE CHURCH. (From Mr. Addison's "History of the Temple Church.") Square crown Syo. le sewed.
- ADSHEAD (JOSEPH).—PRISONS AND PRISONERS.
  By Joseph Adshead. 8yo, with Illustrations, 7s, 6d, cloth.
- AIKIN.—THE LIFE OF JOSEPH ADDISON.

  Illustrated by many of his Letters and Private Papers never before published. By Lucy Aikin. 2 vols. post 8 vo. with Potratit from Sir Godfrey Kneller's Picture, 18s. cloth.
- ALLAN (J. H.)-A PICTORIAL TOUR IN THE MEDITERRANEAN; Comprising Malta, Dalmatia, Turkey, Asia Minor, Grecian Archipelago, Egypt, Nubia, Greece, Sicily, Italy, and Spain. By J. H. Allan, Member of the Athenian Archicological Society, and of the Egyptian Society of Cairo. 2d Edition. Imperial 4to. with upwards of 40 lithographed Drawings, and 70 Wood Engravings, 31.3s. cloth.
- AMY HERBERT.
  - By a Lady. Edited by the Rev. William Sewell, B.D. of Exeter College, Oxford. 3d Edition. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. 9s. cloth.
- ARTISAN CLUB (THE).—A TREATISE ON THE STEAM ENGINE.

  By the Artisan Club. 4to. with 30 Steel Plates, etc., and about 350 Wood Engravings,

  27s. cloth.
  - • Nos. 1 to 23, 1s. each; No. 24 (on June 1st), 2s. sewed. Back Numbers to complete Sets may still be had.
- BAILEY.—ESSAYS ON THE PURSUIT OF TRUTH,
  And on the Progress of Knowledge. By Samuel Bailey, author of "Essays on the Formation
  and Publication of Opinions," "Berkeley's Theory of Vision," etc. 2d Edition, revised
  and en
- BAKEWELL.-AN INTRODUCTION TO GEOLOGY. Intended to convey Practical Knowledge of the Science, and comprising the most important recent Discoveries; with Explanations of the Facts and Phenomena which serve to confirm or invalidate various Geological Theories. By Robert Bakewell. Fifth Edition, considerably enlarged. Svo. with numerous Plates and Woodcuts, 21s. cloth.

BALMAIN.—LESSONS ON CHEMISTRY,
For the Use of Pupils in Schools, Junior Students in Universities, and Readers who wish to
learn the fundamental Principles and leading Facts: with Questions for Examination,
Glossaries of Chemical Terms and Chemical Symbols, and an Index. By William H. Balmain. With numerous Woodcuts, illustrative of the Decompositions. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

BAYLDON.-THE ART OF VALUING RENTS AND TILLAGES,

And the Tenant's Right of Entering and Quitting Yarms, explained by several Specimens of Valuations; and Remarks on the Cultivation pursued on Soils in different Situations. Adapted to the Use of Landlords, Land-Agents, Appraisers, Farmers, and Tenants. By J. S. Bayldon. 6th Edition, corrected and revised by John Donaldson, 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

BEALE (ANNE).—THE VALE OF THE TOWEY;
Or, Sketches in South Wales. By Anne Beale. Post 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.
"The great merit of Miss Beale's book is its truth, which leaves a strong impression on the reader's mind."—Speciator.

CORRESPONDENCE. - CORRESPONDENCE OF JOHN. BEDFORD FOURTH DUKE OF BEDFORD, selected from the Originals at Woburn Abbey: with Introductions by Lord John Russell. 8vo. vol. 1 (1742-88), 18s. cloth; vol. 2 (1749-60), 15s. cl. . Vol. III, to complete the work, is nearly ready.

BELL.—LIVES OF THE MOST EMINENT ENGLISH POETS.
By Robert Bell, Esq. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.

BELL.—THE HISTORY OF RUSSIA,
From the Earliest Period to the Treaty of Tilsit. By R. Bell, Esq. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. 18s.

BLACK.—A PRACTICAL TREATISE ON BREWING.

Based on Chemical and Economical Principles: with Formulæ for Public Brewers, and
Instructions for Private Families. By William Black. Third Edition, revised and corrected, with considerable Additions. The Additions revised by Professor Graham, of the
London University. 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

SUPPLEMENT, of REMARKS on BAVARIAN BEER, London Porter, the Influence of Electricity on Fermentation, and other Subjects. By William Black. 8vo. 2s. 6d. sewed.

BLAINE. - AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF RURAL SPORTS:

Or, a complete Account, Historical, Practical, and Descriptive, of Hunting, Shooting, Fishing, Racing, and other Field Sports and Athletic Amusements of the present day. By Celabere P. Blaine, Esq., author of "Outlines of the Veterinary Art," "Canine Pathology," etc. etc. With nearly 600 Engravings on Wood, by R. Branston, from Drawings by Alken, T. Landseer, Dickes, etc. 8vo. 22. 10g. cloth.

BLAIR'S CHRONOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL TABLES,

From the Creation to the present Time: with Additions and Corrections from the most authentic Writers: including the Computation of St. Paul, as connecting the Period from the Exode to the Temple. Under the revision of Sir Henry Ellis, K.H., Principal Librarian of the British Museum. Imperial 870. 31s. 6d. half-bound morocco.

BLOOMFIELD.—THE HISTORY OF THE PELOPONNESIAN WAR.

By Thucydides. Newly Translated into English, and accompanied with very copions
Notes, Philological and Explanatory, Historical and Geographical. By the Rev. S. T.
Bloomfield, D.D. F.S.A. 3 vols. 8vo. with Maps and Plates, 21. 5s. boards.

BLOOMFIELD.-THE HISTORY OF THE PELOPONNESIAN WAR.

By Thucydides. A New Recension of the Text, with a carefully amended Punctuation; and copious Notes, Critical, Philological, and Explanatory, almost entirely original, but partly selected and arranged from the best Expositors: accompanied with full indexes, both of Greek Words and Pansa eness explained, and matters discussed in the Notes. Illustrated by Maps and Plans, mostly taken from actual Survey. By the Rev. S. T. Bloomfield, D.D. F.S. A. 2vols. 3vo. 38t. cloth.

BLOOMFIELD .- THE CREEK TESTAMENT:

With copious English Notes, Critical, Philological, and Explanatory. By the Rev. S. T. Bloomfield, D.D. F.S.A. 6th Edit. improved. 2 vols. 8vo. with a Map of Palestine, 40s. cloth.

BLOOMFIELD. — THE GREEK TESTAMENT FOR COLLEGES AND SCHOOLS; with English Notes. By the Rev. S.T. Bloomfield, D.D. Fourth Edition, enlarged and improved, accompanied with a New Map of Syria and Palestine, adapted to the New Testament and Josephus, and an Index of Greek Words and Phrases explained in the Notes. 12mo.10s. 6d. cloth.

BLOOMFIELD,-GREEK AND ENGLISH LEXICON TO THE NEW TESTAMENT: especially adapted to the use of Colleges, and the Higher Classes in Public Schools; but also intended as a convenient Manual for Biblical Students in general. By Dr. Bloombeld. 2d Edition, enlarged, and improved. 12mo. on wider paper, 10s. 6d. cloth.

BOY'S OWN BOOK (THE):
A Complete Encyclopedia of all the Diversions, Athletic, Scientific, and Recreative, of Boybood and Youth. 20th Edition. Square 12mo., with many Engravings on Wood, 6s. boards.

BRANDE.—A DICTIONARY OF SCIENCE, LITERATURE, AND ART; Comprising the History, Description, and Scientific Principles of every Branch of Human Knowledge; with the Derivation and Definition of all the Terms in general use. Edited by W.T. Brande, F.R.S. L. and E.; assisted by J. Cauvin. The various departments by Gentlemen of eminence in each. 8vo. with Wood-engravings, 3J. cloth.

BRAY (MRS.)—MRS. BRAY'S NOVELS AND ROMANCES, Revised and corrected by Mrs. Brsy. In 10 vols. fcap 8vo., uniformly with the "Standard Novels," with Frontispieces and Vignettes from Designs and Sketches by the late Thomas Stothard, R.A.; C. A. Stothard, F.S.A.; Henry Warren, Esq.; etc. 31. cloth; or the Works separately 62. each, as follows:

Vol. I. "The White Hoods," with portrait of the Author, a view of her residence; and General Preface to the Series; Vol. II. "The Protestant;" -Vol. IV. "Fits of Fits-

Ford;"—Vol. V. "The Taiba;"—Vol. VI. "Warleigh;"—Vol. VII. "Trelawny;"
Vol. VIII. "Trials of the Heart;"—
Vol. IX. "Henry de Pomeroy;"—Vol. X. "Courtenay of Walreddon."

BRAY.-THE PHILOSOPHY OF NECESSITY;

Or, the Law of Consequences as applicable to Mental, Moral, and Social Science. By Charles Brav. 2 vols. 8vo. 15s. cloth.

BREWSTER.-A TREATISE ON OPTICS.

By Sir David Brewster, LL.D. F.R.S. etc. New Edition. Foolscap 8vo. with vignette title, and 176 Woodcuts, 6s. cloth.

BUDGE (J.)-THE PRACTICAL MINER'S CUIDE:

Comprising a Set of Trigonometrical Tables adapted to all the purposes of Oblique or Diagonal, Vertical, Horizontal, and Traverse Dialling; with their application to the Dial, Exercise of Drifts, Lodes, Slides, Levelling, Inaccessible Distances, Heights, etc. By J. Budge. New Edition, considerably enlarged, 8vo. with Portrait of the Author. 12s. cloth.

BULL.-THE MATERNAL MANAGEMENT OF CHILDREN,

In HEALTH and DISEASE. By Thomas Bull, M.D. Physician Accoucheur to the Finsbury Midwifery Institution, etc. 2d Edition, revised and enlarged. Foolscap 8vo. 7s. cloth.

BULL.-HINTS TO MOTHERS,

For the Management of Health during the Period of Pregnancy and in the Lying-in Room; with an Exposure of Popular Errors in connexion with those subjects. By Thomas Bull, M.D. Physician Accoucheur to the Finsbury Midwifery Institution, etc. 4th Edition, revised and considerably enlarged. Foolscap 8vo. 7s. cloth.

BUNSEN (C. C. J.)-THE CHURCH OF THE FUTURE:

Or, an Inquiry into its Prospects, Constitution, and Import, with especial reference to the Church of Prussia. To which is appended, a Correspondence with the Right Hon. William Gladstone. By the Chevaller C. C. J. Bunsen. Translated, under the superintendence of the Chevaller Bunsen, by the Rev. Leopold J. Bernsys, Fellow of St. John's College, Oxford. [In the press.]

BUNSEN —AN INQUIRY INTO THE HISTORY, ARTS AND SCIENCES, LANGUAGE, WRITING, MYTHOLOGY, and CHRONOLOGY of ANCIENT EGYPP: with the peculiar Position of that Nation in reference to the Universal History of Mankind. By the Chevalier C. C. J. Bunsen. Translated from the German, under the Author's superintendence, by C. H. Cottrell, Eaq.; with additional matter, furnished by the Author. 2 vols. 870. with numerous Plates.

THE PRINCIPLES OF CHRISTIAN PHILOSOPHY BURNS.-Containing the Doctrines, Duties, Admonitions, and Consolations of the Christian Religion. By John Burns, M.D. F.R.S. 5th Edition. 12mo. 7s. boards.

BURNS.—CHRISTIAN FRAGMENTS;
Or, Remarks on the Nature, Precepts, and Comforts of Religion. By John Burns, M.D. F.R.S. Professor of Surgery in the University of Glasgow, author of "The Principles of Christian Philosophy." Foolscap 8vo. 5s. Cloth.

BUTLER.—A SKETCH OF MODERN AND ANCIENT GEOGRAPHY. By Samuel Butler, D.D., late Lord Bishop of Lichfield and Coventry; and formerly Head Master of Shrewsbury School. New Edition, revised by his Son. 8vo.9s. boards.

BUTLER.—AN ATLAS OF MODERN GEOGRAPHY.

Consisting of Twenty-three coloured Maps, from a New Set of Plates; with an Index of all the Names of Places, referring to the Latitudes and Longitudes. By the late Dr. Butler, Bishop of Lichfield. New Edition, corrected. 8vo.12. half-bound.

BUTLER.—AN ATLAS OF ANCIENT CEOCRAPHY.

Consisting of Twenty-three coloured Maps: with an Index of all the Names of Places, referring to the Latitudes and Longitudes. By the late Dr. Butler, Bishop of Lichfield. New Edition, corrected. 8vo. 12s. half-bound.

BUTLER.—A GENERAL ATLAS OF MODERN AND ANCIENT GEOGRAPHY. Consisting of Forty-five coloured Maps, and copious Indices referring to the Latitudes an Longitudes. By the late Dr. Butler, Bishop of Lichfield, New Edition, corrected. 4tc 24s. half-bound.

CALLCOTT .- A SCRIPTURE HERBAL:

With upwards of 120 Wood Engravings. By Lady Callcott. Square crown 8vo. 11.5s. cloth.

CATLOW .- POPULAR CONCHOLOGY:

Or, the Shell Cabinet Arranged: being an Introduction to the modern System of Conchology; with a sketch of the Natural History of the Animals, an account of the Formation of the Shells, and a complete Descriptive List of the Families and Genera. By Agnes Catlow. Foolscap. 870. with 312 Woodcuts, 102. 64. cloth.

CENTAUR.—THE HORSE: AND HOW TO CHOOSE HIM.
By Centaur. Fep. 8vo.

In the press.

CENTAUR -THE HORSE: AND HOW TO USE HIM. By Centaur. Fcp. 8vo

In the press.

CHALENOR, - WALTER CRAY,

A Ballad, and other Poems; including the Poetical Remains of Mary Chalenor. 2d Edition, with Additions. Fcp. 8vo. 6s cloth.

CHALENOR,-POETICAL REMAINS OF MARY CHALENOR. Fcp. 8vo. 4s. cloth.

CLAVERS.—FOREST LIFE.

By Mary Clavers, an Actual Settler; author of "A New Home, Who'll Follow?" 2 vols. fcap. 8vo. 12s. cloth.

COCKS (C.)—BORDEAUX, ITS WINES, AND THE CLARET COUNTRY.
By. C. Cocks, B. L., Professor of the Living Languages in the Royal Colleges of France:
Translator of the Works of Michelet, Mignet, and Quinct.
[In the press.]

COLLEGIAN'S GUIDE (THE);

Or, Recollections of College Days; setting forth the Advantages and Temptations of a University Education. By \*\*\* \*\*\* \*\*\* M.A. ----- Coll. Oxon. Post Svo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

COLLIER (J. PAYNE) - A BOOK OF ROXBURCHE BALLADS. Edited by John Payne Collier, Esq. Post 4to.

COLTON-LACON; OR, MANY THINGS IN FEW WORDS. By the Rev. C. C. Colton. New Edition, 8vo. 12s. cloth.

CONSCIENCE (HENDRIK).—SKETCHES FROM FLEMISH LIFE. In Three Tales. Translated from the Flemish of Heudrik Conscience. Square 8vo. with 130 Engravings on Wood, from designs by Flemish artists, 6s. cloth.

CONVERSATIONS ON BOTANY.

9th Edition, improved. Foolscap 8vo. with 22 Plates, 7s. 6d. cloth; with coloured Plates, 12s.

CONVERSATIONS ON MINERALOGY.

With Plates, engraved by Mr. and Mrs. Lowry, from Original Drawings. 3d Edition, enlarged. 2 vols. 12mo. 14s. cloth.

COOLEY .-- THE WORLD SURVEYED IN THE NINETEENTH CENTURY : Or, Recent Narratives of Scientific and Exploiting Expeditions, (chiefy undertaken by command of Foreign Governments). Collected, translated, and, where necessary, abridged, by W. D. Cooley, Esq., author of "The History of Maritime and Inland Discovery" in the Cabinet Cyclopædia, etc.

The First Volume contains "The Ascent of Mount Ararat." By Dr. Friedrich Parrot, fessor of Natural Philosophy in the University of Dorpat, Russian Imperial Councillor of State, etc. 870 with a Map by Arrowsmith, and Woodcuts, 14s. cloth.

\*\*\* Each volume will form, for the most part, a Work complete in itself, and the whole Series will present an accurate and imminous picture of all the known portions of the carth. The Second Work of the Series, "Erman Travels through Storias," it in the press, in 2 vols. 8vo.

COOLEY.—THE HISTORY OF MARITIME AND INLAND DISCOVERY. By W. D. Cooley, Esq. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 18s. cloth.

COOPER (REV. E.) - SERMONS,

Chiefly designed to elucidate some of the leading Doctrines of the Gospel. To which is added, an Appendix, containing Sermons prached on several Public Occasions, and printed the desire. By the Rev. Edward Cooper, Rector of Hamstall-Ridware, and of Yoxall. 7t Edition. 2 yols. 12mo. 10s. boards.

COOPER (REV. E.)—PRACTICAL AND FAMILIAR SERMONS, Designed for Parochial and Domestic Instruction. By the Rev. Edward Cooper, Rector of Hamstall-Ridware, and of Yoxall, in the county of Stafford; and late Fellow of All-Souls College, Oxford. New Editions. 7 vols. 12mo. 11. 18t. boards.

\*.\* Vols. 1 to 4, 5s. each; Vols. 5 to 7, 6s. each.

COPLAND .-- A DICTIONARY OF PRACTICAL MEDICINE;

Comprising General Pathology, the Nature and Treatment of Diseases, Morbid Structures, and the Disorders especially incidental to Climates, to Sex, and to the different Byocha of Life, with numerous approved Formulæ of the Mediciues recommended. By James Copland, M.D., etc. etc. 1n 3 vols. Vols. 1 and 2, 8vo. 3l. cloth; and Part 10, 4s. 6d. sewed.

COSTELLO (MISS).—THE ROSE CARDEN OF PERSIA.

A Series of Translations from the Persian Poets. By Louisa Stuart Costello, author of "Specimens of the Early Poetry of France," etc. Long 8vo. with 12 Illuminated Titles, and Borders printed in Gold and Colours, 18s. boards; or 31s. 6d. bound in morocco (criested style) by Hayday.

- HAWES (BARBARA).-TALES OF THE NORTH AMERICAN INDIANS. and Adventures of the Early Settlers in America; from the Landing of the Pilgrim Fathers in 1620, to the Time of the Declaration of Independence. By Barbara Hawes. Fcp. 8vo.6s.
- HAWKER.—INSTRUCTIONS TO YOUNG SPORTSMEN
  In all that relates to Guns and Shooting. By Lieut. Col. P. Hawker. 9th edition, corrected, enlarged, and improved, with Eighty-five Plates and Woodcuts, by Adlard and Branston, from Drawings by C. Varley, Dicks, etc. 8vo. 21s. cloth.

HAYDON (B. R.)—LECTURES ON PAINTING AND DESIGN,
Delivered at the London Institution, the Royal Institution, Albermarle Street, to the
University of Oxford, etc. By B. R. Haydon, Historical Painter. With Designs drawn on
Wood by the author, and Engraved by Edward Evans. 8vo. 12r. cloth.

- \*\_\* The Second Volume is preparing for publication.
- HENSLOW .- THE PRINCIPLES OF DESCRIPTIVE AND PHYSIOLOand nearly 70 Woodcuts, 6s. cloth.
- HERON (R. M.)-PALESTRINA:

A Metrical Romance. By Robert M. Heron, Esq. 8vo. 8s. 6d.

- HERSCHEL.-A TREATISE ON ASTRONOMY.
- By Sir John Herschel. New Edition. Fcap. 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.
- HERSCHEL. A PRELIMINARY DISCOURSE ON THE STUDY OF NATURAL PHILOSOPHY, By Sir John Herschel, New Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 6s.
- HINTS ON ETIQUETTE AND THE USAGES OF SOCIETY:

With a Glance at Bad Habits. By Aywyoc. "Manners make the Man." 24th Edition, revised (with additions) by a Lady of Rank. Foolscap 8vo. 2s. 6d. cloth, gilt edges.

HISTORICAL PICTURES OF THE MIDDLE ACES,

In Black and White. Made on the spot, from Records in the Archives of Switzerland. By a Wandering Artist. 2 vols post 8vo. 18s. cloth.

- Contents.—The Nuns' War; the War of Two Abbots (Reichenan and St. Gall); the Passage of the Great St. Bernard; and Bertha, Queen of Transjurane Burgundy.
- HOARE.—A DESCRIPTIVE ACCOUNT OF A NEW METHOD OF PLANTING AND MANAGING THE ROOTS OF GRAPE VINES. By Clement Hoare, author of "A Treatise on the Cultivation of the Grape Vine on Open Walls." 12mc. 5s. cl.
- HOARE —A PRACTICAL TREATISE ON THE CULTIVATION OF THE GRAPE VINE ON OPEN WALLS. By Clement Hoare. 3d Edition, 8vo. 7s. 6d. cloth.
- HOBBES.-THE COMPLETE WORKS OF THOMAS HOBBES.

Of Malmesbury: now first collected and edited by Sir William Molesworth, Bart. 16 vols. 8vo. 8', clotb.

- .. \* Separately, the English Works, in 11 vols. 51, 10s.; the Latin Works, in 5 vols. 21, 10s.
- HOLLAND.—A TREATISE ON THE MANUFACTURES IN METAL. By John Holland, Esq. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with about 300 Woodcuts, 18s. cloth.
- HOLLAND.-MEDICAL NOTES AND REFLECTIONS.

By Henry Holland, M.D. F.R.S. etc. Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians, Physician Extraordinary to the Queen, and Physician in Ordinary to His Royal Highness Prince Albert. 2d Edition. 8vo. 18s. cloth.

- HOOK (DR. W. F.)-THE LAST DAYS OF OUR LORD'S MINISTRY: A Course of Lectures on the principal Events of Passion Week. By Walter Farquhar Hood, D.D., Vicar of Leeds, Prebendary of Lincoln, and Chaplain in Ordinary to the Queen. 4th Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth

HOOKER.—THE BRITISH FLORA.

In 2 vols. Vol. 1; comprising the Phanogamous or Flowering Plants, and the Ferns. By Sir
William Jackson Hooker, K.H. Ll.D. F.R.A. and L.S. etc. etc. etc. 5th Edition, with
Additions and Corrections; and 173 Figures, illustrative of the Umbelliterous Plants, the
Composite Plants, the Grasses, and the Ferns. Vol. 1. 8vc, with 12 Plates, 14s. plain; with the plates coloured, 24s. cloth.

Vol. II. in Two Parts, comprising the Cryptogamia and the Fungi, completing the British Flora, and forming Vol. V., Parts 1 and 2, of Smith's English Flora, 24s. boards.

HOOKER AND TAYLOR.-MUSCOLOGIA BRITANNICA.

Containing the Mosses of Great Britain and Ireland, systematically arranged and described; with Plates, illustrative of the character of the Genera and Species. By Sir W. J. Hooked and T. Taylor, M.D. F. L.S. etc. 2 delition, enlarged, Svo. 31e. 16d. plain; 31. 3s. coloured.

- HORNE (THE REV. T. H.)—AN INTRODUCTION TO THE CRITICAL STUDY AND KNOWLEBGE OF THE HOLY SCRIPTURES. By the Rev. Thomas Hartvell Horne, B.D. of St. John's College, Cambridge; Rector of the united Parishes of St. Edmund the King and Martr, and St. Nicholas Acons, Lombard Street; Prebendary of St. Paul's. 9th Edition, revised and corrected. 5 vols. 8vo. with Maps and Fac-similes, 63s. cloth; or 5l. bound in calf half-extra, by Hayday.
  - SUPPLEMENTARY PAGES, for purchasers of the 7th and 8th Editions, 1s. 6d.
- HORNE (THE REV. T. H.)—A COMPENDIOUS INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY OF THE BIBLE. By the Rev. Thomas Hartwell Horne, B.D. of St. John's College, Cambridge. Being an Analysis of his "Introduction to the Critical Study and Knowledge of the Holy Scriptures." 7th Edition, corrected and calarged. 12mo. with Maps and other Engravings, 9s. boards.
- HORSLEY (BISHOP).—BIBLICAL CRITICISM ON THE FIRST FOUR-TEEN HISTORICAL BOOKS OF THE OLD TESTAMENT; AND ON THE FIRST NINE PROPHETICAL BOOKS. By Samuel Horsley, LLD. F.R.S. F.A.S. Lord Bishop of St. Asaph. Second Edition, containing Translations by the Author, never before published, together with copious indexes. 2 vols. 3vo. 3os. cloth.
  - By the same Author,
    THE BOOK OF PSALMS; translated from the Hebrew; with Notes, explanatory and critical. 4th Edition. 8vo. 12s. cloth.
- HOWITT.-THE RURAL LIFE OF ENGLAND.

By William Howitt. Third Edition, corrected and revised. Medium 8vo. with Engravings on Wood by Bewick and Williams, uniform with "Visits to Remarkable Places," 21s. cloth.

HOWITT.—VISITS TO REMARKABLE PLACES; Old Halls, Battle-Fields, and Scenes illustrative of Striking Passages in English History and Poetry. By William Howitt. New Edition. Medium 8vo. with 40 illustrations, 21s. cloth.

SECOND SERIES, chiefly in the Counties of DURHAM and NORTHUMBERLAND, with a Stroll along the BORDER. Medium 870. with upwards of 40 highly-finished Woodcuts, from Drawings made on the spot, 21s. cloth.

HOWITT.—THE RURAL AND DOMESTIC LIFE OF GERMANY:
With Characteristic Sketches of its chief Cities and Scenery. Collected in a General Tour,
and during a Residence in that Country in the Years 1840-42. By William Howitt, author
of "The Rural Life of England," etc. Medium 800, with above 50 Illustrations, 21s. cloth.

HOWITT -THE STUDENT-LIFE OF GERMANY.

From the Unpublished MS. of Dr. Cornelius. By William Howitt. 8vo. with 24 Wood-Engravings, and 7 Steel Plates, 21s. cloth.

**HOWITT.—COLONISATION AND CHRISTIANITY:** 

A Popular History of the Treatment of the Natives, in all their Colonies, by the Europeans. By William Howitt, Post 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth,

HOWITT.—THE BOY'S COUNTRY BOOK:

Being the real Life of a Country Boy, written by Himself; exhibiting all the Amusements, Pleasures, and Pursuits of Children in the Country. Edited by William Howitt, author of "The Rural Life of England," etc. 2d Edition. Fcap. 8vo. with 40 Woodcuts, &c. cloth.

HOWITT (RICHARD),—IMPRESSIONS OF AUSTRALIA FELIX,
During a Four Years' Residence in that Colony: with particular reference to the Prospects
of Emigrants. With Notes of a Voyage round the World, Australian Poems, etc. By
Richard Howitt. Foolscap 8vo. 7s. cloth.

HUDSON.-THE PARENT'S HAND-BOOK;

Or, Guide to the Choice of Professions, Employments, and Situations; containing useful and practical information on the subject of placing out Young Men, and of obtaining their Education with a view to particular occupations. By J. C. Hudson, Esq., author of "Plain Directions for Making Wills." Feap, 8vo. 5s. cloth

HUDSON .--PLAIN DIRECTIONS FOR MAKING WILLS

In conformity with the Law, and particularly with reference to the Act 7 Wm. IV. and 1 Vict. c. 26. To which is added, a clear Exposition of the Law relating to the Distribution of Personal Estate in the case of intestacy, with two Forms of Wills, and much useful Information, etc. By J. C. Hudsun, Eq. 13th Edition, corrected, with Notes of Cases judicially decided since the above Act came into operation. Fear, 890, 22, 64.

HUDSON.—THE EXECUTOR'S QUIDE.

By J. C. Hudson, Esq., of the Legacy Duty Office, London; author of "Plain Directions for Making Wills," and "The Parent's Hand-Book," 4th Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 5s. cloth.

\*\_\* The above two works may be had in One volume, price 7s. cloth.

HUMBOLDT (BARON). -- KOSMOS:

A Physical Description of the Universe. Translated, with the Author's Sanction and Cooperation, under the superintendence of Lieutenant-Colonel Edward Sabine, F.R.S. of the Royal Artillery. Vols. 1 and 2, post 8vo.

[In the press.

\*,\* This translation has been made at the request of Baron Von Humboldt; who will see the sheets before publication.

HUMPHREYS.—THE ILLUMINATED BOOKS OF THE MIDDLE ACES.
A History of Illuminated Books, from the IVth to the XVIIth Century. By Henry Noel Humphreys. Illustrated by a Series of Fac-simile Specimens, each consisting of an entire Page, of the exact size of the Original, from the most celebrated and splendid MSS. in the Imperial and Royal Libraries of Vienna, Moscow, Paris, Naples, Copenhagen, and Madrid;—from the Vatican, Escurial, Ambrosian, and other great Libraries of the Continent;—and from the rich Pablic Collegiate, and Frivate Libraries of Great Britant.

In course of publication, in Parts. Parts 1 and 2, imperial 4to. each containing Three Plates, splendidly printed, in gold, silver, and colours, in imitation of the originals, as accurate as can be produced by mechanical means, with Descriptions, price 12s.

Large Paper, on Half Imperial (214 in. by 15), to prevent folding the large Plates, 21s.

\* . \* Six Parts to form a Volume, Four Volumes completing the work.

HUNT.-RESEARCHES ON LIGHT:

An Examination of all the Phenomena connected with the Chemical and Molecular Changes produced by the Influence of the Solar Rays; embracing all the known Photographic Pro-cesses, and new Discoveries in the Art. By Robert Hunt, Keeper of Mining Records, Museum of Economic Geology. 8vo. with Plate and Woodcuts, 10s. 6d. (cloth.

ILLUMINATED CALENDAR (THE). - THE ILLUMINATED CALENDAR and HOME DIARY for 1846; containing 12 pages of fac-simile from the Calendar of the cich MSS.

"Hours" of the Duke of Aujou, styled King of Sicily and Jerusalem; also 24 pages of Diary,
each illuminated with an elaborate Border taken from the same MS.; and an illuminated

Title. Imperial 8vo. 42s in a binding composed from the miniature pictures of the same MS. \*.\* The Illuminated Calendar and Home Diary, for 1845; copied from the Manuscript of the "Hours of Anne of Brittany." Imp. 8vo. 42s. in emblazoned printing and binding.

JACKSON.—THE PICTORIAL FLORA;
Or, British Botany Delineated, in 1500 Lithographic Drawings of all the Species of Flowering;
Plants indigenous to Great Britain; illustrating the descriptive works on English Botany of Hooker, Lindley, Smith, etc. By Miss Jackson. 8vo. 15s. cloth.

JAMES .- A HISTORY OF THE LIFE OF EDWARD THE BLACK PRINCE, and of various Events connected therewith, which occurred during the Reign of Edward III.
King of England. By G. P. R. James, Esq. 2d Edition. 2vols. foolscap 8vo. with Map, 15s.

JAMES.—LIVES OF THE MOST EMINENT FOREIGN STATESMEN. By G.P. R. James, Esq., and E. E. Crowe, Esq. Svols, foolscap 8vo. 30s. cloth.

JEBB (BISHOP).—PASTORAL INSTRUCTIONS ON THE CHARACTER AND PRINCIPLES OF THE CHURCH OF ENGLAND, selected from his former Publications. By John Jebb, D.D. F.R.S., late Bishop of Limerick, Ardfert, and Aghadoe. A New Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 6r. cloth.

By the same Author,

PIETY WITHOUT ASCETICISM; or, the Protestant Kempls: a Manual of Christian Faith and Practice, selected from the Writings of Scongal, Charles Howe, and Cudworth; with corrections and occasional Notes. Second Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

JEBB (BISHOP) AND KNOX (ALEXANDER).—THIRTY YEARS' COR-RESPONDENCE between John Jebb, D.D. F.R.S., Bishop of Limerick, Ardiert, Aghadoe, and Alexander Knox, Esq. M.R.I.A. Edited by the Rev. Charles Forster, B.D. Rector of Stisted, Essex, and one of the Six Preachers in the Cathedral of Christ, Canterbury, formerly Domestic Chaplain to Bishop Jebb. 22 Edition. 2 vols. 80c. 224. cloth.

LORD JEFFREY.— CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE EDINBURGH REVIEW. By Francis Jeffrey, now one of the Judges in the Court of Session in Scotland. 4 vols. 8vo. 48s. cloth.

JOHNSON.—THE FARMER'S ENCYCLOPÆDIA,
And DICTIONARY of RURAL AFFAIRS: embracing all the recent Discoveries in Agricultural Chemistry; adapted to the comprehension of unscientific Readers. By Cuthbert
W. Johnson, Esq., F.R.S. Barrister-at-Law, Corresponding Member of the Agricultural
Society of Königaberg, and of the Maryland Horticultural Society, author of several of the
Prize Essays of the Royal Agricultural Society of England, and other Agricultural Works;
Editor of the "Farmer's Almanack," etc. 8vo. with Wood Engravings of the best and most
improved Agricultural Implements, 21. 10s. cloth.

KANE.-ELEMENTS OF CHEMISTRY;

Including the most Recent Discoveries and Applications of the Science to Medicine and Pharmacy, and to the Arts. By Robert Kane, M.D. M.R.I.A. Professor of Natural Philosophy to the Royal Dublin Society. 8vo. with 236 Woodcuts, 24s. cloth.

KATER AND LARDNER.—A TREATISE ON MECHANICS.
By Captaiu Kater and Dr. Lardner. New Edition. Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Title, and
19 Plates, comprising 224 distinct figures, 6s. cloth.

KEIGHTLEY. - OUTLINES OF HISTORY,
From the Earliest Period. By Thomas Keightley, Rsq. New Edition, corrected and considerably improved. Foolises 870., 62. cloth; of 6. 64. bound.

- KIRBY AND SPENCE.—AN INTRODUCTION TO ENTOMOLOGY;
  Or, Elements of the Natural History of Insects: comprising an account of noxious and useful Insects, of their Metamorphoses, Food, Stratagems, Habitations, Societies, Motions, Noise, Hybernation, Instinct, etc. By W. Kirby, M.A. F.R.S. & L.S. Rector of Barbam; and W. Spence, Eq., F.R.S. & L.S. 6th Edition, corrected and considerably enlarged. 2 vols. 8vo. 11. 111. 6d. cloth.
- \*.\* The first two volumes of the "Introduction to Entomology" are published as a separate work, distinct from the third and fourth volumes, and, though much enlarged, at a considerable reduction of price, in order that the numerous class of readers who confine their study of insects to that of their manners and economy, need not be burthened with the cost of the technical position of the work, relating to their anatomy, physiology, etc.
- KNOX (ALEXANDER). REMAINS OF ALEXANDER KNOX, ESQ. Of Dublin, M.R.I.A.; containing Essays, chiefly explanatory, of Christian Doctrine; and Confidential Letters, with Private Papers, illustrative of the Writer's Character, Sentiments, and Life. 3d Edition. 4 vols. 8vo. 2J. 8s. cloth.
- LAING.—NOTES ON THE SCHISM FROM THE CHURGH OF ROME, called the GERMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH, instituted by J. Ronge and I. Czerzki, in October 1844, on occasion of the Pilgrimage to the Holy Coat at Treves. By S. Laing, Eaq., author of "Notes of a Traveller," etc. 2d Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 5s. cloth.

LAING.—THE CHRONICLE OF THE KINGS OF NORWAY,
From the Earliest Period of the History of the Northern Sea Kings to the Middle of the
Twelfth Century, commouly called the Heimskringla. Translated from the Icelandic of
Snorro Sturleson, with Notes, and a Preliminary Discourse, by Samuel Laing, author of
"Notes of a Traveller," etc. 3 vol. 8vo. 36c. cloth.

### LAING.-A TOUR IN SWEDEN

In 1838; comprising Observations on the Moral, Political, and Economical State of the Swedish Nation. By Samuel Laing, Esq. 8vo. 12s. cloth.

LAING.—NOTES OF A TRAVELLER
On the Social and Political State of France, Prussia, Switzerland, Italy, and other parts of Europe, during the present Century. By Samuel Laing, Esq. 2d Edition. 8vo. 16s. cloth.

#### LAING.-JOURNAL OF A RESIDENCE IN NORWAY

During the years 1834, 1835, and 1836; made with a view to inquire into the Rural and Political Economy of that Country, and the Condition of its Inhabitants. By Samuel Laing, Esq. 2d Edition. 8vo.14s. Cloth.

### LANE (R. J.)-LIFE AT THE WATER CURE:

Or, a Month at Malvern. A Diary of Facts and Fancies. To which is added the Sequel. By Richard J. Lane, A.R.A., Lithographer in Ordinary to Her Majesty and His Royal High-ness Prince Albert. 800, with many Illustrations.

#### **LANETON PARSONAGE:**

A Tale for Children, on the practical use of the Church Catechism. "Amy Herbert," and "Gertrude," Fcp. 8vo. By the Author of [In the press.

#### LAPLACE (THE MARQUIS DE) .- THE SYSTEM OF THE WORLD.

By M. Le Marquis De Laplace. Translated from the French, and elucidated with Explanatory Notes. By the Rev. Henry H. Harte, F.T.C.D. M.R.I.A. 2 vols. 8vo. 24s. boards.

### LARDNER'S CABINET CYCLOPÆDIA;

Comprising a Series of Original Works on History, Biography, Literature, the Sciences, Arts, and Manufactures. Conducted and edited by Dr. Lardner, The Series complete in One Hundred and Thirty-three Volumes, 391. 18s. The Works separately, 6s. per volume.

# LARDNER.—A TREATISE ON ARITHMETIC. By Dr. Lardner, LL.D. F.R.S. Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

LARDNER.—A TREATISE ON GEOMETRY.

### And its Application to the Arts. By Dr. Lardner. Foolscap 8vo., 6s. cloth.

#### -A TREATISE ON HEAT. LARDNER.-

By Dr. Lardner, LL.D. etc. Fcap. 8vo. with Vignette Title and Woodcuts, 6s. cloth.

# LARDNER.—A TREATISE ON HYDROSTATICS AND PNEUMATICS. By Dr. Lardner. New Edition. Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

- LARDNER AND WALKER.—A MANUAL ON ELECTRICITY, MAGNETISM, and METEOROLOGY. By Dr. Lardner, LLD. F.R.S., and C. V. Walker, Secretary of the Electrical Society. 2 vols. foolsesp 8vo., with Vignetic Titles, 12s. clotb.
- L. E. L.—THE POETICAL WORKS OF LETITIA ELIZABETH LANDON. New Edition, 4 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Illustrations by Howard, etc. 28s. cloth; or bound in morocco, with gilt edges, 21. 4s.

The following Works separately:—
The IMPROVISATRICE - 10s. 6d. | The GOLDEN VIOLET - 10s. 6d.
The VENETIAN BRACELET 10s. 6d. | The TROUBADOUR - 10s. 6d.

- COSTELLO (MISS)—FALLS, LAKES, AND MOUNTAINS OF NORTH WALES; being a Pictorial Tour through the most interesting parts of the Country. By Louisa Stuart Costello, author of "The Rose Garden of Persia," "Bears and the Pyrenees," etc. Profusely illustrated with Views, from Original Sketches by D. H. M'Kewan, engraved on wood, and lithographed, by T. and E. Gilks. Square 8vo. with Map, 14s. cloth
- CRESY (E.)—AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF CIVIL ENGINEERING, HISTORICAL, THEORETICAL, and PRACTICAL. By Edward Cresy, F.S.A. C.E. Illustrated by many hundred Engravings on Wood, explanatory of the Principles, Machinery, and Constructions which come under the Direction of the Civil Engineer. In I large volume, 8vo. uniform with Mesars, Longman and Co.'s Series of One-Volume Encyclopædias and Dictionaries. In the press.
- CROCKER'S ELEMENTS OF LAND SURVEYING.

Fifth Edition, corrected throughout, and considerably improved and modernised, by T. G. Bunt, Land Surveyor, Bristol. To which are added, TABLES OF SIX-FIGURE LOGARITHMS, etc., superintended by Richard Farley, of the Nautical Almanac Establishment. Post 8vo. 12s. cloth.

CROWE.—THE HISTORY OF FRANCE,
From the Earliest Period to the Abdication of Napoleon. By E. E. Crowe, Esq. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 18s. cloth.

DAHLMANN.-HISTORY OF THE ENGLISH REVOLUTION.

By F. C. Dahlmann, late Professor of History at the University of Göttingen. Translated from the German, by H. Evans Lloyd, Esq. 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

- DALE (THE REV. THOMAS).—THE DOMESTIC LITURGY AND FAMILY CHAPLAIN, in Two Parts: the First Part being Church Services adapted for Domestic Use, with Prayers for every Day of the Week, selected exclusively from the Book of Common Prayer. Part II. comprising an appropriate Sermon for every Sunday in the Year. By the Rev. Thomas Dale, M.A. Canon Residentiary of St. Paul's, and Vicar of St. Bride's, London. Post 4to. handsomely printed, 21s. cloth: or, bound by Hayday, 31s. 6d. caff lettered; 50s. morocco, with goffered edges.
- DANTE, TRANSLATED BY WRIGHT.-DANTE.

Translated by Ichabod Charles Wright, M.A. late Fellow of Magdalen College, Oxford. A New Edition, revised and corrected. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Portrait, 7s. 6d. sewed. . Vol. I. contains the Inferno; Vol. II. the Purgatorio; Vol. III. the Paradiso.

- DAVY (SIR HUMPHRY).—ELEMENTS OF AGRICULTURAL CHEMISTRY in a Course of Lectures. By Sir Humphry Davy. With Notes by Dr. John Davy. 6th Edition. 8vo. with 10 Plates, 15s. cloth.
- DE BURTIN.—A TREATISE ON THE KNOWLEDGE NECESSARY TO AMATEURS OF PICTURES. Translated and abridged from the French of M. Francis Xavier De Burtin, First Stipendiary Member of the Royal Academy of Brussels in the Class of Sciences, etc. By Robert White, Esq. 5vo. with Illustrations, 12s. cloth
- DE CUSTINE.

By the Marquis De Custine. Translated from the French. 2d Edition. 3 vols. post 8vo. 3ls. 6d. cloth.

- DE LA BECHE.-REPORT ON THE GEOLOGY OF CORNWALL, DEVON, AND WEST SOMERSET. By Henry T. De la Beche, F.R.S. etc., Director of the Ordnance Geological Survey. Published by Order of the Lords Commissioners of H. M. Treasury. 8ro. with Maps, Woodcuts, and 12 large Plates, 14c. cloth.

DE MORGAN.—AN ESSAY ON PROBABILITIES, And on their Application to Life Contingencies and Insurance Offices. By Aug. De Morgan, E4q., of Trinity Gollege, Cambridge. Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

- DE SISMONDI.—THE HISTORY OF THE ITALIAN REPUBLICS:
  Or, of the Origin, Progress, and Fall of Freedom in Italy, from A.D. 476 to 1806. By J. C.L.
  Sismondi. Fcp. 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6v. cloth.
- DE SISMONDI.-THE HISTORY OF THE FALL OF THE ROMAN EM-PIRE. Comprising a View of the Invasion and Settlement of the Barbarians. By J. C. L. De Sismondi. 2 vols. Fcp. 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.
- DE STRZELECKI (P. E.)—PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION OF NEW SOUTH WALES AND VAN DIEMAN'S LAND. Accompanied by a Geological Map, Sections, and Diagrams, and Figures of the Organic Remains. By P. E. De Strzelecki. 8vo. with coloured Map and numerous Plates, 24s. cloth.

DOCTOR (THE), ETC. 5 vols. post 8vo. 2l. 12s. 6d. cloth.

o vois, post ovo. 4. 128. 04. 1001.

"Souther acknowledged the authorship of 'The Doctor' shortly before his last illness to his most confidential friend, an M.P. of high character. And in a private letter from Mrs. Southey, dated February 77, 1843, she not only states the fact, but add that the greater part of a stack notime had gone through the press, and that Southey looked forward to the pleasure of drawing her into it as a contributor; giving her full authority to affirm that her husband is the author?—Robert Bell, Esq., in The Story Teller.

DODDRIDGE.-THE FAMILY EXPOSITOR:

Or, a Paraphrase and Version of the New Testament: with Critical Notes, and a Practical Improvement of each Section. By P. Doddridge, D.D. To which is prefixed, a Life of the Author, by A. Klppis, D.D. F.R.S. and S.A. New Edition. 4vols. 8vol. I. 16s. cloth.

DONOVAN.—TREATISE ON CHEMISTRY.
By Michael Donovan, Esq. M.R.I.A. 4th Edition. Fcap. 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

DONOVAN.—A TREATISE ON DOMESTIC ECONOMY.
By M. Donovan, Eq. M.R.I.A., Professor of Chemistry to the Company of Apothecaries in Ireland. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12c. footh.

DOUBLEDAY'S BUTTERFLIES .- THE CENERA OF DIURNAL LEPI-DOPTERA, comprising their Generic Characters.— Notice of the Habits and Transformations—and a Catalogue of the Species of each Genus. By Edward Doubledsy, Esq. F.L.S. etc., Assistant in the Zoological Department of the British Museum. Imperial 4to, uniform with Gray and Mitchell's Ornithology; illustrated with 75 Coloured Plates.

\* To be published in Monthly Parts, 5s. each; each Part to consist of two coloured Plates, with accompanying Letter press. Publication will commence when 150 Subscribers' Names have been vectived.

DOVER .- LIFE OF FREDERICK II. KING OF PRUSSIA. By Lord Dover. 2d Edition. 2 vols. 8vo. with Portrait, 28s. boards.

DRUMMOND (DR. J. L.)—LETTERS TO A YOUNG NATURALIST, ON THE STUDY OF NATURE AND NATURAL THEOLOGY. By James L. Drummond, M.D. Author of "First Steps to Botany," etc. Second Edition. Post 870- with Wood Engravings, 7s. 6d. boards.

DRUMMOND.-FIRST STEPS TO BOTANY,

Intended as popular lilustrations of the Science, leading to its study as a branch of general education. By J. L. Drummond, M.D. 4th Edit. 12mo. with numerous Woodcuts, 9s. boards.

DUNHAM .- THE HISTORY OF THE GERMANIC EMPIRE. By Dr. Dunham. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 18s. eloth.

By the same Author. THE HISTORY OF EUROPE DURING THE MIDDLE AGES. 4vols. 1/. 4s.

THE HISTORY OF SPAIN AND PORTU-GAL. 5 vols. foolscap 8vo. 11, 10s.

THE HISTORY OF SWEDEN, DENMARK, AND NORWAY. 8 vols. foolscap 8vo. 18s.

THE HISTORY OF POLAND. 60.

THE LIVES OF THE EARLY WRITERS OF GREAT BRITAIN. Foolscap Svo. 6s.

THE LIVES OF BRITISH DRAMATISTS. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. 12s.

DUNLOP (JOHN) .-- THE HISTORY OF FICTION:

Being a Citical Account of the most celebrated Prose Works of Fiction, from the earliest Greek Romances to the Novels of the Present Age. By John Dunlop. 3d Edition, complete in One Volume. Medium Svo. 15s. cloth.

EASTLAKE (C. L.)-MATERIALS FOR A HISTORY OF OIL PAINTING.
By Charles Lock Eastlake, R.A. 8vo.

[In the press.]

ECCLESTON (JAMES).—A MANUAL OF ENGLISH ANTIQUITIES.

By James Eccleston, B.A. Head Master of Sutton Coldfield Grammar School. 8vo. with numerous Illustrations on Wood.

[In the press.

ELLIOT (J.)—A COMPLETE TREATISE ON PRACTICAL GEOMETRY AND MENSURATION. With numerous Exercises. By James Elliot, formerly Teacher of Mathematics in the Mechanics' Institution of Liverpool. Swo 5s. cloth.

\*\* Key, containing full Demonstrations and Solutions. 8vo. 6s. cloth.

ELLIOTSON.-HUMAN PHYSIOLOGY:

With which is incorporated much of the Elementary Part of the "Institutiones Physiologicae" of J. F. Blumenbach, Professor in the University of Gottingen. By John Elliotson, M.D. Cautab. F.R.S. Fifth Edition, 300. with numerous Woodcuts, 27.22. cloth

THE ENGLISHMAN'S GREEK CONCORDANCE OF THE NEW TESTA-MENT; being an attempt at a Verbal Connexion between the Greek and the English Texta; including a Concordance to the Proper Names, with Indexes, Greek English and English. Greek. 28 Eddition, carefully revised, with a new Index, Greek and English. Royal Sve. 24 (2014).

THE ENGLISHMAN'S HEBREW AND CHALDEE CONCORDANCE OF THE OLD TESTAMENT; being an attempt at a Verbal Connexion between the Original and the English Translations: with Indexes, a List of the Proper Names and their occurrences, etc. ctc. 2 vols. royal Sto., 31.13s. 6d. cloth large paper, 41.14s. 6d.

FAREY .- A TREATISE ON THE STEAM-ENGINE. Historical, Practical, and Descriptive. By John Farey, Engineer. 4to. illustrated by numerous Woodcuts, and 25 Copper-plates, 51.5s. in boards.

FERGUS.—THE HISTORY OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA From the Discovery of America to the Election of General Jackson to the Presidency. By the Rev. H. Fergus. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.

- F1ELD. POSTHUMOUS **EXTRACTS** FROM THE VETERINARY RECORDS OF THE LATE JOHN FIELD. Edited by his Brother, William Field, Veterinary Surgeon, London. 8vo. 8s. boards.
- FITZROY (LADY). SCRIPTURAL CONVERSATIONS BETWEEN CHARLES AND HIS MOTHER. By Lady Charles Fitzroy. Foolscap 8vo. 4s. 6st. cloth. RETWEEN
- FORSTER.—STATESMEN OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF ENGLAND. OROS TER.—SIAIESMEN OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF ENGLAND. With an Introductory Treatise on the Popular Progress in English History. By John Fortare, Eag. 5 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Original Portraits of Pym, Ellot, Hampden, Cromwell, and an Historical Scene after a Picture by Cattermole, I. 10s. cloth.

  The Introductory Treatise, intended as an Introduction to the Study of the Great Civil War in the Seventeenth Century, separately, price 2c. 6d. sewed.

  The above 5 vols. form Mr. Forster's Portion of the Lives of Eminent British Statesmen, by Sir

  - James Mackintosh, the Right Hon. T. P. Courtenay, and John Forster, Esq. 7 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 21. 2s. cloth.
- Or, the Patriarchal Evidences of Revealed Religion. A Memoir, with illustrative Maps and an Appendix, containing Translations, with an Alphabet and Glossary of the Hamyaritic Inscriptions recently discovered in Hadramant. By the Rev. Charles Forster, B.D., Rector of States, Essex; author of "Mahometanism Unveiled." 2 vols. 8vo. 30s. cloth.

  RSTER (BEU C) The Line Communication of the FORSTER (REV. C.)-THE HISTORICAL GEOGRAPHY
- FORSTER (REV. C.)—THE LIFE OF JOHN JEBB. D.D. F.R.S.
  Late Bishop of Limerick. With a Selection from his Letters. By the Rev. Charles Forster, B.D.,
  Rector of Stisted, Essex, and one of the Six Preachers in the Cathedral of Christ, Canterbury,
  formerly Domestic Chaplain to the Bishop. 2d Edition. 8vo. with Fortrait, etc. 16s. cloth.
- FOSBROKE.—A TREATISE ON THE ARTS, MANNERS, MANUFACTURES, and INSTITUTIONS of the GREEKS and ROMANS. By the Rev. T. D. Fosbroke, etc. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Viguette Titles, 12s. cloth.
- GERTRUDE.
  - A Tale. By the author of "Amy Herbert." Edited by the Rev. William Sewell, B.D., of Exeter College, Oxford. Second Edition. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. 9s. cloth.
- GILBART (J. W.)-THE HISTORY AND PRINCIPLES OF BANKING. By James William Gilbart, General Manager of the London and Westminster Bank. Third Edition. 8vo. 9s, boards.
- GLEIG,-LIVES OF THE MOST EMINENT BRITISH MILITARY COM-MANDERS. By the Rev. G. R. Gleig. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 18s. cloth.
- GLENDINNING. -- PRACTICAL HINTS ON THE CULTURE OF THE PINEAPPLE. By R. Glending with Plan of Pinery, 5s. cloth. By R. Glendinning, Gardener to the Right Hon. Lord Rolle, Bicton. 12mo.
- GOLDSMITH-THE POETICAL WORKS OF OLIVER GOLDSMITH. Illustrated by Wood Engravings, from the Designs of G. W. Cope. A. R. A., Thomas Creswick, A.R.A., J. C. Horaley, R. Redgrave, A.R.A., and Frederick Tayler, Members of the Etching Club. With a Biographical Memory, and Notes on the Poems. Edited by Bolton Corney, Esq. Square crown 8vo., uniform with "Thomson's Seasons," 21s. cloth; Bolton Corney, Esq. Square crown 8 or 36s. bound in morocco, by Hayday.
  - \*\_\* Une Hundred Copies, 2l. 2s. each, printed on prepared paper of great beauty,
- GOOD.—THE BOOK OF NATURE.
  - A Popular Illustration of the General Laws and Phenomena of Creation. By John Mason Good, M.D. F.R.S. etc. 3d Edition, corrected. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. 24s. cloth.
- GRAHAM.—ENGLISH; OR, THE ART OF COMPOSITION explained in a Series of Instructions and Examples. By G. F. Graham. 2d Edition, revised and improved. Fuoliscap 8vo. 7s. cloth.
- GRANT (MRS.)-LETTERS FROM THE MOUNTAINS.
- Being the Correspondence with her Friends, between the years 1773 and 1803. By Mrs. Grant, of Laggan. 6th Edition. Edited, with Notes and Additions, by her Son, J. P. Grant, Grant, of Laggan. 6th Edition. I Esq. 2 vols. post 8vo. 2ls. cloth.
- GRANT (MRS., OF LAGGAN). MEMOIR AND CORRESPONDENCE of the late Mrs. Grant, of Laggan, author of "Letters from the Mountains," etc. Edited by her Son, J. P. Grant, Eaq. 22 Edition. 3 vols. post 8vo. Portrait, It. Int. 6d. cloth.
- GRATTAN.—THE HISTORY OF THE NETHERLANDS,
  From the Invasion by the Romans to the Belgian Revolution in 1830. By T. C. Grattan, Esq.
  Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 6s. cloth.
- GRAY (JOHN).—GRAY'S ELECY,

  The control of a Country Churchyard. Illuminated in the Missal style. By Owen Jones,
- GRAY.-FIGURES OF MOLLUSCOUS ANIMALS, Selected from various Authors. Etched for the Use of Students. By Maria Emma Gray. Vol. I. 8vo. with 78 plates of Figures, 12s. cloth.

GRAY AND MITCHELL'S ORNITHOLOGY.-THE GENERA OF BIRDS: Comprising their Generic Characters, a Notice of the Habits of each Genus, and an extensive List of Species, referred to their several Genera. By George Robert Gray, Acad. Imp. Georg. Florent. Soc. Corresp. Senior Assistant of the Zoological Department, British Museum; and author of the "List of the Genera of Birds," etc. etc. Imperial 4to. Illustrated with 350 Plates, by David William Mitchell, B.A.

... New Mind Bod Fisher, by David William Mitchell, B.A.

\*s. In course of publication in Monthly Parts, 10s. 6d. each; each Part consisting of Four coloured Plates and Three plain, with Letter-press, giving the Generic Characters, short Remarks on the Habits, and a List of Species of each Genus as complete as possible. The uncoloured Plates contain the Characters of all the Genera of the various Sub-families, consisting of numerous details of Heads, Wings, and Freet, as the cause may require, for pointing out their distinguishing Characters. The Work will not exceed 50 Monthly Parts. No. 25 was published on 1st of May.

GRAY (J. E.)—THE GENERA OF MAMMALIA;
Comprising their Generic Characters—a Notice of the Habits of each Genus—and a short
Character of each of the well-eatablished Species, referred to the several Genera. By John
Edward Gray, Faq., Keeper of the Zoological Collection of the British Museum. Imperial 4to.
uniform with Gray and Mitchell's Ornithology; Illustrated with 175 Plates.

\*, \* To be published in Monthly Parts, 12s. each; each Part to consist of Four coloured and Three plain Plates, with accumpanying Letter-press. The Work will not exceed 25 Parts. Publication will commence when 165 Subscribers' Names have been received.

### GREENER .- THE GUN;

Or, a Treatise on the various Descriptions of Small Fire Arms. By W. Greener, Inventor of an Improved Method of Firing Cannon by Percussion, etc. 8vo. with Illustrations, 15s. boards.

GREENWOOD (COL.)—THE TREE-LIFTER;
Or a New Method of Transplanting Trees. By Col.Geo.Greenwood. 8vo.with an Illustrative Plate, 7s. cloth.

- GRIMBLOT (P.)—LETTERS OF WILLIAM III. AND LOUIS XIV. AND OF THEIR MINISTERS. Illustrating the Domestic and Foreign Policy of England during the period which followed the Revolution of 1688. Extracted from the Archives of France and England, and from Foreign papers. Edited by P. Grimblot. 8vo. [In the press.]
- GRUNER (L.)—THE DECORATIONS OF THE CARDEN PAVILION IN THE GROUNDS OF BUCKINGHAM PALACE. Fifteen Plates, by L. Gruner. With Descriptions by Mrs. Jameson. Published by Command of Her Majesty. Small folio, 31s. 64, plain; coloured, 51, 5s. cloth.

GUEST.—THE MABINOGION, From the Llyfr Coch o Hergest, or Red Book of Hergest, and other ancient Welsh MSS. with an English Translation and Notes. By Lady Charlotte Guest. Parts 1 to 6. Royal 8vo. 8s. each sewed.

- GUICCIARDINI (F.)—THE MAXIMS OF FRANCIS GUICCIARDINI, THE HISTORIAN. Translated by Emma Martin. With Notes, and Parallel Passages from the Works of Machiavelli, Lord Bacon, Passal, Rochefoucault, Monteaquieu, Burke, Prince Talleyrand, Guizot, and others; and a Sketch of the Life of Guicciardini. Square foolscap 8ro. with Portrait, 7x. ornamental boards; or 14z. bound in morocco (cld style) by Hayday.

GWILT.—AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF ARCHITECTURE; Historical, Theoretical, and Practical. By Joseph Gwilt, Esq., F.S.A. Illustrated with upwards of 1000 Engraings on Wood, from Designs by J. S. Gwilt. 8vo. 21. 12s. 6d. cloth.

HALL.—NEW GENERAL LARGE LIBRARY ATLAS OF FIFTY-THREE MAPS, on Colombier Paper; with the Divisions and Boundaries carefully coloured. Constructed entirely from New Drawings, and engraved by Sidney Hall. New Edition, thoroughly revised and corrected; including all the Alterations rendered necessary by the recent Official Surveys, the New Roads on the Continent, and a careful Comparison with the authenticated Discoveries published in the latest Voyages and Travels. Folded in half, Nine Guincas, half-bound in russis; full size of the Maps, Ten Pounds, half-bound in russis:

-LIFE AND TIMES OF RICHARD THE THIRD, HALSTED -

as Duke of Goucester and King of England: in which all the Charges against him are carefully investigated and compared with the Statements of the Cotemporary Authorities. By Caroline A. Haisted, author of "The Life of Margaret Beaufort." 2 vols. Sto. with Portrait from an Original Picture in the possession of the Right Honorable Lord Stafford, never before engraved, and other Illustrations, 11. 10s. cloth.

HAND-BOOK OF TASTE (THE);
Or, How to Observe Works of Art, especially Cartoons, Pictures, and Statues. By Fabius Pictor. 3d Edition. Foolscap Prov. 3s. boards.

HANSARD.-TROUT AND SALMON FISHING IN WALES. By G. A. Hansard, 12mo, 6s.6d. cloth

HARRIS.—THE HICHLANDS OF ÆTHIOPIA;
Being the Account of Eighteen Months' Residence of a British Embassy to the Christian
Court of Shoa. By Major Sir W. C. Harris, author of "Wild Sports in Southern Africa,"
etc. 2d Edition. 3 vols. 8vo. with Map and Illustrations, 2l. 2s. cloth.

LEE -TAXIDERMY:

Or, the Art of Collecting, Preparing, and Mounting Objects of Natural History. For the use of Museums and Travellers. By Mrs. R. Lee (formerly Mrs. T. E. Bowdich), author of "Memoirs of Cuvier," etc. 6th Edition, Improved, with an account of a Visit to Walton Hall, and Mr. Waterton's method of Preserving Animais. Fcap. 8vo. with Woodcuts, 7s.

LEE.—ELEMENTS OF NATURAL HISTORY,
For the Use of Schools and Young Persons: comprising the Principles of Classification,
interspersed with amusing and instructive original Accounts of the most remarkable Animals.
By Mrs. R. Lee (formerly Mrs. T. E. Bowdich), author of "Taxidermy," "Memoirs of
Cuvier," etc. 12mo. with 55 Woodcuts, 7s. 6d. bound.

LEFEVRE (SIR GEORGE).—AN APOLOCY FOR THE NERVES;
Or, their Importance and Influence in Health and Disease. By Sir George Lefevre, M.D. author of "The Life of a Travelling Physician," "Thermal Comfort," etc. Post 8vo. 9s.

LEMPRIÈRE.—A CLASSICAL DICTIONARY; Containing a copious Account of all the Proper Names mentioned in Ancient Authors; with the Value of Coins, Weights, and Measures, used amongst the Greeks and Romans; and a Chronological Table. By T. Lemprière, D.D. 28th Edition, corrected. 8vo. 9s. cloth.

LEREBOURS (N.P.) - A TREATISE ON PHOTOGRAPHY;

Containing the latest Discoveries appertaining to the Daguerréotype. Compiled from Communications by M.M. Daguerre and Arago, and other eminent Men of Science. By N. P. Lerebours, Optician to the Observatory, Paris, etc. Translated by J. Egerton. Post 8vo. with Plate, 72. 6d. cloth.

LESLIE (C.R.)—MEMOIRS OF THE LIFE OF JOHN CONSTABLE, ESQ. R. A. Composed chiefly of his Letters. By C. R. Leslie, R. A. Second Edition, with further Extracts from his Correspondence. Small 4to. with two Portraits (one from a new Sketch, by Mr. Leslie,) and a plate of "Spring," engraved by Lucas, 21s. cloth.

LIFE OF A TRAVELLING PHYSICIAN,

From his first Introduction to Practice; including Twenty Years' Wanderings throughout the greater part of Europe. By the late Sir George Lefevre, M.D. 3 vols. post 8vo. with coloured Frontispieces, 31s. 6d. cloth.

LINDLEY.-INTRODUCTION TO BOTANY.

By Prof. J. Lindley, Ph. D. F.R. S. L.S. etc. 3d Edition, with Corrections and considerable Additions. 8vo, with Six Plates and numerous Woodcuts, 18s. cloth.

LINDLEY.-FLORA MEDICA;

A Botanical Account of all the most important Plants used in Medicine in different Parts of the World. By John Lindley, Ph.D. F.R.S. etc. 8vo. 18s. cloth.

LINDLEY.—A SYNOPSIS OF THE BRITISH FLORA, Arranged according to the Natural Orders. By Professor John Lindley, Ph. D., F.R.S., etc. Third Edition, with numerous Additions and Improvements. 12mo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

LINDLEY.—THE THEORY OF HORTICULTURE;
Or, an Attempt to Explain the Principal Operations of Gardening upon Physiological Principles. By John Lindley, Ph.D. F.R.S. 870. with Illustrations on Wood, 12s. cloth.

LINDLEY .- CUIDE TO THE ORCHARD AND KITCHEN CARDEN; Or, an Account of the most valuable Fruits and Vegetables cultivated in Great Britain: with Kalendars of the Work required in the Orchard and Kitchen Garden during every month in the Year. By George Lindley, CM.H.S. Edited by Professor Lindley. 80.16s. boards.

LINWOOD (W.)—ANTHOLOCIA OXONIENSIS;
Sive, Florilegium e lusibus poeticis diversorum Oxoniensium Græcis et Latinis decerptumCurante Guilelmo Linwood, M.A. Ædis Christi Alummo, 8vo. [In the press.]

LLOYD.—A TREATISE ON LIGHT AND VISION.
By the Rev. H. Lloyd, M.A., Fellow of Trin. Coll. Dublin. 8vo. 5s. boards.

LORIMER.—LETTERS TO A YOUNG MASTER MARINER,
On some Subjects connected with his Calling. By Charles Lorimer. 3d edition. 12mo.
with an Appendix, 5s. 6d. cloth.

LOUDON (MRS.)—THE LADY'S COUNTRY COMPANION;
Or, How to Enjoy a Country Life Rationally. By Mrs. Loudon, author of "Gardening for Ladies," etc. New Edition. Foolscap 8vo., with an Engraving on Steel, and Illustrations on Wood, 7s. 8d. cloth.

I.OUDON (J. C.)—SELF INSTRUCTION
For Young Gardeners, Foresters, Bailiffs, Land Stewards, and Farmers; in Arithmetic Book-keeping, Geometry, Menauration, Practical Trigonometry, Mechanics, Land-Surveying, Leveling, Planning and Mapping, Architectural Drawing, and Isometrical Projection and Perspective; with Examples shewing their applications to Horticultural and Agricultural Purposes. By the late J. C. Loudon, F.L.S. H.S. etc. With a Formul of Mr. Loudon, and a Memoir by Mrs. Loudon, 500, with Wood Engravings, 7s. 66. cloth.

LOUDON .- AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF TREES AND SHRUBS;

Being the "Arboretum Ertuicetum Britannicum" bridged: containing the Hardy Trees and Shrubs of Great Britain, Native and Foreign, scientifically and popularly described: with their Propagation, Culture, and Uses in the Art; and with Engravings of nearly all the Species. For the use of Nurserymen, Gardeners, and Foresters. By J.C. Loudon, F.L.S. etc. 8vo. with upwards of 2000 Engravings on Wood, 21.10s. cloth.

The Original Work: a New Edition, in 8 vols. 8vo. with above 400 8vo. Plates of Trees, and upwards of 2500 Woodcuts, 101. cloth.

LOUDON.—AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF GARDENING;
Presenting in one systematic view, the History and Present State of Gardening in all Countries, and its Theory and Practice in Great Britain: with the Management of the Kitchen Garden, the Flower Garden, Laying; out Grounds, etc. By J. C. Loudon, F.L.S. etc. A new Edition, celarged and much improved. 8vo. with nearly 1000 Engravings on Wood, 27.10v.

LOUDON.—AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF AGRICULTURE; Comprising the Theory and Practice of the Valuation, Transfer, Laying-out, Improvement, and Management of Landed Property, and of the cultivation and economy of the Animal and Vegetable productions of Agriculture, including all the latest improvements; a general History of Agriculture, including all the latest improvements; a general History of Agriculture in all countries; a Statistical view of its present state, with suggestions for its future progress in the British lales; and a Supplement, bringing down the work to the year 1844. By J. C. Loudon, F.L.G.Z. and H.S. etc. Fifth Edition. 8vo. with upwards of 100 Engravings on Wood, by Branston, 24.10s. cloth.

The Supplement, with 65 Engravings, 5s, sewed.

LOUDON.—AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF PLANTS;
Including all the Plants which are now found in, or have been introduced into, Great Britain;
giving their Natural History, accompanied by such Descriptions, Engraved Figures, and
Elementary Details, as may enable a beginner, who is a mere English reader, to discover the
name of every Plant which he may find in 80wer, and acquire all the information respecting
it which is useful and interesting. The Specific Characters by an Eminent Botanist; the
Drawings by J. D. C. Sowerby, F.L.S. A new Edition (1841), with a new Supplement, comprising every desirable particular respecting all the Plants originated in, or introduced into,
Britain between the first publication of the work, in 1823, and January 1860; with a new
and revised by George Don, F.L.S.; and 800 new Figures of Plants, on Wood, from Drawings
by J. D. C. Sowerby, F.L.S. 80, with nearly 10,000 Wood Engravings, 73s, 66. cloth.

\*\* The last Supplement, separately, 8vo. 15s. cloth.

DIDON.—AN ENCYCLOP EDIA OF COTTACE, FARM, AND VILLA ARCHITECTURE and FURNITURE. Containing Designs for Cottages, Villas, Farm Houses, Farmeries, Country Inas, Public Houses, Parochial Schools, etc.; with the requisite Fittings-up, Fixtures, and Furniture, and appropriate Offices, Gardens, and Garden Scenery: sech Design accompanied by Analytical and Critical Remerks illustrative of the Principles of Architectural Science and Taste on which it is composed, and General Estimates of the Expens. By J. C. Loudon, F.L.S. etc. New Estition, corrected, with a Supplement containing 160 additional pages of letter-press, and nearly 300 new sugravings. 8vo. with more than 2000 Engravings on Wood, 63s. 10th.

300 Engravings on Wood, 63s. 10th.

31 The Supplement, separately, 8vo. 7s. 6d. sewed.

LOUDON.—HORTUS BRITANNICUS:

A Catalogue of all the Plants indigenous to or introduced into Britain. The 3d Edition, with a New Supplement, prepared, under the direction of J. C. Loudon, by W. H. Baxter, and revised by George Don, F.L.S. 870. 31s.6d. cloth.

The Supplement separately, 8vo. 2s. 6d. sewed. The later Supplement separately, 8vo. 8s. sewed.

LOUDON.—THE SUBURBAN CARDENER AND VILLA COMPANION:
Comprising the Choice of a Villa or Suburban Residence, or of a situation on which to form one; the Arrangement and Furnishing of the House; and the Laying-out, Planting, and general Management of the Garden and Grounds; the whole adapted for Grounds from one perch to fifty acres and upwards in extent; intended for the Instruction of those who know little of Gardening or Rural Affairs, and more particularly for the use of Ladies. By J. C. Loudon, F.L.S., etc. 800. with above 200 Wood Engravings, 20s. cloth.

LOUDON.—HORTUS LIGNOSUS LONDINENSIS; Or, a Catalogue of all the Ligneous Plants cultivated in the neighbourhood of London. To which are added their usual friese in Nurseries. By J. C. Loudon, F.L.S. etc. 8vo. 7s. 6d.

LOW.—ON LANDED PROPERTY, AND THE MANACEMENT OF ESTATES; Comprehending the Relations between Landlord and Tenant, and the Principles and Forms of Leases; of Farm buildings, Enclosures, Drains, Embankments, Roads, and other Rural Works, Minerals, and Woods. By David Low, Esq. F R.S.E. etc., author of "Elements of Practical Agriculture," etc. 8vo. with numerous Wood Engravings, 2ls. cloth.

LOW .-- ON THE DOMESTICATED ANIMALS OF CREAT BRITAIN.

comprehending the Natural and Economical History of the Species and Breeds; Illustrations of the Properties of External Form; and Observations on the Principles and Practice of Breeding. By David Low, Esq., F.R.S.E. Professor of Agriculture in the University of Edinburgh, etc.; author of "Elements of Practical Agriculture," etc. 8vo. with Engravings on Wood, 28s. cloth.

LOW .- THE BREEDS OF THE DOMESTICATED ANIMALS OF CREAT BRITAIN described. By David Low, Esq. F.R.S.R., Professor of Agriculture in the University of Edinburgh, etc. etc. The Plates from drawings by W. Nicholson, R.S.A., reduced from a Series of Oil Paintings, executed for the Agricultural Museum of the University of Edinburgh, by W. Shiels, R.S.A. 2 vols. atlas quarto, with 56 plates of Animals, beautifully coloured after Nature, 16/1.16s. half-bound in morocco.

The OX. 1 Vol. atlas quarto, with 22 Plates, price 61 16a.6d. half-bound morocco.

The NHEEP. 1 Vol. atlas quarto, with 2 Plates, price 61 16b.6d. half-bound morocco.

The NHEEP. 1 Vol. atlas quarto, with 2 Plates, price 31. half-bound morocco.

The HOG. 1 Vol. atlas quarto, with 5 Plates, price 62 16b.6d. half-bound morocco.

LOW.—ELEMENTS OF PRACTICAL ACRICULTURE;
Comprehending the Cultivation of Plants, the Husbandry of the Domestic Animals, and the
Economy of the Farm. By David Low, Esq. F. R. S. E., Professor of Agriculture in the University of Edinburgh. 4th Edition, with Alterations and Additions. 8vo. with Above 200
Woodcuts, 21s. cloth.

- MACAULAY. -CRITICAL AND HISTORICAL ESSAYS CONTRIBUTED TO The EDINBURGH REVIEW. By the Right Hon. Thomas Babington Macaulay, M.P. 3d Edition. 3 vols. 8vo. 36s. cloth.
- MACAULAY .-- LAYS OF ANCIENT ROME. By the Right Honorable Thomas Babington Macaulay, M.P. 7th Edition. Crown Svo. 10s. 6d. cloth
- MACKAY (CHARLES).—THE SCENERY AND POETRY OF THE ENCLISH LAKES; a Summer Ramble. By Charles Mackay, Esq. author of "I legends of the lates," "The Salmanardring," "The Thames and its Tributaries," etc. Svo. with beguifful Wood Engravings from Original Sketches. [Just ready.
- MACKENZIE.—THE PHYSIOLOGY OF VISION.

  By W. Mackenzie, M.D., Lecturer on the Eye in the University of Glasgow. 8vo. with Woodcuts, 10s. 6d. boards.
- MACKINNON.—THE HISTORY OF CIVILISATION.
  By Wm. Alexander Mackinnon, F.R.S. M.P. for Lymington. 2 vols. 8vo. 24s. cloth.
- MACKINTOSH (SIR JAMES).—THE LIFE OF SIR THOMAS MORE. By the Right Hon. Sir James Mackintosh. Reprinted from the Cabinet Cyclopedia; and intended for a Present-Book or School Prize. Foolscap 8vo. with Portrait, 5s. cloth; or bound in vellum gilt (old style) . 8s.
- MACKINTOSH'S (SIR JAMES) MISCELLANEOUS WORKS;
  Including his Contributions to The EDINBURGH REVIEW. Edited by Robert James Mackintosh, Esq. 3 vols. 8vo. 42s. cloth.
- MACKINTOSH, ETC.—THE HISTORY OF ENCLAND.

  By Sir James Mackintosh; W. Wallace, Esq.; and Robert Bell, Esq. 10 vols. foolscap Svo. with Vignette Titles, 3t. cloth.
- M'CULLOCH.—THE LITERATURE OF POLITICAL ECONOMY;
  Being a Classified Catalogue of the principal Works in the different departments of Political
  Economy, interspersed with Historical, Critical, and Biographical Notices. By J. R.
  M'Culloch, Esq. 870. 14s. cloth.
- M'CULLOCH (J. R.)—AN ACCOUNT, DESCRIPTIVE, AND STATISTICAL, of the BRITISH EMPIRE; exhibiting its Extent, Physical Capacities, Population, Industry, and Civil and Religious Institutions. By J. R. M'Culloch, Esq. 3d Edition corrected, enlarged, and greatly improved. 2 thick vols. 8vo.
- M'CULLOCH.—A TREATISE ON THE PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICAL INFLUENCE OF TAXATION AND THE FUNDING SYSTEM. By J. R. M'Culloch. Esq. 8vo 15s. cloth.
- M'CULLOCH.—A DICTIONARY, CEOGRAPHICAL, STATISTICAL, AND HISTORICAL, of the various Countries, Places, and Principal Natural Objects in the World, By J. R. M'Culloch, Ksq. A new Edition. 2 vols. 8vo. with Six large Maps, 44. cloth.
  - \*.\* The new Articles are printed separately as a Supplement to the former Edition. They comprise a full account of the present state of the United Kingdom, the Oregon Territory, etc. 800. 5s. sewed.
- M'CULLOCH.—A DICTIONARY, PRACTICAL, THEORETICAL, AND HISTORICAL, OF COMMERCE, AND COMMERCIAL NAVIGATION. By J. R. M'Culloch, Esq. A New Edition, corrected, cularged, and improved. 8vo. with Maps and Plans, 50s. cloth; or 55s. strongly half-bound in russia, with flexible back.
- \*.\* This Edition, which has been ear-fully corrected, comprises, besides the New Tariff, the new Acts relating to Banking, the Sugar Trade, Navigation and Gustoms, the hiring of Seamen, etc.; and is justice reniched sugar trade information from all parts of the world. A SUPPLEMENT, for the use of the purchasers of the last Edition, 8vo. price 3s. 6d. sewed.

MAITLAND (DR. CHARLES).-THE CHURCH IN THE CATACOMBS: A Description of the primitive Church in Rome, Illustrated by its Sepulchral Remains. By Charles Maitland, M.D. 8vo, with very numerous Engravings on Wood.

Nearly ready.

MARCET (MRS.)—CONVERSATIONS ON THE HISTORY OF ENGLAND.
For the Use of Children. By Mrs. Marcet, author of "Conversations on Chemistry," etc. 2d Edition, with Additions. 18mo. 6s. cloth.

MARCET.—CONVERSATIONS ON CHEMISTRY; In which the Elements of that Science are familiarly Explained and Illustrated by Experi-ments. Jish Edition, enlarged and corrected. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. 14s. cloth.

MARCET.-CONVERSATIONS ON NATURAL PHILOSOPHY :

In which the Elements of that Science are familiarly explained, and adapted to the comprehension of Young Persons. 10th Edition, enlarged and corrected. Fcap. 8vo. with 23 Plates, 10s. 6d. cloth.

MARCET.—CONVERSATIONS ON POLITICAL ECONOMY;
In which the Elements of that Science are familiarly explained. 7th Edition, revised and

enlarged. Foolscap 8vo. 7s. 6d. cloth.

MARCET.-CONVERSATIONS ON VEGETABLE PHYSIOLOGY:

Comprehending the Klements of Botany, with their application to Agriculture. 3d Edition. Foolscap 8vo. with Four Plates. 9s. cloth.

MARCET.—CONVERSATIONS FOR CHILDREN;
On Land and Water. 3d Edition revised and corrected. Foolscap 8vo., with coloured Map, shewing the comparative Altitude of Mountains, 5d. 6d. cloth.

MARCET .- CONVERSATIONS ON LANGUAGE,
For Children. By Mrs. Marcet, author of "Willy's Grammar," etc. 18mo. 4s. 6d. cloth.

MARCET - THE CAME OF CRAMMAR,
With a Book of Conversations, shewing the Rules of the Game, and affording Examples of
the manner of playing at it. In a varuished box, or done up as a post 8vo. volume, 8s.

MARCET .- WILLY'S GRAMMAR;

Interspersed with Stories, and Intended for the Use of Boys. By Mrs. Marcet, author of "Mary's Grammar," etc. New edition. 18mo. 2s. 6d. cloth.

"A sound and simple work for the earliest ages."-Quarterly Review.

MARCET.—LESSONS ON ANIMALS, VEGETABLES, AND MINERALS.
By Mrs. Marcet, author of "Conversations on Chemistry," etc. New Edition. 18mo. 2s.
ctoth.

MARCARET RUSSELL:

MARRIAGE CIFT.

An Autobiography. In one volume.

[In the press.

By a Mother. A Legacy to her Children. Post 8vo. 5s. cloth, with gilt edges.

MARRYAT (CAPT).—THE MISSION;
Or, Scenes in Africa. Written for Young People. By Captain Marryat. C.B., author of "Peter Simple," "Masterman Reddy," "The Settlers in Canada," etc. 2 vols. fcap. 8vo. 12s. cloth.

MARRYAT (CAPT.)—THE SETTLERS IN CANADA.
Written for Young People. By Captain Marryat, C.B. author of "Peter Simple,"
"Masterman Ready," etc. 2 vols. fcap. 8vo. 12s. cloth.

MARRYAT (CAPT.)—MASTERMAN READY; Or, the Wreck of the Pacific. Written for Young People. By Captaiu Marryat, C.B. author of "Peter Simple," etc. 3 vols. (Rep. 8vo. with numerous Engravings on Wood, 22s. 6d. cloth. . The volumes, separately, 7s.6d. each, cloth.

"The best of Robinson Crusoe's numerous descendants, and one of the most captivating of modern children's books. The only danger is, lest parents should dispute with their children the possession of it."—Quarterly Review.

MAUNDER.—THE TREASURY OF KNOWLEDGE,
And LIBRARY of REFERENCE. By Samuel Maunder. 16th Edition, revised throughout
and enlarged. Foolscap 8vo., with two Frontispleces, 10s. cloth; bound in roan, with gilt and enlarged, edges, 12s.

\* The principal contents of the present new and thoroughly revised edition of "The Treasury of Knowledge." are—a new and enlarged English Dictionary, with a Grammar, Verbal Distinctions, and Exercises; anew Universal Gasetteer; a compendious Classical Dictionary; an Analysis of History and Chonology; a Dictionary of Law Terms; a new Synopsis of the British Perrage; and various useful inbular Addenda.

MAUNDER. - THE BIOGRAPHICAL TREASURY:

DONDER. — I THE BRUKKAPTRAL I REASURY : Consisting of Memoirs, Stetches, and brief Notices of above 12,000 Eminent Persons of all Ages and Nations, from the Earliest Period of History; forming a new and complete Dic-tionary of Universal Biography. By Samuel Maunder. 5th Edition, revised throughout Ages and Nations, from the Earliest Feriod of Inisory; forming a new and compress out-tionary of Universal Blography. By Samuel Maunder. 5th Edition, revised throughout, and containing a copious Supplement, brought down to 1845. Foolscap 8vo. with Frontis-piece, 10z. cloth; bound in roan, with gilt edges, 12z.

MAUNDER.—THE SCIENTIFIC AND LITERARY TREASURY:

A New and Popular Encyclopedia of Science and the Belles Lettres; including all Branches of Science, and every Subject connected with Literature and Art. The whole written in a familiar style, adapted to the comprehension of all persons desirous of acquiring information on the subjects comprised in the work, and also adapted for a Manual of convenient Reference to the more instructed. By Samuel Maunder. 4th Edition. Fcap. 8vo. with Frontispiece, 10s. cloth. bound in roan, with gilt edges, 12s.

MAUNDER.—THE TREASURY OF HISTORY;
Comprising a General Introductory Outline of Universal History, Ancient and Modern, and a Series of separate Histories of every principal Nation that exists; developing their Rise, Progress, and Present Condition, the Moral and Social Character of their respective Inhabitants, their Religion, Manners, and Customs, etc. etc. By Symmel Manuder. 2d Edit. Feap. 8vo. with Frontispiece, 10s. cloth bound in roam, with gilt edges, 12s.

MAUNDER.—THE UNIVERSAL CLASS-BOOK:
A new Series of Reading Lessons (original and selected) for Every Day in the Year. With Questions for Examination. By Samuel Maunder, author of "The Treasury of Knowledge," etc. 2d Edition, revised. 12mo. 5s. bound.

MICHELET (J).—PRIESTS, WOMEN, AND FAMILIES.
By J. Michelet. Translated from the French (third edition), with the Author's permission, by C. Cocks, B.L. Professor of the Living Languages in the Royal Colleges of France. New Editions. Post 8vo. 9s. cloth. 16mo. 1s. 4d. sewed.

MICHELET (J.)—THE PEOPLE.

By M. Michelet, Member of the Institute of France, etc. Translated, with the approbation of the Author, by C. Cocks, B.L. Professor of the Living Languages in the Royal Colleges of France. New Edition. Post 870, 9x, cloth. 18mo. 1s, 6d, sewed.

\* Mr. Cocks's authorised translations of Michelet's " Priests, Women, and Families," and "The People," in one vol. 16mo. 3s. 6d. cloth.

MICHELET AND QUINET .- THE JESUITS

France, Translated, with the Authors' approbation, by C. Cocks, B.L. Professor of the Living Languages in the Royal Colleges of France, Ifmo. uniform with the authorised editions of Michelet's "Priests, Women, and Families," and "The People." [Nearly ready.

MIGNET (M.)—ANTONIO PEREZ AND PHILIP II. OF SPAIN.

By M. Mignet, Member of the Institute of France, Perpetual Secretary of the Academy of Moral and Political Sciences, etc. Translated by C. Cocks, B. L. Professor of the Living Languages in the Royal Colleges of France. Post 8vo. 9s. cloth.

MILES (W.)—THE HORSE'S FOOT,
And How to Keep it Sound. By William Miles, Esq. Royal 8vo. with Engravings, 7s. cloth.

MILNER (REVS. J. AND I.) — THE HISTORY OF THE CHURCH OF CHRIST. By the Rev. Joseph Milner, A.M. With Additions and Corrections by the late Rev. Issac Milner, D.D. F.R.S. A New Edition. 4 vols. 8vo. 2.8 ss. boards.

-THE LIFE OF THE AMIR DOST MAHOMED KHAN OF MOHUN LAL .-CABOUL. By Mohun Lal, Knight of the Persian Order of the Sun; lately attached to the Mission at Cahoul; author of "Travels in the Punjab, Affghanistan," etc. 8vo. with nume-[2 vols. in the press. rous Portraits.

MONTAUBAN (MRS. E)—A YEAR AND A DAY IN THE EAST; Or, Wanderings over Land and Sea. By Mrs. Eliot Montauban. Post 8vo. 7s. cloth.

MONTGOMERY'S (JAMES) POETICAL WORKS.

New and only complete Edition. With some additional Poems and Autobiographical Prefaces. Collected and edited by Mr. Montgomery. 4 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Portrait, and seven other Plates, 20s. cloth; bound in morocco, 11.16s.

MOORE.-THE HISTORY OF IRELAND.

From the earliest Kings of that Realm, down to its latest Chief. By Thomas Moore, Esq. 4 vols. foolscap 8 vo., with Vignette Titles, 24s. cloth.

MOORE'S POETICAL WORKS;

Containing the Author's recent Introduction and Notes. Complete in one volume, uniform with Lord Byron's Poems. With a New Portrait, by George Richmond, engraved in the line manner, and a View of Sloperton Cottage, the Residence of the Poet, by Thomas Creawick, A.R.A. Medium 8vo. 11. 1s. cloth; or 42s. bound in morocco, by Hayday.

• • Also, an Edition in 10 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Portrait, and 19 Plates, 2l. 10s. cloth; morocco, 4l. 10s.

# MOORE'S LALLA ROOKH. AN ORIENTAL ROMANCE.

New Edition. Medium 8vo. illustrated with 13 fine Engravings, 21s. cloth; morocco, 35s.; with India Proof Plates, 35s, cloth.

MOORE'S LALLA ROOKH. AN ORIENTAL ROMANCE.

New Edition. Foolscap 8vo. with 4 Plates, by Westall, 10s. 6d. cloth; or 14s. bound in morocco

MOORE'S IRISH MELODIES.

Illustrated by D. Maclive, R.A. Imp. 870. with 161 Designs, engraved on Steel, 31. 3s. boards; or 41 14s. 6d. bound in morrocco, by Hayday. Proof Impressions (only 200 copies printed, of which a few remain), 61. 6s. boards.

\*.\* India Proofs before letters of the 161 Designs, on Quarter Colombier, in Portfolio (only 25 copies printed, of which a few remain), 311.10s.

India Proofs before letters of the 51 Large Designs, on Quarter Colombier, in Portfolio (only 25 copies printed, of which a few remain), 181, 18s.

MOORE'S IRISH MELODIES.

New Edition. Fcap. 8vo. with Vignette Title, 10s. cloth; bound in morocco, 13s. 6d.

#### MORAL OF FLOWERS (THE).

3d Edition. Royal 8vo. with 24 beautifully coloured Engravings, 11. 10s. half-bound.

MORTON.—A VETERINARY TOXICOLOGICAL CHART,
Containing those Agents known to cause Death in the Horse; with the Symptoms, Antidotes,
Action on the Tissues, and Tests. By W. J. T. Morton. 12mo. 6s, in case; 8s. 6d. on rollers.

#### MORTON .- A MANUAL OF PHARMACY,

For the Student in Veterinary Medicine; containing the Substances employed at the Royal Veterinary College, with an Attempt at their Classification, and the Pharmacopæia of that Institution. By W. J. T. Morton. 3d Edition, 12m. 10s. 10th.

### MOSELEY.-ILLUSTRATIONS OF PRACTICAL MECHANICS.

By the Rev. H. Moseley, M.A., Professor of Natural Philosophy and Astronomy in King's College, London; being the First Volume of the Illustrations of Science by the Professors of King's College. Feap, 8vo, with numerous Woodcuts, 8x. close.

MOSELEY.—THE MECHANICAL PRINCIPLES OF ENGINEERING AND ARCHITECTURE. By the Rev. H. Moseley, M.A. F.R.S., Professor of Natural Philosophy and Astronomy in King's College, London; and author of "Illustrations of Practical Mechanics," etc. 8vo. with Woodcuts and Diagrams, 11.4s. cloth.

MOSHEIM'S ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY,
Ancient and Modern. Translated, with copious Notes, by James Murdock, D.D. Edited,
with Additions, by Henry Soames, M.A. Rector of Stapleford-Tawney, Essex. New Edition,
revised, and continued to the present time. 4 vols. 8vo. 48s. cloth.

# MÜLLER.—INTRODUCTION TO A SCIENTIFIC SYSTEM OF MYTHOLOGY.

By C. O. Müller, author of "The History and Antiquities of the Doric Race," etc. Trans lated from the German by John Leitch. 8vo. uniform with "Müller's Dorians," 12s. cloth.

MURRAY.—AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF CEOCRAPHY;
Comprising a complete Description of the Earth: exhibiting its Relation to the Heavenly Bodies, its Physical Structure, the Natural History of each Country, and the Industry, Commerce, Politiral Institutions, and Civil and Social State of all Nations. By Hugh Murray, F.R.S.E.: assisted in Astronomy, etc. by Professor Wallace; Geology, etc. by Professor Jameson; Botany, etc. by Sir W. J. Hooker; Zoology, etc. by W. Swainson, E.4q. New Edition, with Supplement, bringing down the Statistical Information contained in the Work, to December 14-3; with 82 Maps, drawn by Sidney Hall, and upwards of 1,000 other Engravings on Wood. 8vo. 3l. cloth.

#### NECKER DE SAUSSURE .- PROCRESSIVE EDUCATION:

Or, Considerations on the Course of Life. Translated and Abridged from the French of Madame Necker De Saussure, by Miss Holland. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo, 19s. 6d. cloth.

\*.\* Separately, nols. I. and 11. 12s.; vol. 111. 7s. 6d.

#### NESBIT (A.)-A TREATISE ON PRACTICAL MENSURATION:

EBHIT (A.)—A IREAUSE ON PRACTICAL MENSURATION; Containing the most approved Methods of drawing Geometrical Figures; Mensuration of Superficies; Land Surveying; Mensuration of Solids; the Use of the Carpenter's Rule; Timber Measure, etc. By A. Nesbit. 12th Edition. 12mo. with nearly 300 Woodcuts, Solids;

KEY. 7th Edition. 12mo. 5s. bound.

NEWELL (REV.R.H.)—THE ZOOLOGY OF THE ENGLISH POETS, Corrected by the Writings of Modern Naturaliats. By the Rev. R. H. Newell, Rector of Little Hormand. Fep. 8vo. with Engravings on Wood, 5s. 6d., cloth.

"This interesting little volume has for its object the pointing out some of the more promi-nent passages in which our English poets have erred with respect to the structure and habits of animals. Birds, reptiles, and mammalla, are successively spoken of by the author, and practical errors with regard to them are held up to the light of modern science. As a note-book for correcting false impressions, and the imperting sound ones, Mr. Newell's work will be found useful in the education of young people."—Athenaum.

NICOLAS—THE CHRONOLOGY OF HISTORY,
Containing Tables, Calculations, and Statements indispensable for ascertaining the Dates of
Historical Events, and of Public and Private Documents, from the Earliest Period to the
Present Time. By Sir Harris Nicolas, K.C. M.G. Second Edition, corrected throughout,
Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Title, 5c. cloth.

- ORDNANCE MAPS (THE), AND PUBLICATIONS OF THE GEOLO-GICAL SURVEY OF THE UNITED KINGDOM.—Messrs. Longman and Co. have been appointed by the Board of Ordnance Agents for the sale of the Maps of the Ordnance Survey of Great Britain. Also, sole Agents for the sale of the Maps, Sections, and Books of the Geological Survey of the United Kingdom, and of the Museum of Economic Geology, under the Chief Commissioner of Her Majesty's Woods, Works, and Land Revenues.
  - \*\_\* Complete detailed Catalogues of bath Series may be had on application.
- OWEN. LECTURES ON THE COMPARATIVE ANATOMY AND PHYSI-VEN. — LECTURES ON THE COMPARATIVE AND COLORY OF THE INVERTEBRATE ANIMALS, delivered at the Royal College of Surgeons OLOGY OF ITELINVEKTEBRATE ANIMALS, occurred at the moyal conege of surrous in 1843. By Richard Owen, F.R.S. Hunterina Professor to the College. From Notes taken by William White Cooper, M.R.C.S. and revised by Professor Owen. With Glossary and Index. 870. with nearly 140 illustrations on Wood, 14s cloth.
- \*.\* A Second and concluding Volume, being the Lectures on Vertebrata) delivered by
  Professor Owen during the last session, is preparing for publication.

#### PARABLES (THE).

The Parables of Our Lord, richly Illuminated with appropriate Borders, printed in Colours, and in Black and Gold; with a Design from one of the early German engravers. Square foolicap 800, uniform in size with the "Sermon on the Mount," 21s., in massive carved binding; or 30s. bound in morocco, by Hayday.

PARKES.-DOMESTIC DUTIES;

Or, Instructions to Young Married Ladies on the Management of their Households and the Regulation of their Conduct in the various Relations and Duties of Married Life. By Mrs. W. Parkes. 5th Edition. Foolscap Svo. 9s. cloth.

PARNELL.—A TREATISE ON ROADS;
Wherein the Principles on which Roads should be made are explained and illustrated by the Plans, Specifications, and Contracts made use of by Thomas Telford, Eq. on the Holyhead Road. By the Right Hon. Sir Henry Parnell, Bart., Hon. Memb. Inst. Civ. Eng. London. Second Edition, greatly enlarged. 8ro. with 9 large Plates, 11. L. cloth.

PATON (A. A.)—SERVIA, THE YOUNCEST MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN FAMILY; or, a Residence in Belgrade, and Travels through the Highlands and Woodlands of the Interior, during the years 1843 and 1844. By Andrew Archibald Paton, Esq. Post 870. with portrait and plate, 12s. cloth.

- By the same Author.

  THE MODERN SYRIANS; or, Native Society in Damascus, Aleppo, and the Mountains of the Druses. Post 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.
- PEARSON.—AN INTRODUCTION TO PRACTICAL ASTRONOMY:
  By the Rev. W. Pearson, Ll.D. F.R.S. etc. Rector of South Kilworth, Leicestershire, and
  Treasurer to the Astronomical Society of London. 2 vols. 4to. with Plates, 7.7.7s. boards.
- PEDESTRIAN AND OTHER REMINISCENCES AT HOME AND ABROAD. WITH SKETCHES OF COUNTRY LIFE. By Sylvanus. Post 8vo., with Frontispiece and Vignette Title, 10s. 6d cloth.
- PERCIVALL. -- THE ANATOMY OF THE HORSE;
  Embracing the Structure of the Foot. By W. Percivall, M.R.C.S. 8vo. 11. cloth.

PERCIVALL.-HIPPOPATHOLOGY:

A Systematic Treatise on the Disorders and Lameness of the Horse; with their Modern and most approved Methods of Cure; embracing the Doctrines of the English and French Veterinary Schools. By W. Percivall, M.R.C.S., Veterinary Surgeon in the First Life Guards. 3 vols. 3vo. Vol. 1, 10s. 6d.; vols. 2 and 3, 14s. each, boards.

PEREIRA.—A TREATISE ON FOOD AND DIET:
With Observations on the Dietetrical Regimen suited for Disordered States of the Digestive
Organs; and an Account of the Dietaries of some of the principal Metropolitan and other
Establishments for Paupers, Lunatics, Criminals, Children, the Sick, etc. By Jon. Pereirs,
M. D. F.R.S., author of "Elements of Materia Medica." 8vo. 16s. cioth.

PERICLES:

A Tale of Athens in the 83d Olympiad. By the author of "A Brief Sketch of Greek Philosophy." 2 vols. post 8vo. 18s. cloth.

"All these classical scenes are vigorously drawn; and Perioles' must be pronounced one of the happiest examples ever yet produced of a graceful fiction, based on a profound living knowledge of ancient Greek history and manners."—Britannia.

PERRY (DR. W. C.)—CERMAN UNIVERSITY EDUCATION:

Or, the Professors and Students of Germany. By Walter C. Perry, Phil. D. of the University of Göttingen. Post 8vo. 4s. 6d. cloth.

PESCHEL (C. F.)-ELEMENTS OF PHYSICS,

Part I. Ponderable Boldes. By C. F. Peschel, Principal of the Royal Military College, Dreaden, etc. etc. Translated from the German, with Notes, by E. West. Foolscap Svo. with Diagrams and Woodcuts. 7s. 6d. cloth.

Part 2.- The Physics of Inponderable Bodies, is nearly ready.

PHILLIPS,—AN ELEMENTARY INTRODUCTION TO MINERALOCY:

Comprising a Notice of the Characters and Elements of Minerals; with Accounts of the Places and Circumstances in which they are found. By William Phillips, F.L.S. M.G.S. etc. 4th Edition, considerably augmented by R. Allan, F.R.S.E. 8vo. with woodcuts, 12z. cloth.

PHILLIPS.—FIGURES & DESCRIPTIONS OF THE PALÆOZOIC FOSSILS OF CORNWALL, DEVON, and WEST SOMERSET; observed in the course of the Ordnance Geological Survey of that District. By John Phillips, F.R. S. F.G.S. etc. Published by Order of the Logds Commissioners of H. M. Treasury. 8vo. with 60 Plates, comprising very numerous Figures, 9s. cloth.

HILLIPS.—A GUIDE TO GEOLOGY.

By John Phillips, F.R.S. G.S. etc. Foolscap 8vo. with Plates, 5s. cloth.

PHILLIPS .- A TREATISE ON GEOLOGY.

By John Phillips, F.R.S. G.S. etc. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Woodcuts. 12s. cloth.

PITMAN (REV. J. R.)—SERMONS
On the principal Subjects comprised in the Book of Psalms, abridged from Eminent Divines.
By the Rev. J. R. Pitman, A.M. Minister of St. Barnabas Church, Kensington. 8vo.

PLYMLEY (PETER).—LETTERS ON THE SUBJECT OF THE CATHOLICS TO MY BROTHER ABRAHAM, WHO LIVES IN THE COUNTRY. By Peter Plymley. 21st Edition. Post 8vo. 7s. cloth.

POET'S PLEASAUNCE (THE):

PLT'S PLEASAUNCE (IME);
Or, Garden Full of all Sorts of Pleasant Flowers, which our Pleasant Poets have in Past
Time (for Pastime) Planted; with the right ordering of them. By Eden Warwick. In
1 vol. with Border Illustrations.

POISSON (8, D.)-A TREATISE ON MECHANICS.

By S. D. Polsson. Second Edition. Translated from the French, and illustrated with Explanatory Notes, by the Rev. Henry H. Harte, late Fellow of Trinity College, Dublin. 2 volumes, 8 vo. 11.8s. cloth.

PE (ALEXANDER).—THE WORKS OF ALEXANDER FORE.
Edited by Thomas Roscoe, Esq. With the Author's Life. A New Edition. 8 vols. 8vo.
[In the press. POPE (ALEXANDER).—THE WORKS OF ALEXANDER POPE.

PORTER.—A TREATISE ON THE MANUFACTURE OF SILK.
By G. R. Porter, Esq. F.R.S., author of "The Progress of the Nation," etc. Feap. 8vo. with
Vignetic Title, and 39 Engravings on Wood, 6s. cloth.

PORTER.—A TREATISE ON THE MANUFACTURES OF PORCELAIN AND GLANS. By G. R. Porter, Esq. F.R.S. Foolscap Svo. with 50 Woodcuts, 6s. cloth.

PORTLOCK. - REPORT ON THE CEOLOGY OF THE COUNTY OF LONDONDERRY, and of Parts of Tyrone and Fernanagh, examined and described under the Authority of the Master-General and Board of Ordanace. By J. E. Portlock, F.R.S. etc. 8vo. with 48 Plates, 24s. cloth.

POWELL.—THE HISTORY OF NATURAL PHILOSOPHY.
From the Farilest Periods to the Present Time. By Baden Fowell, M. A., Savilian Professor of Mathematics in the University of Oxford. Feap. 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

PYCROFT .- A COURSE OF ENGLISH READING; Adapted to every Taste and Capacity. With Anecdotes of Men of Genius. By the Rev. James Pycroft, B.A., Trinity College, Oxford, author of "Greek Grammar Practice," etc. Foolscap Bro. 6s. 6d. cloth.

QUARTERLY JOURNAL OF THE CEOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF LONDON.

Edited by David Thomas Ansted, M.A. F.R.S., Fellow of Jesus College, Cambridge; Professor of Geology in King's College, Loudon; Vice-Secretary of the Geological Society. Published Quarterly.

RANKE (PROFESSOR).—RANKE'S HISTORY OF THE REFORMATION.

Translated by Sarah Austin, translator of Ranke's "History of the Popes." Vols 1 and 2,

[Vol. II. in the press. Vols 1 and 2.

REECE .- THE MEDICAL CUIDE:

For the use of the Clergy, Heads of Families, Seminaries, and Junior Practitioners in Medicine; comprising a complete Modern Dispensatory, and a Practical Treatise on the distinguishing Symptoms, Causes, Prevention, Cure, and Palliation of the Discasses incident to the Human Frame. By R. Reece, M.D., late Fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons of London, etc. 16th Redition. 3vo. 12z. boards.

- REID (DR.)—ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE THEORY AND PRACTICE OF VENTILATION: with Remarks on Warming, Exclusive Lighting, and the Communication of Sound. By D. B. Reid, M.D. F.R.S.E. etc. 8vo. with Diagrams, and 320 Engravings on Wood, 16s. cloth.
- REPTON.—THE LANDSCAPE GARDENING & LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE of the late Humphrey Repton, Esq.; being his entire Works on these subjects. A New Edition, with an Historical and Scientific Introduction, a systematic Analysis, a Biographical Notice, Notes, and a copious Alphabetical Index. By J. C. Loudon, F.L.S., etc. 870. with a Portrait and upwards of 220 Engravings, 30s. cloth; with coloured Plates, 31.6s. cloth
- REYNARD THE FOX; A renowned Apologue of the Middle Age. Reproduced in Rhyme. Embellished throughout with Scroll Capitals, in Colours, from Wood-block Letters made expressly for this work, after Designs of the 12th and 13th Centuries. With an Introduction. By Samuel Naylor, late of Queen's College, Oxford. Large square 8vo. 18s. cloth.
- RIDDLE A COMPLETE ENGLISH-LATIN AND LATIN-ENGLISH DIC-TIONARY, from the best sources, chiefly German. By the Rev. J. E. Riddle, M.A. 4th Edition. Svo. 31s. 6d. cloth.
  - . Separately-The English-Latin Dictionary, 10s. 6d.; the Latin-English Dictionary, 21s.
- RIDDLE.—A DIAMOND LATIN-ENGLISH DICTIONARY.

  A Guide to the Meaning, quality, and right Accentuation of Latin Classical Words. By the Rev. J. E. Riddle, M.A. Royal 32mo. 4s. bound.
- RIDDLE .- LETTERS FROM AN ABSENT CODFATHER; Or, a Compendium of Religious Instruction for Young Persons. By the Rev. J. E. Riddle, M.A. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.
- RIDDLE.—ECCLESIASTICAL CHRONOLOGY;
  Or, Annals of the Christian Church, from its Foundation to the present Time. Containing a View of General Church History, and the Course of Secular Events; the Limits of the Church and its Relations to the State; Controversies; Sects and Parties; Rites, Institutions, and Discipline; Ecclesiastical Writers. The whole arranged according to the order of Dates, and didded into Seven Periods. To which are added, Lists of Councils and Popes, Patriarchs, and Archisops of Canterbury. By the Rev. J. E. Riddle, M.A. 8vo. 15s. cloth.
- RITCHIE (ROBERT.)—RAILWAYS: THEIR RISE AND PROGRESS, AND CONSTRUCTION, with Remarks on Railway Accidents, and Proposals for their prevention. By Robert Ritchie, Esq., F. R. S., S. A., Civil Engineer, Associate of the Institution of Civil Engineers, etc. Feap. 8vo with Woodcuts and Diagrams, 9s. cloth.
- RIVERS.—THE ROSE AMATEUR'S CUIDE:

  Containing ample Descriptions of all the fine leading varieties of Roses, regularly classed in their respective Families; their History and mode of Culture. By T. Rivers, Jun. Third Edition, corrected and improved. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.
- ROBERTS (GEORGE).—THE LIFE, PROGRESSES, AND REBELLION OF JAMES DUKE OF MONMOUTH, to his Capture and Execution: with a full Account of the Bloody Assizes, and copious Biographical Notices. By George Roberts. 2 vols. post 870. with Portrait, Maps, and other illustrations, 24s. cloth.
- ROBERTS.—AN ETYMOLOGICAL AND EXPLANATORY DICTIONARY OF the TERMS and LANGUAGE of GEOLOGY; designed for the early Student, and those who have not made great progress in the Science. By G. Roberts. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.
- ROBINSON (JAMES).—THE WHOLE ART OF CURING, PICKLING, and SMOKING EVERY DESCRIPTION of MEAT and FISH, according to both the British and Foreign Modes. To which is appended, a Description of the requisite Apparatus. By James Robinson, Eighteen Years a Fractical Curer. Fep. 8vo. [Just ready.
- ROBINSON-GREEK AND ENCLISH LEXICON TO THE NEW TESTAMENT. By E. Robinson, D.D., author of "Biblical Researches." Edited, with careful revision, corrections, etc., by the Rev. Dr. Bloomfeld. Svo. 18s. cloth.
- ROGERS.—THE VECETABLE CULTIVATOR;
  Containing a plain and accurate Description of all the different Species of Culinary Vegetables, with the most approved Method of Cultivating them by Natural and Artificial Means, and the best Modes of Cooking them; alphabetically arranged. Together with a Description of the Physical Herbs in General Use. Also, some Recollections of the Life of Philip Miller, F.A.S., Gardener to the Worshipful Company of Apothecaries at Chelsea. By John Rogers, author of "The Fruit Cultivator." 2d Edition. Foolsap 800.78. Cloth.
- ROME.-THE HISTORY OF ROME (IN THE CABINET CYCLOPÆDIA). 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.
- ROSCOE.—LIVES OF EMINENT BRITISH LAWYERS.
  By Henry Roscoe, Esq. Foolscap Svo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

ROWTON (F.)—THE DEBATER;
A New Theory of the Art of Speaking. Being a Series of complete Debates, Questions for Discussion, and Rules of Debate. With ample references to the best sources of information upon each particular topic. For the use of Schools and Discussion Societies. By Frederick Rowton, Lecturer on General Literature.

[In the press.]

SANDBY (REV. G.)—MESMERISM AND ITS OPPONENTS:
With a Narrative of Cases. By the Rev. George Sandby, Jun., Vicar of Flixton, and Rector
of All Saints with St. Nicholas, South Elmham, Suffolk; Domestic Chaplain to the Right

SANDFORD (REV. JOHN).—PAROCHIALIA, or Charch, School, and Parish. By the Rev. John Saudford, M.A. Vicar of Dunchurch, Chaplain to the Lord Bishop of Worcester, Hon. Canon of Worcester, and Rural Dean. 870. with numerous Woodcuts, 18c. cloth.

SANDFORD.—WOMAN IN HER SOCIAL AND DOMESTIC CHARACTER.
By Mrs. John Sandford. 6th Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

SANDFURD.-FEMALE IMPROVEMENT.

By Mrs. John Sandford, 2d Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 7s. 6d. cloth.

# SANDHURST COLLEGE MATHEMATICAL COURSE.

- ELEMENTS of ARITHMETIC and ALGEBRA. By W. Scott, Rsq., A.M. and F.R.A.S. Second Mathematical Professor at the Royal Military College, Sandhurst. 8vo. 16s. bound.
- 2. ELEMENTS of GEOMETRY ; consisting of the first Four and Sixth Books of Euclid, chiefly from the Text of Dr. Robert Simson; with the principal Theorems in Proportion, and a Course of Practical Geometry on the Ground; also, Four Tracts relating to Circles, Planes, and Solids, with one on Spherical Geometry. By John Narrien. Professor of Mathematics in the Royal Military College, Sandhurst. Svo. with many Diagrams, 10s. 6d. bound.
- PLAIN TRIGONOMETRY AND MENSURATION; for the use of the Royal Military College, Sandhurat. By W. Scott, Esq. A.M. and F.R.A.S., Second Mathematical Master in Institution. 8vo. 9s.6t. bound
- PRACTICAL ASTRONOMY and GEODESY; Including the Projections of the Sphere, and Spherical Trigonometry. By John Narrien, F.R.S. and R.A.S. Professor of Mathe-matics in the Royal Military College, Sandhurst. 8vo. 14s. bound.

SCHLEIDEN (PROF.)—PRINCIPLES OF SCIENTIFIC BOTANY.
By M. J. Schleiden, Professor of Botany at Jena. Translated by E. Lankester, M.D. F.L.S.
870. with numerous wood engravings. In the press.

SCOTT.-THE HISTORY OF SCOTLAND.

By Sir Walter Scott, Bart. New Edition. 2 vols. fcap. 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s, cloth.

SEAWARD,—SIR EDWARD SEAWARD'S NARRATIVE OF HIS SHIPWRECK, and consequent Discovery of certain Islands in the Caribbean Sea: with a Detail of many extraordinary and highly interesting Events in his Life, from 1733 to 1749, as written in his own Diary. Edited by Miss Jane Porter. 3d Edition, with a New Nautical and Geographical Introduction, containing Extracts from a Paper by Mr. C. F. Collett, of the Royal Navy, identifying the Islands described by Sir Edward Seaward. 2 vols. post 6vo. 21s. cloth.

#### SELECT WORKS OF THE BRITISH POETS:

From Chaucer to Withers. With Biographical Sketches, by R. Southey, LL.D. Medium 8vo. 30s. cloth; or with gilt edges, 31s. 6d.

#### SELECT WORKS OF THE BRITISH POETS:

With Biographical and Critical Prefaces by Dr. Alkin. A New Edition, with Supplement by Lucy Alkin, consisting of Selections from the Works of Crabbe, Scott, Coleridge, Pringle, Charlotte Emith, and Mrs. Barbauld. Medium 8vo. 18s. cloth.

\*, \* The peculiar feature of these two works is, that the Poems included are printed entire, without mutilation or abridgment.

### SERMON ON THE MOUNT (THE).

[St. Matthew v.vl. vii.] Intended for a Birthday-Present, or Gift-Book for all Seasons. Printed in Gold and Colours, in the Missal Style, with Ornamental Borders by Owen Jones, Architect, and an Illuminated Frontisplece by W. Boxall, Esq. A new edition. Foolscap do in a rich brocaded silk cover, manufactured expressly, 21s.; or bound in morocco, in the Missal style, by Hayday, 25s.

SHAKSPEARE, BY BOWDLER.

THE FAMILY SHAKSPEARE, in which nothing is added to the Original Text; but those Words and Expressions are omitted which cannot with propriety be read aloud. By T. Bowdler, Edg. F.R.S. Seventh Edition, 8vo. with 36 Illustrations after Smirke, etc. 30s. cloth, with gilt edges, 31s. 6d.

.. A LIBRARY EDITION, without Illustrations, 8 vols. 8vo. 4l. 14s. 6d. boards.

- SHELDON (F.)—THE MINSTRELSY OF THE ENGLISH BORDER:
  Being a Collection of Ballads, Anvient, Re-modelled, and Original. founded on well-known
  Border Legends. With Illustrative Notes. By Frederick Sheldon. Square foolecap 8vo.
- In the press. SHELLEY, ETC.—LIVES OF THE MOST EMINENT LITERARY MEN OF 1TALY, SPAIN and PORTUGAL. By Mrs. Shelley, Sir D. Brewster, J. Montgomery, etc. 3 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 18s. cloth.
- SHELLEY .- LIVES OF THE MOST EMINENT FRENCH WRITERS.
- By Mrs. Shelley and others. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.
- SHEPHERD (REV. W.)—HORÆ APOSTOLIGÆ;
  Or, a Digested Narrative of the Acts, Lives, and Writings of the Apostles. By the Rev. William Shepherd, B.D. Rector of Margaret Roding, Essex, and Rural Dean. Fep. 8vo.
  [In the press.

#### SHORT WHIST:

Its Rise, Progress, and Laws; with Observations to make any one a Whist Player; containing also the Laws of Piquet, Cassino, Ecarte, Cribbage, Backgammou. By Major A \*\* \* \* 6 He Edition. To which are added, Precepts for Tyros. By Mrs. B \* \* \* \* \* Foolscap Byo. 3s. cloth, gilt edges.

SMITH (GEORGE).—THE RELICION OF ANCIENT BRITAIN:
Or, a Succinct Account of the several Religious Systems which have obtained in this Island from the Earliest Times to the Norman Conquest: including an Investigation into the Early Progress of Error in the Christian Church, the Introduction of the Gospel into Britain, and the State of Religion in England till Popery had gained the Ascendency. By George Smith, F.A.S. Member of the Royal Asiatic Society, and of the Royal Society of Literature. Foliagn-Swo 7. cloth.

SMITH (GEORGE).—PERILOUS TIMES:
Or, the Agressions of Anti-Christian Error on Scriptural Christianity: considered in reference to the Dangers and Duties of Protestants. By George Smith, F.A.S. Member of the Royal Asiatic Society, and of the Royal Society, of Literature. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

- SMITH (MRS. H.) THE FEMALE DISCIPLE OF THE FIRST THREE CENTURIES OF THE CHRISTIAN ERA: Her Trials and Her Mission. By Mrs. Henry Smith. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

SMITH.—AN INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY OF BOTANY.

By Sir J. E. Smith, late President of the Linnman Society. 7th Relition, corrected; in which the object of Smith's "Grammar of Botany" is combined with that of the "Introduction." By Sir William Jackson Hooker, K.H. LL.D. etc. 8vo. with 36 Steel Plates, 16s. cloth; with coloured Plates, 21. 12s. 6d. cloth.

SMITH - COMPENDIUM OF THE ENGLISH FLORA.

By Sir J. E. Smith. 2d Edition, with Additions and Corrections. By Sir W 12mo. 7s. 6d. cloth. THE SAME IN LATIN. 5th Edition, 12mo. 7s. 6d. Corrections. By Sir W. J. Hooker.

SMITH.—THE ENCLISH FLORA.

By Sir James Edward Smith, M.D. F.R.S., late President of the Linnman Society, etc. 6 vols. 8vo. 3l. 12s. boards. CONTENTS:

Vols. I. to IV. the Flowering Plants and the Ferns, 21. 8s.

Vol. V. Part 1, 12s. - Cryptogamia; comprising the Mosses, Hepatice, Lichens, Characes, and Algs. By Sir W. J. Hooker.

Vol. V. Part 2, 12s. - The Fungi-completing the work, by Sir W. J. Hooker, and the Rev. M. J. Berkeley, F.L.S. etc.

SMITH (SYDNEY).—SERMONS PREACHED AT ST. PAUL'S CATHE-DRAL. The Foundling Hospital, and serveral Churches in London; together with others addressed to a Country Congregation. By the late Rev. Sydney Smith, Canon Residentiary of St. Paul's Cathedral. 8vo. 12c. cloth.

SMITH.—THE WORKS OF THE REV. SYDNEY SMITH.
3d Edition. 3 vols. 8vo. with Portrait, 36s. cloth.

• This collection consists of the Author's contributions to the "Edinburgh Review" per Physical Review of the Author's contributions to the "Edinburgh Review" per Plyminely's "Letters on the Catholics," and other miscellaneous works; to which are now first added—"Three Letters on Kailways;" "Letter to Mr. Horner;" "Two Letters on American Debits;" "A Prayer;" "Changes" (never before published); "A Fragment on the Irish Roman-Catholic Church."

SOPHOCLES, BY LINWOOD.

SOPHOCLIS TRAGEDIÆ SUPERSTITES. Recensuit, et brevi adnotatione instruxit Gulielmus Linwood, A.M. Ædis Christi apud Oxonienses Alumnus. 8vo. 16s. cloth.

- SOUTHRY (ROBERT).—THE LATE MR. SOUTHEY'S COMMON-PLACE BOOK; comprising his Readings and Collections in History, Biography, Mauners and Literature, Voyages and Travels, etc. etc.; systematically arranged.
- SOUTHEY (ROBERT).—SOUTHEY'S LIFE OF WESLEY.
  A New Edition. Edited by his Son, the Rev. Cuthbert C. Southey. 8vo. [In the press.
- SOUTHEY, ETC.—LIVES OF THE BRITISH ADMIRALS; With an Introductory View of the Naval History of England. By R. Southey, Esq. and R. Bell, Esq. 5 vols. foolises Bvo., with Vignette Titles, 11.10s. cloth.
- SOUTHEY (ROBERT).—OLIVER NEWMAN;
  A New England Tale (unfnished): with other Poetical Remains. By the late Robert Southey. Foolscap 870. uniform with the Ten Volume Edition of Mr. Southey's Poetical Works, 5s. cloth.
- SOUTHEY'S (ROBERT) COMPLETE POETICAL WORKS:

  Containing all the Author's last Introductions and Notes, Complete in one volume, medium
  8vo. with Portrait and View of the Poet's Residence at Keswick, uniform with Byron's Poems
  and Thomas Moore's Poetical Works, 21s.; or 42s. bound in morocco, by Hayday.
- Also, an Edition in 10 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Portrait and 19 Plates, 21. 10s.; morocco, 41. 10s.

  The following Works separately:

  The following Solath TWALABA Fear 8vo. 5s. cloth.
- JOAN OF ARC Fcap. 8vo. 5s. cloth.

  MADOC - , 5s. ,,

  CURSE OF KEHAMA ,, 5s. ,,

  THALABA - Fcap. 8vo. 5s. cloth.

  BALLADS, etc. 2 vols. ,, 10s. ,,

  RODERICK - ,, 5s. ,,
- SPIRIT OF THE WOODS (THE).

  By the author of "The Moral of Flowers." 2d Edition. Royal 8vo. with 23 beautifully coloured Engravings of the Forest Trees of Great Britain, 11. 11s. 6d. cloth.
- SPOONER.—A TREATISE ON THE STRUCTURE, FUNCTIONS, AND DISEASES of the FOOT and LEG of the HORSE; comprehending the Comparative Anatomy of these Parts in other Animals; embracing the subject of Shoeing and the proper Treatment of the Foot; with the Rationale and Effects of various important Operations, and the best Methods of performing them. By W. C. Spooner, M.R. V. G. 12mo, 72, 64. cloth.
- STABLE TALK AND TABLE TALK; OR, SPECTACLES FOR YOUNG SPORTSMEN. By Harry Hieover. 870, 122. cloth.
- \*.\* A Second Volume, with Portrait of the Author and complete Index to both volumes, is nearly ready.
- STEBBING (REV. H.)—THE HISTORY OF THE CHURCH OF CHRIST, From the Diet of Augsburg, 1530, to the Eighteenth Century; originally designed as a Continuation of Milner's "History of the Church of Christ." By the Rev. Henry Stebbing, D.D. 3 vols. 8vo. 36a. cloth.
- STEBBING.—THE HISTORY OF THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH, From its Foundation to A.D. 1492. By the Rev. H. Stebbing, M.A., etc. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.
- STEBBING.—THE HISTORY OF THE REFORMATION.
  By the Rev. H. Stebbing. 2 vols. foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 12s. cloth.
- STEEL'S SHIPMASTER'S ASSISTANT.

  Compiled for the use of Merchants, Owners and Masters of Ships, Officers of Customs, and all Persons connected with Shipping or Commerce; containing the Law and Local Regulations affecting the Ownership, Charge, and Management of Ships and their Cargoes; together with Notices of other Matters, and all management of Ships and their Cargoes; together with Notices of other Matters, and all the Williamore, Eag. M. A Barrister-at-Law; the Customs and Shipping Department by George Clements, of the Customs, London, compiler of "The Customs Guide;" The Exchanges, etc., and Naval Book-keeping, by William Tate, author of "The Modern Cambist." Svo. 28s. cloth; 29s. bound.
- STEPHENS.—A MANUAL OF BRITISH COLEOPTERA;
  Or, BEETLES: containing a Description of all the Species of Beetles hitherto ascertained to inhabit Great Britain and Ireland, etc. With a complete Index of the Genera. By J. F. Stephens, F.L.S., author of "Illustrations of Entomology." Post 8vo. 14s. cloth.
- STRONG —GREECE AS A KINCDOM:
  A Statistical Description of that Country—its Laws, Commerce, Resources, Public Institutions, Army, Navy, etc., -from the Arrival of King Otho, in 1833, down to the present time. From Official Documents and Autentic Sources. By Frederick Strong, Esq., Consul at Athens for the Kingdoms of Bavaria and Hanover. 8vo. 15s. cloth.
- SUNDAY LIBRARY:
  Containing nearly one hundred Sermons by eminent Divines. With Notes, etc. by the
  Rev. T. F. Dibdin, D.D. 6 vols. foolscap 8vo. with 6 Portraits, 30s. cloth; neatly half-bound
  in morocco, with gilt edes, 21. 12s. 6d.

SWAINSON.—A PRELIMINARY DISCOURSE ON THE STUDY OF NATURAL HISTORY. By W. Swainson, Esq. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

#### By the same Author.

A TREATISE ON THE NATURAL HISTORY & CLASSIFICATION of ANIMALS. Fcap. 8vo. 6s. -

NATURAL HISTORY AND CLASSIFICA-TION OF QUADRUPEDS. Fcap. 8vo. 6s.

NATURAL HISTORY AND CLASSIFICA-TION OF BIRDS. 2 vols. fcap. 8vo. 12s.

HABITS AND INSTINCT OF ANIMALS. Fcap. 8vo. 6s.

ANIMALS IN MENAGERIES. Fcap. 8vo. 6s.

NATURAL HISTORY ETC. OF FISH, AMPHIBIA, & REPTILES. 2 vols. fcap. 8vo. 12s.

A TREATISE ON MALACOLOGY; Or, the Natural Classification of Shells and Shell-

Natural Classification of Shells and Shell-Fish. Feap. 8vo. 6g. HISTORY AND NATURAL ARRANGE-MENT OF INSECTS. Feap. 8vo. 6g. A TREATISE ON TAXIDERMY; with the Biography of Zoologists, and Notices of their Works. Feap. 8vo. 6g.

SWITZERLAND.—THE HISTORY OF SWITZERLAND. Foolscap 8vo. with Vignette Title, 6s. cloth.

TATE.—HORATIUS RESTITUTUS;
Or, the Books of Horace arranged in Chronological Order, according to the Scheme of Dr.
Bentley, from the Text of Genere, corrected and improved. With a Preliminary Dissertation,
very much enlarged, on the Chronology of the Works, on the Localities, and on the Life
and Character of that Poet. By James Tate, M.A. Second edition, to which is now added,
an original Treatise on the Metres of Horace. 8vo. 12x. cloth.

TATE —THE CONTINUOUS HISTORY OF THE LIFE AND WRITINGS OF ST. PAUL, on the basis of the Acta; with Intercalary Matter of Sacred Narrative, supplied from the Epistles, and elucidated in occasional Dissertations: with the Hore Paulius of Dr. Paley, in a more correct edition, subjoined. By James Tate, M.A., Canon Residentiary of St. Paul's. Svo. with Map, 13s. cloth.

TAYLER (REV. CHARLES B.)-MARCARET; Or, the Pearl. By the Rev. Charles B. Tayler, M.A. Rector of St. Peter's, Chester, author of "Lady Mury i or, Not of the World;" etc. 2d Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. cloth.

TAYLER (REV. CHARLES B.) - LADY MARY; OR, NOT OF THE WORLD. By the Rev. Charles B. Tayler, Rector of St. Peter's, Chester; author of "Margaret, or the Pearl," etc. Foolscap 8vo. 6s. 6d. cloth.

TAYLER (REV. CHARLES B.)—TRACTARIANISM NOT OF COD. Sermons. By the Rev C.B. Tayler, Rector of St. Peter's, and Evening Lecturer at St. Mary's, Chester; author of "Lady Mary is,", Not of the World, "etc. Fcap. 8vo. 6s. cloth.

TAYLER (REV. CHARLES B.)—DORA MELDER:
A Story of Alsace. By Meta Sander. A Translation. Edited by the Rev. C. B. Tayler, author of "Marguert; or, the Pear," etc. Feap, 8vo., with two Illustrations, 7s. cloth.

TAYLOR (JEREMY).—BISHOP JEREMY TAYLOR'S WORKS.
With the References verified. A New and thoroughly revised Edition.

\*.\* This Work is in the hands of a competent Editor at Oxford, and will be published in volumes, price 10s. 6d. each; to be completed in 12 volumes, each of 600 closely printed pages, published at intervals of two months. The first volume will probably be published in January 1847. Subscribers names received by the Proprietors, and all Booksellers.

TAYLOR .- THE STATESMAN.

By Henry Taylor, Esq., author of "Philip Van Artevelde." 12mo. 6s. 6d. boards.

THIRLWALL.—THE HISTORY OF GREECE..

By the Right Rev. the Lord Bishop of St. David's. A new Edition, revised; with Notes.

Vols. 1. and 11. demy 8vo. with Maps, 12s. each cloth. To be completed in 8 volumes.

(Vol. 111. is in the press.

\*.\* Also, an Edition in 8 vols. fcap. 8vo. with Vignette Titles, 21. 8x. cloth.

THOMSON'S SEASONS.

Edited by Bolton Corney, Esq. Illustrated with Seventy-seven Designs drawn on Wood by the Members of the Etching Club. Engaved by Thompson and other eminent Engravers. Square crown 8vo. uniform with "Goldsmith's Poems," 21s. cloth; in morocco, by Hayday, 36s.

THOMSON.—AN ELEMENTARY TREATISE ON ALCEBRA.
Theoretical and Practical. By James Thomson, LL.D. Professor of Mathematics in the
University of Glasgow. 2d Edition. 12mo. 5s. cloth.

THOMSON (JOHN).—TABLES OF INTEREST,
At Three, Four, Four-and-a-half, and Five per Cent., from One Pound to Ten Thousand,
and from One to Three Hundred and Sixty-five Days, in a regular progression of Single
Days; with interest at all the above Rates, from One to Twelve Months, and from One to
Ten Years. Also, Tables shewing the Kzchange on Bills, etc.etc.etc. Accountant in Edinburgh, 12mo. 8s. bound.

THOMSON.—THE DOMESTIC MANAGEMENT OF THE SICK ROOM, Necessary, in Ald of Medical Treatment, for the Cure of Diseases. By Anthony Todd Thomson, M.D. F.L.S. etc. 2d Edition. Post Stro. 10s. 6d. cloth.

TOMLINE (BISHOP).—AN INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY OF THE BIBLE: Being the First Volume of the Elements of Christian Theology; containing Proofs of the Authenticity and Inspiration of the Holy Scriptures; a Summary of the History of the Jews; an Account of the Jewish Sects; and a brief Statement of the Contents of the several Books of the Old Testament, by the late George Tomlin, D.D.F.R.S. Lord Bishop of Winchester. 20th Edition. Foolscap 8vo. 5s. 6d. cloth.

TOMLINE (BISHOP).—ELEMENTS OF CHRISTIAN THEOLOGY:

CONTAINE (BISHUP).—ELEMENTS OF CHRISTIAN THEOLOGY;
The Containing Proofs of the Authenticity and Inspiration of the Holy Scriptures; a Summary of
the History of the Jews; a Brief Statement of the Contents of the several Books of the Old
and New Testaments; a Short Account of the English Translations of the Bible, and of the
Littury of the Church of England; and a Scriptural Exposition of the Thirty-Nine Articles
of Religion. By George Tomline, D.D., FR.S., Lord Bishop of Winchester. 14th Edition.
With Additional Notes, and a Summary of Ecclesiastical History. By Henry Stebbing, D.D.,
a whore of "A History of the Church of Christ, from the Confession of Augsburg," etc. etc.
2 vols. 3 vo. 21s. cioth.

TOMLINS — A POPULAR LAW DICTIONARY :
Familiarly explaining the Terms and Nature of English Law; adapted to the comprehension of
Persons not educated for the Legal Profession, and affording Information peculiarly useful to
Magiatrates, Merehants, Parochal Officers, and others. By Thomas Edlyne Tomlins, Attorney
and Solicitor. Post 800. Bis cloth.

The whole work has been revised by a Barrister.

TOOKE.—A HISTORY OF PRICES;
With reference to the Causes of their principal Variations, from 1792 to the Present Time.
Preceded by a Sketch of the History of the Corn Trade in the last Two Centuries. By
Thomas Tooke, Eq. F.R.S. 3 vols. 8vo. 21.8s. cloth.

. Separately, Vols. I. and II. 36s.; Vol. III. 12s.

TOWNSEND (CHARLES).—THE LIVES OF TWELVE EMINENT JUDGES. OF THE PRESENT CENTURY. By W. Charles Townsend, Esq. A.M. Recorder of Macclesfield, author of "Memoirs of the House of Commons." 2 vols. 8vo. [In the press.

TROLLOPE (REV. W.)-ANALECTA THEOLOGICA:

A Critical, Philological, and Exegetical Commentary on the New Testament, adapted to the Greek Text; compiled and digested from the most approved sources, British and Foreign, and so arranged as to exhibit the comparative weight of the different Opinious on Disputer Texts. By the Rev. William Trollope, M.A. of Pembroke College, Cambridge, and formerly one of the Masters of Christ's Hospital. New Edition. 2 vols. 800. 11. 12s. cloth.

TURNER.—THE SACRED HISTORY OF THE WORLD,
Philosophically considered. By S. Turner, F.S.A. R.A.S.L. New Edit. 3 vols. 8vo. 42s. bds.

TURNER (SHARON).-RICHARD III.: A Poem. By Sharou Turner, Esq., F.S.A. and R.A.S.L., author of "The History of the Anglo-Saxons," "The Sacred History of the World," etc. Foolscap 8vo. 7s. 6d. cloth.

TURNER.—THE HISTORY OF ENGLAND,
From the Earliest Period to the Death of Elizabeth. By Sharon Turner, Esq. F.A.S. R.A.S.L.
New Edition. 12 vols. 8vo. 8t. 3a. ctoth.

\*. \* Or in four separate portions, as follows:-

THE HISTORY of the ANGLO-SAXONS; 6th Edition. 3 vols. 8vo. 21. 5s.

THE HISTORY of ENGLAND during the MIDDLE AGES; 3d Edition. 5 vols. 8vo 31. THE HISTORY of the REIGN of HENRY VIII.: 3d Edition. 2 vols. 8vo. 26s.

THE REIGNS of EDWARD VI., MARY, and ELIZABETH; 3d Edition 2 vols. 8vo. 32s.

TURNER.—A TREATISE ON THE FOOT OF THE HORSE,
And a New System of Shoeing, by One-sided Nailing; and on the Nature, Origin, and
Symptoms of the Navicular Joint Lameness, with Preventive and Curative Treatment. By
James Turner, M.R.V.C. Royal 8vo. 7s. 6d. boards.

TURTON'S (DR.) MANUAL OF THE LAND AND FRESHWATER SHELLS OF THE BRITISH ISLANDS. A new Edition, thoroughly revised, and with considerable Additions. By John Edward Gray, Keeper of the Zoological Collection in the British Museum. Post 8vo. with Woodcuts, and 12 coloured Plates, 15s. cloth.

TWISS (DR. T.)-THE ORECON QUESTION EXAMINED,
In respect to Facts and the Law of Nations. By Travers Twiss, D.C.L. F.R.S. Professor of Political Economy in the University of Oxford, and Advocate at Doctors' Commons. Swo. with Maps of North America and the Oregon Territory (with the Columbian River on an enlarged scale, reduced from an American Government Survey), 12z. Cloth.

TYTLER (PROFESSOR). — PROFESSOR TYTLER'S ELEMENTS OF GENERAL HISTORY, Ancient and Modern, with Dr. Narea' Continuation. A new Edition, revised and continued to the Death of William IV. 8vo. with 7 Maps. 14s. cloth.

### URE.-DICTIONARY OF ARTS, MANUFACTURES, AND MINES;

Containing a clear Exposition of their Principles and Practice. By Andrew Ure, M.D. F.R.S. M.G.S. M.A.S. Lond, M. Acad. N.S. Philed, S. Ph. Soc. N. Germ. Hanov.; Mullil. etc. etc. Third Edition, corrected. Swo. with 124 9 Woodcatta, 50s. cloth.

By the same Author, SUPPLEMENT OF RECENT IMPROVEMENTS. 2d Edition. 8vo. 14s. cloth.

VON ORLICH (CAPT.)-TRAVELS IN INDIA,

And the adjacent Countries, in 1842 and 1843. By Capt. Leopold Von Orlich. Translated from the German by H. Evans Lloyd, Esq. 2 vols. 8vo. with coloured Frontispieces, and numerous Hustrations on Wood, 25s. cloth.

WALFORD (J. E.)—THE LAWS OF THE CUSTOMS,
Compiled by Direction of the Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty's Treasury, and published under the Sanction of the Commissioners of Her Majesty's Customs; with Notes and
a General Index. Edited by J. G. Walford, Esq. Solicitor for the Customs. Printed for Her
Majesty's Stationery Office, and published by Authority. 8 vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

WALKER (GEO.)—CHESS STUDIES:
Comprising 1000 Games actually Played during the last Half Century; presenting a unique
Collection of Classical and Brilliant Specimens of Chess Skill in every stage of the Game,
and forming an Encyclopædia of Reference. By George Walker. Medium 8vo. 10s. 6d. sewed.

WATERTON.—ESSAYS ON NATURAL HISTORY,
Chiefy Ornithology. By Charles Waterton, Esq., author of "Wanderings in South
America." With an Autobiography of the Author, and a View of Walton Hall. New Edition,
foolscap 8vo. 8s. cloth.

SECOND SERIES. With Continuation of Mr. Waterton's Autobiography. New Edition, fcap. 8vo, with Vignette by T. Creswick, A.R.A. 6s. 6d. cloth.

WATTS (A.A.)—LYRICS OF THE HEART,
With other Poems. By Alaric A. Watts. Illustrated by 40 highly-finished Line Engravings,
from the Designs of many of the eminent modern Painters, by the best Engravers of the age.
Square crown 870. printed and embellished uniformly with Rogers's "Italy" and "Poems,"
31s. 6d. boards; or proof impressious, 63s. boards; proofs before letters, on 4to. colombir,
India paper (only 86 copies printed), price 51.5s.

[At Easter.

WEBSTER .- AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF DOMESTIC ECONOMY:

EBST Est.—AN ENCYCLOPADIA OF DOMES IC ECONOMY; Comprising such subjects as are most immediately connected with Housekeeping; as, The Construction of Domestic Edifices, with the modes of Warming, Ventilating, and Lighting them—A description of the various articles of Furniure, with the nature of their Materials—Duties of Servants—A general account of the Animal and Vegetable Substances used as Food, and the methods of preserving and preparing them by Cooking—Making Bread—The Chemical Nature and the Preparation of all kinds of Fermented Liquors used as Beverage—Materials employed in Dress and the Tollet—Business of the Laundry—Description of the various Wheel Carriages—Preservation of Health—Domestic Medicine, etc. etc. etc. C. E. By Thomas Webster, F.G.S., etc.; assisted by the late Mrs. Parkes, author of "Domestic Duties." 870. with nearly 1000 Woodcuts, 50s. cloth.

WARDLAW.—DISCOURSES ON THE PRINCIPAL POINTS OF THE SOCINIAN CONTROVERSY—the Unity of God, and the Trinity of Persons in the Godhead—the Supreme Divinity of Jesus Christ—the Doctrine of the Atonement—the Christian Character, etc. By Ralph Wardlaw, D.D. 5th Edition. 8vo.15s.cloth.

WEIL (DR.)—THE BIBLE, THE KORAN, AND THE TALMUD; Or, Biblical Legends of the Mussulmans, compiled from Arabic Sources, and compared with Jewish Traditions. By Dr. G. Weil, Librarian of the University of Heidelberg, etc. Translated from the German, with occasional Notes. Post 8vo. 7s. 6d. cloth.

"It has been the aim of the learned author of this curious book to collect the most esteemed of Mahomedan legends, as given in the Koran or Arabic MSS., that we may ascertain to what extent our Scripture narratives have been corrupted by human inventions, and know on what foundation the faith of Mahomedanism is built up. For giving an authentic notion of Mahomedan belief, Dr. Weil's volume, from its connected and simple form, may be made more useful than any other, not excepting even the Koran."—Britannia.

- WELSFORD (HENRY).—ON THE ORIGIN AND RAMIFICATIONS OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE: preceded by an Inquiry into the Primitive Seats, Early Migrations, and Final Settlements, of the principal European Nations. By Henry Welsford. Svo. 10s. 6d.
- WESTWOOD (J. O). —AN INTRODUCTION TO THE MODERN CLASSIFI-CATION OF INSECTS; founded on the Natural Habits and compounding Organisation of the different Families. By J. O. Westwood, F. L. S. etc. etc. etc. 2 vols. 8vo. with numerous illustrations, 21. 7s. cloth.

#### WHITLEY (DR. JOHN).-THE LIFE EVERLASTING:

In which are considered the Intermediate Life, the New Body and the New World, the Man in Heaven, Angels, the Final Consummate Life. By John Whitley, D.D. Rector of Bally-mackey, and Chancellor of Killaloc. 870. 94. cloth

WHITLEY (NICHOLAS).—THE APPLICATION OF GEOLOGY TO AGRICULTURE, and to the Improvement and Valuation of Land; with the Nature and Properties of Soils, and the Principles of Cultivation. By Nicholas Whitley, Land-Surreyor. 8vo.7s. 64.

## WIGAN (DR. A. L )-THE DUALITY OF THE MIND,

Proved by the Structure, Functions, and Diseases of the Brain, and by the Phenomena of Mental Derangement; and shewn to be essential to Moral Responsibility. By A. L. Wigan, M.D. 8vo. 12s. cloth.

WILBERFORCE (W.) — A PRACTICAL VIEW OF THE PREVAILING RELIGIOUS SYSTEMS OF PROFESSED CHRISTIANS, in the Higher and Middle Classes in this Country, contrasted with Real Christianity. By William Wilberforce, Esq. M.P. for the Country of York. New Editions. 8vo. 8s. boards. 12mo. 4s. 6d. cloth.

## WILKINSON .- THE ENGINES OF WAR, ETC.

Being a History of Ancient and Modern Projectile Instruments and Engines of Warfare and Sporting; including the Manufacture of Fire Arms, the History and Manufacture of Gunpowder, of Swords, and of the cause of the Damascus Figure in Sword Blades, with some Observations on Bronze: to which are added, Remarks on some Peculiarities of Iron, and on the extraordinary Effect produced by the Action of Sea Water on Cast Iron; with Details of the various miscellaneous Experiments. By H. Wilkinson, M.R.A.S. 8vo. 9s. cloth.

#### WILLIS (N.P.)-DASHES AT LIFE WITH A FREE PENCIL.

By N. P. Willis, Esq., author of "Pencillings by the Way," "Inklings of Adventure," etc. 8 vols. post 8vo. 31s. 6s. boards.

#### WILLOUGHBY (LADY)-A DIARY.

Purporting to be by the LADY WILLOUGHBY of the Relgn of Charles I., embracing some Passages of her Domestic History from 1635 to 1648, 3d edition. Square foolscap 8vo. 8s. boards, or 18s. bound in morocco (old style.)

. This volume is printed and bound in the style of the period to which The Diary refers.

## WINTER (J. W.)-THE HORSE IN HEALTH AND DISEASE:

Or, Suggestions on his Natural and General History, Varieties, Conformation, Paces, Age, Soundness, Stabling, Condition, Training, and Shoeing. With a Digest of Veterinary Practice. By James W. Winter, M.R.C.V.S.L. 8vo. 10s. 6d. cloth.

"Mr. Winter is master of his subject, and hence writes with force and distinctness. He is thoroughly cognisant of all the varieties of the horse,—of the best modes of breedings, of all the varieties of the horse,—of the best modes of breedings, of all his material of the most indictious modes of treatment. On these topics and various kindred ones we discourses in this elaborite treatise with great ability, giving the results of his enlarged knowledge and especiace in a pleasing and intelligible manner. From the popular size of the book, and the great amount of information it contains, it may be read with profit by every one who is interested in the judicious treatment of the horse in 'health and disease."—Britannia.

## ZOOLOGY OF THE VOYAGE OF H.M.SS. EREBUS AND TERROR.

Under the Command of Capt. Sir James Clark Ross, R.N. F.R.S. during the years 1839, 40, 41, 42, 43. Published by Authority of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty. Edited by John Richardson, M.D. F.R.S. etc.; and John Edward Gray, Eaq. F.R.S. Parts I. to XI. Royal 4to. with numerous coloured and plain Plates, 10s. each, sewed.

.. To be completed in about 15 parts

## ZUMPT (PROF.)-A CRAMMAR OF THE LATIN LANGUAGE.

By C. G. Zumpt, Ph. D. Professor in the University, and Member of the Royal Academy of Berlin. Translated from the 9th Edition of the original, and adapted to the use of English Students, by Leonhard Schmitz, Ph. D., Rector of the High School of Edinburgh; with numerous Additions and Corrections by the Author. 8vo. 14s. cloth.



